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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOISMAGISTRATE J'UiY3J BOBRICK 

EASTERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ) 

) 
vs. 

LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC., 
DAVID M. TAUB, 

\\\\t\�1\\\ 
� j,\ 7.(l(l7. 

CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III 

�?\l ) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

No. 
0 2,, \R· ,r1 e:, 12 v Uv 

Violations: Title 16, 
United States Code, 
Sections 3372(a) (2) (A), 
3372 (d), 3373 (d) (2), 
and 3373 (d) (3) (A) (i); 
Title 18, United States 
Code, Section 545, Title 
50, Code of Federal 
Regulations, Section 

) 14.105(b) (2). 
F I LE D 

COUNTS ONE THROUGH FOUR 

(THE FALSE RECORDS CHARGES) 

The SPECIAL JULY 2000-2 GRAND JURY charges: 

APR O 2 2002 

MICHAEL W. DOBBINS 
CLERK, U.S. DISTRICT COURT 

1. Defendant LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. ("LABS") , a Virginia 

corporation, was engaged in the business of, among other things, 

breeding and selling non-human primates for use in medical 

research. LABS imported non-human primates for this purpose. One 

type of non-human primate which LABS imported for these purposes is 

known by the scientific name "Cynomolgolus macaques" (Macaca 

fascicularis) and by the common name "crab-eating macaques." LABS 

had a non-human primate breeding and storage facility located in 

Yemassee, South Carolina. 

2. Defendant DAVID M. TAUB was LABS's President and Chief 

Operating Officer. 

3. The Bionetics Corporation ( "Bionetics") purchased the 

entity which became LABS from defendant TAUB in approximately May 

1996. Bionetics had places of business in Hampton, Virginia and 

I 
Obtained by Rise for Animals.

Uploaded to Animal Research Laboratory Overview (ARLO) on 09/20/2020



Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 1 Filed: 04/02/02 Page 2 of 19 PageID #:2

Newport News, Virginia. TAUB remained at LABS after the sale to 

Bionetics. 

4. Defendant CHARLES J. STERN was LABS's Chairman of the 

Board. STERN had an ownership interest in Bionetics. STERN served 

as Bionetics's President and/or Chief Executive Officer. 

5. Defendant WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III was on LABS's Board 

of Directors. HENLEY was also Bionetics's Chief Financial Officer 

and/or Treasurer. 

6. Indonesian Aquatics Export CV ( "Inquatex") was a company 

located in Indonesia which was owned by Person A and which was 

engaged in the business of capturing, breeding and exporting non

human primates including crab-eating macaques. 

Import and Export Treaties, Statutes and Regulations 

7. The United States and Indonesia, among many other 

countries, are parties or signatories to an international treaty 

known as the Convention on International Trade in Endangered 

Species of Wild Fauna and Flora ("CITES") . CITES was enacted in 

order to protect, among other things, certain species of wildlife 

against over-exploitation. Species are designated under CITES 

according to a classification system known as "Appendices." 

Appendix II to CITES includes wildlife species which, although not 

necessarily threatened at the present time, may become threatened 

if trade in those species is not strictly limited. Thus, in an 

effort to monitor and to control the trade of Appendix II species, 
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CITES requires that a party to the treaty such as the United States 

only import species included in Appendix II that are accompanied by 

a valid foreign export permit (a "CITES" permit) from the species' 

country of origin or from the country from which the species were 

exported. 

8. Crab-eating macaques have been designated as an Appendix 

II species under CITES since 1977. 

9. The United States Fish and Wildlife Service ("USFWS") is 

designated by Congress as the authority within the United States 

which enforces CITES. The USFWS issues regulations to enforce the 

various wildlife protection provisions of CITES and to provide 

safeguards for the importation of wildlife into the United States. 

All persons, including corporations, involved in importing wildlife 

into the United States are required to adhere to these regulations. 

10. All wildlife imported into the United States, including 

species included in Appendix II to CITES, must first be presented 

to the USFWS and the United States Customs Service for inspection. 

Certain documents must also accompany and be presented with each 

shipment. These documents include all permits and licenses 

required by the laws and regulations of the United States and all 

export-related permits required by the laws and regulations of any 

foreign country. 
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11. Shipments containing species included in Appendix II to 

CITES must be accompanied by a valid CITES permit. A CITES permit 

is valid only for the animals described in the permit. 

12. The Lacey Act, Title 16, United States Code, Section 3371 

et seq., among other statutes, governs the importation of species 

included in Appendix II of CITES into the United States. Section 

3372 (d) of the Lacey Act provides in pertinent part that "[i]t is 

unlawful for any person to make or submit any false record, 

account, label for, or any false identification of, any . 

wildlife which has been imported, exported, 

transported, sold, purchased, or received from any foreign country; 

or . transported in interstate or foreign commerce." 

13. The term "person," as used in the Lacey Act, includes 

corporations. 

14. The "records" to which Section 3372 refers includes, 

among other documents, CITES permits and health certificates, and 

the labels or identifications contained therein. 

15. A country which is a party or signatory to CITES may also 

enact its own laws governing the trade in its wildlife in order to 

protect native-born species. These foreign laws may impose more 

restrictive conditions on the trade of CITES Appendix II species 

than CITES itself. Since 1994, for example, Indonesia has banned 

the export of wild-caught crab-eating macaques. This ban on 

exporting wild-caught crab-eating macaques is set forth in a law 
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titled The Decree of the Minister of Forestry No. 26/Kpts-11/94 

("Decree No. 2 6/Kpts-11/94") . Decree No. 26/Kpts-11/94 also 

governs those crab-eating macaques which were caught in the wild 

but which were kept in captivity after their capture. The decree 

does not apply to "captive-bred" crab-eating macaques, that is, 

crab-eating macaques which are bred (conceived) , born and raised in 

captivity. 

1 6. One of the columns on a CITES permit is labeled 

"Appendices (source) . " A CITES permit which contains the 

designation "II" in this column reflects a reference to CITES 

Appendix II. A CITES permit which contains the designation "C" in 

this column, as the designation "C" is defined under CITES, means 

that the animals to which the CITES permit applies were bred in 

captivity. 

Labs' Purchase of the Inguatex Crab-Eating Macaque Colony 

1 7. In approximately May 1996, defendant LABS, through one of 

its employees ("Person B") , learned that Inquatex was offering for 

sale a "breeding" colony of crab-eating macaques (the "Inquatex 

colony") . A breeding colony contains adult male non-human primates 

and productive adult female non-human primates and is valuable 

because, based on this population mix, the colony is capable of 

regenerating itself. A breeding colony can provide a firm such as 

LABS with a steady supply of non-human primates to sell to medical 

research firms and institutions. LABS, through defendants TAUB, 
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STERN and HENLEY, began negotiations to purchase the Inquatex 

breeding colony from Person A. 

18. In approximately June 199 6, Person B traveled to 

Indonesia and inspected the Inquatex colony. On or about July 1, 

199 6, while Person B was still in Indonesia, Person B sent to 

defendant TAUB information about the Inquatex colony. Person B 

informed TAUB that Inquatex began to form the colony in July 1991 

and that the non-human primates had been "trapped in the wild" and 

then transported to the Inquatex facility. Person B also informed 

TAUB that the colony contained a total of 1,397 non-human primates 

of which 533 were "parents." 

19. On or about July 11, 1996, Person B, who had returned to 

the United States, distributed a memorandum to defendants TAUB, 

STERN and HENLEY about the Inquatex colony. Person B stated in the 

memorandum, among other things, that since exporting wild-caught 

crab-eating macaques was against Indonesian law unless some 

exception was written, Person A had gone to the Indonesian 

government and had cut a "baksheesh" deal to pay them off. 

Baksheesh means "bribe." Person B also stated that Inquatex's 

monthly expenses included $300 in "CITES charity" that needed to be 

paid out to various officials. 

20. Person B included with his memorandum an Inquatex

prepared document called "Captive Breeding of Long-Tailed Macaque 

(Macaca fascicularis) in C.V. Inquatex Primate Division" 
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("Inquatex brochure") . The Inquatex brochure stated that, as of 

October 1993, Inquatex had 668 heads of "conditional macaque (the 

ones from the wild) " and 7 62 heads of "breed" macaques. 

21. In approximately late July 1996, after Person A visited 

defendant LABS' facility, LABS and Person A, through their 

respective representatives, began to prepare a Purchase Agreement 

for the Inquatex colony. Defendant TAUB and Person A also began to 

arrange for the first shipment of crab-eating macaques from the 

Inquatex colony. 

22. On or about October 4, 1996, Person B sent defendants 

TAUB, STERN and HENLEY a memorandum in which Person B described a 

source other than the Inquatex colony by which to obtain crab

eating macaques. Person B informed TAUB, STERN and HENLEY that, in 

contrast to the Inquatex colony, the alternative source allowed 

them to "follow[] the spirit of CITES, i.e., we are only exporting 

purpose bred animals, not wild caught. " 

23. On or about January 31, 1997, the formal Purchase 

Agreement act for the purchase of the Inquatex colony was signed. 

The Purchase Agreement described the Inquatex colony as containing 

approximately 1,312 crab-eating macaques. The Purchase Agreement 

stated in part that each party was to provide the other with all 

applications and other documents filed as a part of the CITES 

permit process. The Purchase Agreement also required LABS to pay 
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Inquatex a monthly fee for the maintenance of the Inquatex colony. 

The O'Hare Shipments 

24. The Inquatex colony was transported from Indonesia to 

defendant LABS in the United States in seven separate shipments 

between on or about February 20, 199 7 and on or about October 13, 

1998. The first four shipments entered the United States through 

O'Hare International Airport ("O'Hare") in Chicago, Illinois. 

These four shipments arrived at O'Hare on or about the following 

dates: (a) February 20, 1997; (b) April 10, 1997; (c) May 1, 199 7; 

and (d) May 30, 1997. 

2 5. An employee of defendant LABS was present at the Inquatex 

facility in Indonesia prior to each shipment. These LABS employees 

monitored the selection and preparation of the crab-eating macaques 

in the Inquatex colony for shipment to the United States. The LABS 

employees communicated with defendant TAUB at the LABS facility in 

the United States during the course of their stay. 

2 6. The four O'Hare shipments contained a mix of wild-caught 

and captive-bred crab-eating macaques. The CITES permits for each 

shipment, however, falsely represented that the shipments contained 

only captive-bred crab-eating macaques. 

The February 20, 1997 Shipment 

2 7. On or about February 7, 1997, Person A sent defendant 

TAUB four separate CITES permits dated February 5, 199 7 for the 220 

crab-eating macaques in the first shipment. Each CITES permit 
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authorized the export of 55  "crab-eating monkeys" and each 

described the contents of the shipment as "[c] aptive-bred 

specimens, no quota is allocated." Each permit contained the 

notation "II(C) " in the column marked "Appendices (source) ." 

28. The "Health Certificate" dated February 18, 1997 which 

defendant LABS submitted as a part of the first shipment 

represented that the 220 crab-eating macaques in the shipment had 

been "[c] aptive bred born at INQUATEX, facilities (Jakarta/ 

Indonesia) . 

The April 10, 1997 Shipment 

29. On or about April 7, 199 7, Person A sent defendant TAUB 

a copy of the CITES permit dated March 10, 199 7 for the second 

shipment of crab-eating macaques. The CITES permit authorized the 

export of 2 5 5  "[cl rab-eating [ml acaque" which it described as 

"[cl apti ve breed specimen, no quota allocated." The permit 

contained the notation "II (C) " in the column marked "Appendices 

(source) . " 

30. The second shipment consisted of approximately 253 crab-

eating macaques from the Inquatex colony. 

these crab-eating macaques were wild-caught. 

Approximately 98 of 

31. The "Heal th Certificate" dated April 8, 199 7 which 

defendant LABS submitted as a part of the second shipment 

represented that the 253 crab-eating macaques in the shipment had 
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been "[cl aptive bred born at INQUATEX, facilities (Jakarta/ 

Indonesia) . " 

The May 1, 1997 Shipment 

32. on or about April 1 6, 1997, Person A sent defendant TAUB 

the CITES permit dated April 14, 199 7 for the third shipment. The 

CITES permit authorized the export of 120 "[cl rab-eating [ml acaque" 

which it described as "[claptive breed specimen, no quota 

allocated." The permit contained the notation "II (C) " in the 

column marked "Appendices (source) ." 

33. The third shipment consisted of approximately 120 crab

eating macaques from the Inquatex colony. Approximately 50 of 

these crab-eating macaques were wild-caught. 

34. The "Health Certificate" dated April 23, 1997 which 

defendant LABS submitted as a part of the third shipment 

represented that the 120 crab-eating macaques in the shipment had 

been "[cl aptive bred born at INQUATEX, facilities (Jakarta/ 

Indonesia) . 

The May 30, 1997 Shipment 

35. On or about May 9, 1997, Person A sent to defendant TAUB 

the CITES permit dated April 14, 1997 for the fourth shipment. The 

CITES permit authorized the export of 255  "[cl rab-eating [ml acaque" 

which it described as "[cl aptive breed specimen, no quota 

allocated." The permit contained the notation "II (C) " in the 

column marked "Appendices (source) ." 
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3 6. The fourth shipment consisted of approximately 253 crab-

eating macaques from the Inquatex colony. 

these crab-eating macaques were wild-caught. 

Approximately 99 of 

3 7. The "Health Certificate" dated May 2 7, 199 7 which 

defendant LABS submitted as a part of the fourth shipment 

represented that the 253 crab-eating macaques in the shipment had 

been "[c]aptive bred born at INQUATEX, facilities (Jakarta/ 

Indonesia) . 

38. On or the dates set forth below, each such date 

constituting a separate count of this indictment, at Chicago, in 

the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division, 

LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. , and 
DAVID M. TAUB, 

defendants herein, did knowingly submit a false record, account, 

label for, and a false identification of wildlife, namely, CITES 

permits and health certificates for shipments described below 

containing wild-caught and captive-bred Macaca fascicularis which 

falsely represented that the shipments contained only captive bred 

Macaca fascicularis, which wildlife had been imported from a 

foreign country, namely, Indonesia, and transported in foreign 

commerce: 
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Arrival Date Total No. Approx. No, 
Count at O'Hare in Shipment Wild-Caught 

One 02/20/97 220 80 

Two 04/10/97 253 98 

Three 05/01/97 120 50 

Four 05/30/97 253 99 

All done in violation of Title 16, United States Code, 

Sections 3372 (d) and 3373 (d) (3) (A) (i). 

12 

Obtained by Rise for Animals.
Uploaded to Animal Research Laboratory Overview (ARLO) on 09/20/2020



Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 1 Filed: 04/02/02 Page 13 of 19 PageID #:13

n 

COUNT FIVE 
(THE TRAFFICKING CHARGE) 

The SPECIAL JULY 2002-2 GRAND JURY further charges: 

1. The allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through 3 7  of 

Count One are incorporated as if set forth herein. 

2. The Lacey Act, Title 1 6, United States Code, Section 

3372(a) (2) (A) , provides in pertinent part that "[i]t is unlawful 

for any person to import, export, transport, sell, receive, 

acquire, or purchase in interstate or foreign commerce . . .  any . 

. . wildlife transported, or sold . in violation of any 

foreign law. ,, Indonesian Decree No. 26. Kpts-11/94 is a 

foreign law which is encompassed within Section 3372(a) (2) (A) of 

the Lacey Act. 

3. The four shipments from Inquatex which entered the United 

States through O'Hare contained productive wild-caught crab-eating 

macaques. 

4. Between on or about February 2 0, 1997 and on or about May 

30, 1997, at Chicago, in the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern 

Division, 

LABS OF  VIRGINIA, INC., 
DAVID M. TAUB, 
CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III, 

defendants herein, did knowingly import wildlife in interstate and 

foreign commerce, namely, wild-caught Macaca fascicularis, and in 

the exercise of due care should have known that the wildlife was 
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transported and sold in violation of a foreign law, namely, Decree 

No. 2 6/Kpts- 1 1/94, which imposed a ban on the transportation from 

Indonesia, that is, the export of wild-caught Macaca fascicularis; 

In violation of Title 1 6, United States Code, Sections 

3372 (a) (2) (A) and 3373 (d) (2) . 
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COUNTS SIX THROUGH NINE 
(THE IMPORTATION IN VIOLATION OF LAW CHARGES) 

The SPECIAL JULY 2002-2 GRAND JURY further charges: 

1. The allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through 3 7  of 

Count One are incorporated as if set forth herein. 

2. On or about the dates set forth below, each such date 

constituting a separate count of this indictment, at Chicago, in 

the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division, 

LABS OF  VIRGINIA, INC., and 
DAVID M. TAUB, 

defendants herein, did fraudulently and knowingly import into the 

United States certain merchandise contrary to law in the shipments 

described below, namely, wild-caught Macaca fascicularis, knowing 

the merchandise to have been imported into the United States 

contrary to law; 

Arrival Date Total No. Approx. No. 
Count at O' Hare in Shipment Wild-Caught 

Six 02/20/97 220 80 

Seven 04/10/97 253 98 

Eight 05/01/9 7 120 50 

Nine 05/30/97 253 99 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 545. 
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COUNTS TEN THROUGH TWELVE 
(THE HUMANE TRANSPORT CHARGES) 

The S PECIAL JULY 2002-2 GRAND JURY further charges: 

1. The allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through 3 7  of 

Count One are incorporated as if set forth herein. 

2. Defendant LABS, through defendant TAUB, applied for and 

was issued by USFWS a Federal Fish and, Wildlife Import/Export 

Permit which was effective between May 1, 199 6 and May 31, 199 7. 

The Import/Export Permit stated in pertinent part that its validity 

was "conditioned upon strict observance of all applicable foreign, 

state, local or other federal law. • 

3. The federal regulations issued by USFWS which govern the 

humane and healthful transport of wildlife to the United States are 

set forth at Title 50, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 14.105. 

Section 14. 105 provides in pertinent part that "[a] nursing mother 

with young . . .  shall be transported only if the primary purpose 

is for needed medical treatment and upon certification in writing 

by the examining veterinarian that the treatment is necessary and 

the animal is able to withstand the normal rigors of transport . .  

ll 

4. On or about April 7, 1997, defendant TAUB instructed the 

employee of defendant LABS at the Inquatex facility for the second 

O'Hare shipment to include "mothers with unweaned infants greater 

than 2 months of age" in the shipment. 

1 6  
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5 .  On or about April 18, 1997, Person A informed an employee 

of defendant LABS that the third O'Hare shipment would include "17  

mother with baby." 

8. On or about May 26, _ 1997, Person A sent to an employee of 

defendant LABS a listing of the crab-eating macaques to be included 

in the fourth 0' Hare shipment. The list reflected that the 

shipment would contain "19 HDS [heads] BABY AND MOTHER." 

9. On or the dates set forth below, each such date 

constituting a separate count of this indictment, at Chicago, in 

the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division, 

LABS OF  VIRGINIA, INC., and 
DAVID M. TAUB, 

defendants herein, did knowingly import wildlife in interstate and 

foreign commerce in the shipments described below, namely, Macaca 

fascicularis which included nursing mothers with young when the 

primary purpose of their transport was not needed medical 

treatment, and in the exercise of due care should have known that 

the wildlife was transported to the United States in violation of 

a regulation of the United States, namely, Title 50, Code of 

Federal Regulations, Section 14.105(b) (2) : 

Count 

Ten 

Eleven 

Twelve 

Arrival 
Date 

04/10/9 7 

05/0 1/9 7 

05/30/9 7 

1 7  

Total No. 
in Shipment 

253 

120 

253 

Approx. No. Pairs 
Nursing Mothers 
& Unweaned Young 

20 

1 7  
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All done in violation of Title 16, Un ited S t a tes Code, 

Sections 3372 (a) (2) (A) and 3373 (d) (2). 

A TRUE BILL: 

UNITED STTES 
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NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
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.,__o..w,_(QM7) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Name ol Assiceed Jude• SiniDC Juqe 1101hr 

or Macistrate Jude• tbaa Assic•ed Juqe 

98 GJ 364 
DATE CASENUMBER 

APRIL 02, 2002 

CASE 
JS V. LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC., DAVID M. TAUB, CHARLES 

IJ STERN, and WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III 
TITLE 

(In Ibo followms box (a) ind1caie th• pany fdu,g the mouon. •·&·, plamtilt defendant, 3rd pany plainuft and (b) stlU: bneOy 111c: .. 
the motion bc:in& presented.) 

MOTION: 

GRAND JURY PROCEEDING AND REQUEST TO SEAL 

SPECIAL JULY 2000-2 
The Grand Jury for the ____________ .Session, a quorum being 
present, returns the above-entitled indictment in open Court this date before 

Jwlg, oc __ ,, Jwl� £4/4,� 
DOCKET ENTRY: 

NO BOND SET AS TO LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC.,; DEFENDANT IS A 

BUSINESS. TO SET PRELIMINARY BAIL AT $4500. 00 AND THAT 

DEFENDANT BE AµLOWED TO SIGN OWN RECOGNIZANCE BOND AS TO DAVID 

M. TAUB, CHARLES J. STERN AND WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III. 

SPECIAL JULY 2000-2 02CR0312 

No nouces required. advised in open coun. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 fonn. 

Copy to judge/magisuate judge. 

courtroom 
deputy's 
,initials 

F 1.L ED 

APR O 2 2002 

MICHAEL W. DOBBINS 

CLERK, U.S. DISTRICT COURT 

Dale/time received in 
central Clerk's Office 

APR O 3 2002 
da,c doeli:C'ltd 

daumuleclMltl� 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 5 Filed: 04/04/02 Page 1 of 1 PageID #:<pageID>

:.1inutc Order Form (06/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Nmne of Assigned ,Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 
or Magistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 DATE 4/4/2002 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 
TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff, defendant, 3rd party plaintiff, and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(\) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

( I 0) 

( 11) 

-

-

-

-

-

-

D 

D 

D 

D 

D 

D 

D 

D 

D 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due _ __ . 

Answer brief to motion due _ __ . Reply to answer brief due _ __ . 

Ruling/Hearing on _ __ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Status hearing[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for ___ at _ __ . 

Trial[set for/re-set for] on _ __ at ___ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to ___ at _ __ . 

This case is dismissed [with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreement/pursuant to] 
0 FRCP4(m) 0 General Rule 21 0 FRCP4l(a)(I) 0 FRCP4l(a)(2). 

■ [Other docket entry] 

1:30 p.m. 
Arraignment and plea hearing as to all defendants reset to April 16, 2002 at 

D [For further detail see order (on reverse side of/attached to) the original minute order.] 

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 form. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 
courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

0 
V 

, . 

"' • 

·'· :. ! .".i ··· .. Dat�tifl)e received in 
central Clerk's omce 

number of notices 

APR o 5 2002 
date do ·L·ctcd 

/ 

date mailed notice 

mailing deputy initials 

Document 

Number 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 6 Filed: 04/16/02 Page 1 of 1 PageID #:22

Minute Order Form (06/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Name of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 

or Magistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 - 1 DATE 4/16/2002 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia Inc. 
TITLE 

MOTION: 

{In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff, defendant, 3rd party plaintirt: and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(!) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

■ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due _ __ . 

Answer brief to motion due ___ . Reply to answer brief due ___ . 

Ruling/Hearing on ___ set for ___ at __ _ 

Status hearing set for 5/8/2002 at 9:45 A.M .. 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on ___ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Trial[set for/re-set for] on _ __ at ___ . 

(Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to ___ at __ . 

This case is dismissed [with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreement/pursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(m) □ General Rule 21 □ FRCP4l(a)( l )  □ FRCP4l(a)(2). 

( I OJ ■ [Other docket entry] Arraignment and plea hearing held. Counsel appeared on behalf of the 

(11) 

defendant. Defendant waives formal reading of the indictment and enters a plea of not guilty to all counts. 
Rule 16.1 conference to be held on or before 4/29/02. From today's date until 5/8/02 is excluded pursuant 
to 18 U.S.C. 316l(h)(8)(A)(B). (X-T). 

□ [For further detail see order (on reverse side of/attached to) the original minute order.] 

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

number of notices 

tA -:1- ;!,-'l.,,1.!;)02 

Document 

Number 

✓ Docketing to mail notices. 

' �:, ,)),lJ,,,is G Mail AO 450 form. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 

courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

: j ·oatdii�e .. recdVi::d i_O 
.. Centfa1 ·c1erk'S offfce 

date mailed notice 

mailing deputy initials 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 88 Filed: 02/12/03 Page 1 of 1 PageID #:462Minute Order Form (06/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Name of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 
or Magistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312- all DATE 2/12/2003 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 
TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff, defendant, 3rd party plaintiff, and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

II 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due __ . 

Answer brief to motion due __ . Reply to answer brief due __ . 

Ruling/Hearing on ___ set for __ at _ __ . 

Status hearing held and continued to 4/2/2003 at 9:30 A.M .. 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on __ set for __ at __ _  . 

Trial[ set for/re-set for] on _ __ at ___ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to _ __ at ___ . 

This case is dismissed [with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreement/pursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(m) □ Local Rule 41.1 □ FRCP4l(a)( l )  0 FRCP41(a)(2). 

(1 O) ■ [Other docket entry] The parties are to submit the revised Letters ofRogatory on or before 2/19/03. 
Defendants' oral motion to strike is granted. From 1/31/03 until 4/2/03 is excluded pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 
3161(h)(l)(F) and 18 U.S.C. 3161(h)(8)(A)(B). (X-E and X-T). 

(11) □ [For further detail see order ( on reverse side of/attached to) the original minute order.] 

'---

'---

-

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

� Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 fonn. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 
courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

number of notices 

I EB 1,i2!JJJJ 

V 

dale mailed notice 

mailing deputy ioitiale 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 22 Filed: 04/22/02 Page 1 of 1 PageID #:32

.\1inute O1der Form {06/'J7) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Name of Assigned .Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting ,Judge if Other 
or Magistrate ,Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR312 DATE 4/22/2002 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, Inc., David Taub, Charles J. Stern and 
TITLE William Curtis Henley, III 

MOTION: 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintin: defendant, 3rd party p!aintil{ and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(I) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

■ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due __ _  . 

Answer brief to motion due _ __ Reply to answer brief due _ __ . 

Ruling/Hearing on _ __ set for _ __ at _ _  _ 

Status hearing re-set to 5/15/2002 at I 0:00 A.M .. 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for ____ at ___ . 

Trial[set for/re-set for] on __ _  at _ __ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to _ __ at _ __ . 

This ease is dismissed [with/without] prejudice and without eosts[by/agreement/pursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(m) □ General Rule 21 □ FRCP41(a)(I) □ FRCP41(a)(2). 

( I 0) ■ [Other docket entry] Status hearing set for 5/8/02 is vacated. From today's date until 5/1 5/02 is 
excluded pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 3161 (h)(8)(A)(B). (X-T). 

( 1 I) □ [For further detail see order (on reverse side of/attached to) the original minute order.] 

'--

'--

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

✓ Docketing to mail notices. 
'--

'--

Mail AO 450 form. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 
courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

Date/time received in 
central Clerk's Office 

1wmbcr of notice, 

APR 2. :3 2002 
date docketed 

iA _/ 
dockctf:;;;pllty initials 

date mailed notice 

mailing deputy initials 

Document 

Number 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 23 Filed: 05/15/02 Page 1 of 1 PageID #:33
-- ,-,.: --= 

.,.,o_, ...... -· 

Minllle Order Form (06/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Name of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 
or Magistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 DATE 5/15/2002 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 

TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff: defendant, 3rd party plaintiff: and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(I) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

■ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due _ __ . 

Answer brief to motion due _ __ . Reply to answer brief due _ __ . 

Ruling/Hearing on _ __ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Status hearing held and continued to 7/10/2002 at 10:00 A.M .. 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Trial[set for/re-set for] on _ __ at _ __ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to _ __ at _ __ . 

This case is dismissed [with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreement/pursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(m) □ General Rule 21 □ FRCP4l(a)(l )  □ FRCP4l(a)(2). 

( I 0) ■ [Other docket entry] The defendants' presence is waived at the next status hearing. Any pretrial 
motions are to be filed on or before July 1, 2002. Pa1ties are to note the filing date for pretrial motions is different from 

that stated on the record. Government's oral motion to amend the indictment in Counts Ten through Twelve to change 
the statutory reference from Title 16 Untied States Code Sections 3372(a)(2)(A) and 3373(d)(2) to Title 16 United States 
Code Sections 3372(a)(l)(A) and 3373(d)(2) is granted. From today's date until July 10, 2002 is excluded pursuant to 
18 U.S.C. 3161 (h)( l )(F) and 18 U.S.C. 3161 (h)(8)(A)(B). (X-E and X-T). 

( 1 I ) □ [For further detail see order ( on reverse side of/attached to) the original minute order.] 

f--

f--

f--

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

✓ Docketing to mail notices. 

-
Mail AO 450 form. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 

courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

" ' ·; D<lteitil�� .. f�ceivcd in 
central Clerk's Office 

number of notices 

HA't l 6 Zlll\2 
date docketed 

date mailed notice 

,nuili11g deputy initials 

Document 
Number-
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 25 Filed: 07/01/02 Page 1 of 6 PageID #:46

UNITED STATES OF AMERIC'\\\\t\\'\\.I � 
� 'l, '/.fi\\i1 ) 

V. j\.)\... ) 

LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. 
DAVID M. TAUB 
CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

No. 02 CR 0312 

Judge Castillo 
Magistrate Judge Bobrick 

DEFENDANT LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC.'S NOTICE OF JOINDER 

lQf\ 

Defendant Labs of Virginia, Inc. ("LABS"), by the undersigned counsel, hereby joins in 

and consents to various motions filed by Defendants David M. Taub, Charles J. Stem, and 

William Curtis Henley III, on July 1, 2002, pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 

12(b). Defendant adopts and incorporates by reference the following motions in their entirety: 

1) Defendant David M. Taub's Motion for Early Disclosure of Intention to Introduce Co
Conspirator Statements Pursuant to Federal Rule of Evidence 80l (d)(2)(E); 

2) Defendant David M. Taub's Motion for Leave to Issue Pretrial Subpoenas Pursuant to 
Rule 17(c) and Memorandum of Law in Support; 

3) Defendant David M. Taub's Motion for Leave to File Additional Motions; 

4) Defendant David M. Taub's Motion for Pretrial Disclosure of Exculpatory Evidence; 

5) Defendant David M. Taub's Motion for Bill of Particulars and Supporting 
Memorandum of Law; 

6) Motion of Defendants Charles J. Stem and William Curtis Henley Ill to Dismiss 
Count 5 of the Indictment under the Act of State Doctrine and Memorandum in Support 
of Motion of Defendants Charles J. Stem and William Curtis Henley III to Dismiss Count 
5 of the Indictment under the Act of State Doctrine; 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 25 Filed: 07/01/02 Page 2 of 6 PageID #:47

7) Motion of Defendants Charles J. Stem and William Curtis Henley III to Dismiss 
Count 5 of the Indictment under the Void for Vagueness Doctrine and Memorandum in 
Support of Motion of Defendants Charles J. Stem and William Curtis Henley III to 
Dismiss Count 5 of the Indictment under the Void for Vagueness Doctrine; and 

8) Motion of Defendants Charles J. Stem and William Curtis Henley III to Dismiss 
Count 5 of the Indictment for Failure to Allege an Essential Element of the Offense and 
Memorandum in Support of Motion of Defendants Charles J. Stem and William Curtis 
Henley III to Dismiss Count 5 of the Indictment for Failure to Allege an Essential 
Element of the Offense. 

GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
800 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, D.C. 20006 
(202) 331-3100 

Local counsel: 
Robert H. King, Jr. 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, P.C. 
77 West Wacker Drive 
Suite 2500 
Chicago, Illinois 60601 
(312) 456-8400 

July I, 2002 

Respectfully submitted, 

2 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 25 Filed: 07/01/02 Page 3 of 6 PageID #:48

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on this 1st day of July, 2002, a true and correct copy of the 
foregoing Defendant LABS of Virginia, Inc.'s Notice of Joinder, was served by hand 
delivery on the following: 

Diane MacArthur, Esq. 
Assistant United States Attorney 
219 South Dearborn Street 
Chicago, IL 60604 

and by United States first class mail, postage prepaid, on the following: 

Michael L. Fayad, Esq. 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
800 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, DC 20006 

Samuel J. Buffone, Esq. 
Kelly B. Kramer, Esq. 
ROPES&GRAY 
One Franklin Square 
1301 K Street, N.W. 
Suite 800 East 
Washington, DC 20005-3333 

Gerald A. Feffer, Esq. 
David M. Zinn, Esq. 
WILLIAMS & CONNOLLY 
725 Twelfth Street, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20005 

\\wdc-srv01\I013llv01 

Robert H. King, Jr. 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 25 Filed: 07/01/02 Page 4 of 6 PageID #:49

.. ,,:._-,.. 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

;itittt,IVISION 

\'I '2, 2001 
JU\.. 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
No. 02 CR 0312 

V. 

Judge Castillo 
Magistrate Judge Bobrick LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. 

DAVIDM. TAUB 
CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

�,l� 
✓11, 12' D ' "11c , .. , . .oc., 

DEFENDANT LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC.'S MOT�� IJ"l-f

z
,:;, (1_. ,, 

FOR LEAVE TO FILE IN EXCESS OF FIFTEEN PAGES ' ;.,,;:/··� .. ,,, 
··<.) ·;\ 

,:,,:,:;. 
Defendant Labs of Virginia, Inc. ("LABS"), by and through undersigned counsel, 

· '1�-,. 

respectfully moves, pursuant to Local Rule 7 .1 of the Local Rules of the United States 

District Court for the Northern District of Illinois, for permission to exceed the fifteen

page limitation in its Motion to Dismiss and Memorandum of Law in Support ("Motion 

to Dismiss"). In support of this Motion, LABS states as follows: 

1. The Motion to Dismiss is filed by LABS, but has been adopted by all three 

co-Defendants. The Motion to Dismiss raises numerous complex legal issues applicable 

in differing degrees to all of the Defendants. 

2. The Indictment is eighteen pages in length, includes twelve counts, and 

contains many facial defects that demonstrate the_ insufficient and invalid nature of the 

Indictment. Each of these facial defects had to be separately addressed. 

Obtained by Rise for Animals.
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 25 Filed: 07/01/02 Page 5 of 6 PageID #:50

3. In order to adequately and properly address the issues raised in LABS' 

Motion to Dismiss, it was necessary for LABS to exceed the fifteen-page limit imposed 

by the Local Rules of this Court. 

4. This Motion is brought in good faith, and will assist in clarifying the 

issues before the Court. 

GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
800 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, D.C. 20006 
(202) 331-3100 

Local counsel: 
Robert H. King, Jr. 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, P.C. 
77 West Wacker Drive 
Suite 2500 
Chicago, Illinois 60601 
(312) 456-8400 

Respectfully submitted, 

2 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on this 1st day of July, 2002, a true and correct copy of the 
foregoing Defendant LABS of Virginia, Inc.' s Motion for Leave to File in Excess of 
Fifteen Pages, was served by hand delivery on the following: 

Diane MacArthur, Esq. 
Assistant United States Attorney 
219 South Dearborn Street 
Chicago, IL 60604 

and by United States first class mail, postage prepaid, on the following: 

Michael L. Fayad, Esq. 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
800 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, DC 20006 

Samuel J. Buffone, Esq. 
Kelly B. Kramer, Esq. 
ROPES&GRAY 
One Franklin Square 
1301 K Street, N.W. 
Suite 800 East 
Washington, DC 20005-3333 

Gerald A. Peffer, Esq. 
David M. Zinn, Esq. 
WILLIAMS & CONNOLLY 
725 Twelfth Street, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20005 

\\wdc-srvOl\101341 vOl 

/tJd7f/{:j 
Robert H. King, Jr. / 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA1\lt\{tlill
1 � 

JUL \l '2 2(l\l ) No. 02 CR 0312 
V. 

/:>;l. 
LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. 
DAVID M. TAUB 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

Ju( �D Judge Castillo C. ... � , , 
Magistrate JudglwJ'fi6ite -f <Oo 

CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III 

, lJ.
6' '< il'v ? 

·C ·b 1'6')'-
"9: 

0,:,
'1: 

'le)'- �lt.s 

DEFENDANT LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC.'S MOTION TO STRIKE PORTIONS 

cou� 

OF THE INDICTMENT AND MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT 

Pursuant to Rules 7(d) and 12(b) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, Defendant 

Labs of Virginia, Inc. ("LABS" or "Defendant") hereby requests this Court to strike portions of 

the Indictment. Specifically, LABS respectfully requests that certain irrelevant and prejudicial 

surplusage be stricken from the Indictment. As will be explained herein, certain allegations in 

the Indictment are irrelevant and not essential to the Indictment. Moreover, these allegations are 

also inflammatory and prejudicial because they incite an improper, emotional response to the 

evidence presented, and have no probative value. 

ARGUMENT 

Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 7( d) provides that surplusage may be stricken from 

an indictment by the court upon a motion made by the defendant. The purpose of Rule 7( d) is to 

"protect the defendant against prejudicial allegations or irrelevant or immaterial facts." 1 Charles 

Alan Wright, Wright & Miller Fed. Prac. & Proc. Crim. 3d §127. The rule helps to minimize the 

unfair effect of inflammatory and irrelevant language on the jury. See United States v. Andrews, 

749 F. Supp. 1517, 1519 (N.D. Ill. 1990). "Prosecutors have been known to insert unnecessary 
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allegations for 'color' or 'background' hoping that these will stimulate the interest of the jurors." 

United States v. Brighton Building & Maintenance Co., 435 F. Supp. 222, 230 (N.D. Ill. 1977) 

(citing 1 Charles Alan Wright, Wright & Miller Fed. Prac. & Proc. Crim. 3d §127 at 277 (1969)). 

A court has discretion to strike immaterial or irrelevant allegations which may be prejudicial. 

Andrews, 749 F. Supp. at 1518 (citing United States v. Climatemp, Inc., 482 F. Supp. 376, 391 

(N.D. Ill. 1979)). 

The Indictment states that "Bionetics Corporation ("Bionetics") purchased the entity 

which became LABS . .. " and then proceeds to state Bionetics' address. Indictment, at 1-2, ii 3. 

The Indictment also describes positions held by Defendants Stem and Henley in Bionetics, and 

refers to Defendant Stem's interest in Bionetics. All of the above-mentioned statements are 

irrelevant. In addition, the statement that alleges "Bionetics purchased the entity which became 

LABS" is untrue, and improperly, incorrectly, and unnecessarily associates Bionetics with the 

allegedly unlawful activities of LABS described in the Indictment. 1 This statement 

misrepresents the legal status of LABS by indicating that LABS has a parent company that could 

be legally or financially responsible for LABS' actions. 

The Indictment's use of the term "baksheesh" is also irrelevant, inappropriate, and 

untrue. See Indictment, at 6, ii 19. The use of the term "baksheesh", as well as the 

Government's statement that "[b]aksheesh means bribe" is a blatant attempt to prejudice 

Defendant and lure the jury and the Court into thinking that the Defendant was a party to or had 

knowledge of improper payments, which the Government would like to have charged, but, as 

their own evidence shows, did not happen. 

1 See Declaration of Ms. Janice Kennard, attached hereto as Exhibit 1. 

2 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 27 Filed: 07/01/02 Page 3 of 10 PageID #:54

I. Statements Regarding Defendant LABS' Ownership Must Be Stricken from the 
Indictment as Irrelevant and Prejudicial. 

The Indictment states that Bionetics purchased the entity which became LABS. See 

Indictment, at 1-2, ,r 3. This statement implies that LABS' parent company is Bionetics. This 

characterization ofBionetics is both untrue and irrelevant. Pursuant to Federal Rule of Evidence 

401, "relevant evidence is that which has any tendency to make the existence of any fact of 

consequence to the action more or less probable than it would be without the evidence." United 

States v. Harris, 542 F.2d 1283, 1317 (7th Cir. 1976); see United States v. Neeley. 189 F.3d 670, 

681-82 (7th Cir. 1999). The assertion that Bionetics owns LABS is simply irrelevant to the 

allegations set forth in the Indictment. According to Federal Rule of Evidence 402, the fate of 

irrelevant evidence is exclusion, for "[e]vidence which is not relevant is not admissible." Fed. R. 

Evid. 402. As such, there is no basis for including references to Bionetics in the Indictment and 

all such references should be stricken. 

Furthermore, even if this Court determines that some assertion regarding LABS' 

ownership is relevant, true statements in the Indictment that Bionetics owns LABS must be 

stricken due to their prejudicial effect and because the statements are wrong. Pursuant to Federal 

Rule of Evidence 403, relevant evidence "may be excluded if its probative value is substantially 

outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury ... 

. " Fed. R. Evid. 403; see United States v. McPartlin, 595 F.2d 1321, 1345 (7th Cir. 1979). Here, 

the incorrect identification of LABS• owner, has no probative value whatsoever and is 

misleading. 
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II. Statements Alleging Bribery and Defendant's Knowledge Thereof Must Be Stricken 
from the Indictment as Irrelevant, Prejudicial, and an Improper Reference to 
Questionable Payment Allegations. 

The Indictment contends that before buying the breeding colony, "Person B" distributed a 

memorandum to Defendant stating that "since exporting wild-caught crab-eating macaques was 

against Indonesian law unless some exception was written, Person A had gone to the Indonesian 

government and had cut a 'baksheesh' deal to pay them off." Indictment, at 6, ,i 19. The 

Indictment further alleges, without any basis and incorrectly, that "[b ]aksheesh means bribe." 

Id.2 Finally, the Indictment asserts that "Person B also stated [in the memorandum] that 

Inquatex's monthly expenses included $300 in 'CITES charity' that needed to be paid out to 

various officials." Id. The Indictment's allegations incorrectly imply that Defendant knew the 

previous owner of the colony was involved in bribing the Indonesian government and in paying 

off various officials on a monthly basis in order to get permission to export the colony. 

Either the Government elected not to include these prior bad acts allegations as violations 

in the Indictment it presented to the Grand Jury or the Grand Jury rejected them, because they 

either lacked merit or there was insufficient evidence. 3 Nevertheless, the Government included 

these allegations solely to prejudice the Court and the jury. Since the Indictment does not 

include any charges related to bribery, the only purpose of the allegations in paragraph 19 of the 

2 This unsupported and purported statement of a legal definition is false, and points out the 
precise problem that the jury will have if these allegations remain. Baksheesh is defined as "a 
gratuity or tip to expedite service, especially in some near eastern countries." Dictionary.com 
(visited June 26, 2002) <http://www.dictionary.com/search?q=baksheesh>. The etymology of 
the word "baksheesh" is "Persian bakhshish, present, from Middle Persian bakhshishn, from 
bakhsh dan, bakhsh-, to give presents, from Avestan bakhsh-. See bhag- in Indo-European 
Roots." Id. Bribery is defined as "the offering, giving, receiving, or soliciting of any thing of 
value to influence action as an official or in discharge of legal or public duty." Black's Law 
Dictionary (5th ed. 1983). 

' The Government's own evidence flatly contradicts the implication that a bribe was paid to 
obtain permission to export unproductive parent stock. 
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Indictment is to prejudice the Court and the jury against Defendant and attempt to show that 

Defendant has a propensity toward wrongful behavior. The Government's characterization of 

baksheesh as a "bribe" is incorrect and has illegal connotations that are highly prejudicial to 

Defendant in addition to being wrong. 

The Court should strike the entirety of paragraph 19 of the Indictment for several 

reasons. First, statements regarding the alleged payment of "baksheesh", "bribes", or "charity" 

are irrelevant to this case because there are no counts in the Indictment that involve such 

payments. See Fed. R. Evid. 401 and 402. Second, the references to baksheesh, bribery, and 

charity have no probative value as to whether Defendant committed the acts alleged in the 

Indictment. Moreover, even if this Court determined that such statements had probative value, 

that value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. See Fed. R. Evid. 403. 

The Government's inclusion of references to baksheesh, bribes, and charity in the 

Indictment improperly suggests that there were wrongful, or possibly illegal, payments that 

occurred with Defendant's knowledge as part of the transaction between LABS and Inquatex. 

Rule 404(b) of the Federal Rules of Evidence states that "[ e ]vidence of other crimes, wrongs, or 

acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity 

therewith." Fed. R. Evid. 404(b). "Federal Rule of Evidence 404(b) was designed to prevent the 

admission of such propensity evidence." United States v. Shields, 999 F.2d 1090, 1100 (7th Cir. 

1993). The Seventh Circuit has established a four-prong test for admitting prior bad acts 

evidence under 404(b ). Such evidence is admissible if: 

(1) the evidence is directed toward establishing a matter in issue other than the 
defendant's propensity to commit the crime charged, (2) the evidence shows that 
the other act is similar enough and close enough in time to be relevant to the 
matter in issue, (3) the evidence is sufficient to support a jury finding that the 
defendant committed the similar act, and (4) the probative value of the evidence is 
not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. 
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Shields, 999 F.2d at 1099 (citing United States v. Zapata, 871 F.2d 616,620 (7th Cir. 1989)); see 

United States v. Williams, 216 F.3d 611,614 (7'h Cir. 2000). 

The statements regarding baksheesh, bribes, and charity included in paragraph 19 of the 

Indictment clearly fail this four-prong test, and therefore, should be stricken from the Indictment. 

First, any evidence of whether Defendant was aware of the alleged payment of baksheesh, 

bribes, or charity by the prior owner of the breeding colony ( or whether any such payments 

actually occurred) does not establish a matter in issue. Past acts of bribery are admissible only if 

evidence of prior bribery shows conformity with a plan or intent as to the charged crime. See 

51.&, United States v. Anderson, 809 F.2d 1281, 1285 (7th Cir. 1987) (court allowed evidence of 

one prior bribery incident to support an inference that the defendants had an ongoing plan to 

obtain bribes and acted in conformity with it); McPartlin, 595 F.2d at 1343 (prior bad act bribery 

evidence tended to refute defendant's defense that he lacked the intent to bribe city officials). 

However, unlike the cited cases, in this case, Defendant is not being charged with bribery and the 

Government's own evidence shows that an alleged payment of bribery was not part of the plan 

involving the alleged crimes set forth in the Indictment. Instead, the Government appears to be 

attempting to develop a perception of Defendant as a company that has a propensity toward 

committing bad acts. As such, the statements in paragraph 19 do not establish a matter in issue 

nor do they relate to a propensity to commit any of the crimes charged in the Indictment. 

Second, the references to payments of bribes and Defendant's knowledge of such 

payments are not similar to any of the counts against Defendant. Prior bad acts must be "similar 

enough ... [to the charged acts] to be relevant." McPartlin, 595 F.2d at 1343. In this case, alleged 

bribery payments by a previous owner of the breeding colony have no relationship to the charges 
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brought against Defendant. Therefore, the second prong of the four-part test for determining the 

admissibility of prior bad acts is not met. 

Third, the allegations of prior acts of bribery, as presented in the Indictment, are 

insufficient, i.e., not clear and convincing, to support a jury finding that Defendant committed 

the similar act. See United States v. Tuchow 768 F.2d 855, 863 (ih Cir. 1985). In Tuchow, the 

Seventh Circuit found that the prior bribery evidence against defendant was clear and convincing 

because the conversation regarding the prior bribery was recorded on audiotape. Id. That is not 

the case here. The Government solely relies on a speculative statement by "Person B" that 

"Person A" made baksheesh or bribe payments to the Indonesian government in order to obtain 

permission to export the unproductive parent stock and that lnquatex 's expenses included CITES 

charity payments to officials. The Indictment fails to definitively state that any payments to the 

Indonesian government officials in return for the grant of permission to export the wild caught 

monkeys actually occurred. In fact, Person A testified under oath before the grand jury that he 

did not pay money to Department of Forestry officials to obtain the CITES permit. The 

unsupported and conclusory references to the payment of baksheesh and charity, and the 

erroneous conclusion that baksheesh means bribe, are insufficient to support the inclusion of this 

highly prejudicial paragraph. Moreover, it would be an unjustified waste of judicial resources to 

allow the Government to proceed further on the subject of alleged bribery since there is not clear 

and convincing evidence of bribery, as required by prong three of the four-part test. 

Fourth, the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighs the probative value of the 

bribery-related statements contained in paragraph 19 of the Indictment. In this case, the bribery 

allegations do not make the existence of any fact of consequence to the action more or less 

probable. The only real effect of this evidence is to surround Defendant in an aura of corruptness 
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and to prejudice the Court and jury against Defendant. Therefore, al! references to bribery, 

baksheesh, and charity should be stricken from the Indictment. 

Finally, Defendant's request that the Court strike paragraph I 9 from the Indictment is 

supported by United States v. O'Connor, 580 F.2d 38 (2nd Cir. 1978). In O'Connor, the Second 

Circuit reviewed a federal district court's decision to admit evidence of a prior bribery. The 

Second Circuit reversed the lower court's decision because the prior bad act evidence was 

irrelevant and prejudicial. Similar to the instant case, proper identification of the defendant, 

intent, and knowledge were not at issue. The court held: 

Not only was the evidence irrelevant, it was prejudicial because it might lead a 
jury to convict because it thought the defendant's character was such that he 
frequently committed crimes. Moreover, the evidence distorted the emphasis at 
trial away from the crimes covered by the indictment to those not so charged. 

Id. at 43. Likewise, the references to baksheesh, bribery, and charity payments in paragraph 19 

of the Indictment distorts the focus at trial away from the charged crimes. In fact, the 

unsupported allegations in paragraph 19 are so serious that the Government, Defendant, and the 

Court are likely to spend considerable time proving, disproving and instructing the jury as to a 

crime not charged. Therefore, this issue should be excluded on the basis of judicial economy. 

Based on the foregoing, paragraph 19 of the Indictment fails the Seventh Circuit's four-prong 

test, and, therefore, must be stricken from the Indictment. 

CONCLUSION 

WHEREFORE, for the reasons stated above, and any additional reasons stated at any oral 

hearing on this Motion, Defendant respectfully moves the Court to grant this Motion and issue 

and issue an order striking the following portions of the Indictment in the instant proceeding: 

1. pages 1-2, paragraph 3; 

2. page 2, paragraph 4, second and third sentences; 

8 
Obtained by Rise for Animals.

Uploaded to Animal Research Laboratory Overview (ARLO) on 09/20/2020



Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 27 Filed: 07/01/02 Page 9 of 10 PageID #:60

3. page 2, paragraph 5, second sentence; and 

4. page 6, paragraph 19. 
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Local counsel: 
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Respectfully submitted, 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
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DEFENDANT LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC.'S MOTION 
TO DISMISS AND MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT 

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 12(b), Defendant Labs of Virginia, Inc. 

("LABS" or "Defendant"), by the undersigned counsel, hereby requests this Court to dismiss the 

Indictment against LABS. The Indictment is not legally sufficient and should be dismissed. 

BACKGROUND 

On April 2, 2002, an Indictment was issued against Defendants LABS of Virginia, Inc., 

David M. Taub, Charles J. Stem and William Curtis Henley III ( collectively, the "Defendants") 

by a Grand Jury in Chicago, Illinois. The charges in the Indictment arise out of a transaction 

between LABS and Indonesian Aquatics Export CV ("Inquatex"), a company located in 

Indonesia. LABS breeds, raises, manages, and provides animals to United States Government 

("Government") and private organizations for purposes of bio-medical research. In particular, 

the Indictment concerns alleged violations of federal statutes arising out of LABS' purchase of 

an entire colony of monkeys consisting of approximately 1,300 cynomolgus macaques (of the 

species "Macaca fascicularis" and commonly known as crab-eating or long-tailed macaques) 
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from Inquatex. The colony was shipped in six shipments beginning in February 1997. The point 
of entry into the United States for the first four shipments was Chicago's O'Hare International 
Airport. The instant Indictment concerns these four shipments. 1 

The Indictment alleges the following: Counts One through Four of the Indictment allege 
that Defendants LABS and Taub knowingly submitted false records related to the description of 
the monkeys with each of the four shipments in violation of 16 U.S.C. §§ 3372(d) and 
3373(d)(3)(A)(i) (a felony); Count Five of the Indictment alleges that all Defendants knowingly 
imported monkeys and in the exercise of due care should have known that the importation 
violated a foreign law in violation of 16 U.S.C. §§ 3372(a)(2)(A) and 3373(d)(2) (a 
misdemeanor); Counts Six through Nine allege that Defendants LABS and Taub knowingly and 
fraudulently imported the four shipments of the monkeys contrary to law in violation of 18 
U.S.C. § 545 (a felony); and Counts Ten through Twelve allege that Defendants LABS and Taub 
knowingly imported three shipments of monkeys and in the exercise of due care should have 
known that the importation violated a United States regulation allegedly governing the shipments 
of nursing mothers with infants in violation of 16 U.S.C. §§ 3372(a)(l )(A) and 3373(d)(2) (a 
misdemeanor). 

The Indictment in this case is flawed for several reasons. First, Counts One through Five 
of the Indictment improperly allege multiple offenses in each count, and therefore, should be 
dismissed as duplicitous. Second, Counts One through Five of the Indictment are legally 
insufficient under the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution. Third, Counts One 
through Four and Counts Six Through Nine do not state all of the essential elements for the 
offenses charged. Fourth, Count Five, which requires a predicate offense, does not allege a 

1 Defendants' Motion Requesting Issuance of Letters Rogatory, filed July 1, 2002, contains a 
more detailed statement of facts applicable to all of Defendant LABS' motions. 
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legally sufficient predicate offense. Finally, Counts One though Five and Ten through Twelve in 
the Indictment allege conduct which is based on a reasonable interpretation of applicable United 
States and foreign laws and regulations. Thus, this Court should dismiss the Indictment in its 
entirety. 

ARGUMENT 

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 12(b ), "any defense or objection which is 
capable of determination without the trial of the general issue may be raised before trial by 
motion." United States v. American Honda Motor Company. 273 F. Supp 8 10, 814 (E.D. Ill. 
1967). Rule 12(e) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure further provide that "(w]here 
factual issues are involved in determining a motion, the court shall state its essential findings on 
the record." Fed. R. Crim. P. 12(e). A motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b) is directed to the 
validity of the indictment and tests whether an offense has been sufficiently charged. See United 
States v. Yasak, 884 F.2d 996, 1001 (7th Cir. 1989) (citing United States v. Winer, 323 F. Supp 
604, 605 (E.D. Pa. 1971)); see also United States v. Sampson, 371 U.S. 75 (1962). An 
indictment must sufficiently allege the essential facts constituting the offenses charged and fairly 
apprise the defendants of the unlawfulness of those offenses. See United States v. Grizaffi, 471 
F.2d 69, 73 (7th Cir. 1972); see also Fed. R. Crim. P. 7(c)(l) (the indictment "shall be a plain, 
concise and definite written statement of the essential facts constituting the offense charged."). 
"An indictment is sufficient ifit (1) states the elements of the offense charged, (2) fairly informs 
the defendant of the nature of the charge so that she may prepare a defense, and (3) enables her 
to plead an acquittal or conviction as a bar against future prosecutions for the same offense." 
United States v. Yoon, 128 F.3d 515, 521-22 (7th Cir. 1997) (citing Hamling v. United States, 
418 U.S. 87, 117 (1974) and United States v. Allender, 62 F.3d 909, 914 (7th Cir. 1995)). 
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I. Counts One Through Five Must Be Dismissed Because They Improperly Join 
Multiple Offenses In A Single Count. 

An indictment is required to adequately apprise the defendant of the nature of the charges 

against him. United States v. Smith, 230 F.3d 300, 305 (7th Cir. 2000). Duplicity is the ''joining 

of two or more offenses in a single count" of an indictment. United States v. Marshall, 75 F.3d 

1097, 1111 (7th Cir. 1996) (citations omitted). The prohibition on duplicitous counts is derived 

from Rule 8( a) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, which provides for a separate count 

for each offense. United States v. Beradi, 675 F.2d 894, 897 n.5; see Fed. R. Crim. P. 8(a). "The 

prohibition against duplicity is designed to protect a defendant's right under the sixth amendment 

to notice of the 'nature and cause of the accusation' against him so that he may prepare a 

defense, and to guard against the possibility that 'confusion as to the basis of the verdict may 

subject the defendant to double jeopardy in the event of a subsequent prosecution."' United 

States v. Tanner, 471 F.2d 128, 139 (?'h Cir. 1972) (quoting 8 J. Moore, Federal Practice 

,r 8.03[1], at 8-6, 7 (2d ed. 1970)). 

The Seventh Circuit has held that the ban on duplicitous indictments arises from four 

concerns: 

First, courts condemn duplicitous indictments which fail to give defendants 
adequate notice of the nature of the charges against which they must prepare a 
defense. Second, courts denounce duplicitous counts which threaten to subject 
defendants to prejudicial evidentiary rulings at trial. Third, courts dismiss 
duplicitous indictments which produce trial records inadequate to allow 
defendants to plead prior convictions or acquittals as a bar to subsequent 
prosecution for the same offense. Finally, courts overturn duplicitous indictments 
which present a risk that the jury may have convicted a defendant by a 
nonunanimous verdict. 

United States v. Kimberlin, 781 F.2d 1247, 1250 (7th Cir. 1985) (citations omitted). A 

duplicitous indictment is insufficient, and therefore must be dismissed. 
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A. Counts One through Four 

In this case, Counts One through Four charge Defendant LABS with violating 16 U.S.C. 
§§ 3372(d) and 3373(d)(3)(A)(l )  by submitting a CITES permit and a health certificate 
containing false information for the four separate shipments of Macaca fascicularis from 
Indonesia to the United States. Each of Counts One through Four charges one shipment; and, 
each of these counts is based upon two documents. Counts One through Four are duplicitous and 
must be dismissed because each count alleges one violation of Section 3372 based upon two 
independent documents and therefore, under the circumstances of this case, two independent 
offenses. 

As stated earlier, duplicity under Rule 8(a) of the Federal Rule's of Criminal Procedure 
consists of joining in the same count of an indictment two or more distinct and separate offenses 
and is prohibited due to notice and double jeopardy concerns. Tanner, 471 F.2d at 138. The 
Seventh Circuit has not addressed the issue of duplicity in relation to false statement violations 
based on statements in separate documents. The Ninth Circuit, however, has ruled that separate 
documents, each of which contained allegedly false statements, could support separate counts. 

In United States v. Nash, 115 F.3d 1431 (9th Cir. 1994), the Ninth Circuit reviewed the 
precise issue of whether false statements on separate documents could be charged in separate 
counts. The Defendant in Nash used two allegedly false tax returns, for 1985 and 1986, six times 
to support three applications which he made to two banks. Id. at 1434. The applications were 
for a loan and a line of credit for Nash's partnership, which were made to one bank, and a 
personal loan which was made to another bank. Id. The indictment charged Nash with, among 
other offenses, six violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1014, which prohibits knowingly making false 
statements to a federally insured lending institution. Id. Nash was convicted and appealed. Id. 
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On appeal, as to the six violations of 18 U. S. C. § 1014, Nash argued that the contemporaneous 

submission of multiple false documents, as a set of documents, can support only one charge. Id. 

at 1438-39. The court disagreed, noting that applicable precedent in the Fifth and Eleventh 

Circuits, while "admittedly ambiguous," allowed multiple counts for each false statement on a 

separate document and, in fact, allowed multiple counts for the same false statement used to 

obtain multiple loans. Id. at 1439. The courts decision in Nash stands for the principal that each 

use of a false document, whether it is a different false document or the same false document, can 

support separate counts. See also United States v. Fitzgerald, 2000 WL 1170140 (9th Cir. 2000) 

(unpublished opinion) (holding that it is permissible to have separate counts based on each 

document that allegedly contained a false statement).2 Similarly, in this case, each document 

containing alleged false statements, i.e., the CITES permits and the health certificates, should 

have been charged in separate counts related to each of the four shipments. These two 

documents are not part of the same transaction and each has a different purpose.3 

2 The Fifth Circuit and Eleventh Circuit have also held that each false statement on a separate 
document constitutes a separate count. See United States v. Glanton, 707 F.2d 1238 (11th Cir. 
1983); United States v. Guzman, 781 F.2d 428 (5th Cir. 1986). It should be noted, however, that 
this line of cases relies on Bins v. United States, 331 F.2d 390 (5th Cir. 1964). The court in Bins 
held that filing two different false documents in the same transaction constitutes two crimes and 
that any acts capable of being charged as separate offenses must be alleged in separate counts. 
Id. at 393. However, the court in United States v. Steurer, 942 F. Supp. 1183 (N.D. Ill. 1996), 
held that the decision in Bins was inapposite. The Steurer case stated that under United States v. 
Berardi, 675 F.2d 894 (7th Cir. 1982), it is permissible to join three acts, each of which could 
have constituted independent violations of a statute, in one count where the conduct could fairly 
be characterized as a single, continuing offense. Id. at 898. As will be explained, the Steurer 
case is inapposite to the case before this court because the court in Steurer limited its analysis to 
whether several false statements in a single document could be charged under the same count. 

' While the health certificates reference the CITE S permits, the two documents are issued by two 
different agencies of the Indonesian government. The CITE S permits were issued by the 
Department of Forestry; the health certificates were issued by the Department of Agriculture, 
National Quarantine of Agriculture. 
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In United States v. Steurer, 942 F. Supp. I 183 (N.D. Ill. 1996), defendant Steurer was 

charged with making false statements of material facts to a financial institution in violation of 18 

U.S.C. § 1014. In connection with a loan, Steurer submitted four different promissory notes, 

each containing a fictitious borrower's name, taxpayer identification number, address, and 

purpose for borrowing the funds. Id. at 1185-86. Each of the four counts in the indictment was 

based on each of the promissory notes. Each of the promissory notes contained four separate 

false statements. Id. at I 185. Steurer moved to dismiss each of the counts on the basis of 

duplicity because each count referred to four separate false statements in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1014. Id. at 1186. The court denied the motion and held that the four false statements in each 

document were inextricably related and a part of a single course of conduct. Id. at 1187. Thus, 

the structure of the indictment in Steurer, whereby there was a separate count associated with 

each allegedly false document ( even though each document contained several allegedly false 

statements), was acceptable to the court. 

Defendant LABS acknowledges that the decisions on this issue do not clearly require a 

single result. Nevertheless, the use of two documents to support one count raises several issues. 

First, these counts prevent the jury from deciding guilt or innocence on each offense separately 

and have the potential to lead to a non-unanimous verdict. Second, the evidence as to the two 

documents in each count will likely confuse the trial jury. Third, these counts will make it 

difficult to determine whether an acquittal or conviction rests on only one of the documents or 

both. As such, Counts One through Four are duplicitous and must be dismissed. 

B. Count Five 

Count Five of the Indictment is also a duplicitous count and must be dismissed. Count 

Five charges Defendants with violating 16 U.S.C. § 3372(a)(2)(A). Count Five specifically 
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alleges that "four shipments from Inquatex which entered the United States through O'Hare 

contained productive wild-caught crab-eating macaques. " See Indictment, at 13, ,r 2. The 

Indictment further alleges that "[b ]etween on or about February 20, 1997 and on or about May 

30, 1997, . . .  defendants herein, did knowingly import wildlife in interstate and foreign 

commerce, namely, wild-caught Macaca fascicularis, and in the exercise due care should have 

known that the wildlife was transported and sold in violation of a foreign law. " See Indictment, 

at 13, ,r 3. 

The Indictment is not clear as to whether Count Five is alleging that one of the shipments 

of Macaca fascicularis violated 16 U.S.C. § 3372(A)(2)(A), whether it is alleging that each of 

the four shipments violated Title 16 or whether the four combined shipments violated Title 16. 

In this case, it is impossible to know whether the language of Count Five charges Defendant with 

one offense or four offenses. If the Government is contending that each of the four shipments 

violated Title 16, then each of the shipments constitutes a distinct offense, and therefore, must be 

charged in a separate count. Defendant LABS is unable to discern from Count Five which 

shipment or shipments form the basis for the charge that Defendant violated 16 U.S.C. 

§ 3372(a)(2)(A). 

Furthermore, Count Five is duplicitous because it unfairly exposes Defendant to the risk 

of prejudicial evidentiary rulings at trial, the inability to plead prior convictions or acquittals as a 

bar to subsequent prosecution for the same offense, and the possibility that the jury may convict 

Defendants by a nonunanimous verdict. See Tanner, 471 F.2d at 139. For example, if 

Defendant was convicted of Count Five, there would be no way to determine whether the jurors 

unanimously agreed that a particular shipment violated 16 U.S.C. § 3372(a)(2)(A), whether some 

parts of the four shipments collectively violated the statute, or whether each of the four 
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shipments violated the statute. Therefore, Count Five exposes Defendant to the risk of being 

convicted of an offense without a unanimous verdict. In light of the above arguments, the 

Defendant LABS moves to dismiss Count Five. 

II. Counts One Through Five Of The Indictment Are Insufficient And Fail To Provide 
Defendant Its Sixth Amendment Right To Be Informed Of The Nature And Cause 
Of The Accusations. 

The Sixth Amendment guarantees that in all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall "be 

informed of the nature and cause of the accusation" against him. U.S. Const. amend. VI. To be 

sufficient, an indictment must fulfill three distinct functions: 1) state all of the elements of the 

crime charged; 2) adequately apprise the defendant of the charges so he may prepare a defense; 

and 3) allege the facts in a sufficient manner to permit the defendant to plead former jeopardy in 

any subsequent prosecution for the same offense. Smith, 230 F.3d at 305. Because the 

requirement of a sufficient indictment serves to inform the defendant of the nature and cause of 

the accusation, "the indictment must be considered as it was actually drawn, not as it might have 

been drawn." U.S. v. Pirro, 212 F.3d 86, 93 (2d Cir. 2000). 

The Indictment, as drafted and presented to the Grand Jury in the instant case, raises 

serious and fatal issues relating to sufficiency. As stated earlier, Counts One through Four of the 

Indictment charge Defendant LABS with violating 16 U.S.C. §§ 3372(d) and 3373(d)(3)(A)(l )  

by submitting a CITES permit and a health certificate allegedly containing false information for 

four separate shipments of Macaca fascicularis from Indonesia to the United States. Each of 

Counts One through Four charges one shipment; and, each of these counts is based upon two 

documents. The Indictment as presented to the Grand Jury was insufficient for several reasons. 

First, the structure of the Indictment makes it impossible to ascertain whether the Grand 

Jury voted to return the Indictment on each of the first four counts based on the health certificate, 
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the CITES permit, both, or some parts of both combined. As a result, it is not possible to know 
whether the Grand Jury's decision was unanimous. Second, the Indictment does not allow this 
Court to discern whether the charges were legally valid. See Russell v. United States, 369 U.S. 
749, 767-69, 82 S.Ct. 1038 (1962) (an important corollary purpose to the requirement that the 
indictment set out the specific offense with which defendant is charged is to inform the court of 
the facts alleged so that it may decide whether they are sufficient in law to support a conviction). 
Third, if Defendant is found guilty of Counts One through Four of the Indictment that was voted 
on and returned by the Grand Jury, Defendant will not be able to plead double jeopardy so as to 
bar the possibility of future prosecutions for the same offense. See United States v. Sabbeth, 262 
F.3d 207, 217 (2d Cir. 2001) (indictment is required to inform defendant of charges in sufficient 
detail so that defendant may plead double jeopardy in future prosecution based on the same set of 
events). For the above-mentioned reasons, Counts One through Four are insufficient, fatally 
defective, and must be dismissed. 

Count Five of the Indictment presents the identical problem. Count Five charges 
Defendant with violating 16 U.S.C. § 3372(a)(2)(A). Count Five specifically alleges that "four 
shipments from Inquatex which entered the United States through O'Hare contained productive 
wild-caught crab-eating macaques." See Indictment, at 13, ,i 2. The Indictment further alleges 
that "[b ]etween on or about February 20, 1997 and on or about May 30, 1997, . . .  defendants 
herein, did knowingly import wildlife in interstate and foreign commerce, namely, wild-caught 
Macaca fascicularis, and in the exercise of due care should have known that the wildlife was 
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transported and sold in violation of a foreign law." See Indictment, at 13, ,r 3. Count Five 

should be dismissed for the reasons set forth for Counts One through Four.4 

III. Counts One Through Four Of The Indictment Must Be Dismissed Because They 
Fail To Allege An Essential Element Of The Offenses Charged. 

Counts One through Four of the Indictment each fail to allege an essential element of the 

offense, namely, that Defendant LABS "knowingly violated" the Lacey Act's false statement 

provisions. See 16 U.S.C. § 3372(d); § 3373(d)(3)(A)(i). According to the Indictment, the 

macaques could not be exported and imported to the United States unless valid export CITES 

permits and health certificates were first obtained from Indonesia. See Indictment, at 2, ,r 7. The 

Indictment alleges that, to avoid a purported Indonesian ban on the export of "wild-caught" 

macaques, Defendants "knowingly submitted a false record . . .  namely the CITES permits and 

health certificates which falsely described the macaques as "captive-bred," when in fact some of 

the shipment contained both captive bred and wild-caught animals. See id. at 8-11, ,r,r 27-37. 

The argument in this section is based on two elementary principals of constitutional 

criminal law. First, a criminal defendant may be required to answer for capital or otherwise 

infamous crimes only on an indictment of a grand jury. See U.S. Const. amend. V. Second, an 

indictment must set forth "each element of the crime that it charges." Almendarez-Torres v. 

United States, 523 U.S. 224, 220 (1998). The False Records counts in this Indictment must be 

dismissed because they fail to set forth an essential element of the charged offense, and thus 

provide no assurance that the grand jury has performed its constitutional obligations. 

4 The Court should note that the structure of Count Five is different than the structure of Counts 
One through Four and Six through Nine. This difference adds to the uncertainty of the Grand 
Jury's intent, and adds to the confusion to be faced at trial. 
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A. The Felony Provisions of the Lacey Act. 

Unlike many federal statutes, which include both a mens rea and an actus reus 

requirement in the same section, the false statement provisions of the Lacey Act are set forth in 

two distinct sections. See 16 U.S.C. § 3372(d); 16 U.S.C. § 3373(d)(3). The first section of the 

statute describes only the prohibited acts; it makes no reference to the mental state required to 

state an offense (16 U.S.C. § 3372(d)): 

( d) False Labeling offenses 

It is unlawful for any person to make or submit any false 
record, account, or label for, or any false identification of, any fish, 
wildlife, or plant which has been, or is intended to be -

( I )  imported, exported, transported, sold, purchased, or 
received from any foreign country; or 

(2) transported in interstate or foreign commerce. 

The second section of the statute completes the definition of a Lacey Act felony by 

specifying the required mental state (16 U.S.C. § 3373(d) (emphasis added)): 

( d) Criminal penalties 

(3) Any person who knowingly violates section 3372( d) 
of this title -

(A) shall be fined under title 18 or imprisoned for 
not more than 5 years, or both, if the offense involves -

(i) the importation or exportation of fish or 
wildlife or plants . . . .  

This two-part structure requires a distinct analysis and proof of both statutory sections in 

order to constitute a violation. Standing alone, the term "knowingly" usually signifies that proof 

of the offense requires a showing that a defendant engaged in volitional acts, that violated a 

statute, which were not mistakes or accidents. In some statutes, however, the term "knowing" 

can also require that a defendant know his actions to be "unauthorized by statute or regulations." 
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Liparota v. United States, 471 U.S. 419, 425 (1985). The issue is which essential elements of the 

offense must be accompanied by a "knowing " state of mind. See id. at 424-27. 

The text of the statute in this case clearly states that knowledge of a violation is required 

by the Lacey Act's felony provision. When the meaning of a statute can be determined from its 

text, that meaning must be followed. See Hubbard v. United States, 514 U.S. 695, 70 (1995) 

( courts ordinarily must apply text of statutes as written). "[T]he definition of the elements of a 

criminal offense is entrusted to the legislature, particularly in the case of federal crimes, which 

are solely creatures of statute." Liparota, 471 U.S. at 424. 

Given the Lacey Act's particular structure, Congress could have elected between two 

felony provisions. Congress could have, but did not, enact Section 3373 to state as follows: 

"[a]ny person who knowingly engages in conduct prohibited by § 3372(d) shall be fined under 

Title 18 or imprisoned for not more than 5 years. " Had Congress done so, it would have made 

clear that knowledge of the law was not an element of the offense. Congress, instead, enacted 

Section 3373 to state that any person who "knowingly violates section 3372( d) " shall be guilty of 

a felony. The words "knowingly " and "violates" must be read together; i.e., a "knowing " state of 

mind must accompany the "violation"; just as in Liparota, the term "knowingly" was held to 

modify the term "violates. " Accordingly, based on the plain text of the statute, a felony offense 

under the Lacey Act requires the Government to allege and prove that Defendant engaged in 

conduct knowing the conduct violated the statute. 

The caselaw supports this reading of Sections 3372(d) and 3373 of the Lacey Act. The 

question whether an indictment must allege that defendants made or submitted a false record 

with knowledge that the conduct violated the Lacey Act has not been specifically addressed by 
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the federal courts. 5 The Eleventh Circuit construing another wildlife conservation statute using 
language identical to that found in the Lacey Act held that the term "knowingly violates" means 
that defendants can only violate the statute if they know their conduct violates the law. See 
United States v. Grigsby, 1 1  I F.3d 806, 816-821 (11th Cir. 1997) (defendants can violate the 
African Elephant Conservation Act only if they had a specific intent to violate the law). 
Accordingly, like the text itself, Grigsby also suggests that the Lacey Act includes as an element 
that the defendants know that their conduct to be unlawful. 6 

Thus, consistent with Grigsby and the statutory text, this Court should find that, to state a 
felony offense under 16 U.S.C. § 3372(d), the Indictment must have alleged not only that 
Defendant knowingly submitted false records or labels in connection with the transport of 
wildlife, but also that Defendant did so knowing that this conduct violated the Lacey Act. 

B. The False Records Charges Must Be Dismissed for Failing to Allege That 
Defendants Knowingly Violated the Lacey Act. 

There can be no dispute that the False Records Charges fail to allege that defendants 
knowingly violated the Lacey Act. The charging paragraph of the Indictment alleges that 
defendants: 

did knowingly submit a false record, account, label for, and a false 
identification of wildlife, . . . , which wildlife had been imported 
from a foreign country, namely, Indonesia, and transported in 
foreign commerce . . .  in violation of Title 16, United States Code, 
Sections 3372(d) and 3383(d)(3)(A)(i). 

5 The only federal decision to discuss the requisite mental state held, with minimal analysis, that 
the district court had not erred by failing to give a willfulness instruction in a Lacey Act false 
statement prosecution. See United States v. Fountain, 277 F.3d 714, 717 (5th Cir. 2001). 
6 Grigsby suggests the government need not allege and prove that a defendant had knowledge of 
the specific statute prohibiting the unlawful conduct; knowledge that the underlying conduct was 
unlawful would suffice. However, the most natural reading of 16 U.S.C. § 3373 is to require the 
government to allege and prove that a defendant had knowledge of § 3372(d). The Court need 
not resolve this question now because the Indictment's allegations are insufficient under either 
standard. 
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Indictment, at 11, ,r 38. A "knowing submission" is not the same thing, of course, as a "knowing 

violation" of section 3372(d). The Indictment therefore fails to allege an essential element of the 

offense. It is additionally important to note that Defendant is charged with the act of submitting 

a false record, not the act of making a false record. Had Defendant been charged with making 

the statements at issue, the Government could at least have argued the likelihood of a knowing 

violation of law. This point supports Defendant's argument that the Indictment is fatally 

defective because it does not allege a knowing submission of documents known to violate CITES 

or any other law. The False Records Charges fail to allege an element of the Lacey Act felony 

offense. Having failed to do so, they must be dismissed. 

IV. Counts Six Through Nine Of The Indictment Must Be Dismissed Because They Fail 
To Allege An Essential Element Of The Offenses Charged. 

An "indictment must state all of the elements of the crime charged." United States v. 

Smith, 230 F.3d 300, 305 (7th Cir. 2000), cert. denied, 531 U.S. 1176 (2001). Counts Six 

through Nine charge Defendant LABS with smuggling goods into the United States in violation 

of the second paragraph of 18 U.S.C. § 545. Specifically, Counts Six through Nine of the 

Indictment allege that: 

defendants herein, did fraudulently and knowingly import into the United States 
certain merchandise contrary to law in the shipments described below, namely, 
wild caught Macaca fascicularis, knowing the merchandise to have been 
imported into the United States contrary to law. 

See Indictment, at 15, ,r 2. These four counts are fatally defective and must be dismissed because 

the counts fail to state all of the essential elements of a Section 545 violation. 

The essential elements of an offense under the second paragraph of 18 U.S.C. § 545 are: 

1) the defendant fraudulently and knowingly, 2) imported or brought into the United States, 3) 

any merchandise, 4) contrary to law. Olais v. United -Castro States, 416 F.2d 1155, 1158 (9th 
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Cir. 1969). The fourth element, "contrary to law", is not complete in itself. Id. It is necessary to 

look beyond Section 545 to determine whether an importation of merchandise is contrary to law 

because the phrase "contrary to the law" in Section 545 relates to legal provisions not found 

within the statute. See Babb v. United States, 218 F.2d 538, 539 (5th Cir. 1955); see also Pirro, 

212 F.3d at 93 ("Where an indictment charges a crime that depends in turn on violation of 

another statute, the indictment must identify the underlying offense."). Thus, an indictment 

charging a violation of Section 545 must state what underlying law was violated by a defendant's 

actions. 

The charging paragraphs in Counts Six through Nine fail to specify which law Defendant 

violated when importing wild caught Macaca fascicularis into the United States. Although an 

indictment that follows the language of a statute is ordinarily sufficient, where the words of the 

statute do not contain all of the essential elements of the offense the indictment is not sufficient. 

See Babb, 218 F.2d at 539. If the statute omits an essential element, the indictment must supply 

it with certainty. Id.; see 1 Charles Alan Wright, Federal Practice and Procedure: Criminal 3d 

§ 24 (1999)("If a statute makes it an offense to do a certain act 'contrary to law,' it is not enough 

simply to cite that statute and to allege that the act was done contrary to law. The pleading must 

show what other law was violated, either by citation or by a sufficient statement of facts."). In 

this case, because Counts Six through Nine do not sufficiently inform Defendant of which statute 

or regulation the importation of Macaca fascicularis violated, the counts are fatally defective and 

must be dismissed. 

Defendant's situation is substantially identical to that confronted by the defendant in 

Babb. Babb was convicted on an indictment brought under 18 U.S.C. § 545, charging him "with 

knowingly receiving, concealing, and transporting a number of Charolaise cattle, after 
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importation, knowing them to have been imported into the United States, contrary to law." 

Babb, 2 18  F.2d at 539. Babb filed a motion to dismiss each count because the indictment failed 

to allege what law was violated when the cattle were imported into the United States. Id. The 

motion was denied. Id. However, a bill of particulars alleged that the importation of the cattle 

had been contrary to section 100 1 ,  1460, and 1484 of Title 19  of the United States Code, and a 

number of sections from Titles 9 and 19 of the Code of Federal Regulations. Id. On appeal, the 

court held that the indictment should have alleged some fact showing that the cattle in question 

were imported or brought in contrary to some law. Id. The court declared that it was not 

sufficient for the indictment to state that the cattle were imported "contrary to law." Id. at 541 . 

The indictment was found to be fatally defective and the bill of particulars was insufficient to 

cure the defect. Id. at 539. Babb's conviction was reversed. Id. at 542. 

In addition, Defendant's case is analogous to Keck v. United States, 1 72 U.S. 434, 19  S. 

Ct. 254 (1 899). Keck was charged with a violation of Section 3082 of the Revised Statutes, 

which contains identical language as that contained in 18  U.S.C. § 545. Id. at 437. The 

indictment stated that the defendant did "knowingly, willfully, and unlawfully import and bring 

into the United States, and did assist in importing and bringing into the United States, to wit, into 

the port of Philadelphia, diamonds of a stated value, contrary to law and the provisions of the act 

of congress in such cases made and provided, with intent to defraud the United States." Id. The 

court held that the count was insufficient because the allegations were too general and did not 

sufficiently inform Keck of the nature of the accusation against him. Id. The court also stated 

that the words "contrary to law," contained in the statute clearly related to legal provisions not 

found in Section 3082 itself. Id. Furthermore, the court explained that the generic expression 

"import and bring into the United States" did not convey the necessary information, because 
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importing merchandise is not per se contrary to the law, and could only become so when done in 

violation of specific statutory requirements. Id. 

Finally, the instant case also is comparable to Steiner v. United States, 229 F.2d 745, 747-

48 (9th Cir. 1956). In Steiner, the indictment charged defendants with fraudulently and 

knowingly importing into the United States a number of psittacine birds, contrary to law. Id. 

The counts charging a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 545 failed to state what underlying law the 

importation violated, or in what respect such importation was contrary to law. Id. at 748. At the 

time, there was no law prohibiting the importation of psittacine birds into the United States. Id. 

at 748 n.7. Thus, the court found that the defendant's convictions on the smuggling counts were 

improper and that the defect in the indictment could not have been cured by a bill of particulars. 

Id. at 748. 

Similar to the cases described supra, Counts Six through Nine of the Indictment are 

fatally defective because the counts only state that the importations are "contrary to law," the 

counts fail to specify which underlying law Defendant's importations violated, and the counts 

fail to sufficiently inform Defendant of the nature of the accusations against it. Therefore, the 

Court should dismiss Counts Six through Nine. 

Counts Six through Nine also assert that Defendant "fraudulently and knowingly" 

imported goods into the United States in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 545. Counts Six through Nine 

are also fatally defective in that they fail to allege any of the elements of common law fraud. 

Section 545 of Title 18 contains two distinct prohibitions. The first paragraph of the statute 

prohibits knowing and willful acts of smuggling when such acts are intended "to defraud the 

United States." 18 U.S.C. § 545. The second paragraph of the statute prohibits "fraudulently or 

knowingly" importing goods into the United States contrary to law. See id. Both paragraphs of 
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the statute make use of words - "defraud" or "fraudulently" - that have established meanings 

under the common law. See, �, Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. I ,  21-23 (1999). Consistent 

with Neder, Section 545 therefore must be read to incorporate the elements of common law 

fraud: a knowing, intentional, and material falsehood; reliance on the falsehood by the party 

deceived; and money or property damage on the part of the deceived.7 

The Indictment must be examined in light of this common-law backdrop. Counts Six 

through Nine allege Defendant LABS "did fraudulently and knowingly import into the United 

States certain merchandise contrary to law . . . .  " Indictment, at 1 5, ,i 2 ( emphasis added). The 

Indictment's use of conjunctive language signifies the Grand Jury intended to allege that the 

merchandise was not only knowingly, but also fraudulently imported into the United States. Yet 

despite the Indictment's deliberate use of this meaningful term, nowhere does the Indictment 

allege any of the elements of common law fraud. 

The Indictment does not state, for example, that any of the allegedly false statements 

charged in the Indictment were material or that any party relied on the purportedly false 

statement. The Indictment does not identify the victim of the alleged fraud. Nor does it explain 

what damages were inflicted upon the unidentified victim as a result of the fraud. The 

Indictment's failure to allege any of these elements of common law fraud, which Congress 

incorporated into 18  U.S.C. § 545, is fatal. Having failed to allege these elements, the counts 

must be dismissed. 

7 In N eder, the Court held that mail and wire fraud crimes do not include reliance as an element 
of the crime. Neder, 527 U.S. at 25. Neder also held that Congress intends to incorporate the 
common-law elements of a crime, unless a statute dictates otherwise. Id. at 21-23; see also 
United States v. Watkins, 278 F.3d 961, 969 (9th Cir. 2002). This case does not involve 
allegations of mail or wire fraud. Therefore, the holding in Neder regarding the elements of mail 
and wire fraud is inapposite to this case. 

19 
Obtained by Rise for Animals.

Uploaded to Animal Research Laboratory Overview (ARLO) on 09/20/2020



Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 28 Filed: 07/01/02 Page 22 of 39 PageID #:83

V. Count Five Of The Indictment Must Be Dismissed Because It Fails To Allege A 
Legally Sufficient Underlying Offense. 

As explained in Part I of this Motion, Count Five of the Indictment charges Defendants 

with violating 16  U.S.C. § 3372(a)(2)(A) by knowingly importing wildlife that in the exercise of 

due care Defendants should have known was transported and sold in violation of a foreign law. 

See Indictment, at 13, ,r 3. A Lacey Act trafficking violation under 16  U.S.C. § 3372 requires 

proof of both a separate and independent predicate violation of a law, as well as proof of an 

overlying violation of the Lacey Act's list of prohibited acts. The underlying violation occurs 

when someone illegally takes, possesses, transports, or seJls fish or wildlife in violation of any 

state, Indian tribal or foreign law. See 16 U.S.C. § 3372. The underlying violation of Jaw taints 

the wildlife and thereby exposes an individual to a potential Lacey Act violation if an individual 

commits or attempts to commit an import, export, transport, sale, receipt, acquisition, or 

purchase of the tainted wildlife. See 16 U.S.C. § 3372; see United States v. Carpenter, 933 F.2d 

748, 750 (9th Cir. 1991)  ("In order to violate the Lacey Act a person must do something to 

wildlife that has already been 'taken and possessed' in violation of law."). 

A single act may not constitute both the predicate violation and the Lacey Act violation. 

Carpenter, 933 F.2d at 750-51. In Carpenter, a goldfish farmer and his company were charged 

with killing migratory birds and burning or burying the birds on his property in violation of the 

Migratory Bird Treaty Act, 16 U.S.C. § 701 ,  and in violation of the Lacey Act, 1 6  U.S.C. § 3372. 

Id. at 7 49. The Lacey Act charge alleged, in essence, that the farmer had taken the birds in 

violation of the Migratory Bird Treaty Act, and that in doing so he acquired the birds in violation 

of the Lacey Act. Id. at 750. Thus, the Lacey Act charge divided a single act (kiJling the birds) 

into an underlying violation of the Migratory Bird Treaty Act and a Lacey Act acquisition of the 

tainted birds. The defendants in Carpenter were convicted of violations of the Migratory Bird 
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Treaty Act and the Lacey Act. The defendants appealed their convictions to the United States 

Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit. 

On appeal, the Ninth Circuit in Carpenter held that the government's position that 

Carpenter and his company violated the Lacey Act was contrary to the plain words of the Lacey 

Act. Id. at 750. The court explained that the government's position collapsed the two steps 

required by the Lacey Act, i.e., proof that the wildlife was taken, possessed, transported or sold 

in violation of an underlying law and separate proof that the wildlife was imported exported, 

transported, sold, received, acquired, or purchased, into a single step. Id. Thus, the defendants' 

taking of the birds (by shooting them), and nothing more, on defendant's own property, was not 

sufficient to constitute both the predicate offense of taking the birds in violation of a law and the 

overlying offense of acquiring the birds. See id. The court noted that the birds must be illegally 

taken before acquiring the bird would be a violation of the Lacey Act.8 Id. 

In the instant case, Count Five charges the Defendants with violating the Lacey Act by 

importing wild-caught Macaca fascicularis into the United States in violation of an Indonesian 

law which prohibits the exportation of wild-caught Macaca fascicularis. See Indictment, at 13-

14. Similar to Carpenter, the exporting/importing of Macaca fascicularis, and nothing more, is 

not enough to constitute both the predicate offense and the Lacey Act violation. Defendant 

LABS' conduct of exporting and importing Macaca fascicularis is a unitary act. Export is 

8 In United States v. Hobbs, 1992 WL 144709 (9th Cir. 1992) (unpublished opinion), the 
defendant was convicted of one count of violating the Lacey Act, by acquiring and transporting a 
buck deer knowing that it was taken and possessed in violation of section 7.3.11 of the Colville 
Tribal Code, which prohibits the use of artificial lights while hunting game animals. Id. at * I .  
On appeal, Hobbs relied on Carpenter to argue that the hunting violation by itself could not be 
the basis for the Lacey Act violation under Carpenter. Id. at *2. The court held that the case was 
distinguishable from Carpenter because Carpenter involved a hunting violation without a 
subsequent act. Id. Therefore, according to the court, Hobbs, unlike the defendant in Carpenter, 
was properly convicted of the Lacey Act because not only did he commit a hunting violation, but 
he also transported the deer. Id. 
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defined as "to carry or send (goods) to another country or countries." Webster's New World 
College Dictionary 479 (3d ed. 1997). Import is defined as "to bring (goods) from another 
country or countries, esp. for the purposes of sale." Id. at 678. Thus, importing and exporting 
are part of a unitary transaction. The Goverrunent may not rely on Defendant's unitary act of 
engaging in a transaction for the acquisition of Macaca fascicularis, as the basis for a predicate 
offense and a Lacey Act violation. Unlike Hobbs, in the instant case, there is not a violation of a 
predicate law along with a subsequent act that violates 16 U.S.C. 3372. Defendant's act in 
purchasing the Macaca fascicularis from Inquatex encompassed both export and import 
components. 

Moreover, the instant case should also be contrastpd with United States v. Lee, 937 F.2d 
1388 (9th Cir. 1991). Lee is similar to the instant case in that the defendant was charged with a 
Lacey Act violation based on foreign law. Specifically, the defendant was charged with a Lacey 
Act violation for attempting to import 500 metric tons of salmon taken in violation of Taiwanese 
law. Id. at 1391. The underlying violation of the Lacey Act was a Taiwanese law that prohibits 
Taiwanese squire fishing vessels from catching salmon. Id. The Lacey Act violation was 
importing the tainted salmon into the United States. Id. at 1393. Unlike the instant case, 
however, the predicate violation and the Lacey Act violation in Lee were based on two separate 
and distinct acts. In Defendant's case, the predicate violation and the Lacey Act violation are 
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both based on a unitary act. In light of Carpenter and the other cases discussed above, the 
Government has not alleged a violation of the Lacey Act and Count Five must be dismissed.9 

VI. Counts One Through Five And Ten Through Twelve Of The Indictment Must Be 
Dismissed Because They Allege Conduct That Comports With The Defendant's 
Reasonable Interpretation Of Applicable Legal Requirements, And As Such, The 
Government Cannot Meet Its Burden of Proof. 

A criminal charge must be dismissed as unconstitutionally vague if it is based on a law 
that fails to provide the kind of notice that will enable ordinary people to understand what 
conduct the law prohibits. Dismissal is also warranted if the law alleged to be violated 
authorizes arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement. City of Chicago v. Morales, 527 U.S. 41, 
56, 119 S.Ct. 1849, 1859 (1998). Furthermore, a charge should be dismissed if the law upon 
which the charge is based does not "convey[] sufficiently definite warning as to the proscribed 
conduct when measured by common understanding and practices." Belsic v. Immigration and 
Naturalization Service, 265 F.3d 568, 572 (7th Cir. 2001) (quoting Jordan v. De George, 341 
U.S. 223, 231-32, 71 S.Ct. 703 (1951)). A defendant's reasonable interpretation of ambiguous 
legal requirements protects a defendant from criminal charges based on an alleged violation of 
law. See United States v. Whiteside, 285 F.3d 1345 (11th Cir. 2002). In this case, LABS' 
actions, as alleged in the Indictment, comport with a reasonable interpretation of ambiguous law 
9 Counts Six through Nine of the Indictment, which allege that Defendant violated 18 U.S.C. 
§ 545, should also be dismissed because the Government has failed to allege a separate predicate 
offense as required by the language of Section 545. Counts Six through Nine allege that 
Defendant "did fraudulently and knowingly import into the United States certain merchandise 
contrary to law in the shipments described below, namely, wild-caught Macaca fascicularis, 
knowing the merchandise to have been imported into the United States contrary to law." See 
Indictment, at 15, ,r 2. The phrase "contrary to law" in 18 U.S.C. § 545 requires an underlying 
offense. See Babb, 2 18 F.2d at 539. As argued Part IV of this Motion, Counts Six through Nine 
fail to identify what underlying law was violated by Defendant, and thus, the counts are fatally 
defective. In the event that this Court determines that the Government's omission is not fatal to 
the Indictment, Defendant reserves the right to file a supplemental Motion to Dismiss Counts Six 
through Nine based on an argument that the underlying offense and the smuggling offense are 
the same act and violate the principle laid out in Carpenter, 933 F.2d at 748. 
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applicable to Counts One though Five and Ten through Twelve of the Indictment. As such, the 
Government is unable to meet its burden of proving any of the charges beyond a reasonable 
doubt. Id. at 1351. Moreover, the laws alleged to be violated in the Indictment fail to 
sufficiently apprise Defendant of the conduct that is prohibited. Therefore, this Court should 
dismiss Counts One through Five and Ten through Twelve of the Indictment. 

Courts have reversed convictions when a defendant's actions are determined to be in 
accord with a reasonable interpretation of the law. In United States v. Anderson, 579 F.2d 455, 
460 (8th Cir. 1978), the court reversed a conviction under 18 U.S.C. § 1001 for making a false 
certification on a reimbursement invoice submitted to the Arkansas Manpower Council. 579 
F.2d at 459. The court found the certification clause to be ambiguous and held that under a 
reasonable interpretation of certain terms in the certification clause, defendant's adoption of the 
certification clause was not false. The court held that: 

in light of these ambiguities . . .  it was incumbent upon the government to 
introduce proof sufficient to establish the falsity of the statements, as well as the 
knowing and willful submission of the statements. In carrying out that burden the 
government must negative any reasonable interpretation that would make the 
defendant's statement factually correct. 

Id. at 460. 
In United States v. Race, 632 F.2d 1114, 1120 (4th Cir. 1980), the court applied the 

principles set forth in Anderson to a government contract clause that was not ambiguous. In 
Race, the court reversed a conviction under 18 U.S.C. § 1001 because under a reasonable 
construction of the contract clause related to the alleged false statement, the statement would be 
true. The court found that the contract clause in question was not ambiguous and that 
defendant's interpretation was reasonable. In reversing defendant's conviction under 18 U.S.C. 
§ 1001, the court stated that "one cannot be found guilty of a false statement under a contract 
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beyond a reasonable doubt when his statement is within a reasonable construction of the 

contract." Id. at 1120. The court further held that "the Govermnent must prove both the falsity 

of the statement, and, in addition, that the utterer knew the statement was false." Id. (citing 

United States v. Weatherspoon, 581 F.2d 595, 601 (7th Cir. 1978)). The holdings of Anderson 

and Race, when read together, show that a reasonable interpretation of a government contract 

clause protects a defendant from conviction whether the clause in question is ambiguous or clear. 

This legal principle applies equally to a defendant's reasonable interpretation of laws and 

regulations. 

In United States v. Whiteside, the court extended the principles in Anderson and Race to 

ambiguous laws. In Whiteside, the govermnent contended that defendant submitted a cost report 

for Medicare/Medicaid reimbursement that classified debt interest expense in manner that was 

inconsistent with Medicare regulations, and therefore, contained a false statement in violation of 

18 U.S. C. § 1001. See Whiteside, 285 F.3d at 1351. The defendant asserted that there was no 

Medicare regulation or other authority which indicated the defendant incorrectly characterized 

debt interest. The defendant further argued that "the govermnent failed to prove that the 

statements at issue were not a reasonable interpretation of ambiguous Medicare reimbursement 

requirements." Id. The court stated that "[i]n a case where the truth or falsity of a statement 

centers on an interpretive question of law, the government bears the burden of proving beyond a 

reasonable doubt that the defendant's statement is not true under a reasonable interpretation of 

law." Id. (citing United States v. Race, 632 F.2d 1114, 1120 (4th Cir. 1980) and United States v. 

Anderson, 579 F.2d 455, 460 (8th Cir. 1978)) (other citations omitted). The court held that the 

govermnent could not meet its burden of proving that defendant's statement was false because 

there was no Medicare regulation or other authority that clearly required defendant to report debt 
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interest expense in the manner that the government believed to be correct. Moreover, the 

administrator of the Medicare program admitted that reasonable people could differ as to how to 

characterize the debt interest. Id. at 1352. The court concluded that given reasonable competing 

interpretations of applicable law, the government failed to prove the falsity of defendant's 

statement as a matter of law. Id. at 1352-53. 

The principles established in Whiteside, as well as in Race and Anderson, are equally 

applicable to this case. Although the above-mentioned cases concern a violation of the False 

Statements Act (18 U.S. C. § 1001), their holdings support LABS' position in this case that it 

may not be prosecuted for acting in compliance with a reasonable interpretation of relevant law. 

Just as a defendant cannot be prosecuted for making a false statement when the statement is 

based on a reasonable construction of a contract clause or law, neither should defendant's actions 

based on a reasonable construction oflegal requirements be actionable. 

The violations in Counts One through Five of the Indictment depend upon an 

interpretation of CITE S and Indonesian law, i.e. Decree No. 26/Kpts-11/94. Counts One through 

Four charge Defendant with violations of the Lacey Act for allegedly submitting false statements 

with respect to the CITES permits and health certificates. As to these counts, the Indictment 

alleges that the permits and certificates represent that the shipments of monkeys "contained only 

captive-bred Macaca fasicularis . .. " Indictment, at 11, ,i 38. Count Five charges LABS with a 

Lacey Act criminal misdemeanor violation for importing Macaca fasicularis, and alleges that 

LABS in the exercise of due care should have known that the shipments were transported and 

sold in violation of Indonesian law, namely Decree Decree No. 26/Kpts-11/94. Indictment, at 

13, iJ 4. 
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The Indonesian Decree is the lynchpin for all of these counts. If the CITES permits and 

health certificates are false as alleged in Counts One through Four, they can only be false if they 

are false under Indonesian law since they were approved and issued by the Indonesian 

government. See Indictment at 2-4, ,r,r 7-1 1  (recognizing that Indonesia's Department of 

Forestry was responsible for issuing a CITES permits for the shipment of Macaca fascicularis 

from Indonesia to the United States) Similarly, if the importation as alleged in Count Five is a 

violation of United States law, the importation must first violate Indonesian law since Macaca 

fasicularis are species listed in Appendix II of CITES, and therefore, may only be exported if the 

exporting country approves the shipment and issues a CITES permit. See Defendants' Motion 

for Issuance of Letters Rogatory and Memorandum of Law in Support, at 2-4, filed on July 1 ,  

2002, for a discussion of the requirements of CITES relating to the export of Macaca 

fascicularis. 

The Indonesian law, which is at the center of Counts One though Five is Indonesian 

Decree No. 26/Kpts-1 1/94. 10 The decree provides, in part: 

To Stipulate Firstly: The use of Long-tail macaque (Macaca fascicularis), Short
tail Macaque (Macaca nemestrina) and Arowana Fish (Scleropages formasus) 
species for export purposes must come from breeding efforts. 

Secondly: Exporters for those species as mentioned in the first part, must meet 
obligation of the breeding efforts by themselves, in line of the existing and valid 
regulations. 

Thirdly: 
1 )  The number of animals/species which can be exported by licensed exporters, is 
based on export quota decided by the Department of Forestry. 
2) This decision of the export quota of animal/species as mentioned in the First 
point, after investigated/evaluated by the Accreditation Team, is based on the 
result of breeding efforts. 

10 Defendant LABS does not concede at this time that Decree No 26/Kpts- 1 1 /94 is the only law, 
regulation or decree that bears upon this case. There may be others that come to light during the 
expected discovery in Indonesia. 
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Fourthly: This Decree shall come into force as from the date decided. 

The Indictment asserts that the decree "ban[s] the export of wild-caught crab-eating macaques." 

Indictment, at 4, ,r 1 5. However, the decree, as translated in the documents produced by the 

Government to LABS, does not clearly and definitively ban the export of wild-caught crab

eating macaques. 1 1  See Whiteside, 285 F.3d at 1352 (the government could not meet its burden 

of proof because no regulation "clearly require[ d]" the defendant to report interest expense in the 

manner the government contended to be correct). Rather, the decree states that the use of 

Macaca fascicularis "for export purposes must come from breeding efforts." The decree does 

not define the meaning of the phrase "breeding efforts." The phrase could mean that Macaca 

fascicularis may only be exported if they are bred and born in captivity, as the Government 

asserts, or it could mean that the animals may only be exported if they are maintained at a 

husbandry or breeding facility. The latter interpretation is reasonable and consistent with the 

Indonesian government's actions in approving the export of the Macaca fascicularis colony 

maintained at Inquatex's breeding facility. 12 Furthermore, the decree explicitly reserves to the 

Department of Forestry the ability to establish export quotas if an Accreditation Team 

determines that the animals "come from breeding efforts." Given the existence of reasonable 

1 1  For purposes of this Motion, Defendant relies on the translation of the Indonesian decree that 
appears in the documents that the Government produced to LABS and is attached hereto as 
Exhibit 1 .  However, LABS does not admit to or agree to the accuracy of the translation for 
purposes of determining the merits of any of the charges in the Indictment. 
12 Correspondence between Inquatex and Indonesia's Department of Forestry produced by the 
Government to LABS shows that the Department of Forestry knew that the Inquatex colony 
included unproductive parent stock prior to issuing the CITES permits covering the export of the 
entire Inquatex colony. Defendants' Motion Requesting Issuance of Letters Rogatory and 
Memorandum of Law in Support, filed July 1 ,  2002, includes a summary of the relevant 
correspondence. Moreover, CITES was designed to attack the world-wide problem of poaching, 
and its effect on the presentation of certain species. In this case, Inquatex was a licensed 
breeding effort or endeavor. Mr. Darmawan's plan contributes to the presentation of Macaca 
fascicularis. 
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competing interpretations of the Indonesian decree, the Government is unable to prove that 

Defendant violated the decree as a matter oflaw. See Whiteside 285 F.3d at 1352-53. 

In this case, Counts One through Five present this Court with a situation in which 

Defendant's actions are based upon a reasonable interpretation of the Indonesian decree. 

Regarding Counts One through Four, LABS submitted the CITES permits and health certificates 

to United States Fish and Wildlife Service and United States Customs Service inspectors, both of 

which were issued by and obtained from the Indonesian government. LABS' actions in 

submitting these documents were done in reliance on the Indonesian government's interpretation 

and implementation of the CITES Treaty and Indonesian law. Moreover, regarding Count Five, 

LABS reasonably interpreted the Indonesian government's actions in issuing CITES permits and 

health certificates as the Indonesian government's approval of the export of the Macaca 

fascicularis from Inquatex which conduct was required by the CITES Treaty. Accordingly, for 

these reasons, the statements in the CITES permits and health certificates are not false. 

It is important to note that the Indictment incorrectly states that the CITES permits and 

health certificates "falsely represented that the shipment contained only captive bred Macaca 

fascicularis . . . . " Indictment, at 11, ,i 38. Neither of these documents use the word "only". The 

first statement in the CITES permit alleged by the Indictment to be false is the statement found in 

Box IX, which states "[c]aptive bred specimen, no quota allocated."1 3  This statement does not 

represent that the shipment contains "only" captive-bred animals, in the sense of exclusively 

captive-bred. It does state that there are no quotas allocated by Indonesia to the export of 

captive-bred specimens. 

1 3  A CITES permit is attached hereto as Exhibit 2. 
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While the CITES Treaty does not require quotas, the practice of the Parties has been, 
from time to time, to establish quotas. The website for CITES contains a section on export 
quotas. This site states that "the use of export quotas has become an effective tool for the 
regulation of international trade in wild fauna and flora." The CITES export quotas (visited June 
29, 2002) <http://www.cites.org/eng/resources/quotas/index.shtml>. In 1997, Indonesia did not 
set any quotas for captive-bred or wild-caught Macaca fascicularis. In 1998, Indonesia set a 
quota for "unproductive parents from captive breeding operations only"; in 1999 and 2000 
Indonesia set a quota for "live nonproductive and captive-bred animals only"; and in 2001 
Indonesia set a quota for "live (non-productive, wild-taken). 14  CITES-listed species database 
(using search criteria: Macaca fascicularis and Indonesia) (visited June 29, 2002) 
<www.cites.org/eng/resources/species.html>. The fluctuations in the quota descriptions explain 
the first statement in the CITES permit as meaning the colony had captive-bred and there were 
no quotas for captive-bred animals for the year 1997. 

The second statement in the permit which the Indictment alleges to be false is "II(C)," in 
column 5 of Box VIII. The Heading for this column is "Appendices (source)". This statement 
means the animals, including the non-productive parent stock and the captive bred animals came 
from breeding or husbandry efforts. This statement is consistent with the Decree which allows 
the export of nonproductive parent stock of Macacafascicularis which were wild-caught, as long 

14 The 1998 quota description is the same description used by Mr. Darmawan, the Department of 
Forestry and the Indonesian Accreditation Team. In 1997 the Department of Forestry granted 
Mr. Darmawan permission to export and put to use by LABS his parent stock which were no 
longer economically productive. In 1998, the Department of Forestry granted this permission to 
other licensed breeding operations. 
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as the animals were being exported from a licensed breeding facility. 1 5  See Decree No. 26/Kpts-

11/94. 

The language in the health certificate which the Indictment alleges is false is the 

veterinarian's certification: "I, undersigned, Lukas A. Tonga, DVM certifies to have examined 

this day 220 Cynomolgus (Macaca fascicularis) Captive bred born at INQUATEX, facilities 

(Jakarta/Indonesia)." See Exhibit 5, attached hereto. This statement does not state that the 

shipment contains "only" captive-bred animals; it does state that the captive-bred animals, which 

were in the shipment, were born at Inquatex. This statement was required by the Indonesian 

Decree, which requires the Cynos to be from captive breeding efforts. The foregoing 

explanation regarding the meaning of the statements alleged to be false in the Indictment 

supports LAB S' position that the information contained in the CITE S permits and health 

certificates is not false under a reasonable interpretation of the statements at issue. See Race, 

632 F.2d at 1120 ("one cannot be found guilty of a false statement under a contract beyond a 

reasonable doubt when his statement is within a reasonable construction of the contract."). 

15 If Person B sought to convince the Indonesian Management Authority that the entire colony 
was captive-bred, the Management Authority would have issued a "Certificate of Captive 
Breeding", not a Permit. See CITES Treaty, Article VII (Exemptions And Other Special 
Provisions Relating To Trade), Paragraph 5. ( See Exhibit 3, attached hereto). The CITE S 
Treaty Parties have agreed to utilize standardized documents in CITE S Resolution 10.2 and its 
predecessor, 9.3. See CITE S Conference Resolution 10.2, attached hereto as Exhibit 4. 
Accordingly, these Resolutions contain a section entitled "Regarding the standardization of 
CITE S permits and certificates". Subparagraph ( c) includes the certificate of captive breeding as 
one of the standardized documents. Further, CITE S permits issued by the Department of 
Forestry for shipments five and six, after the fourth shipment when both the Indonesian 
Department of Forestry and the United States Fish and Wildlife Service were well aware of the 
CITE S permit issues arising out of the Inquatex and LAB S transaction, contained in column five 
of box VIII, "II(W)." ("W" means wild-caught.) See id. If"II(C)" was false because the colony 
was a mix of wild-caught and captive-bred, "II(W)" is equally false. Nevertheless, the permits 
were issued by the Department of Forestry, submitted to and accepted by the United States Fish 
and Wildlife Service, and the shipments were allowed. 
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In conclusion, LABS' submission of the CITES permits and the health certificates and 

LABS' importation of monkeys that originated from Inquatex's facility were in accord with a 

reasonable interpretation of the Indonesian decree and related Indonesian correspondence. As 

such, the Government is unable to prove that LABS actions, as alleged in the Indictment in 

Counts One through Five, constitute a violation of the Lacey Act 16 

Finally, Counts Ten through Twelve of the Indictment charge Defendant LABS with 

knowingly importing Macaca fascicularis monkeys, which included nursing mothers with 

young, in violation of 50 C.F.R. § 14.105(b)(2). In this case, due to the ambiguity, vagueness, 

and inconsistency of the United States law governing the transportation of live animals, LABS' 

importation of Macaca fascicularis monkeys, which included nursing mothers with their young, 

was a lawful action performed in accordance with a reasonable interpretation of the law 

governing the transportation of live animals. 

The Government bears the burden to negate any reasonable interpretations of applicable 

law that would make Defendant's importation of Macacafascicularis mothers with their young 

lawful due to the fact that regulations relating to transportation of mothers and unweaned infants 

are ambiguous. See Whiteside, 285 F .3d at 13 51. The regulatory structure concerning the 

transportation of animals, taken as a whole, does not convey a sufficiently definitive warning as 

to the proscribed conduct when measured by common understanding and practices. This failure 

is particularly acute when the charges are criminal. In fact, the language of 50 C.F.R. 

1 6  The argument for dismissal of Counts One through Five may also apply to Counts Six through 
Nine, which charge Defendant with fraudulently importing Macaca fasicularis knowing the 
importation was contrary to law. As argued in Part IV of this Motion, the Government's failure 
to identify a "contrary law" is a fatal omission that demands the dismissal of Counts Six through 
Nine. In the event that this Court determines that the Government's omission is not fatal to the 
Indictment, Defendant reserves the right to file a supplemental Motion to Dismiss Counts Six 
through Nine based upon the Whiteside, Anderson, and Race cases cited supra. 
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§ 14. 1 05(b )(2) conflicts with other governmental and industry guidance, available to companies 

like LABS at the time of the shipments. 

50 C.F.R. § 14. 105(b)(2) states: 

A nursing mother with young, an unweaned mammal unaccompanied by its 
mother, or an unweaned bird shall be transported only if the primary purpose is 
for needed medical treatment and upon certification in writing by the examining 
veterinarian that the treatment is necessary and the animal is able to withstand the 
normal rigors of transport. Such an unweaned mammal or bird shall not be 
transported to the United States for medical treatment unless it is accompanied at 
all times by and completely accessible to a veterinary attendant. 

The legislative history of this regulation provides no guidance on the intended purpose of 50 

C.F.R. § 14.105(b)(2). However, a reasonable interpretation of this regulation is that the 

regulation was intended to prohibit the transport of animals that would disrupt the mother-infant 

relationship. Given the plan to ship the entire colony, the shipment of mothers with unweaned 

infants was reasonable. Therefore, it would be lawful for nursing mothers with unweaned infants 

to be transported, as long as they are transported together. 

Even if  this Court does not consider the language of Section 14. 1 05(b)(2) to be 

ambiguous, the existence of a vague and ambiguous regulatory structure related to the shipment 

of live animals, and LABS' reasonable actions given that structure, require this Court to dismiss 

Counts Ten through Twelve. The legislative history of Section 14. 1 05(b )(2) indicates that the 

section was developed, in part, in reliance on the Animal Welfare Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2 13 1  et seq. 

The implementing regulations promulgated by the Secretary of Agriculture for the Animal 

Welfare Act include 9 C.F.R. § 3.87, which concerns "primary enclosures used to transport 

nonhuman primates." Subsection 3 .87(d)(l)(i) regarding "compatibility" states in relevant part: 

Only one live nonhuman primate may be transported in a primary enclosure, 
except as follows: A mother and her nursing infant may be transported together. 
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This regulation, which was in effect in 1997 at the time of the shipments from Indonesia, 

indicates that it is lawful to ship a nonhuman primate mother and her nursing infant since it 

permits a mother and her infant to be shipped within the same primary enclosure. 

In addition, the legislative history of50 C.F.R. § 14.105 shows that it was drafted, in part, 

m reliance on the Interagency Primate Steering Committee ("IPSC") Guidelines for the 

Transportation of Nonhuman Primates (March 1981). Although the IPSC Guidelines address 

shipment of pregnant females (which is permitted under certain circumstances), they do not 

address, and therefore do not prohibit, the shipment of nursing mothers and their young. See 

Whiteside, 285 F.3d at 1352 (government could not prove that defendants violated a law when 

"[n]either the regulations nor administrative authority clearly answer[ed] the dilemma the 

defendants faced here" and defendants' interpretation of legal requirements "was not 

unreasonable."). 

Furthermore, the legislative history to 50 C.F.R. § 14. 105 also discloses that it was 

originated, in part, in reliance on the Guidelines for Transport and Preparation for Shipment of 

Live Wild Animals and Plant. The "Guidelines for Transport" provide in relevant part: 

1.3 Pregnant animals, or animals that are still dependent on their mother, should 
not be transported, but there are exceptions to this . . .  there may be sound reasons 
for [ transporting animals that are still dependent on mothers]. 

On the one hand, this guideline is ambiguous in that it is unclear whether shipping unweaned 

animals dependent on their mothers is prohibited in all cases. This regulation appears to allow 

the shipment of nursing infants with their mothers for "sound reasons." 

The ambiguity and relative obscurity of the regulations described in this subsection 

apparently affected the United States Fish and Wildlife Service and the United States Customs 

Service because they inspected each of the four shipments, and permitted unweaned infants to 
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enter the United States. 1 7  According to the Indictment, the second, third and fourth shipments 

contained 20, 17, and 19 respectively, unweaned infants accompanied by their mothers. In 

United States v. Cowden, 677 F.2d 417, 420 (8th Cir. 1982), the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals 

issued the following admonition regarding the purpose of the United States Customs Service 

inspection process: 

Against this background of anticipated criminal charges, it is incumbent upon the 
government to live within the letter as well as the spirit of its own regulations. 
The Customs inspection should be conducted so that the probable result is 
compliance with the law, not the eliciting of a violation of the law. United States 
v. Gomez-Londono, 422 F. Supp. 519, 526 (E.D.N.Y. 1979), rev'd on other 
grounds, 553 F.2d 805 (2d Cir. 1977), and aff'd without op., 580 F.2d 1046 (2d 
Cir. 1978); see also Note, Fairness in Criminal Investigations Under the False 
Statement Statute, 77 Colum.L.Rev. 316 (1977). 

Because the regulatory structure relating to the transportation of animals is 

unconstitutionally vague and ambiguous, the Government cannot prove beyond a reasonable 

doubt that Defendant's action was an unreasonable interpretation of the law. Therefore, Counts 

Ten through Twelve must be dismissed. 

17 An inspector cannot miss a mother carrying an unweaned infant on her shoulder. 
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CONCLUSION 

Wherefore, for the reasons set forth above, and any additional reasons stated at any oral 
hearing on this Motion, Defendant requests this Court grant this Motion and issue an Order 
dismissing the Indictment against Defendant LABS. 
Respectfully submitted, 

GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
800 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, D.C. 20006 
(202) 331-3100 
Local counsel: 
Robert H. King, Jr. 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, P.C. 
77 West Wacker Drive 
Suite 2500 
Chicago, Illinois 60601 
(312) 456-8400 
July 1, 2002 

Mich'1o/;/ayad 
4 

.� 

By / / ll(;ulJ_ /---.. J � 
Attorney for Defendant LABS fVir. inia, Inc. 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

V. 

LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. 
DAVID M. TAUB 
CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III 

DEFENDANT LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC.'S MOTION FOR A BILL 
OF PARTICULARS AND MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT 

NOW COMES Defendant Labs of Virginia, Inc. ("LABS"), by the undersigned counsel, 

and respectfully requests this Court to grant this Motion for a Bill of Particulars in accordance 

with Fed. Rule Crim P. 7(f). As grounds for this Motion, Defendant states the following: 

BACKGROUND 

On April 2, 2002, an Indictment was issued against Defendants LABS of Virginia, Inc., 

David M. Taub, Charles J. Stem, and William Curtis Henley III ( collective:ly, the "Defendants") 

by a Grand Jury in Chicago, Illinois. The charges in the Indictment arise out of a transaction 

between LABS, a company that breeds, raises, manages, and provides animals for Government 

and private organizations for purposes of bio-medical research, and Indonesian Aquatics Export 

CV ("Inquatex"), a company located in the Republic of Indonesia. In particular, the Indictment 

concerns alleged violations of federal statutes arising out of LABS' imp01tation of a colony of 

monkeys consisting of approximately 1,300 cynomolgus macaques (of the species "Macaca 

fascicularis" and commonly known as crab-eating or long-tailed macaques) from Indonesia 

beginning in February 1997. 
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The Indictment alleges the following: Counts One through Four of the Indictment allege 

that Defendants LABS and Taub knowingly submitted false records related to the description of 

the monkeys with each of the four shipments in violation of 16 U.S.C. §§ 3372(d) and 

3373(d)(3)(A)(i) (a felony); Count Five of the Indictment alleges that all Defendants knowingly 

imported monkeys and in the exercise of due care should have known that the importation 

violated a foreign law in violation of 16 U.S.C. §§ 3372(a)(2)(A) and 3373(d)(2) (a 

misdemeanor); Counts Six through Nine allege that Defendants LABS and Taub knowingly and 

fraudulently imported the four shipments of the monkeys contrary to law in violation of 18 

U.S.C. § 545 (a felony); and Counts Ten through Twelve allege that Defendants LABS and Taub 

knowingly imported three shipments of monkeys and in the exercise of due care should have 

known that the importation violated a United States regulation allegedly governing the shipments 

of nursing mothers with young in violation of 16 U.S.C. §§ 3372(a)(l)(A) and 3373(d)(2) (a 

misdemeanor). 

LABS' Motion for a Bill of Particulars focuses on Counts One through Four and Six 

through Nine of the Indictment, which concern statements included in documents allegedly 

issued by the Indonesian government and submitted to the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and the 

U.S. Customs Service and accompanying the four shipments of monkeys and the legality of 

those shipments. The documents accompanying the four shipments include an export permit 

required by the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and 

Flora ("CITES") and a health certificate, both issued by the Indonesian government. A bill of 

particulars is necessary in this case because the Indictment fails to allege the specific conduct 

and facts at issue, as well as the Government's theory of the case, with the precision required to 
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minimize surprise at trial or to give Defendant a fair chance of preparing a defense or raising a 

double jeopardy defense in any subsequent prosecution. 

In particular, regarding Counts One through Four of the Indictment, the Government has 

failed to identify persons that appear to have a role in the Inquatex transaction, has failed to 

disclose its theory regarding allegations of the payment of baksheesh, has failed to identify the 

specific authority it relies upon for alleging that LABS had to provide lnquatex with any 

documentation filed by LABS as part of the CITES permit process, has failed to meaningfully 

identify conduct and facts that concern the truth of statements included in the CITES permits and 

health certificates, has failed to disclose the government's theory for alleging such statements to 

be false, and has failed to allege who placed the allegedly false statements on the CITES permits 

and health certificates. In addition, concerning Counts Six through Nine of the Indictment, the 

Government has failed to reveal its theory as to why LABS' alleged conduct was fraudulent and 

has failed to allege an underlying offense which is an essential element of the violation charged. 

A bill of particulars setting forth the following requested information is therefore required. 

DEFENDANT'S REQUESTS FOR PARTICULARS 

I. Counts One through Four 

A. Indictment Reference: Paragraph 19 refers to a "baksheesh" deal to pay off the 

Indonesian government and defines "baksheesh" as a "bribe".1 

B. Requests for Particularization: 

(1) Identify and particularize the Government theory as to why the term 

"baksheesh" means "bribe". 

1 Defendant LABS has moved to strike paragraph 19. See Defendant LABS of Virginia, Inc.'s 
Motion to Strike, filed July 1, 2002, at 4-8. 
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(2) Identify any persons alleged to have offered, made, or accepted payments 

of baksheesh or a bribe. 

(3) Particularize the amount of all alleged payments of baksheesh or a bribe. 

(4) Particularize the alleged purpose of any alleged payments of baksheesh or 

a bribe. 

( 5) Particularize the Indonesian government action alleged to have occurred 

as a result of alleged payments of baksheesh or a bribe. 

( 6) Particularize the Government theory as to the relevance of any alleged 

baksheesh deal, or payments of baksheesh or a bribe, to the charges alleged in the 

Indictment. 

C. Indictment Reference: Paragraph 23 states that "[t]he Purchase Agreement stated 

in part that each party was to provide the other with all applications and other documents 

filed as a part of the CITES permit process." 

D. Requests For Particularization: Specify the paragraph in the Purchase Agreement, 

or in the CITES Treaty that requires the buyer, in this case, LABS, to provide the other, 

in this case, Inquatex, any documentation filed by LABS as part of the CITES permit 

process. 

E. Indictment Reference: Paragraphs 6, 17, 19, 21, 27, 29, 32, and 35 of Counts One 

through Four (and paragraph 8 of Counts Ten through Twelve) refer to "Person A" and 

paragraphs 17, 18, 19, 20, and 22 of Counts One through Four refer to "Person B". 

F. Requests for Particularization: Identify "Person A" and "Person B". 

G. Indictment Reference: Paragraphs 27, 29, 32, and 35 contain two quotes from the 

CITES permits. Paragraph 38, the charging paragraph, alleges the following statements 

4 
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to be false because each shipment contained wild-caught and captive-bred monkeys and 

the statements in the CITES permits "falsely represented that the shipments contained 

only captive-bred Macaca fascicularis. . . ." The Indictment alleg,�s that: 

H. 

(!) the CITES permits for the February 20, 1997 shipment "authorized the 

export of 55 'crab-eating monkeys' and each described the contents of the 

shipment as '[c]aptive-bred specimens, no quota is allocated'"; 

(2) the CITES permits for the April 10, 1997, May 1, 1997, and May 30, 1997 

shipments "authorized the export of . . .  '[c]rab-eating [m]acaque' which [the 

permits] described as '[c]aptive breed specimen, no quota allocated"'; and 

(3) the CITES permits for each shipment 'contained the notation 'II(C)' in the 

column marked 'Appendices (source)'". 

Requests For Particularization: 

(1) Particularize the CITES Treaty section(s) or CITES permit instructions 

which render these three statements false. 

(2) Particularize the CITES Treaty section(s) or CITES permit instructions 

which make the statements in paragraphs G.(l) and (2) of this Motion applicable 

to the actual respective shipments from the Inquatex facility to LABS. 

(3) Particularize the CITES Treaty section(s) or CITES permit instructions 

that indicate that the two statements described in paragraph:; G.(l) and (2) of this 

Motion refer to the contents of the shipments or a description of the shipments. 

(4) Particularize the CITES Treaty section(s) or the CITES permit instructions 

which limit the three statements described in paragraphs G.(l), (2), and (3) of this 
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Motion in such a way as to mean "only'' captive bred, as in exclusively captive 

bred. 

(5) Identify any United States and Indonesian agencies or authorities to whom 

the CITES permit applications were submitted and the CITES permits were 

submitted. 

( 6) Identify and particularize the Government theory that a nexus exists 

between the statements quoted in paragraphs G.(l), (2), and (3) of this Motion and 

any function of a United States agency. 

(7) Identify and particularize who placed the allegedly false information on 

the CITES permits. 

I. Indictment References: Paragraphs 28, 31, 34, and 37 contain one quote from the 

health certificate: "[c]aptive bred born at INQUATEX facility (Jakarta/Indonesia)". 

Paragraph 38, the charging paragraph, alleges these statements in the health certificates to 

be false because the statements falsely represented that the shipments contained "only'' 

captive-bred animals. 

J. Requests for Particularization: 

(1) Identify and particularize the Government theory that the health certificate 

is one of the documents required by United States laws and regulations or 
" . 

Indonesian export-related laws or regulations. 

(2) Identify and particularize the United States or Indonesian law or 

regulation, or the health certificate instructions which limit the statement on the 

health certificate, as stated in Paragraph I. of this Motion in such a way as to mean 

"only'' captive-bred, as in exclusively captive-bred. 

6 
Obtained by Rise for Animals.

Uploaded to Animal Research Laboratory Overview (ARLO) on 09/20/2020



Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 29 Filed: 07/01/02 Page 7 of 14 PageID #:107

(3) Identify any United States and Indonesian agencies or authorities to whom 

the health certificate was submitted. 

( 4) Identify and particularize the Government theory that a nexus exists 

between the statement quoted in ParagraphL of this Motion and any function of a 

United States agency. 

( 5) Identify and particularize who placed the allegedly false information on 

the health certificates. 

II. Counts Six through Nine. 

A. Indictment Reference: Counts Six through Nine charge Defendant with 

fraudulently and knowingly importing into the United States the: wild-caught Macaca 

fascicularis contrary to law. 

B. Requests for Particularization: 

(!) Defendant requests the particularization of the theory and identity of the 

victim of the fraudulent conduct. 

(2) Defendant requests the Government to identify which law makes the 

importation of the wild-caught Macaca fascicularis a violation.2 

2 As argued in Defendant LABS' Motion to Dismiss, at Part IV, which was filed July 1, 2002, 
Counts Six through Nine of the Indictment, which allege a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 545, are 
fatally flawed because they fail to allege essential elements of the offenses alleged, i.e., what 
underlying law was violated by Defendant's actions and the elements of common law fraud. 
These legally insufficient counts cannot be cured by a bill of particulars and must be dismissed. 
Russell v. United States, 369 U.S. 749, 770, 82 S.Ct 1038 (1962). However, in the event that 
this Court disagrees with Defendant's position as presented in the Motion to Dismiss, 
Defendant has included a request for particularization about the alleged fraudulent conduct and 
the underlying law alleged to have been violated in Counts Six through Nine of the Indictment. 
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MEMORANDUM OF LAW 

Rule 7(£) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure allows the Court to direct the 

Government to file a bill of particulars, which is a "more specific expression of the activities 

defendant is accused of having engaged in which are illegal." United States v. Canino, 949 F.2d 

928, 949 (7th Cir. 1991 ). A bill of particulars should be provided "to clarify the nature of the 

offense charged and the ultimate facts necessary to avoid surprise or double jeopardy." United 

States v. Messina, 855 F. Supp. 955, 962 (N.D. Ill. 1994) (quoting United States v. Isaacs, 347 F. 

Supp. 743, 762 (N.D. In. 1972)). "The defendant's constitutional rights under the fifth and sixth 

amendments require that [the defendant] be informed of the nature of the offense charged to 

allow him to prepare a defense and to protect his double jeopardy rights." United States v. 

Glecier, 923 F.2d 496,502 (7th Cir. 1991). 

A decision to require a bill of particulars is within the sound discretion of the district 

court. Canino, 949 F.2d at 949. The court's discretion should be guided by the intent of Fed. R. 

Crim. P. 7(£), which was amended in 1966 "to encourage a more liberal attitude by Courts 

towards bills of particulars." United States v. Addonizio, 451 F.2d 49, 64 (3d Cir, 1971) (citing 

advisory committee notes). Any doubts as to whether a bill of particulars should issue should be 

resolved in favor of the defendant because "[ s ]ince [a] defendant is presumed innocent . . .  it 

cannot be assumed that he knows the particulars sought." United States v. Tucker, 262 F. Supp. 

305,307 (S.D.N.Y. 1966). 

When deciding whether a motion for a bill of particulars should be granted, the court will 

assess "whether the indictment sets forth the elements of the offense charged and sufficiently 

apprises the defendant of the charges to enable him to prepare for trial." United States v. 

Kendall, 665 F.2d 126, 134 (7th Cir. 1981) (quoting United States v. Roya. 574 F.2d 386,391 (7th 
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Cir. 1978)); see also Canino, 949 F.2d at 949. Although a defendant is not entitled to know all of 

the evidence the government may produce, the defendant is entitled to la10w the theory of the 

government's case. Kendall, 665 F.2d at 135 (citing United States v. Giese, 597 F.2d 1170, 1181 

(9th Cir. 1979)). Moreover, "[i]t is well settled law that 'where an indictment fails to set forth 

specific facts in support of requisite elements of the charged offense, and the information is 

essential to the defense, failure to grant a request for a bill of particulars may constitute 

reversible error."' See United States v. Cole, 755 F.2d 748, 760 (11th Cir. 1985) (quoting United 

States v. Crippen, 579 F.2d 340, 347 (5th Cir. 1978)). 

In this case, the Indictment filed against LABS does not adequately inform LABS of the 

nature of the offenses charged or the underlying facts in Counts One through Four. In addition, 

the Indictment does not sufficiently inform LABS of the essential elements of the offenses 

charged in Counts Six through Nine or the underlying facts supporting the allegation of 

fraudulent conduct. The requirement of a bill of particulars will prevent prejudice against LABS 

and will enable LABS to thoroughly prepare its defense and avoid surprise at trial. 

Paragraph 23 of the Indictment, which is part of Counts One through Four, and 

incorporated by reference in Counts Five through Twelve, alleges that "[t]he Purchase 

Agreement stated in part that each party was to provide the other with all applications and other 

documents filed as a part of the CITES permit process." Furthermore, several paragraphs in the 

Indictment refer to "Person A" and "Person B" as having roles in the conduct alleged in the 

Indictment. LABS' requests for particularization concerning Paragraph 23 and the references to 

"Person A" and "Person B", appropriately seek information that is required to prepare for its 

defense and to avoid surprise at trial. Counts One through Four of the Indictment allege that 

LABS submitted false documentation, including CITES permits, for the four shipments of 
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monkeys. The allegation at Paragraph 23 of the Indictment implies that the Government may 

believe that LABS was responsible for providing or filing documents as part of the CITES 

permit process. However, LABS is not aware of any provision in the Purchase Agreement that 

required LABS to provide Inquatex with "documents filed as a part of the CITES permit 

process" or that required LABS to make any filing to obtain a CITES permit for the shipments. 

LABS is entitled to know the nature of the offense charged, as well as the facts upon which the 

Government bases any charges, to adequately prepare a defense to Counts One through Four of 

the Indictment. The Government's disclosure of the section in the Purchase Agreement that 

provides the basis for the statement in Paragraph 23 of the Indictment concerning LABS' 

responsibilities under that agreement will give LABS insight into the Government's theory 

supporting Counts One through Four. This information, as well as the identification of "Person 

A" and "Person B" will enable LABS to prepare for trial with a complete understanding of the 

charges against it. 

LABS' additional requests for particularization related to Counts One through Four ask 

the government to identify conduct and facts about the Indictment's reference to a "baksheesh 

deal", statements in the CITES permits and health certificates, and the Government's theory for 

alleging that a baksheesh deal occurred and that LABS submitted false statements. The 

Indictment asserts that "Person A had gone to the Indonesian government and had cut a 

'baksheesh' deal to pay them off." Indictment, at 6, ,r 19. However, the Indictment fails to 

identify facts and conduct regarding the alleged "baksheesh" payments with enough specificity 

to apprise LABS about the nature of any alleged baksheesh deal and fails to disclose the 

10 
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Government's theory regarding the relevance of any alleged baksheesh d,:al to the charges in the 

Indictment. 3 

The Indictment also contends in Counts One through Four that LABS "falsely 

represented that the shipments contained only captive bred Macaca fascicularis." Indictment, 

,r 38. However, the government has failed to identify conduct and facts that concern the truth of 

statements included in the CITES permits and health certificates referenced in the Indictment and 

has failed to set forth the Government's theory for alleging such statements to be false. LABS' 

requests for particularization are narrowly focused on unveiling the Government's general theory 

for interpreting statements on the CITES permits and health certificates to be false. Defendant 

LABS is entitled to learn the government's theory regarding all counts in the Indictment to be 

able to prepare for trial with full knowledge of the charges against it. Sec, Kendall, 665 F.2d at 

135. 

Defendant also has the right to know the identity of the victim of the alleged crime. See 

United States v. Davidoff, 845 F.2d 1151, 1155 (2d Cir. 1988) (defendants are entitled to "a 

straightforward identification in a bill of particulars of the identity of victims of the offense that 

the prosecution intends to prove."). Counts One through Four of the Indictment only allege that 

LABS "knowingly submit[ted]a false record . . . . " Indictment, ,r 38. The Indictment does not 

identify who received the alleged false record nor who was harmed by the submission of any 

such record. LABS needs to know who was harmed as a result of the.ir alleged conduct to 

develop a relevant and appropriate defense for the charges filed against it. 

Furthermore, LABS' requests for particularization regarding Counts One through Four, 

as well as Counts Six through Nine (which allege that LABS fraudulently and knowingly 

11 
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imported into the United States merchandise contrary to law), are justified. A bill of particulars 

is especially necessary when charges against a defendant involve alleged false statements and 

fraudulent conduct. In United States v. Trie, 21 F. Supp. 2d 7, 21-22 (D.D.C. 1998), the court 

ordered the government to file a bill of particulars detailing the government's allegations of 

fraud. Trie involved a prosecution against a campaign contributor for allegedly defrauding the 

United States, committing mail and wire fraud, and making false stat,:ments to the Federal 

Elections Commission regarding his campaign contributions. Id. The court granted the 

defendant's motion for a bill of particulars and stated that the "government must provide 

information as to exactly what the false statements are, what about them is false, who made 

them, and how [the defendant] caused them to be made." Id. In this case, the Court similarly 

should require the Government to file a bill of particulars, in conformance with requests for 

particularization, regarding the precise conduct upon which the Government has based its 

allegations of false statements and fraudulent conduct. 

Finally, LABS' requests for particularization concerning Counts Six through Nine of the 

Indictment rightfully seek the Government's theory as to why the Government considers LABS' 

conduct to be fraudulent and the identity of the victim of the fraud. Moreover, the requests 

properly ask the Government to provide Defendant with an essential element of the offense 

charged in Counts Six through Nine, i.e., the identification of the underlying law which allegedly 

had been violated. Indeed, these counts are fatally defective and should be dismissed because 

they fail to set forth any law that was violated by LABS by importing wild-caught Macaca 

fascicularis into the United States.4 

' Defendant addresses this issue further in Defendant LABS of Virginia, Inc.' s Motion to 
Dismiss, filed July 1, 2002. 
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In conclusion, the Indictment's lack of specificity, as detailed in this Motion, unfairly 

subjects LABS to the possibility that the prosecution will continually shift its theory of the case 

and be able to vary the Indictment to fit the evidence adduced at trial. A bill of particulars is 

necessary in this case to ensure that LABS is fairly informed of the nature: of the charges against 

it with enough specificity to prepare a defense, to protect against surprise, and to avoid the 

potential for variance or constructive amendment of the Indictment. 

CONCLUSION 

Wherefore, for the reasons set forth above, and any additional reasons stated at any oral 

hearing on this Motion, Defendant LABS requests this Court grant this Motion and issue an 

Order directing the Government to serve LABS with a Bill of Particulars. 

GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
800 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, D.C. 20006 
(202) 331-3100 

Local counsel: 
Robert H. King, Jr. 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, P.C. 
77 West Wacker Drive 
Suite 2500 
Chicago, Illinois 60601 
(312) 456-8400 

July 1, 2002 

Respectfully submitted, 

:
ch

�;/4 

Attorney for Defendant LABS of Vi . 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on this 1st day of July, 2002, a true and correct copy of the 
foregoing Defendant LABS of Virginia, Inc.'s Motion for a Bill of Particulars and 
Memorandum of Law in Support, was served by hand delivery on the following: 

Diane MacArthur, Esq. 
Assistant United States Attorney 
219 South Dearborn Street 
Chicago, IL 60604 

and by United States first class mail, postage prepaid, on the following: 

Michael L. Fayad, Esq. 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
800 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, DC 20006 

Samuel J. Buffone, Esq. 
Kelly B. Kramer, Esq. 
ROPES & GRAY 
One Franklin Square 
1301 K Street, N.W. 
Suite 800 East 
Washington, DC 20005-3333 

Gerald A. Feffer, Esq. 
David M. Zinn, Esq. 
WILLIAMS & CO:NNOLL Y 
725 Twelfth Street, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20005 

\\wdc-srvOl \94699v03 

Robert H. King, Jr. 
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) 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICADOC 

� 
V. 

JUL O 2 20 ) 

DOCKETED LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. 
DAVIDM. TAUB 

No. 02 CR 0312 

Judge Castillo 
Magistrate Judge Bobrick 

CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III 

JUL O 3 2002 
) 

) 

) 

) 

DEFENDANT CHARLES J. STERN AND WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY Ill's 

DESIGNATION OF LOCAL COUNSEL FOR SERVICE 

Pursuant to Local Rule 83.15, Defendants Charles J. Stern and William Curtis 

Henley III designate the following individual as local counsel for service: 

Williams & Connolly LLP 
725 12th St., N.W. 
Washington, DC 20005 
(202) 434-5000 

Dated: July 1, 2002 

Robert H. King, Jr. 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, P.C. 
77 West Wacker Drive 
Suite 2500 
Chicago, Illinois 60601 
(312) 456-8400 

Respectfully submitted, 

GERALD A. PEFFER* 
DAV NN* 

By: 
Attorneys for Charles J. S ern and 
William Curtis Henley III 

*Pro hac vice status applied for. 
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/ 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on this 1st day of July, 2002, I caused a true and correct copy of the 
foregoing Defendants Charles J. Stem and William Curtis Henley Ill's Designation of Local 
Counsel for Service, to be served by hand delivery on the following: 

Diane MacArthur, Esq. 
Assistant United States Attorney 
219 South Dearborn Street 
Chicago, IL 60604 

Michael L. Fayad, Esq. 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
800 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, DC 20006 

Samuel J. Buffone, Esq. 
ROPES&GRAY 
One Franklin Square 
1301 K Street, N.W. 
Suite 800 East 
Washington, DC 20005-3333 

'i?�'- 7r 
David M. ZinV 
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' 

' 

1luu1le ()rde,· Form (U6/'J7) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

\'amc of Assigned .Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting ,Judge if Other 
or i\fagistrnte ,Judge than Assigned ,Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 DATE 7 /] 0/2002 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 

TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff: defendant, 3rd party p!::1intiH: and (b) state brietly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

( I ) 

(2) 

(J) 

(•I) 

( s) 

( (1) 

(7) 

D Filed motion of[ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

D Brief in support of motion due _ __ . 

D J\nswer brief to motion due_ __ Reply to answer brief due __ 

D Ruling/Hearing on _ __ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

■ Status hearing held and continued to 11/6/2002 at 9:45 A.M .. 

D Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on _ __ _  set for ______ at . .· 
D Trial[set for/re-set for] on _ __ at _ __ . 

; (8) D [Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to _ __ at ___ . 

(9) 

I 

: 
( I 0) 

( I I ) 

-

-

---

,-

-

0 This case is dismissed [ with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreement/pursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(m) □ General Rule 21 □ FRCP4l(a)(l) □ FRCP4l(a)(2). 

■ [Other docket entry] From today's date until 11/6/02 is excluded pursuant to I 8 U.S.C. 3 I 6 I (h)( I )(F) and 
18 lJ S.C. 3 161 (h)(8)(A)(B). (X-E and X-T). Defendant Labs' motion for leave to file in excess or fifteen pages 
[26-1] is granted. Defendant Taub's motion for leave to file additional motions [31-IJ, motion for pretrial 
disclosure of exculpatory evidence (33-1] and motion for early disclosure of intention to introduce co-conspirator 
statements pursuant to Federal Rule of Evidence 80 I (d)(2)(E) [34-1] are all granted. Govcrnment to file its written 
Santiago Proffer six weeks prior to trial. Defendant Taub's motion for leave to issue pretrial subpoenas pursuant 
to Rule I 7(c) is granted as to all parties. 

D [f<or further detail see order (on reverse side of/attached to) the original minute order.! 
No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 kHm. 

( 'opy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 
courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

l \IP'.) 1.'.lk !_S\0 ·s·n 
,J �'.t:3'"°\'J 

0 :•1 \:d O 1 1nr zo 

0--iJf<\<�iiU ,clceived in 
Q 1. ;J C!rltrll tferk's Office 

number of notices 

JUL 1 2 Z00.2l 
date docketed / 

daw mailed notice 

mailing deputy mitrnls 

Document 

Number 
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' 

' 

I 

I lmlll� Onl<.:J Forni ((1(>!')7) 

United States District Conrt, Northern District of Illinois 

Na me of Assigned .Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting ,fudge if Other 
or Magistrate .ludgc than Assigned ,Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 DATE 7/10/2002 

CASE 

TITLE 

MOTION: 

USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff� defendant, 3rd 1rnrty pl.aintifL and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

l)OCKET ENTRY: 

( I) □ 

(2) □ 

(>) 

(4) □ 

(5) □ 

(6) □ 

( 7) □ 

( 8) □ 

(')) □ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due _ __ . 

Answer brief to motion due_ __ Reply to answer brief due _ __ . 

Ruling/Hearing on _ __ set for _ __ at _ _  _ 

Status hearing[held/continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on __ _  set for __ _  at _ __ . 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for ___ at --·---

Trial[ set for/re-set for] on _ __ at _ __ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to ___ at _ __ . 

This case is dismissed [with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreemcnt/pursuant toJ 
□ FRCP4(m) □ General Rule 21 □ FRCP41(a)(I) □ FRCP4 l(a)(2). 

(IO) ■ [Other docket entry] Government's response to Defendants' motion for issuance of letters rogatory 
[24-1] is due on or before 9/9/02. Defendants' reply will be due 9/30/02. Court will rule 11/6/02 at 9'45 

a.m. Government's response to Defendant Labs' motion to strike portions of the indictment [27-1 ], 

motion to dismiss [28-1], and motion for a bill of particular [29-1] ts due on or before 9/9/02. 

Defendant's reply will be due 9/30/02. Court will rule 11/6/02 at 9:45 a.m. 

( I I ) □ [For further detail see order (on reverse side of/attached to) the original minute order. J 

-

No notices required, advised in open comt. 

No notices required. 

Document 

Number 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

I )ockcting to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 form. 

( ·opy to judge/magistrate judgc. 

RO 
courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

ll.lno::i J.J1c:1s10 ·s·n 

\'\I]\'.} 

number of notices 

,Ju' 1 1 •J. ,orr 
-aa1,.,·c1otlc1cd 

date mailed notice 
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'-hm,tc 01dcr Funn (\)(>/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

\!a llH' of Assigned ,Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 
or :\fagistrate .Judge than Assigned .Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 DATE 7110/2002 

CASE 

TITLE 

MOTION: 

USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 

[ In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff, defendant, 3rd pnrty plaintiff� and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

,lOCKET ENTRY: 

( I ) □ Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

(2) Brief in support of motion due _ __ . 

(.i) □ Answer brief to motion due_ __ Reply to answer brief due _ __ . 

('I) □ Ruling/Hearing on _ __ set for _ __ at _ _  _ 

(5) □ Status hearing[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for _ __ at __ _ 

( (1) □ Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for ___ at 

' ( 7) □ Trial[sct for/re-set for] on _ __ at _ __ . 

(8) 

(9) 

, ( I OJ 

( I I ) 

□ 

□ 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to _ __ at _ __ . 

This case is dismissed [with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreement/pursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(rn) □ General Rule 21 □ FRCP4l(a)(I) □ FRCP41(a)(2). 

■ [Other docket entry] Government's response to defendant Taub's motion to dismiss the indictment 
[30- I] and motion for a bill of particulars [35-1] is due on or before 9/9/02. Defendant's reply will be 
due 9/30/02. Court will rule 11/6/02 at 9:45 a.m. 

□ [For further detail see order (on reverse side of/attached to) the original minute order.] 

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notilkd cmmscl by telephone. 

I )ockcting to mail notices. 

Mail r\O 450 form. 

('opy to judgc/magistrntc judge. 

RO 
courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

ll:\fiOJ .! J\�\\SlO ·s·n 
Wb ,J 

90 :11 \!d o 1 1nr zo 

OT 
/lJ"l\'/)(li\[l"";jd ;n 

L -�rdra!'cre'rk's Office 

JUL I 2 i.uc" 
dal� dockclt:d 

date mailed ,mticc 

n1ailin!c! deputy initinb 

Document 

Number 

Bf 
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\linnlc Ordc1 1'111111 (061')7) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

i\ame of Assigned ,Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 
nr Magistrate ,Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 DATE 711012002 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 

TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff: defendant, 3rd party plaintiff, and (b) state brietly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(I) 

(2) 
i 

(4) 

(5) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due ___ . 

Answer brief to motion due _ __ Reply to answer brief due ___ . 

Ruling/I -I earing on· --- set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Status hearing[held/continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for _ __ at _ _  _ 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for at 

Trial[set for/re-set for] on _ __ at _ __ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to _ __ at _ __ . 

This case is dismissed [with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreement/pursuant toJ 
0 FRCP4(m) 0 General Rule 21 0 FRCP4l(a)(I) 0 FRCP41(a)(2). 

( I 0) ■ [Other docket entry] Government's response to Defendants Stern and Henley's motion to dismiss counts 
Five of the indictment under the void for vagueness doctrine [36-1], motion to dismiss count Five of the indictment 
under the act of state doctrine [38-I], motion to dismiss count Five of the indictment for failure lo al lcge an 
essential element of the offense (no predicate act) [40-1 ], motion to dismiss count Five of the indictment for failure 
to allege any factual basis for the offense [ 42-1 ], motion for a bill of particulars [44-1], and motion for severance 
[47-1 [ is due on or before 9/9/02. Defendants' reply will be due 9/30/02. Court will rule 11/6/02 at 9:45 a.m. 

( I I ) 

·-

·-

□ [For further detail see order (on reverse side of/attached to) the original minute order.] 

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No no{ices required. 

Notices mailed by_iudgc's staff 

Noti lied counsel by telephone. 

Drn;kcting to mail notices. 

Mail /\0 4)0 form. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 
courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

l'cll"\0'.l J.]\\LLSIO ·s·o 
\,l\:'J-'1 ',\ 1,t.,;.l ' 

90 :l1 �ld O 11111' zo 

number of no1icco 

JUL l 2 Zl)i)'l 
date docketed / 

dat� mailed notice 

mailing deputy icutial, 

Document 

Number 
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' 

\linute()1!1�, Fo,m{06/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Namt· of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting ,Judge if Other 
or i\fogistratc Judge than Assigned ,Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02CR312 DATE 7/10/2002 

CASE 

TITLE 

l\10TION: 

USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff: defendant, 3rd pmty plaintin: and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(I) D Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box abov�.] 

(2) D Brief in support of motion due _ __ . 

m D Answer brief to motion due _ __ . Reply to answer brief due _ __ . 

( 4) D Ruling/Hearing on _ __ set for ___ at _ __ . 

( .\) D Status hearing[held/continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for ___ _  at _ -·---. 

(C,) D Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on · -- - set for _ _ at 

i (7) D Trial[set for/re-set for] on ___ at _ __ . 

I ( 8) D 

(9) D 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to _ __ at _ __ . 

This case is dismissed [with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreernent/pursuanl toJ 
0 F,ZCP4(m) D General Rule 21 □ FRCP41(a)(l) □ FRCP41(a)(2). 

(IO) ■ [Other docket entry] Defendants Stern and Henley's motion of joinder in co-defendants' motions 
[46-1 ], and motion for leave to file additional motions after 7/1/02 [ 49-1] are granted. 

( I I) 

✓ 

D [For further detail see order (on reverse side of/attached to) the original minute order.J 

No notices required, advised in open court. 

Nn notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

I )oekcting to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 form. 

Copy to _judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 
courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

90 :'1 Hd O I ·inr ZO 
L Q3•QJ::l�tHt' ereceived in · · 

central Clerk's Otfice 

number of notice, 

date ,nailed !lot ice 

mailing deputy initi�I, 

Document 

Number 

5 
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Minute Order Form'(06/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Name of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 

or Magistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 DATE 7/23/2002 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 

TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff, defendant, 3rd party plaintiff, and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(I) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due _ __ . 

Answer brief to motion due ___ . Reply to answer brief due _ __ . 

Ruling/Hearing on _ __ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Status hearing[held/continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for ___ at ___ . 

Trial[ set for/re-set for] on _ __ at ___ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to ___ at ___ . 

This case is dismissed [with/without] prejudice and withont costs[by/agreement/pursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(m) □ General Rule 21 □ FRCP4l (a)(l )  □ FRCP4l(a)(2). 

(10) ■ [Other docket entry] Enter Order. The Court orders that the reference in the last paragraph of 

(11) 

✓ 

Counts Ten through Twelve in the indictment to "Title 16, United States Code, Sections 3372(a)(2)(A) 

and 3373(d)(2)" be changed to "Title 16, United States Code, Sections 3372(a)(l) and 3373(d)(2). 

■ [For further detail see order attached to the original minute order.] 

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 fonn. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 

courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

number of notices 

'JUL 2 4 2illlZ 
date docketed 

ty initials 

date mailed notice 

mailing deputy initials 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

vs. 

LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC., et al. 

ORDER 

oocrrrm
ben 

JUL 2 4 2002 

Castillo 

On or about May 15, 2002, this Court granted the government's 

request to amend a statutory reference in Counts Ten through Twelve 

of the indictment. The Minute Order describing this amendment did 

not fully set forth the requested change. This Court orders that 

the reference in the last paragraph of Counts Ten through Twelve in 

the indictment to "Title 16, United States Code, Sections 

3372 (a) (2) (A) and 3373 (d) (2)" be changed to "Title 16, United 

States Code, Sections 3372 (a) (1) and 3373 (d) (2)." 

SO ORDERED: ��-
RUBEN CASTILLO, JUDGE 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DATED: 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 
EASTERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 

LABS OF V IRGINIA, INC. 
DAV ID M. TAUB, 
CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

\ ) 
;. ) 

No. 02 CR 312 
Judge Ruben Castillo 

NOTICE OF MOTION 

To: SEE ATTACHED LIST 

'f'.t./,5;-PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on Wednesday, September 18, 2002 at 
�c3-0 a. m., or as soon thereafter as counsel may be heard, I will 

appear before Judge Castillo in the courtroom usually occupied by 
her in the United States Courthouse, 219 South Dearborn Street, 
Chicago, Illinois, or before such other judge who may be sitting in 
her place and stead, and then and there present the GOVERNMENT'S 
MOTION FOR AN EXTENSION OF TIME IN WHICH TO FILE CONSOLIDATED 
RESPONSE TO PRETRIAL MOTIONS at which time and place you may appear 
if you see fit. 

STATE OF ILLINOIS 

COUNTY OF COOK 
ss 

'>J \ <:Lv'::£ \�\ a c B;rtB, 1 1 fl 
DIANE MacARTHUR 
Assistant United States Attorney 
219 South Dearborn Street - 4th 
Chicago, Illinois 60604 
(312) 353-5352 

Angela Savage, being duly sworn on oath, deposes and says that 
she is employed in the Office of the United States Attorney for the 
Northern District of Illinois; and that on the 11th day of 
September she caused a copy o the above-mentioned notice to be 
delivered to the individuals a-�� above . 

"OFFICIAL SEAL" 
Cheryl M. Guest 

Notary Public, State of lllinoi� 
My Commission fap. 07/31/Z005 

s 

Q:,i;R Y PUB L I  C 

ore me 

2002 
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-;. 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

• 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

V. 

LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. 
DAVID M .  TAUB, 
CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

. ) 
\ ) 

No . 02 CR 312 
Judge Ruben Castillo 

"! 

NOTICE OF MOTION 

To: SEE ATTACHED LIST 

'f','-£.<"PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on Wednesday, September 18, 2002 at 
�3-0 a.m., or as soon thereafter as counsel may be heard, I will 

appear before Judge Castillo in the courtroom usually occupied by 
her in the United States Courthouse, 219 South Dearborn Street, 
Chicago, Illinois, or before such other judge who may be sitting in 
her place and stead, and then and there present the GOVERNMENT'S 
MOTION FOR AN EXTENSION OF TIME IN WHICH TO FILE CONSOLIDATED 
RESPONSE TO PRETRIAL MOTIONS at 
if you see fit. 

STATE OF ILLINOIS 

COUNTY OF COOK 
ss 

which time and place you may appear 

-3J\G..i':f 'N\ac: �ti1ll111 
DIANE MacARTHUR 
Assistant United States Attorney 
219 South Dearborn Street - 4th 
Chicago, Illinois 60604 
(312) 353-5352 

Angela Savage, being duly sworn on oath, deposes and says that 
she is employed in the Office of the United States Attorney for the 
Northern District of Illinois; and that on the 11th day of 
September she caused a copy o the above-mentioned notice to be 
delivered to the individuals a�� abov 

"OFFICIAL SEAL" 
Cheryl M. Guest 

Notary Public, State of llliriois 
My Commissic>n fap. 07/31/2005 

s 

AR y p u B L I C 

ore me 

2002 
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;T 

SERVICE LIST 

UNITED STATES V. LABS OF VIRGINIA, et al., 
No. 02 CR 312 

Labs of Virginia, Inc. 

David M .  Taub 

Charles J. Stern 
William C. Henley 

Michael L. Fayad, Esq. 
Greenberg & Traurig 
800 Connecticut Avenue, N. W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, D.C. 20006 
(202) 533-2327 
(202) 331-3101 (fax) 

Samuel J. Buffone, Esq. 
Ropes & Gray 
One Franklin Square 
1301 K Street, N.W. 
Suite 800 East 
Washington, D. C. 20005-3333 
(202) 626-3900 
(202) 626-3961 (fax) 

Gerald A. Feffer, Esq . 
David M. Zinn, Esq. 
Williams & Connolly LLP 
725 Twelfth Street, N. W. 
Washington, D . C. 20005-5901 
(202) 434-5000 
(202) 434-5029 (fax) 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
No. 02 CR 312 

vs. Judge Ruben Castillo F/Lc 
-. 

D 
LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. 
DAVID M. TAUB, 
CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III 

:Jfp l 

@1:1::t.ttt,_t! w. 

1 2002 

.. ·•· e,,;:,o,,,,,, 
GOVERNMENT'S MOTION FOR AN EXTENSION OF TIME orcou11r 

IN WHICH TO FILE CONSOLIDATED RESPONSE TO PRETRIAL MOTIONS 

The United States of America, by its attorney, Patrick J. 

Fitzgerald, United States Attorney for the Northern District of 

Illinois, respectfully requests an extension of time in which to 

file a Consolidated Response to the multiple pretrial motions filed 

by all of the defendants in this case. In support of this motion, 

the government states as follows: 

1. The defendants have filed multiple pretrial motions in 

this case which range from motions to dismiss the indictment based 

on the "act of state" doctrine to motions for bills of particulars. 

The government's Consolidated Response to these motions was due on 

or before September 8, 2002. 

2. The undersigned attorney has not been able to complete 

the Consolidated Response in the allotted time due to her 

involvement in, among other things, a trial in United States v. 

Trombetta et al., No. 01 CR 730 (Gettleman, J.), an arrest and 

detention hearing in United States v. Collins, No. 02 CR 831 

(Nolan, J.), and the need to prepare a consolidated response to 
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pretrial motions in United States v. Burke, No. 01 CR 1049 

(Pallmeyer, J.), which is scheduled for trial on October 7, 2002. 

3. The government respectfully requests leave to file the 

Consolidated Response on or before September 18, 2002. The 

defendants' replies are currently due September 30, 2002. This 

case is set for status and a ruling on the pretrial motions on 

November 6, 2002 at 10:00 a.m. 

4. Counsel for defendants Labs of Virginia, Inc., Charles 

Stern and William Henley oppose this request. 

defendant David Taub does not oppose this request. 

Counsel for 

By: 

2 

Respectfully submitted, 

PATRICK J, FITZGERALD 
United States Attorney 

DIANE MacARTHUR 
Assistant U. S. Attorney 
219 South Dearborn Street 
Chicago, Illinois 60604 

(312) 353-5352 
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Minute Order Form (06/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

�ame of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 

or Magistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312- all DATE 9/13/2002 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 

TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff, defendant, 3rd party plaintiff, and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(!) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in snpport of motion due ___ . 

Answer brief to motion due _ __ . Reply to answer brief due _ __ . 

Ruling/Hearing on _ __ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Status hearing[held/continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for _ __ at ___ . 

Trial[set for/re-set for] on ___ at _ __ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to _ __ at _ __ . 

This case is dismissed [ with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreement/pursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(m) □ Local Rule 41.1 □ FRCP4!(a)(I) □ FRCP41(a)(2). 

(10) ■ [Other docket entry] Government's motion for an extension of time in which to file consolidated 
response to pretrial motions is granted. The parties do not need to appear for the motion call on 
September 18, 2002. Government's consolidated response to the defendants' pending motions is due on 

or before September 18, 2002. Defendants' replies will be due September 30, 2002. The court will rule 

on November 6, 2002 at 10:00 a.m. 

(11) □ [For further detail see order ( on reverse side of/attached to) the original minute order.] 

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

✓ Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 form. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 
courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

;�p�te(��-�·re_cejyed in::, 
central Clerk's Office 

date mailed notice 

mailing deputy initials 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 
EASTERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 

LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. 
DAVID M. TAUB, 
CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III 

No. 02 CR 312 DIJCl<ETED 
Judge Ruben Castillo Sf p 2 0 ZOO? 

v 

FILED 

NOTICE OF FILING 
SEP I 6 2002 

MICHAEL W. bOBBINS 
CLERK, U.S. DISTRICT COURT To: SEE ATTACHED SERVICE LIST 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on September 18, 2002, the undersigned 
filed with the Clerk of this Court, GOVENMENT' S CONSOLIDATED 
RESPONSE TO PRETRIAL MOTIONS OF DEFENDANTS LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC., 
DAVID M. TAUB, CHARLES J. STERN AND WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III 

service of which is being made upon you. 

STATE OF ILLINOIS 

COUNTY OF COOK 
ss 

DIANE MacARTHUR 
Assistant United States Attorney 
219 South Dearborn Street - 4th 
Chicago, Illinois 60604 
(312) 353-5352 

Angela Savage, being duly sworn on oath, deposes and says that 
she is employed in the Office of the United States Attorney for the 
Northern District of Illinois; and that on the 18th day of 
September, 2002 she caused a copy of the above-mentioned notice to 
be delivered Co che indi vid

cc:

ed ab;e 

Si\) Q 

"OFFICIAL SEAL" 

Cheryl M. Guest 
Notary Public, Stat� of Illinois 

My Commission Exp. 07/31/2005 

SUBSCR SWORN to before 

this 18th y of September, 2002 

N OTAR Y P U BL I C 
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SERVICE LIST 

UNITED STATES v. LABS OF VIRGINIA. et al., 
No. 02 CR 312 

Labs of Virginia, Inc. 

David M. Taub 

Charles J. Stern 
William C. Henley 

Michael L. Fayad, Esq. 
Greenberg & Traurig 
800 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. 
Suite 500 

Washington, D. C. 20006 

(202) 533-2327 
(202) 331-3101 (fax) 

Samuel J. Buffone, Esq. 
Ropes & Gray 
One Franklin Square 
1301 K Street, N.W. 
Suite 800 East 
Washington, D. C. 20005-3333 

(202) 626-3900 

(202) 626-3961 (fax) 

Gerald A. Feffer, Esq. 
David M. Zinn, Esq. 
Williams & Connolly LLP 
725 Twelfth Street, N.W. 

Washington, D. C. 20005-5901 
(202) 434-5000 

(202) 434-5029 (fax) 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
No. 02 CR 312 L---

vs. Judge Ruben Castillo 

LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. 
DAVID M. TAUB, 
CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III 

FILED 
DOCKETED 
SEf) 2 0 2002 

SEP 1 8 2002 

MICHAEL W. DOBBINS 
GOVERNMENT' S CONSOLIDATED RESPONs:fLW, U.S. DISTRICT COURT 

PRETRIAL MOTIONS OF DEFENDANTS LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC., 
DAVID M. TAUB, CHARLES J. STERN AND WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III 

All four defendants have filed a variety of pretrial motions 

attacking the indictment in this case. Each defendant has moved to 

dismiss the indictment for varying reasons and each requests a bill 

of particulars. Defendants Charles J. Stern and William Curtis 

Henley III have moved for a severance from the other defendants. 

All four defendants join in a motion requesting the issuance of 

Letters Rogatory in order to conduct overseas discovery. The 

government's consolidated response to these motions is set forth 

below. 

I. BACKGROUND 

Defendant Labs of Virginia, Inc. is involved in breeding 

primates for use in medical research. Labs is located in Yemassee, 

South Carolina. The indictment focuses on four shipments of 

primates to Labs from Indonesia that entered the United States 

through O'Hare International Airport. The indictment alleges that 

these shipments violated the law in the following ways: (1) the 

shipments contained at least some "wild-caught" primates even 
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though Indonesian law prohibited the export of feral monkeys; (2) 

the export permits and the health certificates for the shipments 

falsely listed the primates in the shipments as being "captive

bred"; and (3) some of the shipments contained nursing mothers and 

unweaned young. 

A. The Export Restrictions Governing the Four Shipments. 

The Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of 

Wild Fauna and Flora ("CITES" ) is an international treaty governing 

the importation and export of certain wildlife species. The United 

States and Indonesia, among 140 other nations, are both parties to 

the treaty. Appendix II to CITES lists certain potentially 

endangered species which are subject to CITES' s restrictions. 

Crab-eating macaques, a particular primate species, have been 

included on the list since 1977. The scientific name for crab-

eating macaques is Macaca fascicularis. The primates imported into 

the United States by Labs were crab-eating macaques. A firm such 

as Labs, then, that sought in the 1990s to import crab-eating 

macaques had to first obtain a valid foreign export permit issued 

by the country of origin before importing any Appendix II species 

into the United States. 

In 1994, Indonesia, the "country of origin" in this case, 

banned the export of wild-caught crab-eating macaques. The phrase 

"wild-caught" refers to those primates which were caught in the 

jungles of Indonesia. "Captive-bred" primates, in contrast, are 

2 
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those primates which were born in captivity. After 1994, then, a 

firm such as Labs could not export wild-caught primates from 

Indonesia absent an exception from the law and could not export 

"captive-bred" primates without a valid "CITES" permit. 

The four O'Hare shipments at issue in this case contained a 

mix of wild-caught and captive-bred primates. The CITES permits 

for each shipment, however, reflected that the crates contained 

"captive-bred" primates. The last three of the four 0' Hare 

shipments contained nursing mothers and unweaned young in violation 

of federal regulations. The four O'Hare shipments are summarized 

below: 

Port of Entry Date of Entry 1'pprox 

Chicago O'Hare 02/20/97 

Chicago O'Hare 04/10/97 

Chicago O'Hare 05/01/97 

Chicago 0
1
Hare 05/30/97 

B. The Purchase of the Indonesian Colony. 

No. of Primates 

220 

253 

120 

253 

Defendant David Taub acquired Labs in 1987. Six years later, 

in March 1993, Taub applied for an U. S. Fish & Wildlife ( "USFWS") 

import-export license. Taub certified in his application that he 

"ha [d] read and was familiar with" certain cited USFWS regulations. 

The cited regulations included those pertaining to the above

mentioned CITES and humane transport regulations. 

In May 1996, Taub sold Labs's assets to Stern and/or a company 

or entity with which Stern was affiliated. Stern is the primary 

3 
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owner of Bionetics, Inc. which is located in Virginia. Henley is 

Bionetics's Chief Financial Officer. The three individual 

defendants in this case assumed leadership positions at Labs after 

the sale. Stern became Labs's Chairman of the Board and Henley 

assumed a position on Labs's Board of Directors. Taub, who 

remained at the Yemassee facility, became Labs' s President and 

Chief Operating Officer. Henley, based in Virginia, was Taub's 

immediate supervisor and Henley, in turn, reported to Stern. Taub, 

however, frequently forwarded correspondence and status reports to 

both Stern and Henley about the Indonesian shipments in this case. 

In May 1996, shortly after the sale took place, a Labs 

employee identified in the indictment as "Person B, " learned that 

Person A's "breeding" colony of crab-eating macaques in Indonesia 

was for sale. Breeding colonies are considered valuable because a 

colony provides a domestic company with a steady "at hand" supply 

of primates to sell to medical research firms and institutions. 

The most valuable components of the colony are productive adult 

females or "breeders" because these females ensure that the colony 

regenerates itself. Labs negotiated to buy Person A's breeding 

colony over the course of the next eight months (May 1996 through 

January 1997) . Stern, Henley and Taub were all actively involved 

in these negotiations. 

The communications between Stern, Henley and Taub during the 

negotiation process reveal that the primary reason Labs was 

4 
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interested in the Indonesian colony was because it was a "breeding" 

colony. These communications also reveal, however, that the 

corporate officers were also aware of the difficulties in securing 

the export of the Indonesian colony to the United States. In May 

1996, for example, Person B wrote a memo to Stern, Henley and Taub 

in which he summarized his contact with the primate broker who 

first brought the Indonesian colony to Person B's attention. 

Person B noted in the memo that Person A, the colony's owner, had 

"535 breeders, 33 males, 900 weaned offspring and 100 

unweaned offspring. " 1 Person B also noted that Person A thought "a 

one-time CITES permit to release the animals" was "90% possible. " 

Handwritten notes dated June 1 7, 1996 in Bionetics' s possession 

further reflect a notation that "[s] pecial approval [was] needed by 

Govt for export. " 

Person B, the Labs employee, traveled to Indonesia in June 

1996 to inspect Person A's facility. On or about July 1, 1996, 

Person B's final day in Indonesia, Person B sent a memo to Taub in 

which he described in detail the colony and the feasibility of 

shipping the colony to the United States. Person B attached to the 

memo a printout of the demographics of the colony. The printout, 

which contained data as of June 1991, reflected that Inquatex began 

to form the colony in July 1991 and that it contained a total of 

1 In a memo to Stern and Henley dated June 19, 1996, Taub 
defined "adult/breeding" primates as those who were "4 years old 
and older. " 

'3 
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1,397 primates of which 533 were "parents. " Person B stated in the 

memo that "[r]eproduction of the breeding stock ha[d] been good" 

and that the primates had been "trapped in the wild" and then 

transported to the Inquatex facility. Person B attached to the 

memo a chart dated June 21, 1996 from Inquatex showing the number 

of "parents" and babies per year between 1991 and 1996. Person B 

transmitted this memo to Labs. Labs, in turn, on July 2, 1996, 

faxed the memo to Stern at Bionetics in Virginia. 

On or about July 3, 1996, Labs sent Person A a "Letter of 

Intent" signed by Stern and Taub to purchase the Inquatex colony. 

The Letter of Intent stated that the purchase was conditioned on 

Inquatex "obtaining the necessary CITES permits from the Indonesian 

government. " The Letter of Intent also specified that Labs would 

export the 533 adults, i. e. , the breeding stock, within six months 

after the sale to be followed within another six months by the 

remaining 900 non-parent stock. 

On July 11, 1996, Person B, who had returned to the United 

States, circulated a memo to the "Board of Directors" about the 

Inquatex deal. Person B related in the memo that Person A had told 

him that he (Person A) was going to restock the colony with "feral 

trapped animals" because he (Person A) had received a permit from 

the government to do so. Person B also stated in the memo that, 

since exporting wild-caught primates was clearly against Indonesian 

law unless some exception were written, Person A had gone to the 

6 
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Indonesian government and had cut a "baksheesh" deal to pay them 

off. Baksheesh is a Moroccan term for bribe. Person B also wrote 

in his memo that Inquatex' s monthly expenses included $300 in 

"CITES charity" or "baksheesh" that needed to be paid out to 

various officials. Person B attached to the memo a sheet listing 

Inquatex' s monthly expenses. The noted expenses include "1000" for 

\\charity. " 

Person B attached to his July 11, 1996 submission to Labs's 

Board of Directors an Inquatex-prepared document called "Captive 

Breeding of Long-Tailed Macaque (Macaca fascicularis) in C. V. 

Inquatex - Primate Di vision" ( "Inquatex brochure" ) . The document 

described the Inquatex facility and noted that Inquatex had been 

observing and analyzing primates "[s] ince July 1991." The document 

also stated that Inquatex "gets the parent stocks from its supplier 

in Jambi which is consisted of 8 catcher groups. " At one point, in 

discussing treatment of parent stocks, the document states, 

"[b]efore the macaques from the wild are chosen as parent stocks, 

they were tested for contaminating diseases. " The brochure 

stated that, as of October 1993, Inquatex had 668 heads of 

"conditional macaque (the ones from the wild) " and 762 heads of 

"breed" macaques. 

Person B sent a separate memo to Henley at the same time as 

his lengthy submission to the Labs Board of Directors. Person B 

proposed in his memo to Henley that Labs bring in young research 
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animals first as they would "attract only moderate attention and 

would still provide us cover for bringing in the adults." 

On or about July 23, 1996, Person A and his son-in-law 

traveled to the Labs facility in Yemassee and met with Stern, 

Henley, Taub and Person B. Person A told the Labs group that half 

the monkeys in his colony were wild-caught and told them about the 

1994 Indonesian ban on exporting wild-caught primates. Person A 

showed Stern a letter from the Indonesian Management Authority 

dated July 15, 1996. The letter, which Person A translated into 

English, lists its "subject" as "Permit of export Parent stock. " 

The letter is signed by the Indonesian Director of Nature Reserve 

Management and Flora Fauna Conservation and states, in pertinent 

part: 

Regarding of your letter dated July 5 1996 about 
requesting permit of exporting parent stocks, we hereby 
announce that in principle there is not objection of your 
company to export the unproductive parent stocks, in connected 
[sic] with your restocking the breeding program. 

At the conclusion of Person A's visit, Person A, Stern and 

Taub signed the Letter of Intent for the sale of the colony. An 

addendum to the Letter of Intent specified that it was Person A's 

responsibility to "obtain CITES permit and applicable exportation 

documentation" and that "all breeders" were to be shipped first 

"except those that are in the last trimester of pregnancy. " 

Over the next several months, Labs, Person A, and their 

respective representatives negotiated the terms of a Purchase 

8 
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Agreement. On July 23, 1996, the parties executed a more formal 

Letter of Intent. Person A was then supposed to make efforts in 

preparation for shipping the primates to Labs's facility including 

securing CITES permits for the first shipment. The parties 

targeted September 30, 1996 as deadline by which to conclude their 

negotiations. During this period, in the last half of 1996, Person 

B stepped down as Labs's Director in order to resume a full-time 

research position at Labs. Taub then became Person A's principal 

Labs contact. 

On August 26, 1996, Person A faxed Taub a note in which Person 

A apologized for not sending the primates. Person A explained that 

"it was beyond [his] expectation that to export feral must have 

minister decree. " On August 30, 1996, one of Person A's 

United States-based representatives faxed Stern a letter in which 

he informed Stern that Person A would incur "substantial additional 

cost to obtain government approval allowing the transfer of the 

colony to LABS. " The representative also objected to Labs' s 

original plan to ship out first the colony' s mature adults. The 

representative stated: 

These are obviously the most valuable monkeys in the colony 
and constitute the breeders, which are critical to the 
colony's operation. If, for some reason, we shipped you the 
breeders first, and after sending you 533 adults, you backed 
out of the deal, we would be stuck holding 779 youngsters that 
were no longer part of a breeding colony and that have a much 
lower value individually than as part of the colony. 
therefore, we suggest sending you 1. 5 youngsters for every one 
mature adult sent to you (779 youngsters divided by 533 
adults) . 

9 
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On September 6, 1996, Taub sent a memo to Stern and Henley in 

which Taub relayed Person A's apology for the delay in sending the 

primates and Person A's proffered explanation that the exportation 

of ferals required a minister decree. The following week, on or 

about September 17, 2001, Stern sent Person A a letter in which he 

rejected Person A' s request for more money due to the "legally 

binding agreement" that Person A had signed at the Labs facility in 

South Carolina. Stern also stated that "[w]e understand the need 

to send bred animals together with the breeders." The next day, 

on or about September 18, 1996, Person A sent Stern a note by 

telefax in which Person A stated that he had applied for "the Cites 

for adult and youngster on your behalf. I will send the copy to 

you soon, and hope can reach to our final deal." On September 19, 

1996, Person A faxed Stern a note in which Person A stated that he 

would send Stern the CITES permits as soon as the final agreement 

had been resolved. 

At some point between September 19, 1996 and September 27, 

1996, Person A faxed to Labs CITES permits for the first shipment. 

All of these permits listed the primates to be shipped as "Captive

breed [sic] stock - no quota allocated. " The CITES permits had to 

be used by December 1996 or Person A had to apply for new ones. 

The prolonged negotiations led to consideration of less 

problematic alternative breeding colonies. On or about October 4, 

1996, Person B sent Stern, Henley and Taub a memo describing the 

10 
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possible availability of crab-eating macaques from a Chinese 

exporter in lieu of the deal with Person A. Person B's memo, 

however, underscored again one of his concerns about the Person A 

deal. Person B stated in his memo that the Chinese exporter had 

"no problem with CITES" and that, with the Chinese deal, "we are 

following the spirit of CITES, i. e. , we are only exporting purpose 

bred animals, not wild caught. " In contrast, one of Person 

A's brokers tried to keep the deal with Labs afloat. On October 

18, 1996, for example, the broker sent a fax to Henley in which the 

broker expressed some dismay that there had not been any "movement 

toward getting the breeding stock moving while he [Person A] has 

valid CITES and before someone in Jakarta change their minds about 

permitting the export of the feral animals. " 

Labs did not pursue the Chinese option and instead continued 

to negotiate with Person A. The defendants continued to discuss 

with each other the problems associated with bringing the 

Indonesian colony into the United States. On January 21, 1997, for 

example, Taub sent Stern and Henley a memo in which Taub discussed 

the Purchase Agreement. Taub opined, in the context of discussing 

who should bear the financial responsibility for infants born into 

the colony, that Labs should hold the line at a particular per 

infant cost "given the grave uncertainties of shipping the adults 

to us. ,, 

11 
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Taub continued to try to set a date for the first shipment 

even as the Purchase Agreement negotiations dragged on. On January 

30, 1997, Taub sent a memo to Stern and Henley in which he 

summarized his efforts in trying to secure a shipment of Person A's 

colony from Jakarta on Air France in early February 1997. Taub 

stated, "We can fax GSW [Labs veterinarian George Ward] with the 

details and arrangements can (must) be made at the Jakarta end. A 

little extra in per diem to be sure the first shipment goes good is 

a small price to pay. " 

On or about January 31, 1997, the contract between Labs and 

Inquatex, Person A's firm, was finally signed. The contract stated 

in part that the agreement was contingent upon Inquatex receiving 

the required permits and consent of the Indonesian government and 

that each party was to provide the other with all applications and 

other documents filed as a part of the permit process. Inquatex, 

then, bore responsibility under the Purchase Agreement for securing 

all necessary export approvals and documents while Labs bore 

responsibility for ensuring that all import requirement were 

satisfied. Labs was also required to pay Inquatex a monthly 

maintenance fee for the monkeys. The monthly fee was calculated 

based on a set daily fee for each Labs-owned monkey still in 

Inquatex' s possession. The Purchase Agreement contained a deadline 

by which the approximately 1, 312 primates involved were to be 

shipped from Inquatex to the United States. 

12 

Obtained by Rise for Animals.
Uploaded to Animal Research Laboratory Overview (ARLO) on 09/20/2020



Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 62 Filed: 09/18/02 Page 15 of 58 PageID #:273

On January 31, 1997, the same day the Purchase Agreement 

became final, Taub sent the Labs veterinarian a memo in which Taub 

told the veterinarian that "[w] e need to push the envelope to get 

the maximum numbers of adults out as quickly as possible" because 

"getting all the animals out ASAP has significant financial 

implications. " The veterinarian was the designated Labs employee 

scheduled to be in Indonesia for the start of the shipments to the 

United States. The veterinarian left for Indonesia on February 3, 

1997. 

C. The Four O'Hare Shipments. 

1. The February 20, 1997 Shipment. 

On February 1, 1997, Person A sent a fax to Taub in which he 

notified Taub that he planned to send the first shipment on 

February 18, 1997. Person A described 220 primates involved in the 

shipment as consisting of "80 adult and 140 heads of captived [sic] 

bred cynos. " On February 3, 1997, Taub sent a memo to Person A in 

which he asked Person A to send him the CITES permits for the first 

shipment. (The earlier-acquired CITES permits expired in December 

1996 . )  Person A sent the permits to Taub the next day. All of the 

permits falsely reflect that the primates in this first shipment 

consisted of "Captive-breed [sic] - no quota allocated. " 

On February 5, 1997, the day after faxing Taub the CITES 

permits, Person A informed Taub by fax that he (Person A) was 

waiting for the "extended Cites. " Person A promised to send it to 
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Taub as soon as he received it. Person A then stated: "Please try 

to keep the deal silence, because I am afraid if to many people 

knows about it, they will make some noice [sic]. If possible I 

don't want people know about it until our shipments has been done 

for three of four shipments. " 

On or about February 7, 1997, the veterinarian, who by that 

time had arrived in Indonesia, sent Taub a note by telefax 

informing him that Person A was restocking the breeding facility 

with wild-caught animals. A short time later, Taub sent the 

veterinarian a memo by t elefax to Indonesia informing the 

veterinarian that, due to Labs's agreement to pay maintenance costs 

on all primates four months or older, there was a "need to get all 

pregnant animals out ASAP. " 

The veterinarian referred to the issue of "charity" in a 

February 17, 1997 letter to Taub. The veterinarian opined that 

Person A had to sell 1, 000 primates a year to realize a profit. 

The veterinarian then stated: 

"that [Person A's ability to sell 1,000 primates per year] 
doesn't appear to be a problem given his connections with the 
local F [ish] & W [ildlife] . It is very impressive to me - I 
needed 6 months to complete all steps ( 9) in exporting a 
monkey from Bangkok and [Person A] can accomplish (albeit only 
6 steps here) it in 1½ weeks. Of course the 'charity' is a 
very important aspect. I'm still not convinced what our long 
range relationship should be. You have to look closely at 
past performance - it obviously didn't work for [Person A' s 
broker] . " 

The first shipment was actually sent from Indonesia on or 

about February 20, 1997. The shipment consisted of 220 crab-eating 
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macaques. The health certificate, a document prepared in Indonesia 

which is a part of the package presented to U. S. Customs and the 

USFWS, falsely reflected that the primates in the shipment were all 

"Captive bred born." 

2. The April 10, 1997 Shipment. 

On March 4, 1997, Taub sent a memo by telefax to Stern and 

Henley in which he informed them that the Labs veterinarian was 

selecting the second shipment and that the veterinarian "intends to 

send some mothers with suckling infants (about 15) to see how this 

will work out. " Later, on March 2 5, 1997, Person A sent a letter 

to Person B, the Labs employee, by telefax in which he warned 

Person B that if Labs insisted on shipping pregnant females and 

unweaned young then it would be "completely at [Labs' s] risk. " 

Person B circled this section of Person A's letter and wrote "heads 

up" next to it. Person B then forwarded Person A's letter to Taub. 

On April 7, 1997, Person A sent Taub by fax copies of the 

CITES permits for the second shipment. Taub then sent Person A's 

fax to Stern and Henley. The CITES permits falsely described the 

shipments as consisting of "captive-breed [sic] " primates. The 

same day, April 7, 1997, Taub sent the Labs employee who had 

replaced the veterinarian in Indonesia a fax in which Taub told the 

employee to go ahead with a normal shipment, i.e. , 1.5 non-adults 

to every 1 adult including pregnant primates and "mothers with 

unweaned infants greater than 2 months of age." 
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On or about April 10, 1997, Person A sent the second shipment 

to Labs via O'Hare. This shipment consisted of 253 crab-eating 

macaques. There were approximately 98 wild-caught primates in this 

group as well as approximately 20 pairs of nursing mothers and 

unweaned young. The health certificate for the shipment, like the 

CITES permits, falsely reflected that all of the primates were 

"Captive bred born. " 

3, The May 1, 1997 Shipment. 

On April 16, 1997, Person A sent Taub the CITES permits for 

the third shipment. The permits allowed for the shipment of a 

specified number of "captive-breed [sic]" primates. On April 18, 

1997, the Labs veterinarian, at the Labs facility, sent Person A a 

fax in which he instructed Person A to pull 48 adults and 72 heads 

of "bred" primates for the next shipment. The same day, April 18, 

1997, Person A sent a telefax to the veterinarian at Labs informing 

the veterinarian that the third shipment would have 7 pregnant 

primates and 17 mothers with babies. 

On or about May 1, 1997, Inquatex sent the third shipment to 

Labs via O' Hare. A Labs employee was present in Indonesia for this 

shipment. The third shipment consisted of approximately 120 

primates. Roughly half, or approximately 50 of the primates, were 

wild-caught. The shipment also contained approximately 17 pairs of 

nursing mothers and unweaned young. The health certificate falsely 

represented that all of the primates were "Captive bred born. " 
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4. The May 30, 1997 Shipment. 

On or about May 30, 1997, Inquatex sent the fourth shipment to 

Labs. This was the last of the O'Hare shipments. There was a Labs 

employee present in Indonesia for this shipment. The shipment 

consisted of approximately 253 primates of which approximately 99 

were wild-caught primates. The shipment contained approximately 19 

pairs of nursing mothers and unweaned young. The health 

certificate and the CITES permits falsely reflected that all of the 

primates were "Captive bred born" or "captive-breed [sic] . "  

II. THE INDICTMENT 

The indictment contains four principal types of importation of 

wildlife-related charges: (1) felony false records charges under 16 

U.S. C. §§ 3372 (d) and 3373 (d) (3) (A) (i) (Counts One through Four) ; 

(2 ) misdemeanor trafficking charges under 16 U. S. C. §§ 

3372 (a) (2) (A) and 3373 (d) (2) (Count Five) ; (3) felony illegal 

importation charges under 18 U. S. C. § 545 (Counts Six through Nine) ; 

and misdemeanor humane transport violations under 3372 (a) (1) and 

3373 (d) (2) (Counts Ten through Twelve) . Labs and Taub are charged 

in all twelve counts of the indictment. 

charged only in Count Five. 
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III. DEFENDANTS ' PRETRIAL MOTIONS 

A .  Motions to Dismiss the lndictment. 

1. Counts One Through Five Properly Cite Two False 
Documents in Support of  a Single False Records 
Offense. 

Labs and Taub claim that the reference to both the CITES 

permit and a health certificate as false documents in each of 

Counts One through Five renders each count improperly duplicitous 

in violation of Rule 8 (a) of the Federal Rules of Criminal 

Procedure. The "offense" charged in these counts, however, 

involves false records, and the counts properly allege two 

different ways in which the defendants committed the particular 

single offense charged. 

Rule 8 (a)  provides in pertinent part that " [t] wo or more 

offenses may be charged in the same indictment . .  in a separate 

count for each offense . " A duplicitous count, and one that 

violates Rule B (a ) , is one that charges more than one distinct and 

separate offense. United States v. Berardi, 675 F. 2d 894, 896 (7th 

Cir. 1982 ) .  "A count is not duplicitous, however, if it simply 

charges the commission of a single offense by different means." 

Id. Indeed , Rule 7 (c )  of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure 

provides that " [i] t may be alleged in a single count that . . .  the 

defendant committed [the offense] by one or more specified means. " 

Fed. R. Crim. P. 7 (c)  (l ) .  
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Counts One through Four of the indictment allege violations of 

Sections 33 72  (d)  and 3373 (d)  (3) (A) (i) of the Lacey Act. The Lacey 

Act, 16 U. S. C. § §  3371-3378, is the premier wildlife protection 

statute. Section 3372 (d) encompasses violations arising from the 

documents which must accompany a wildlife shipment. 2 Section 

3372 (d) provides in pertinent part that " [i] t is unlawful for any 

person to make or submit any false record, 

wildlife, 

label for, or any 

. which has been, false identification of, any 

or is intended to be (1)  imported, exported, transported, 

sold, purchased, or received from any foreign country ; or (2) 

transported in interstate or foreign commerce. " 16 u . s . c .  § 

3372 (d) . Counts One through Four are based on the four 0 '  Hare 

shipments (one count for each shipment) . The counts each al lege 

that, as to the particular O'Hare shipment involved , Labs and Taub 

"did knowingly submit a false record, account, label for, and a 

false identification of wildlife, namely, CITES permits and health 

certificates for [the particular shipment] containing wild-caught 

and captive bred Macaca fasci culari s which falsely represented that 

the shipments contained only captive bred Macaca fasci culari a ,  

which wildlife had been imported from foreign country, namely, 

Indonesia, and transported in interstate commerce. " 

' Section 3373 (d) (3) (A) (i)  is the corresponding penalty 
provision. 

1 9  
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The single offense charged in Counts One through Four is a 

false records offense. The counts properly allege that the false 

records involved were the CITES permit and the health certificates 

which falsely represented that all the primates in the shipments 

were captive-bred. The inclusion of both documents in the single 

counts means simply that the single false records offense was 

committed in more than one way. Both documents were issued at 

approximately the same time and as part of the same course of 

conduct, i. e. , the compilation of the required documentation for 

the export of the primates in the particular shipment charged from 

Indonesia to the United States. ' The two documents are each 

closely interrelated with the particular shipment which forms the 

basis of the false records charge in each of the four counts. 

Labs and Taub wrongly claim that Counts One through Four are 

duplicitous because each document, the CITES permit and the health 

certificate, could have served as the basis of separate false 

records counts and that, as a result ,  each count alleges two 

independent offenses. Each false document, however, does not 

constitute a different offense , but rather separate means by which 

the same offense was committed. The inclusion in one count of 

multiple means of committing the single offense charged does not 

render the count duplicitous. See United States v. Pavloski , 574 

Labs wrongly claims that the CITES permit 
certificate are "not part of the same transaction. 
at 6. 

2 0  
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F. 2d 9 3 3 , 9 3 6  (7th Cir. 1978) (Rule 7 (c) (1) necessarily 

contemplates that two or more acts, each one standing alone, may be 

joined in a single count without offending the rule against 

duplicity) ;  United States v. Steurer, 942 F. Supp. 118 3, 1187 

(N . D .  Ill. 1996) (district court found that four false statements 

charged in single count were "actually part of a single  course of 

conduct" and, as such , it was "entirely appropriate" to j oin the 

four false statements in a single count) . •  

' Labs's reliance on United States v. Fitzgerald, 234 F. 3d 
1 2 7 8  (9th Cir. 2 000) , and United St9tes v. Nash, 115 F. 3d 1431 (9th 
Cir. 1994) , for the proposition that the two false documents must 
be charged in separate counts is misplaced. These cases hold only 
that separate false statements may be charged in separate counts, 
not that they must be so charged. The fact that two separate 
documents are cited in the indictment in the instant case does not 
change the equation. The false statement, that is, the reference 
to the shipment containing captive bred primates, in both documents 
is the same, and therefore the proof as to the false nature of both 
documents is the same. The decision of the Fifth Circuit in Bine 
v. United States , 3 3 1  F. 2d 390, 393 ( 5th Cir. 1964 ) ( count was 
duplicitous because it relied on two separate documents which 
required proof of dissimilar facts and therefore count improperly 
contained more than one offense) , is therefore inapposite in the 
context of this case. This aspect of Bins, arguably, is not even 
followed in this circuit. See Steurer, 942 F. Supp. at 1187 ( "The 
holding in Bins--that any acts capable of being charged as separate 
offenses must be alleged in separate counts- -is inapposite to the 
Seventh Circuit's holding in Berardi, which held that it was 
permissible to allege three acts of obstruction in a single count 
where they occurred in a continuing course of conduct 
notwithstanding the fact that each act by itself could have 
constituted an independent violation of the statute . " ) .  See also 
United St9tes v. Perez, 2 002 WL 14615 04 at * 8  (N . D . Ill. 2002) 
( "While it is a often a fine line to draw, a count is not 
duplicitous where it al leges multiple acts which each constitute 
separate violations of the same statute, if the multiple acts are 
part of a continuing course of conduct. " )  
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Labs and Taub claim that, in keeping with the concerns 

outlined in United States v .  Tanner, 471 F. 2d 12 8, 139 (7th Cir. 

1972) , the reference to two false documents in the same count will 

lead to non-unanimous verdicts, confusion of the jury, and 

difficulty in determining whether the verdict rests on one document 

or both. All of these concerns, however, are specious and, in any 

event, easily cured. Counts One through Four adequately notify 

Labs of the charges and, through the detail provided, prevent Labs 

from being tried again for these same false statements following a 

verdict in this case. United States v. Perez, 2002 WL 1461504 at 

* 9  ( N. D. Ill . 2 0 02) ; United States v. Mebust, 8 57 F. Supp . 609, 6 1 4  

(N . D .  Ill. 1 9 9 6 ) . The Court may ensure a unanimous verdict by 

instructing the jury that it must be unanimous in finding that the 

defendant did at least one of the acts charged. Berardi, 6 7 5  F. 2d 

at 8 9 9 . 

Count Five alleges a "trafficking" violation by each of the 

four defendants under Sections 3372 (a) (2) (a) and 3373 (d) (2)  of the 

Lacey Act. Section 3372 (a) (2) (A) provides in pertinent part that 

" [i) t is unlawful for any person to import, export , 

transport, sell, receive, acquire , or purchase in interstate or 

foreign commerce any wildlife taken, possessed, 

transported , or sold in violation of any law or regulation of any 

State or in violation of any foreign law. " 1 6  u . s . c .  § 

3372 (a) ( 2 )  (A) . Count Five alleges that, between "on or about 

2 2  

Obtained by Rise for Animals.
Uploaded to Animal Research Laboratory Overview (ARLO) on 09/20/2020



Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 62 Filed: 09/18/02 Page 25 of 58 PageID #:283

February 20, 1997 and on or about May 30, 1997, " the four 

defendants "did knowingly import wildlife in interstate and foreign 

commerce . and in the exercise of due care should have known 

that the wildlife was transported and sold in violation of foreign 

law , that is, the export of wild-caught Macaca fasci cularis. 

Labs and Taub claim that Count Five is a duplicitous count 

which must be dismissed because the count is unclear as to whether 

each shipment constitutes a trafficking violation and if so, 

according to the defendants, then each shipment must be al leged in 

a separate trafficking count . Count Five , however, is clear on its 

face and is not duplicitous. The count, as the alleged time frame 

demonstrates , reflects a continuous course of conduct over the four 

month period in which the four O ' Hare-based shipments occurred. 

The count plainly alleges that, based on the shipments that 

occurred during that time frame, the defendants "in the exercise of 

due care should have known that the wildlife was transported and 

sold in violation of foreign law. " 

The fact that four shipments occurred during the time frame 

al leged in Count Five does not render Count Five duplicitous. Labs 

purchased the entire colony from Person A with the goal of 

transporting the colony to the United States through a series of 

shipments. The O' Hare shipments, because they each contained wild

caught primates, violated foreign law, that is, the Indonesian law 

against the export of wild-caught crab-eating macaques. Count 
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Five, then, with its four month time frame , is based upon a series 

of shipments which comprise a single continuing offense and, as 

such, is not duplicitous in any way. See Bernardi, 675 F. 2d at 

898 (government ' s  choice to charge several acts of obstruction of 

j ustice in single count not duplicitous because obstruction statute 

contemplated a continuing course of conduct and defendant's alleged 

obstructive actions reflected a solitary obj ect of influencing a 

grand jury witness) . 

Lab and Taub complain that, as alleged, Count Five "unfairly 

exposes" it to "prejudicial evidentiary rulings at trial, the 

inability to plead prior convictions or acquittals as a bar to 

subsequent prosecution for the same offense, and the possibility 

that the jury" might convict by a non-unanimous verdict. Motion at 

8, citing Tanner, 471 F. 2d  at 139. All of these fears are 

unfounded. Labs does not specify what or the type of "prejudicial 

evidentiary rulings" it may face based on the manner in which Count 

Five is presented. Count Five, by incorporating the descriptive 

paragraphs of Counts One through Four , clearly provides Labs with 

sufficient notice as to the conduct which comprises the trafficking 

violation. Count Five , through the use of a discrete time frame , 

makes clear that, for jeopardy purposes, a verdict on the count 

encompasses all four O'Hare shipments. The trafficking nature of 

the violation does not require the j ury to find that any one O ' Hare 

shipment violated Sections 3 372 (a) (2) (A) and 3373 (d)  (2) but , to the 
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extent the Court may disagree, a specific instruction to the j ury 

can easily cure this concern. 

2 .  Counts One Through Five Adequately Inform the 
Defendants of  the Nature and Cause of the 
Accusations Against Them . 

Labs and Taub claim that Counts One through Four violate their 

Sixth Amendment right to be informed of the nature and cause of the 

accusation against them because the reference to two separate 

documents containing false statements: ( 1 )  makes it impossible to 

know whether the grand j ury' s vote was unanimous; (2 ) does not 

allow this Court to discern whether the charges are legally valid ; 

and ( 3 ) will prevent it from pleading double j eopardy so as to bar 

future prosecutions for the same offense. Motion at 10. Labs also 

claims without elaboration that Count Five "presents the identical 

problem. " Id. 

The defendants ' Sixth Amendment claims fail because the 

indictment, particularly with the extensive detail set forth in 

Counts One through Four, amply advises Labs of the nature and cause 

of the accusations against it . The indictment sets forth the 

chronology of events, the individuals involved, the governing 

treaties and law, and the nature of the violations involved. The 

indictment makes clear that it is premised upon the four shipments 

of primates which entered the United States through O ' Hare and the 

specific events which triggered the alleged violations . The Sixth 

Amendment requires nothing more. 

2 5  
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Labs's three individual claims in support of this argument are 

also specious. The grand j ury' s decision need not be unanimous in 

order for the indictment to be val id. Compare Fed. R. Crim. P. 

6 (a) (1) ("The grand j ury shall consist of not less than 16 nor more 

than 23  members . ") with Fed. R. Crim. P. 6 (f) ("A grand jury may 

indict only upon the concurrence of 12 or more j urors. " )  . See also 

United States v. White, 879 F. 2d 1 5 0 9 ,  1512 (7th Cir. 1 9 8 9 )  ( "The 

statutory offense is bankruptcy fraud and, and the grand j ury is 

not obligated in our view to place every piece of the fraud in a 

separate count. ") . The indictment, with its ample detail , also 

provides this Court with a sufficient basis upon which to determine 

its validity. Counts One through Four, by expressly identifying 

two documents containing false statements, and Count Five , by 

charging trafficking during the time span involving the four O ' Hare 

shipments, signal the bases upon which double j eopardy will attach 

if Labs is convicted and will prevent reprosecution on those same 

grounds . 5 

Taub also claims that Counts One through Four are defective 

because they fail to allege that he knowingly violated Section 

3372 (d) of the Lacey Act. The indictment alleges, however, that 

Taub was Labs ' s  chief operating officer and that Taub , along with 

the other individual defendants , secured the four shipment of the 

5 Jeopardy will attach to false records charges on either 
of these two documents or trafficking charges as to any of the 
shipments which occurred during the alleged time frame. 
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primates through O ' Hare. The indictment further alleges that Taub 

received copies of the CITES permits from Person A prior to the 

shipments and that the CITES permits were obtained and submitted as 

part of the export process. Taub, then, through both his personal 

involvement in securing the shipments and his role as an officer of 

Labs, is responsible for the submission of the false export 

paperwork. 

3. Counts One Through Four Properly Allege All 
Elements ,  Including the Requisite Mental State, 
for a Lacey Act False Records Violation. 

Section 3372 (d) of the Lacey Act provides in pertinent part 

that " [i] t is unlawful for any person to make or submit any false 

record, account, or label for, or any false identification of , any 

wildlife, . .  whigh has been, or is intended to be . 

imported, exported, transported, sold, purchased, or received from 

any foreign country. " 16  U. S . C. § 3372 (d) (emphasis 

supplied) . Section 3373 (d ) , the corresponding penalty provision, 

provides in pertinent part, that " [a] ny person who knowingly 

violates Section 3372 (d} . shall be fined under Title 18, or 

imprisoned for not more than 5 years, or both . " 16 u. s. c. § 

3373 (d) (3 ) (A) ( i) (emphasis supplied ) .  Counts One through Four of 

the indictment in the instant case allege that the defendants "did 

knowingly submit a false record, account, label for, and a false 

identification of wildlife , namely, CITES permits and health 

certificates . .  ' which wildlife had been imported from a foreign 
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country, namely, Indonesia, and transported 

commerce. " (Emphasis supplied . )  

in interstate 

Labs argues that , based on the phrasing of Section 3373 (d) , 

"knowingly" means that a defendant must be shown to have known that 

its conduct violated the law and that the indictment in the instant 

case is defective because Counts One through Four use "knowingly" 

in the context of submitting a false record. Labs' s interpretation 

of the phrase "knowingly violates, " however, is faulty and is 

contrary to case law and common sense. The operative phrase in 

Section 3373 (d) is "knowingly violates Section 3372 (d) . "  The 

gravamen of Section 3372 (d) , i. e. , the conduct which violates the 

statute, is the submission of a false record. A "knowing 

violation" of Section 3372 (d) , then, means knowledge that a record 

submitted was false and not, as Labs claims, knowledge that a false 

record violated the statute itself. This interpretation , and not 

the one supplied by Labs, has been utilized by district courts in 

other cases. In United States v .  Fountain , 277 F. 3d 714, 716 (5th 

Cir. 2001) , for example, a Section 3372 (d) case , the defendant 

requested that the district court submit a j ury instruction 

defining the term "willfully. " The court noted that word 

"knowingly, " which is used in Section 33372 (d) ' s  penalty provision, 

requires proof of the facts that constitute the offense whereas 

word "willfully" requires proof that the defendant acted with 

knowledge that his conduct violated the law. The court determined 
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that, because Congress chose to use word "knowingly" and not 

•willfully" in Section 3372, there was no basis for the district 

court to instruct the jury on the term willfully in a Section 

33 72 (d) false records prosecution. The court, in making this 

distinction, implicitly found that the mens rea requirement for a 

Section 3372 (d) offense applied to the knowing submission of false 

records and not to knowledge that the submission of false records 

violated the law. See also United States v. Nystrom, 116 F . 3d 489 , 

1997 WL 3 4 5973 at * 6  (10th Cir. 1997) (unpublished opinion) 

(neither court nor parties questioned that Section 3372 (d )  's 

knowledge requirement meant "knowing submission of false record" 

and not to a knowing violation of the statute) ; Newell v. 

Baldridge, 548 F. Supp. 39 W. D. Wash. 1982)  ( shipper of sea turtles 

found liable under civil penalty provisions of Lacey Act for having 

known or being in a position where he should have known that the 

shipments were mislabeled) . 6 

' This interpretation, and not Labs's, also appears to be 
supported by legislative history. The Senate Report to the 1988 
amendments to the Lacey Act states in pertinent part as follows: 
"Section 101  amends the false labeling provision of the Act to 
include falsifications related to articles intended to be imported, 
exported or transported. Current coverage extends only to articles 
once they have actually been imported, exported or transported. 
this section clarifies that false labeling of fish and wildlife 
products is an offense under the Lacey Act regardless of whether 
the wildlife was taken in viol�tion of an underlying Federal or 
State law." S. Rep . 100 ~ 563 at *5, 1998 U. S. C. C. A. N. 5366, 5370 
(emphasis supplied) . See also 134 Cong. Rec. S15931-0 4, 1988 WL 
177815 (Cong. Rec. ) . 
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The two cases cited by Labs, Liparota v. United States , 471 

U. S. 419, 4 2 5  (198 5) , and United States v. Grigsby, 111 F. 3d 806 , 

816-2 1 (11th Cir. 1997) , do not support Labs's statutory 

construction of the Lacey Act's false records provision. The 

statute at issue in Liparota involved using or possessing food 

coupons in a manner not authorized by statute. 7 The statute at 

issue in Grigsby concerned the importation of ivory in violation of 

the African Elephant Conservation Act ( "AECA" ) . 8 The conduct 

·, The federal food coupon statute at i ssue in Liparota 
provided that "whoever knowingly uses, transfers, acquires, alters, 
or possesses coupons or authorization cards in any manner not 
authorized by [the statute] or the regulations" shall be guilty of 
a criminal offense. 471 U. S .  at 4 19. The Supreme Court rej ected 
the government's argument that the defendant violated the statute 
if he knew that he acquired or possessed the food stamps and if in 
fact that acquisition was in a manner not authorized by statute or 
regulations. Id. at 42 3 -24. The Court held that, under the 
language of the statute, the government had to prove that the 
defendant knew that his acquisition or possession of the food 
stamps was in a manner unauthorized by statute or regulations. 

' In Grigsby, the defendants were convicted of, among other 
things, conspiracy to import raw African elephant ivory in 
violation of the African Elephant Conservation Act ( "AECA" ) ,  16 
U. S. C. § 1538 (c) (1) , Section 4223, the AECA statute at issue, 
provided that it was unlawful for any person to import raw ivory 
from any country other than an ivory producing country , Section 
4224 of the AECA provides that "[w] hoever knowingly violates" 
Section 422 3  shall have committed a criminal offense. The district 
court instructed the jury that violation of the AECA required 
general intent : "In order for a defendant to be found guilty of 
Count Two [AECA violation] , the government must prove the following 
elements beyond a reasonable doubt. That the defendant either 
knowingly or fraudulently imported into the United States raw 
African elephant ivory. And secondly ,  that the importation was 
from a non-ivory producing country, in this case the country of 
Canada." 111 F. 3d at 817. The Eleventh Circuit found that the 
district court should have given a specific intent, not a general 

30 

Obtained by Rise for Animals.
Uploaded to Animal Research Laboratory Overview (ARLO) on 09/20/2020



Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 62 Filed: 09/18/02 Page 33 of 58 PageID #:291

proscribed by these two statutes , possession or importation, is not 

inherently illegal and only becomes so if prohibited by law. The 

violation of these statutes, then, requires a showing that a 

defendant knew the possession or importation was in violation of 

law . The conduct proscribed by Section 3372 (d) , in contrast , the 

submission of false records, is inherently illegal in and of itself 

and without regard to any law which regulates it . The "knowledge" 

component of this statute, then, involves the knowing submission of 

the false records and not that the submission of false records is 

prohibited by law. 

4 .  Count Five Adequately 
or Predicate Act for 
Violation , 

Sets Forth the Underlying 
a Lacey Act Trafficking 

A Section 3372 trafficking violation requires proof of two 

separate violations. It must first be shown that the wildlife was 

taken, possessed ,  transported or sold in violation of an underlying 

law, i . e. , the "underlying" or predicate offense. It must also be 

shown that the wildlife was imported, exported, transported, 

received, acquired , or purchased in a manner prohibited by the 

Lacey Act, i. e., the "overlying" offense. The Lacey Act violation , 

then, does not come to fruition until a defendant commits one of 

the acts specified in the Lacey Act with wildl ife "tainted" by the 

intent instruction, which required the j ury to determine whether 
the defendants knew their movement of tusks into the United States 
from Canada violated United States law. Id. at 822.  
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predicate offense. ' The two elements cannot be compressed into a 

single step. See, �. United States v. C9rpenter, 34 F. 3d 92 3 

(9th Cir. 1994) (farmer's killing of migratory birds and burying 

them on his property could not be split for purposes of a Lacey Act 

conviction into a "taking," i...,_g_,_, a "predicate" offense under the 

Migratory Bird Treaty Act, and an "acquisition, " the "overlying" 

offense under the Lacey Act because, by killing the birds, the 

farmer "took" the birds and "acquired" them at that same time) . 

Here, the "underlying" or "predicate offense" is the 

transportation and selling of the wild-caught primates in violation 

of a foreign law, that is, Decree No. 26/Kpts-11/94, which imposed 

a ban on the transportation from Indonesia of wild-caught Macaca 

fasci culari s. The "overlying" offense is the importation of the 

wild-caught primates into the United States . The transportation of 

the primates here, unlike Carpenter, involves two distinct steps: 

(1) the sale and transportation of the monkeys out of Indonesia; 

and (2 ) the importation of the monkeys into the United States. The 

Lacey Act, through its express language, contemplates this type of 

division of events for charging purposes. 10 

9 The descriptive terms "underlying, " "overlying" and 
"tainted" are from Anderson , The Lacey Act : America ' s  Premier 
Weapon in the Fight Against Unlawful Wildlife Trafficking. 16 Pub. 
Land L. Rev. 27, 58 (1995) . 

10 Section 3372 (a) (2 ) (A) , the Lacey Act trafficking 
violation, provides in pertinent part that " [i] t is unlawful for 
any person to import, export, transport , sell , receive, 
acquire, or purchase in interstate or foreign commerce . . . any . 
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The defendants wrongly characterizes the underlying and 

overlying acts in Count Five as the export and import of the 

primates, respectively, and argues that, as such, the allegations 

reflect a unitary act and not the bifurcated events required for a 

trafficking violation. This view, however, ignores the plain 

language of Count Five which provides in pertinent part that the 

defendants "did knowingly import wildlife in interstate and foreign 

commerce [the overlying act] . and in the exercise of due car 

should have known that the wildlife was transported and sold in 

violation of a foreign law [the underlying act] . " The 

underlying act, then, is more than j ust the "export" in this case 

but consists instead in the transportation and sale in violation of 

foreign law. These allegations , then, are in keeping with, and not 

distinguishable, as Labs claims, from the "two-step" violations in 

United States v. Hobbs, 1992 WL 144709 (9th Cir. 1992) , and United 

States v. Lee, 937 F. 2d 13 8 8  ( 9th Cir. 1991 ) .  

5. Count Five Does Not Violate the Act of State 
Doctrine. 

Stern and Henley argue that Count Five should be dismissed 

because, pursuant to the "act of state doctrine , "  it improperly 

requires this Court to conclude that the Indonesian government's 

. wildlife . 
foreign law. 
foreign law which 
the Lacey Act. 

transported, or sold . in violation of any 
" Indonesian Decree No. 2 6. Kpts-11/94 is a 

is encompassed within Section 3 372 (a) (2) (A) of 
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approval of the O ' Hare shipments and the issuance of the export 

permits was illegal or invalid. This case, however, does not 

require the Court to find that the Indonesian officials improperly 

issued the export permits in this case but, even if it did, the act 

of state doctrine is not implicated here. 

The act of state doctrine dictates that courts will not sit in 

j udgment of acts of another country within that country's territory 

where deciding the case might frustrate the conduct of foreign 

relations by political branches of the government. U . S .  v. 

FunmRker, 10 F. 3d 1327,  1333 (7th Cir. 1993) . To meet its burden 

and show that the act of state doctrine applies, the party 

asserting application of the doctrine must show that the foreign 

state was acting in the public interest of its country and that a 

j udicial inquiry into this action would either ( 1) �ause harm to 

the interests of another branch of the United States government, or 

(2 ) question the legality of the foreign state's sovereign actions. 

Virtual Def. and Dev. Int' l,  Inc. v. Republic of Moldova, 133 F. 

Supp. 2 d  1, 8 (D. D. C. 1999) . Under the current view of the act of 

state doctrine , an action wil l be barred if: (1) there is an 

official act of a foreign sovereign performed within its own 

territory, and (2 ) the relief sought or the defense interposed in 

the action would require a court in the United States to declare 

invalid the foreign sovereign' s official act. But, "[a] ct of state 

issues only arise when a court must decide - that is , when the 
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outcome of the case turns upon - the effect of official action by 

a foreign sovereign. When that question is not in the case, 

neither is the act of state doctrine. " W. S. Kirkpatrick & Co. v. 

Envt' l. Tectonics Corp. , Int'l. , 493 U. S. 400, 4 09 ( 1 990) . 

The fundamental issue in Count Five is whether the defendants 

should have known in the exercise of due care that the wildlife was 

transported or sold in violation of foreign law, i.e. , the 

Indonesian Decree. This issue does not require this Court to 

determine whether Indonesian officials violated the Decree because 

the CITES permits and health certificates at issue here authorized 

the export of "captive-bred" primates which is in keeping with the 

Indonesian Decree. 11 This Court also need not find that bribes were 

paid to Indonesian officials in order to secure the CITES permits 

and other paperwork. The "baksheesh" information in this case is 

not offered to show that bribes were paid but rather that, because 

the defendants were aware of Person A's practice in making 

baksheesh payments, the documents obtained for the export of the 

colony might have falsely represented the true nature of the 

shipments. The focus of the inquiry in this case, then , is the 

defendants' knowledge of the false nature of the documents or the 

violation of the foreign law, and not on whether the actions of the 

11 

the cases 
a foreign 
illegal. 

The government 
cited by Stern 
sovereign or to 

is not asking this Court, as in some of 
and Henley, to invalidate the actions of 
find the sovereign's actions to have been 
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Indonesian officials was illegal. This Court need not inquire, 

then, into "the validity of the public acts of a recognized foreign 

sovereign power committed within its own territory. " 

N�gional de Cuba v. Sabbatino, 376 U.S. , 398, 401 (1964 ) .  

Banco 

Even if Count Five implicates the actions of the Indonesian 

officials, however, the government may still proceed on Count Five 

because the foreign government's actions involve a treaty , CITES, 

to which both the United States and Indonesia are parties. See 

United States v. 2 . 5 07 Live Canary Winged Parakeets, 689 F. Supp 

1106 (S. D. Fla. 1988 ) .  In Parakeets, the United States brought a 

civil in rem forfeiture action under the Lacey Act against canary

winged parakeets imported from Peru. The district court held that 

the act of state doctrine did not prelude the court from 

scrutinizing whether a Peruvian official had authority to issue the 

permit for export of parakeets pursuant to CITES where the validity 

of the CITES permit was a requirement of laws of QO.t.h the United 

States and Peru . "The [act of state] doctrine is a prudential 

limitation on the exercise of j urisdiction designed so as to avoid 

harming relations with other nations. " CITES "clearly requires 

member nations to ensure the validity of the exportation of another 

nation ' s  protected wildlife for that benefit of that nation. " 

(Emphasis suppl ied . )  Thus, as in Parakeets, the government is 

seeking to ensure through this action the validity of the 
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exportation of Indonesia's wildlife and, as such, is not precluded 

by the act of state doctrine in its attempts to do so. 

6 .  Counts Six Through Nine of the Indictment Allege and 
Identify All Essential Elements of  a Section 545 
Offense . 

Counts Six through Nine of the indictment charge that Labs and 

Taub "did fraudulently and knowingly import into the United States 

certain merchandise contrary to law , namely, wild-caught 

Macaca fascicularis, knowing the merchandise to have been imported 

into the United States contrary to law. ,, Labs argues that 

Counts Six through Nine must be dismissed because the charging 

language does not identify the "law" the importations were 

"contrary to" and because the charging language does not set forth 

the elements of common law fraud. Both of these arguments lack 

merit. 

"In setting forth the offense, it is generally acceptable for 

the indictment to ' track ' the words of the statute itself , so long 

as those words expressly set forth all the elements necessary to 

constitute the offense intended to be punished. " United States v. 

Smith, 230 F. 3d 300, 305 (7th Cir . 2 000) , cert. denied, 531 U . S. 

1 1 76 (2001) The mere tracking of the statutory language, however , 

can be deficient if the language does not provide enough factual 

particulars to " '  sufficiently apprise the defendant of what he must 

be prepared to meet. ' "  Id. , quoting Russell v. United States, 3 6 9  

U. S. 749, 763 ( 1 9 6 2 ) . The indictment, then , must "provide some 
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means of pinning down the specific conduct at issue. " Smith , 230 

F. 3d at 305. The elements of the Section 545  offense charged in 

Counts Six through Nine are : (1) defendant fraudulently or 

knowingly; (2) imported or brought into the United States ; ( 3) any 

merchandise ; ( 4 )  contrary to law. Olais-Castro v. United States , 

4 16 F . 2d 1155, 1158 (9th Cir. 1969) . The charging language in 

Counts Six through Nine in the instant case properly track this 

statutory language. The statutory term "merchandise" is de fined in 

the counts as "wild-caught Macaca fascicularis. 

Labs claims , however, that pursuant to Olais-Castro, Babb v. 

United States, 218 F . 2d 538 ( 5th Cir. 1955) , Keck v. United States, 

172 U. S. 434 (1899) , and Steiner v. United States, 229 F. 2d 74 5 

(9th cir. 1956 ) , the counts are fatally defective because the 

charging language does not define "contrary to law. " These cases 

hold that for a Section 545 offense it is not enough for the 

charging language to recite, in keeping with the statutory 

language , that the importation was "contrary to law. " The cases 

reflect that the indictment must identify the "law" to which a 

defendant ' s  action was contrary. 

Counts Six through Nine, however, are sufficient as alleged 

and give ample notice to Labs as to which "law" is at issue. Labs 

fails to mention in its attack on Counts Six through Nine that each 

count specifies in Paragraph 1 that " [t]he allegations contained in 

Paragraphs l through 37 of Count One are incorporated as if set 
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forth herein." Paragraphs 12 through 14 of Count One provides as 

follows: 

12. The Lacey Act , Title 16, United States Code, Section 
3 3 71 tl seq . , among other statutes, governs the importation of 
species included in Appendix II of CITES into the United 
States. Section 3372 (d )  of the Lacey Act provides in 
pertinent part that "[i] t is unlawful for any person to make 
or submit any false record, account, label for, or any false 
identification of, any . . wildlife . . which has been . 

imported, exported, transported ,  sold, purchased , or 
received from any foreign country ; or transported in 
interstate or foreign commerce. " 

13. The term "person, " as used in the Lacey Act, 
includes corporations. 

14. The "records" to which Section 33 72 refers includes, 
among other documents, CITES permits and health certificates , 
and the labels or identifications contained therein. 

Counts Six through Nine, then, through the reference to "wild

caught Macaca fasci cularis" in the charging language as the 

"merchandise [which was imported] contrary to law, " when coupled 

with the express incorporation of Paragraphs 12 through 14 from 

Count One,  sufficiently set forth facts and identify the "contrary 

law" to support the Section 54 5 offenses alleged. See United 

States v ,  w;;,.gstaff, 572 F. 2d 270 ,  2 73 (10th Cir. 1978 ) ( citation of 

the law violated by book and page is unnecessary where the facts 

establishing the unlawfulness in a Section 545 prosecution are set 

forth so as to apprise the accused of the offense t hat he must 

meet) Olais-Castro, Babb , Keck, and Steiner require no more than 

that which is provided by the allegations set forth and 

incorporated within Counts Six through Nine in this case. 
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Labs also argues that Counts Six through Nine are deficient 

because Section 545 uses the word "fraudulently" and the counts 

fail to set forth the elements of common law fraud. Labs, however, 

cites no Section 54 5 case holding that such common law fraud 

elements are necessary in the charging language and the available 

Section 545 cases do not require this type of allegation. See, 

�, United States v. Davis, 597 F. 2d 1237 (9th Cir. 1979) ; United 

States v. Wagstaff, 572 F. 2d 270 ( 10th Cir. 1978) ; Babb v. United 

States, 2 52 F. 2d 702 ( 1958) ; United States v. Mueller, 178 F. 2d 593 

(5th Cir. 1949) ; United Ststes v. Asper, 2 0 0 0  WL 82 1714 (N. D. Ill. 

2 000 )  . 12 The principal case Labs cites in support of this argument, 

Neder v. United States, 527 U. S. 1, 2 5  (1999) , holds only that, as 

to the federal mail, wire and bank fraud statutes, materiality of 

the falsehood is an element of the offense. 

7. The Applicable Statutes,  Laws and Regulations 
Are Not Alllbiguous or Subject to Multiple Reasonable 
Interpretations. 

All of the defendants claim that their interpretation of 

ambiguous laws and regulations was reasonable and that, as a 

result, the government cannot meet its burden of proving the 

charges in Counts One through Five and Ten through Twelve beyond a 

reasonable doubt. The defendants claim that the appropriate 

12 Indeed, as noted by Judge Gottschal l  in United States v. 
Asper, 2 0 0 0  WL 82 1714 (N. D. Ill . 2 0 0 0) , the Fifth Circuit is the 
only circuit with a pattern instruction on Section 545 ' s  second 
paragraph. The pattern instruction does not include any reference 
to the elements of common law fraud. 2 0 0 0  WL at 1 and 1 ,  n. l. 
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sanction under these alleged circumstances is the dismissal of the 

counts. The governing authority for these counts is not ambiguous, 

however, and, even if they were , the defendants have asserted no 

more than a defense at trial and not a valid basis for dismissing 

the counts. 13 

Counts One through Four allege that the defendants knowingly 

submitted false records, CITES permits and health certificates, 

which falsely represented that the shipments contained captive-bred 

primates when, in fact , the shipments contained a mixture of 

captive-bred and wild-caught animals. The key to these charges, 

then, is Labs's knowledge as to the wild-caught or captive-bred 

nature of the primates in each shipment . The Indonesian law 

banning the export of wild-caught primates may show the relevance 

or significance of this knowledge , but the Indonesian law is not, 

as Labs claims, the "lynchpin" of the counts. Any alleged 

ambiguity in the Indonesian law, then, does not affect these 

counts. 

Count Five does refer to a violation of foreign law, the 

Indonesian Decree, in its charging language. The translated 

1.3 The three principal cases cited by Labs, United States v. 
Whiteside, 2 8 5  F. 3d 1345 (11th Cir. 2002) ; United States v. Race, 
632 F. 2d 1114 (4th Cir . 1980) ; and United States v. Anderson, 579 
F. 2d 455 (8th Cir. 1978) , involve situations where defendants have 
raised a "reasonable interpretation" claim as a defense at trial or 
on appeal following convictions. None of these cases stand for the 
proposition that a court should dismiss a count prior to trial 
simply because the defendant claims, without a full airing of the 
evidence, that its interpretation of a statute was reasonable. 
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language of the Decree , however, is not ambiguous. The Decree 

states that • [t] he use of [Macaca fascicularis] . .  species 

for export purposes must come from breeding efforts. " Captive-bred 

primates, not wild-caught primates, •come" from "breeding efforts. " 

The language is clear particularly to those in the primate 

business, as Taub, Stern and Henley can be considered to be , who 

are familiar with the distinctions between captive-bred and wild-

caught primates. But, even if the Decree is ambiguous, Labs's 

argument still fails . 14 Labs, as well as the three individual 

defendants, had ample notice that the Indonesian colony contained 

wild-caught primates and that there was a law in Indonesian which 

banned their export . 15 Handwritten notes dated June 17, 1996 in 

14 The government notes that Labs cannot have it both ways. 
Labs will not be able to claim as a defense that it did not know of 
the Indonesian Decree if it is going to argue that the Decree was 
ambiguous and that it's interpretation was reasonable. 

1 5  Stern and Henley argue that the Indonesian Decree is void 
for vagueness because Indonesia itself did not interpret the Decree 
to ban the export of the primates because the government issued 
CITES permits for the shipments here. This argument, however, 
ignores the facts in this case. Stern and Henley were aware, 
through information provided by Persons A and B alone , that the 
colony contained wild-caught primates and that the Indonesian 
government banned the export of such primates. Stern and Henley 
also knew that Person A used baksheesh payments in connection with 
his colony and in his dealings with the Indonesian government. 
Finally, Stern and Henley knew that the CITES permits clearly 
specified that the shipments contained only "captive-bred" primates 
when, in fact, as they well knew , the shipments contained a mix of 
wild-caught and captive-bred primates . It is disingenuous then, 
under these circumstances , for Stern and Henley to claim the 
Indonesian Decree was ambiguous on the basis that the exports took 
place in this case. Similarly, it is disingenuous to challenge 
Count Five by claiming that the •foreign government already has 
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Bionetics ' s files, for example, state " [s] pecial approval [was] 

needed by Govt for export. " Person B also informed the individuals 

in the memorandum he circulated in connection with his Indonesian 

visit that the exporting of wild-caught primates was clearly 

against Indonesian law unless some exception was written. 16 

The defendants also try to twist the clear language of the 

Code of Federal Regulations provision in order to create an 

ambiguity for its own benefit. The language of the governing 

provision, however, is crystal clear: nursing mothers and unweaned 

young shall not be shipped unless for medical purposes. The fact 

that there is another regulation concerning how nursing mothers and 

unweaned young are to be caged during shipment does not modify in 

any way the circumstances under which they can be shipped. Labs, 

through the individual defendants, made a conscious decision in 

this case to ship nursing mothers and unweaned young. They cannot 

concluded that the alleged conduct does not violate its law. " The 
CI TES permits in this case, as issued by the government, granted 
permission for the export of captive-bred primates. The shipments 
contained a mix . Also, the purported "exception" obtained by 
Person A, as described in the Background section above, referred to 
permission to export unproductive stock. The O'Hare shipments 
contained productive stock. Indeed, Stern and Henley were 
interested in buying the colony because it was a breeding colony. 

" Labs's efforts to inject ambiguity into the "II (C) " 
notation on the CITES permits similarly fails. The use of the 
" (C) " designation, as mandated by CITES , stands for "captive-bred" 
and nothing else. The use of this notation on a CITES permit, 
then , signifies that the primates in the shipment had been born in 
captivity. 
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now hide behind an ambiguity in regulatory language which does not 

exist. 17 

B ,  Motions for Bill o f  Particulars. 

All four defendants have filed Motions for a Bill of 

Particulars in which they each seek a multitude of additional 

information which they each claim to need in order to prepare a 

defense at trial. Labs requests, among other things, that the 

government be required to reveal its "theory" concerning the 

payment of baksheesh or the falsity of certain statements. Taub 

claims he requires more information because the indictment does not 

specifically allege that he personally ever submitted a false 

document or transported wildlife in inhumane conditions . 

Similarly, Stern and Henley, for their part, also cry foul because, 

according to them, Count Five, the sole count in which they are 

charged, does not allege facts that they personally "did anything. " 

The detailed indictment and the tendered discovery in this case, 

however, lay to rest the defendants claimed need for more 

information in order to prepare a defense. Absent a showing that 

the indictment and the discovery materials taken together are 

inadequate to enable the defendants to prepare a defense the motion 

17 The government notes in this context as well that Counts 
Ten through Twelve, as misdemeanors, carry a "should have known in 
the exercise of due care" standard as to knowledge of the pertinent 
regulation. Labs ' s  apparent pursuit of an ambiguity defense must 
mean that it concedes knowledge of the pertinent regulation on the 
shipment of nursing mothers and unweaned young. 
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for a Bill of Particulars should be denied. United States v. 

Lavin, 504 F. Supp. 1356, 1361-62 (N , D. Ill. 1969) . 

Rule 7 ( f) authorizes the court to order the filing of a Bill 

of Particulars whenever the indictment fails to sufficiently 

apprise the defendant of the charges in the indictment (1) to 

enable the defendant to prepare a defense, (2) avoid unfair 

surprise to the defendant at trial, and ( 3) preclude a second 

prosecution for the same offense . Wong Tai v. United States, 2 73 

U. S. 77, 82 (1927) . The grant or denial of a motion for a Bill of 

Particulars is within the sole discretion of the District Court. 

Wong T�i v. United States, 273 U. S. 77 (1927) ; United States v. 

Kendall , 665 F. 2d 126, 134 (7th Cir. 1981) , cert . denied, 455 U. S. 

1021 (1982 ) . The standard for determining whether a defendant is 

entitled to a Bill of Particulars is not whether additional 

information would be useful or convenient to the defendant, but 

rather, whether the information is necessary to the preparation of 

the defense. United States v. Lavin. 504 F. Supp. 1356, 1356-62 

(N , D. Ill. 1982 ) .  Relevant factors in the exercise of the court ' s  

discretion include : ( 1 )  the complexity of the charged offense ; (2) 

the clarity of the indictment; and ( 3) the degree of discovery 

available to the defendant without the bill . United States v. 

Esteves , 8 86  F. Supp. 645 (N. D. Ill. 1995) ; United States v. Horak . 

633 F. Supp. 190,  195 (N. D. Ill. 1986) , citing to United States v. 
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Kendall , 665 F. 2d 126 (7th Cir. 198 1 ) , cert. denied 455 U. S. 1021  

(1982) . 

The defendants seek not only information which has already 

been provided to them but also information to which they are not 

otherwise entitled. The defendants' requests are, in reality, 

nothing more than an inappropriate effort on their part to force 

the government to apply the evidence to the charges for them. A 

Bill of Particulars, however, is not to be used as a substitute for 

reviewing the documents made available to defense counsel which 

contain the very information they seek, and should not be permitted 

to be used to require the government to answer a wide range of 

defense requests and inquiries, particularly when the information 

has already been made available to them. Although a defendant is 

entitled to know the factual basis surrounding the offense with 

which he or she is charged, the defendant is not entitled to know 

the de�ails of how the offense will be proved . United States v. 

Glecier, 923 F. 2d 496, 502 (7th Cir. ) , cert. denied, 502 U. S .  8 10 

(1991) . "The defendant ' s  constitutional right is to know the 

offense with which he is charged, not to know the details of how it 

will be proved" .  United States v .  Kendall. 665 F. 2d at 135. Courts 

have consistently held that it is not the function of a Bill of 

Particulars to compel the government to make a detailed disclosure 

of its evidence and a defendant is not entitled to know all of the 

evidence the government intends to produce, but only the theory of 
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the government ' s  case, and the government is not required to 

disclose its witnesses in advance of trial. Kendall, 665 F . 2d at 

135; United States v. Heictecke. 683 F. Supp. 1211, 12 13 (N. D. Ill. 

1988) . A Bill of Particulars should not be granted where a 

defendant has been sufficiently apprised by means of the 

indictment, prior proceedings, and discovery, of the essential 

facts of the alleged crime for which he has been indicted and the 

details would unduly restrict the government in presenting its 

proof at trial. United States v. Heidecke . 6 8 3  F. Supp. at 1213. 

A Bill of Particulars is not required when information can be 

obtained through some other satisfactory form, such as the 

willingness of the government to make documents available to the 

defense and provide them with information. United StRtes v. Canino . 

949 F. 2d 928, 949 (7th Cir. 1991) ; United States v. Esteves. 886 

F. Supp. at 647. The government has already done this in this case. 

C. Motion of Labs of  Virginia, Inc . to Strike Portions of 
the Indictment. 

Labs requests pursuant to Rule 7 (d)  of the Federal Rules of 

Criminal Procedure that two items be stricken from the indictment: 

( 1) the reference to "Bionetics" and the fact that Stern and Henley 

hold positions with Bionetics ; and (2)  the reference to "baksheesh" 

and the description that "baksheesh" means "bribe. " These 

references are relevant to the facts �n the case, however, and were 

not included , as Labs claims, as a means of prej udicing the 

defendants. 
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The fact that defendant Taub sold Labs to defendant Stern or 

an entity with which Stern and Henley were affiliated is relevant 

because it shows the relationship between and the motives of the 

parties . The government intends to present evidence to show that 

Stern and Henley, as officers of a larger entity, were interested 

in acquiring the Indonesian colony for profit-related reasons and 

not necessarily for medical research purposes. This translated 

into the fact that, as the documents show, Stern and Henley wished 

to remove the colony from Indonesia as quickly as possible. This 

is relevant to establish the "should have known" mens rea 

requirement in the count in which they are charged. The manner in 

which Taub reported the daily activities of Labs to Stern and 

Henley, particularly concerning the Indonesian colony, is also 

significant. If, as Labs claims, it was not Bionetics which 

purchased Labs, then this problem can be cured either by making a 

technical amendment to the indictment. 

The reference to "baksheesh" and "baksheesh means bribe" was 

not included in the indictment to tarnish the defendants without 

any basis in fact. The indictment does not allege, and the 

government does not intend to prove, that the defendants actually 

paid a bribe to secure the exports in this case. The issue of 

baksheesh, however, is highly relevant to the fact that, by being 

told by Person B about Person A' s use of baksheesh, the defendants 

were on notice that Person A might not obtain the CITES permits or 

4 8  
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requisite health certificates through orthodox means in light of 

the Indonesian ban on the export of wild-caught Macaca 

fascicularis .  The documents in this case show that the defendants 

were aware of Person A' s practice and the practice in general of 

paying Indonesian officials to make things happen. Person B, for 

example , circulated a memo to the three individual defendants in 

which he stated that since exporting wild-caught primates was 

clearly against Indonesian law unless some exception was written 

that Person A had gone to the government and had cut a baksheesh 

deal to pay them off. The reference to baksheesh is relevant to 

the other allegations and the nature of the violations charged 

because, when coupled with the evidence that the defendants knew 

the shipments contained wild~caught primates despite the fact that 

shipping documents show captive-bred, it is probative of the 

defendants' knowledge of either the falsity of the documents or the 

violation of Indonesian law. The references to the payment of 

baksheesh was one of several significant warnings the defendants 

received about problems in exporting Person A's colony which, at a 

minimum, required them to apply special scrutiny to the paperwork 

submitted by Person A as part of the export process. Moreover, the 

actual meaning of "baksheesh" is a factual issue which the 

government has the burden of establishing along with its other 

proof in the case. 

49 

Obtained by Rise for Animals.
Uploaded to Animal Research Laboratory Overview (ARLO) on 09/20/2020



Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 62 Filed: 09/18/02 Page 52 of 58 PageID #:310

D .  Motion of Stern and Henley for Severance . 

Stern and Henley seek a severance from the trial of Labs and 

Taub because they claim a joint trial will •be highly prejudicial 

to their fair trial rights while yielding only negligible 

efficiency advantages over separate trials . "  The evidence against 

Stern and Henley, however, is interrelated with that of the other 

defendants and a separate trial will be largely duplicative and 

highly inefficient. 

When evaluating whether a defendant should be severed to a 

separate trial, " the district court must balance the benefit of 

j udicial efficiency in a j oint trial with the risk of prej udice to 

the defendant. " United States v. Donovan , 24 F. 3d 908, 914-15 (7th 

Cir. 1994) . Even where a defendant can show prej udice from being 

tried with his codefendants in a single j oint trial, such prejudice 

typically can be cured by appropriate limiting instructions to the 

jury . �, g_,_g_,_ ,  United States v. Cyprian, 2 3  F. 3 d  1189, 1195 (7th 

cir . 1994) ; United States v. Bruun, 8 09 F. 2d  397, 407-08 (7th Cir. 

1987) . Because the district court is best able to balance the 

systemic efficiencies of a single joint trial against prej udice to 

a defendant , " ' the defendant bears an extremely difficult burden of 

showing on appeal that the district court abused its discretion ' "  

by denying a severance motion. United States v. Balzano , 916 F. 2d 

1273 ,  1281 (7th Cir. 1990) (quoting United States v. Moya-Gomez, 

860 F .2d  706 , 754 (7th Cir. 1988) ) .  

so 
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Stern and Henley offer two specific reasons why they should be 

given a separate trial : (1) there is a risk of prej udicial 

"spillover" from the evidence against the codefendants; and ( 2) 

there is a vast disparity in the weight of the evidence between the 

defendants in this case. Each of these reasons is routinely 

offered, and routinely rej ected, in this Circuit. 

The Seventh Circuit has repeatedly held that even where some 

evidence is admissible against only certain defendants (for 

example , in relation to substantive counts in which one defendant 

in a multi-defendant case is not charged) , appropriate limiting 

instructions to the J ury will cure any prej udice. See, �, 

United States v. Stillo, 57 F. 3d 553, 557 (7th Cir. 1995) . ln 

addition, j uries are presumed to be able to "capably sort through 

the evidence " and use only relevant and admissible evidence against 

any given defendant in a multi-defendant trial. Stillo , 57 F. 3d at 

557 (applying presumption, and also stating that if a defendant is 

involved in only a few of many events, the jury will be able to 

compartmentalize relevant evidence more easily) ; accord, �, 

United States v ,  Lopez, 6 F. 3d 1281, 1286 (7th Cir. 1993) . 

Accordingly, courts routinely dismiss severance claims based on 

assertions that a case is " too complex " or involves "too many 

charges" for the j ury. See , �, United States v .  Hernandez, 92 1 

F. 2d  1569, 1580-81 (11th Cir . 1991) (collecting cases) ; United 

States v. Manzella, 782 F . 2d 5 33, 540  ( 5th Cir. 1986) (rej ecting 
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severance claim and stating " [a] s in most RICO cases , the evidence 

here is both massive and complex" ) ; United States v. Isaacs , 493 

F.2d 1124, 1160 (7th Cir. 1974 ) (suggesting that, in a complex 

case, court may consider severance less j ustified because of 

problem of " [d ]  uplication of an unusually complex trial " )  . 18 

Stern and Henley are also incorrect in their assertion that 

evidence as to Labs and Taub will not apply to them. It  is not 

accurate to say that the evidence presented about Labs and Taub is 

not relevant to Stern and Henley in this case. Stern and Henley 

are charged with the fact that they "should have known" that the 

shipments of primates were in violation foreign law. The evidence 

as to the acquisition of the Labs colony, the documents exchanged 

between the parties (including the CITES permits reflecting 

"Captive-bred") , the repeated discussion about the wild-caught 

nature of some of the primates in the colony, and the concerns 

expressed by Persons A and B about obtaining an export permit will 

all be used to establish this mens rea requirement. The fact that 

Stern and Henley are charged in a single count, then, does not mean 

that they are isolated from the majority of the evidence which the 

18 Accord, �. United States v. Infelise , 1991 WL 152532, 
*5-6 (N. D .  Ill . 1991) (Williams, J . )  (rejecting " too complex" and 
" too much evidence" claims) ; United States v. Dempsey. 1990 WL 
139279, * 3  (N , D , Ill. 1990) (Marovich, J , ) ( " We will not presume 
that, just because a trial is large and complex, a j ury is unable 
to follow limiting instructions or to separate the various 
defendants from one another " ) .  
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government will present in the case. The maj ority of the evidence 

does indeed apply directly to them. 

The Seventh Circuit has routinely rej ected severance claims 

based on a defendant ' s  assertion that there is a disparity in the 

evidence against him as compared to codefendants. See, �, 

United States v. Caliendo, 910 F. 2 d  429, 438 (7th Cir. 1990 ) ( "  [A] 

simple 'disparity in evidence ' will not suffice to support a motion 

for severance--� , it does not independently establish ' actual 

prejudice "' ) ; United States v. Hendrix, 752 F. 2d 1226,  1232 (7th 

Cir . 1985 )  ( "  [T] he fact that the evidence against his co-defendants 

might have been proportional ly greater than the evidence against 

him is not itself grounds for a severance. " )  ; .!a..!l..!l. also United 

States v. Dempsey, 1990 WL 139279, * 3  (N. D. Ill. 1990) (Marovich, 

J. ) (rej ecting claim that defendant should be severed from four to 

six month trial because he was charged in a relatively small number 

of counts, and because otherwise he would incur large legal bills 

and suffer large lost wages) . 

There are obvious reasons for trying Stern and Henley with 

Labs and Taub because of the duplicative nature of the evidence in 

this case. Appropriate limiting instructions will sufficiently 

cure any prejudice to the isolated extent to which evidence may not 

apply to Stern and Henley, for example, as to the humane transport 

violations set forth in Counts Ten through Twelve. The request of 
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Stern and Henley for a separate trial is not j ustified under 

Seventh Circuit law and it should be denied. 

E. Motion of  All Defendants for Issuance of  Letters 
Rogatory. 

All of the defendants request that this Court authorize the 

issuance of Letters Rogatory in order to allow them to explore in 

Indonesia what they claim to be relevant aspects of this case. The 

government opposes this request because it seeks non-material 

information and information to which the defendants are not 

otherwise entitled pursuant to discovery in this case. 

A federal district court may, in its sole discretion , grant 

Letters Rogatory on behalf of a party in a criminal action pursuant 

to Rule 15 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. See United 

States v. Korogodsky, 4 F. Supp 2d. 262, 265 (S. D. N. Y. 1998) . See 

� United States v. Sensi, 879 F. 2d 8 8 8 ,  898 (D. C. Cir. 1989) . 

Rule 15 (a) provides that a court may order the taking of 

depositions " [w] henever due to exceptional circumstances of the 

case it is in the interest of j ustice that the testimony of a 

prospective witness of a party be taken and preserved for use at 

trial . "  Fed. R. Crim. P. 15. To meet Rule 1 5's exceptional 

circumstances standard, the party seeking a deposition must show 

" (1) that the witness will be unavailable at trial ; and (2) that 

5 4  
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the information sought is material to the party's case. " 

Korogodsky, 4 F. Supp 2d. at 265. 19 

The government believes that the letters rogatory requested by 

the defendants are not necessary in this case because the 

government does not intend to prove that bribes were actually paid 

to secure the CITES permits at issue or the mind set of the 

Indonesian officials who authorized the permits' issuance. Again, 

as mentioned above, the focus of the inquiry in this case is on the 

defendants' own knowledge and the impact of that knowledge on the 

shipping documents they received. Extensive discovery in Indonesia 

is not necessary for either the prosecution or the defense of this 

case. 

19 In Korogodsky, a wire fraud case, the district court 
denied the defendant' s request for letters rogatory. The charge in 
the case involved money obtained from Russians seeking to buy goods 
under false promises that goods would be supplied. The defendants 
attempted to depose the persons certifying as to the reliability of 
purported contracts between the defendant and the Russian buyers, 
money transfer records prepared by banks, and documents obtained 
from Russian insurance companies . Id. at 263-64. The court denied 
the request because the wrongdoing of the Russian buyers, which the 
defendants sought to established through the depositions, was 
independent of the reliability of any of the documents. Id . at 
267-68. 
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IV . CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the United States respeotfully 

requests that this Court deny the various pretrial motions of the 

defendants as desoribed and set forth herein. 

By : 

5 6  

Respeotfully submitted, 

PATRICK J .  FITZGERALD 
United States Attorney 

DIANE MacARTHUR 
Assistant U. S. Attorney 
219 South Dearborn Street 
Chicago , Ill inois 6 0 604  
( 3 1 2 )  3 5 3 -5352  
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

V. 

LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. 
DAVIDM. TAUB 

No. 02 CR 0312 
�--::; 

� 

DOCi{tYED 
SEP l 5 2002 

/ 

< CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY 111 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) '(\\ 

NOTICE OF AGREED MOTION 
(, 

To: Diane MacArthur, Esq. 
Assistant United States Attorney 
219 South Dearborn Street 
Chicago, IL 60604 

er,�' 

-is--
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that, on Wednesday, September 25, 2002, at 9:J.&-a.m., or as 

soon thereafter as counsel may be heard, we shall appear before the Honorable Ruben Castillo, 

or any other judge sitting in his stead, in Room 2319 of the Dirksen Federal Building, 219 South 

Dearborn Street, Chicago, Illinois, and shall present Defendant Labs of Virginia, Inc. 's Motion 

for Extension of Time to File Replies to the Government's Responses to Defendant's Pretrial 

Motions, copies of which are attached hereto. 

Michael L. Fayad 
GREENBERG TRAURJG, LLP 
800 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, D.C. 20006 
(202) 331-3100 

Local counsel: 
Robert H. King, Jr. 

Respect�o/1/s�mit
'71 .. 

By 1(d.eJ . 
Attorney for Defendant LABS of irginia, Inc. 
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GREENBERG TRAURIG, P .C. 
77 West Wacker Drive 
Suite 2500 
Chicago, T11inois 60601 
(312) 456-8400 

September 17, 2002 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

V. 

LABS OF YIRGINTA, INC. 
DAVID M. TAUB 
CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY rn 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

DOCKETED 
Sl P 2 .'.i ?00? 

DEFENDANT LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC.'S AGREED MOTION FOR 

EXTENSION OF TIME TO FILE REPLIES TO THE GOVERNMENT'S 

RESPONSES TO DEFENDANTS' PRETRIAL MOTIONS 

Defendant Labs of Virginia, Inc. ("LABS" or "Defendant") hereby requests this Court to 

grant LABS additional time in which to file its replies to the Government's responses to pretrial 

motions. The Government does not oppose the motion. Specifically, LABS respectfhlly 

requests that the Court grant LABS permission to file its replies on or before October 9, 2002. 

This extension of time is necessary to account for the Government's belated filing of its 

responses to pretrial motions and to allow LABS the entire period of time to file replies that the 

Court ordered during the July 10, 2002 status hearing. 

In accordance with the Court's minute order dated May 15, 2002, LABS, as well as the 

other named defendants in the above-captioned case, filed pretrial motions on July 1, 2002. 

During a status hearing on July 10, 2002, the Government informed the Court that the pretrial 

motions had been read and requested 60 days to file responses to the pretrial motions. During 

the status hearing, the Court granted the Government's request and ordered Defendants to file 

replies three weeks thereafter. See Transcript of Proceedings, July 10, 2002, at page 5, lines 6-

17. In a Minute Order dated July 10, 2002, the Court ordered the Government to file responses 
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to the pretrial motions on or before September 9, 2002, and ordered the Defendants file replies 

on or before September 30, 2002. 

The Government did not file any responses to the pretrial motions on September 9, 2002, 

nor did it comply with this Court's rule regarding extensions of time to file pleadings. Defendant 

LABS was not notified that the Government would not be timely filing its responses. LABS did 

not learn until September I 0, 2002, that the Government had not filed any responses to the 

pretrial motions, when the Government left a message for LABS' counsel in response to an 

inquiry by LABS' counsel regarding whether the Government had filed its responses. The 

Government also advised LABS' counsel in a message, that it planned to file a motion for 

extension of time to file its responses to pretrial motions, and requested LABS' position 

regarding such a request. On September 11, 2002, LABS' counsel advised the Government that, 

under these unique circumstances, counsel had no choice but to oppose a request for additional 

time. 

On September 13, 2002, the Court issued an order granting the Government's motion. 

LABS understands that the Government filed a motion for fill extension of time to file its 

responses. However, LABS did not receive a copy of the Government's motion prior to 

receiving the Court's order granting that motion and did not have an opportunity to oppose the 

motion. The Court's order permits the Government to file its responses to the pretrial motions 

on or before September 18, 2002, nine days after the responses were due, but did not similarly 

adjust the filing date for Defendants' replies. By this motion, LABS requests that the Conrt 

allow LABS to file its replies on or before October 9, 2002, which is three weeks after the filing 

date for the Government's responses to pretrial motions. This adjusted filing date for LABS is 

2 
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consistent with this Court's order during (he July 10, 2002 status hearing and ensures that LABS 

will not be prejudiced by the Goverrnnent's late filing orits responses. 

CONCLUSION 

WHEREFORE, for the reasons stated above, Defendant LABS respectfully moves the 

Court to grant this Motion and issue an order allowing LABS to file replies to the Goverrnnent's 

responses to pretrial motions on or before October 9, 2002. 

Michael L. Fayad 
GREENBERG TRAURJG, LLP 
800 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, D.C. 20006 
(202) 331·3100 

Local counsel: 
Robert H. King, Jr. 
GREENBERG TRAURJG, P.C. 
77 West Wacker Drive 
Suite 2500 
Chicago, lllinois 60601 
(312) 456-8400 

September 17, 2002 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

T, Robert H. King, Jr., an attorney, hereby certify that on this I 7th day of 
September, 2002, a true and correct copy of the foregoing Notice of Agreed Motion and 
Defendant LABS of Virginia, Tne.'s Motion for Extension of Time to File Replies to the 
Government's Responses to Defendants' Pretrial Motions, was served by hand delivery 
on the following: 

Diane MacArthur, Esq. 
Assistant United Stale� Atlomey 
2 I 9 South Dearborn Street 
Chicago, IL 60604 

and by United States first class mail, postage prepaid, on the following: 

Michael L. Fayad, Esq. 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
800 Cormecticut Avenue, N.W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, DC 20006 

Samuel J. Buffone, Esq. 
Kelly B. Kramer, Esq. 
ROPES&GRAY 
One Franklin Square 
1301 K Street, N.W. 
Suite 800 East 
Washington, DC 20005.3333 

Gerald A. Feffer, Esq. 
David M. Zinn, Esq. 
WILLIAMS & CONNOLLY 
725 Twelfth Street, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20005 
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Minute Order Form (06/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Name of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 

or Magistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 - all DATE 9/24/2002 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 

TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the followingbox(a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff, defendant, 3rd party plaintiff, and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(I) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due _ __ . 

Answer brief to motion due ___ . Reply to answer brief due _ __ . 

Ruling/Hearing on···-- set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Status hearing[held/ continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on ___ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on ___ set for _ __ at ___ . 

Trial[set for/re-set for] on _ __ at _ _ _  . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to _ _  at _ _  . 

This case is dismissed [with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreement/pursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(m) □ Local Rule 41.1 □ FRCP4l(a)(l )  □ FRCP4l(a)(2). 

(10) ■ [Other docket entry] Defendant Labs of Virginia, Inc. 's agreed motion for extension of time to file 

replies to the Government's responses to defendants' pretrial motions and Defendant Charles J. Stem and 

William Curtis Henley III' s motion for extension of time are granted. Defendants' replies to the pending 
pretrial motions are due on or before October 9, 2002. 

(11) 

✓ 

□ [For further detail see order (on reverse side of/attached to) the original minute order.] 

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 fonn. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 

courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

! (' 

LL 

Date/time received in 
central Clerk's Office 

number of notices 

date mailed notice 

mailing deputy initials 
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UNITED STATRS DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

D0Cf{E1flJ 
ocr I O ZOU? 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
No. 02 CR0312 

V. 

Judge Castillo 

FILED 
'('· OCT I, p JOn? 
MICHAEL W ClERk U S 

· 00ll8INS ' . ' DISTRICT coum 

LABS OF VIRGINlA, INC. 
DAVlDM. TAUB 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

) 
) 

Magistrale Judge Bobrick 

CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III 

DEFENDANT LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC.'S NOTICE OF JOINDER 

Defendant Labs of Virginia, Inc. ("LABS"), by the undersigned counsel, hereby joins in 

and consents to various reply memoranda in support of motions filed by Defendants Charles J. 

Stern, William Curtis Henley TIT, and David M. Taub on Oclober 9, 2002, pursuant to Federal 

Rule of Criminal Procedure 12(b). Defendant adopts and incorporates by reference (he following 

motions in !heir entirety: 

I) Defendants Charles J. Stem and William Curtis Henley ITT Reply Memorandum in 
Support of Motion to Dismiss Count Five or the Indictment Under the Ac! or State 
Doctrine; 

2) Defendants Charles .I. Stern and William Curtis Henley 111 Reply Memorandum Tn 
Support of Motion for a Bill of Particulars; 

3) Defendants Charles J. Stem and William Curtis Henley III Reply Memorandum 
in Support of Motion to Dismiss Count Five of the Indictment for Failure to Allege 
Any Faclual Basis for the Offense; 

4) Defendants Charles J. Stem and William Curtis Henley TIT Reply Memorandum in 
Support of Motion to Dismiss Count Five of the lndictment for Failure lo Allege an 
Essential Element of the Offense (No Predicate Act); 
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5) Defendants Charles J. Sltlm and William Curlis Henley Ill Reply Memorandum in 
Support of Motion lo Dismiss Count Five of the Indictment Under Void for Vagueness 
Doctrine; and 

6) Defendant David M. Tauh's Consolidated Reply Memorandum. 

GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
800 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, D.C. 20006 
(202) 331-3100 

Local counsel: 
Robert H. King, Jr. 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, P.C. 
77 West Wacker Drive 
Suite 2500 
Chicago, Illinois 60601 
(312) 456-8400 

October 9, 2002 

Respectfully submit!ed, 

By 
Attorney for Defendant LABS of 

2 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on this 9th day of October, 2002, a true and correct copy of 

the foregoing Defendant LABS of Virginia, Inc. 's Notice of Joinder, was served by hand 
delivery on the following: 

Diane MacArthur, Esq. 
Assistant United States Attorney 
219 South Dearborn Street 
Chicago, IL 60604 

and by United States first class mail, postage prepaid, on the following: 

Michael L. Fayad, Esq. 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
800 Connectic,,t Avenue, N.W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, DC 20006 

Samuel J. Buffone, Esq. 
Kelly B. Kramer, Esq. 
ROPES &GRAY 
One Franklin Square 
1301 K Street, N.W. 
Suite 800 East 
Washington, DC 20005-3333 

Gerald A. Feffer, Esq. 
David M. Zinn, Esq. 
WILLIAMS & CONNOLLY 
725 Twelfth Street, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20005 

;Uf 11/t/ 
Robert 1-1. King, Jr. 
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FILED 
UNITED ST A TES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

ef · OCT !l 9 JU0Z 
MICliAEL 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

V. 

LABS OF VlRGlNIA, INC. 
DAVID M. TAUB 
CHARLES .I. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY lll 

) 

) 

) 

) 
) 
) 
) 

) 
) 
) 

ClERK U 
S W. DOBBINS · - · DISTRICT COUlilf 

No. 02 CR0312 

Judge Castillo 
Magistrate Judge Bobrick 

DOCKElEO 
NOTICE OF MOTION 

oc1 11 z _ooz 

To: Sec Attached Service List 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE THAT on October 16 , 2002 , at 9:45 a.m., or such other 

time as counsel may be heard, defendants, by their attorneys, will appear before the 

Honorable Judge Castillo in Courtroom 2319, Dirksen Building, 219 S. Dearborn Street, 

Chicago, Illinois, and then and there present Defendant Labs oCVirginia lnc.'s Motion 

for Leave to File in Excess of Fi Ileen Pages, a copy of which is hereby served upon you. 

Robert H. King, Jr. 
Greenberg Traurig, P.C. (#36511) 
77 West Wacker Drive 
Suite 2500 
Chicago, Illinois 60601 
(312) 456-8400 

GREENBERG TRAUR.IG, P.C. 

By 
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- -- - - -- ··--· --·-· 

SERVICE LIST 

I, Rober t H. King, Jr. , an attorney, hereby certify that on this 9th day of October, 
2002 , a (rue and corr ect copy of the foregoing Defendant LABS of Virginia, Inc.'s 
Motion for Leave to F ile in Excess o C Fifteen Pages, was served by hand delivery on the 
following: 

Diane MacArthur, Esq. 
Assistant United States Attorne y 
219 South Dearborn Street 
Chicago, IL 60604 

and by United States fir st cl ass mail , postage prepaid, on the 
foll owing: 

Michael L. F ayad, Esq. 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
800 Connecticut Aven ue, N.W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, DC 20006 

Samuel J. Buffone, Esq. 
Kell y B. Kramer, Esq. 
ROPES &GRAY 
One Franklin Square 
1301 K Street, N.W. 
Suite 800 East 
Washington, DC 20005-3333 

Gerald A. Feffer , Esq. 
David M. Zinn, Esq. 
WILLIAMS & CONNOLLY 
725 Twe l fth Street, N. W. 
Washington , D.C. 20005 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

FILED 
OCT I/ !! 711[12 

MICHAliL W 008BIIIIS CLERK, u.s. DISTRIC't covrn 
UNITED STATES OF AMERJCA 

V. 

LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. 
DAVID M. TAUB 
CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III 

) 
) 
) 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

) 

No. 02 CR 0312 

Judge Castillo 
Magistrate Judge Bobrick 

DOCKETED 
ocr 1 z 2002 

DEFENDANT LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC.'S MOTION 
FOR LEAVE TO li'JLE IN EXCESS OF FIFTEEN PAGES 

Defendant Labs of Virginia, Inc. ("LABS"), by and thr ough undersigned counsel , 

respectfully moves, pursuant to Local Rule 7.1 of the L ocal Rul es of the Unite d States 

District Court for the Northe rn District of lllin ois, for permission to exceed the fiftee n

page l imitation in its Reply to the Government's Consolidated Response to Defendants' 

Pretrial M otions. In support of this M otion, LABS states as follows: 

I. The Govern ment's C onsolidated Respon se to the Pretrial Motions was 

fifty-six pages an d responded to four separate motions filed by LABS. In ordm· t(, 

adequately and properly address the Government's Response, it was ne cessary lor LABS 

to exce ed the fifteen-page limit imposed by the Local Rules of this Court. 

2 .  This Motion is brOL,ght in good faith, and will assist in clarifying the 

issues befor e the Court. 
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GREENBERG TRAURTG, LLP 
800 Connecticut Avenue, N. W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, D.C. 20006 
(202) 331-3100 

Local counsel: 
Robert H. King, Jr. 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, P.C. 
77 West Wacker Drive 
Suite 2500 
Chicago, 111inois 60601 
(312) 456-8400 

October 9, 2002 

Respectfully submitted, 

::ch,��}'1f F;y� :J /4" " j ;, 

( 
Att

�
�� 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I her eby certify that on this 9th day or October, 2002, a true and corre ct co py or 
lhe foregoing Defendant LABS of Virginia, Inc. 's Motion for Leave to F il e  in Excess of 
F ifteen Pages, was serve d by hand deliver y on the foll owing: 

Diane MacArthur, Esq. 
Assistant United States Attorney 
219 South Dearborn Street 
Chicago, IL 60604 

and by United States first cl ass mail , postage prepaid, on the foll owing: 

Michael L. Fay ad, Esq. 
GREENBERG TRAUR!G, LLP 
800 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, DC 20006 

Samue l .J. Buffone, Esq. 
K el l y  B. K ramer, Es q. 
ROPES &GRAY 
One Franklin Square 

1301 K Street, N.W. 
Suite 800 East 
Washington, DC 20005-3333 

Gerald A. Feffe r, Esq. 
David M .  Zinn, Esq. 
WILLIAMS & CONNOLLY 
725 Twellth Street, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20005 

/fµ}!� ( _M_ . ----�', 
Robe rt H. King, Jr. 
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Minute Order Fonn (06/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Name of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 

or Magistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 DATE 10/10/2002 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 

TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff, defendant, 3rd party plaintiff, and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(!) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due ___ . 

Answer brief to motion due _ __ . Reply to answer brief due _ __ . 

Ruling/Hearing on ___ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Status hearing[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for ___ at ___ . 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on ___ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Trial[ set for/re-set for] on ___ at ___ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to _ _  at _ __ . 

This case is dismissed [ with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreemen1/pursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(m) OLocal Rule 4!.l □ FRCP41(a)(I) □ FRCP41(a)(2). 

(!OJ ■ [Other docket entry] Defendant Labs of Virginia, Inc.'s motion for leave to file in excess of fifteen 
pages is granted. The parties do not need to appear for the motion call on October 16, 2002. 

(11) □ [For further detail see order ( on reverse side o£1attached to) the original minute order.] 

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

✓ Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 form. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 

courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

Date/time received in 
central Clerk's Office 

6 

number of notices 

1011012002 

date mailed notice 

RO 

mailing deputy initials 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

UNITED ST A TES OF AMERICA 

y_ 

LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. 
DAVID M. TAUB 
CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

I 
DOCKETED 

OCT 1 l 2002 

DEFENDANT LABS 01<' VIRGINIA, INC.'S REPLY TO GOVERNMENT'S 
CONSOLIDATED RESPONSE TO DEFENDANTS' PRETRIAL MOTIONS 

GREENBERG TRAURTG, LLP 
800 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, D.C. 20006 
(202) 331-3100 

Local counsel: 
Robert H. King, Jr. 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, P.C. 
77 West Wacker Drive 
Suite 2500 
Chicago, Illinois 6060 I 
(312) 456-8400 

October 9, 2002 

Michael L. Fay;,d 
Attorney for Defendant LABS of Virginia, Inc. 

' 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

V. 

LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. 
DAVIDM. TAUB 
CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILUAM CURTIS HENLEY III 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

No. 02 CR 0312 

Judge Castillo 
Magistrate Judge Bobrick 

DEFENDANT LABS 01? VIRGINIA, JNC.'S REPLY TO GOVERNMENT'S 
CONSOLIDATED RESPONSE TO DEFENDANTS' PRETRIAL MOTIONS 

Defendant Labs of Virginia, Inc. ("LABS" or "Defendant"), by the undersigned counsel, 

hereby files this reply to the Government's Consolidated Response to Defendants' Pretrial 

Motions. The Government's consolidated response to Defendant LABS' pretrial motions does 

not present any legal precedent or arguments to suppo1i a denial of the motions. Moreover, a 

sworn declaration from the Indonesian Department of Forestry ("DOF") directly negates the 

basic premise of the Indictment issued in this case, and as such, mandates the Corui's dismissal 

of the Indictment. 

PRELIMINARY STATRMENT 

On April 2, 2002, an Indictment was issued against Defendants LABS of Virginia, Inc., 

David M. Taub, Charles J. Stern and William Curtis Henley III (collectively, the "Defendants") 

by a Grand Jury in Chicago, Illinois. The Indictment alleges violations of 16 U.S.C. §§ 3372 and 

3373 and 18 U.S.C. § 545. The charges in the Indictment arise out of a transaction between 

LABS and Indonesian Aquatics Export CV ("lnquatex"), a company located in Indonesia, 
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whereby LABS purchased an entire colony of monkeys consisting of approximately I ,300 

cynomolgus macaques (of the species ".Macaca fascicularis" and commonly known as crab

eating or long-tailed macaques) from Inquatcx. 1 

The Indictment is based substantially on the Govennnent's assumed premise that 

Inquatox 's export of macaques violated an Indonesian Decree issued by the DOF (Decree No. 

26/Kpts-1 l/94 ), However, a declaration of the Director of the DOF Directorate responsible for 

issuing permits to export animals from Indonesia pursuant to the Convention on International 

Trade in Wild Fauna and Flora ("CITES"), demonstrates the erroneous nature of the 

Govemmcnt's assumptions about the meaning and application of the Tndonesian Decrec.2 In a 

declaration dated September 17, 2002, Tr. Adi Susmianto, MSc, the Director of the DOF 

Directorate of Biodiversity, stated that the DOF, with complete knowledge about the types of 

macaqnes to be exported by Inquatex (k, captive bred and born or wild-caught), issued valid 

CTTES pennits for the export of macaques residing at Inquatex's facilities, and that the DOF's 

issuance of the CITES pennits complied with the Indonesian Decree. See generally, DOF 

Declaration. Ir. Susmianto's conclusion was based on his review of correspondence between 

lnquatex and the DOF, CITES permits issued by DOF, the Indonesian Decree, and internal DOF 

1 Counts One through Four of the Indictment allege that Defendants LABS and Taub knowingly 
submitted false records related to the description of the monkeys in violation of 16 U.S.C. 
§§ 3372(d) and 3373(d)(3)(A)(i); Count Five of the Indictment alleges that all Defendants 
knowingly imported monkeys and in the exercise of due care should have known that the 
importation violated a foreign law in violation of 16 U.S.C. §§ 3372(a)(2)(A) and 3373(d)(2); 
Counts Six through Nine allege that Defendants LABS and Taub knowingly and fraudulently 
imported the four shipments of the monkeys contrary to law in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 545; and 
Counts Ten through Twelve allege that Defendants LABS and Taub knowingly imported three 
shipments of monkeys and in the exercise of due care should have known that the importation 
violated a United States regulation allegedly governing the shipments of nursing mothers with 
infants in violation of 16 U.S.C. §§ 3372(a)(l )(A) and 3373(d)(2). 

2 A copy of the Declaration of Ir. Adi Susmianto ("DOF Declaration'') is attached hereto as 
Exhibit I. The original Declaration is in the possession of counsel for LABS and is available to 
the Court. 
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information. See id. ii 2. As will be explained in this Reply, the DOF Declaration mandates the 

dismissal of Counts One through Nine of the Indictment.3 

On July 1 ,  2002, LABS, as well as the other named defendants, filed various motions 

related to the Indictment. LABS filed motions to dismiss the Indictment, for a bill of pai1iculars, 

to strike portions of the Indictment, and for the issuance of letters roga!ory. LABS maintains its 

position that the Indictment is not legally sufficient and must be dismissed. As argued in detail 

in LABS' Motion to Dismiss, Counts One through Five are duplicitous and legally insufficient 

under the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution. In addition, Counts One through 

l•our ai1d Counts Six Through Nine fhil to state all of the essential elements for the offenses 

charged and Count Five does not allege a legally sufficient predicate offense. Counts One 

though Five and Ten through Twelve in the Indictment allege conduct which is based on a 

reasonable interpretation of applicable United States and foreign laws and regulations. The 

Government 's arguments neither justify nor cure the fatal defec!s present in the Indictment. 

Moreover, the DOF Declaration requires that Counts One through Nine be dismissed. 

In the event that the Court does not dismiss all counts against LABS in the Indictment, 

LABS requests the Court to grant its remaining pretrial motions. Contrary to the Government's 

position, a bil l  of particulars is warranted because LABS has not received all of the infonualion 

to which it is entitled to adequately prepare a defense to the Indictment. Moreover, the 

3 One of Defendants' previously filed motions requests the issuance of letters rogatory to obtain 
documents and other information from Indonesia. The letters rogatory process will consume 
time and money. Defendants, with the assistance of the Indonesian law firm of Frans Winarta 
and Partners, undertook the initial step of obtaining the DOF Declaration to support several of 
Defendants' arguments in their motions, in the hope of convincing the Court, and possibly tl1e 
Government, of the flawed premise of this prosecution, and that a significant part of the 
Indictment should be dismissed; and, thereby all of us could avoid the cost of letters rogatory. If, 
however, Counts One through Nine remain for trial, then Defendai1ts will vigorously pursue the 
Motion Requesting Issuance of LeUers Rogatory. 

3 
Obtained by Rise for Animals.

Uploaded to Animal Research Laboratory Overview (ARLO) on 09/20/2020



Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 76 Filed: 10/10/02 Page 6 of 29 PageID #:395

references to Bionetics Corporation ("Bionetics") and "baksheesh" in the Indictment must be 

stricken as irrelevant and prejudicial. The Government's contention that it did not include these 

references as a means to prejudice LABS neither excuses nor neutralizes the prejudicial impact 

of the references to Bionetics and "haksheesh." Finally, the issuance of letters rogatory is 

required to obtain information that is  essential and material to LABS' defense. 

I. LABS' Motion to Dismiss 

ARGUMENT 

A. Counts One Through Five Of The Indictment Must Be Dismissed As 
Duplicitous. 

Rule 8(a) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure specifically prohibits joining two or 

more distinct and separate offenses in one count. As stated in Defendant 's Motion to Dismiss, 

the Seventh Circuit has held that the ban on duplicitous indictments arises from four concerns: 

First, courts condemn duplicitous indictments which fail to give defendants 
adequate notice of the nature of the charges against which they must prepare a 
defense. Second, courts denounce duplicitous counts which threaten to subject 
defendants to prejudicial evidentiary rulings at trial. Third, courts dismiss 
duplicitous indictments which produce trial records inadequate to allow 
defendants to plead prior convictions or acquittals as a bar to subsequent 
prosecution for the same offense. Finally, courts overturn duplicitous indictments 
which present a risk that the jmy may have convicted a defendant by a non
unanimous verdict. 

United States v. Kimberlin, 781 F.2d 1247, 1250 (7th Cir. 1985) (citations omitted). 

Counts One through Four of  the Indictment, as dra fted, violate Rule S(a) and should be 

considered duplicitous by this Court because each count alleges one violation of 16  U.S.C. 

§§ 3372(d) and 3373(d)(3)(A)(I) based upon two independent and autonomous documents -- a 

CITES permit and a health certificate. 

The Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals has not specifically addressed the issue of duplicity 

in relation to a false statements violation based on statements in separate documents. Thus, there 

4 
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is no binding Seventh Circuit precedent exactly on point. However, several other federal courts 

of appeal have held that separate false statement violations based on statements in separate 

documents may support separate counts. Sec, f,_&, United States v. Nash, 115 F.3d 1431  (9th Cir. 

I 994); United Stales v. Guzman, 78 1 F.2d 428 (5th Cir. 1 986); United States _v. Glanton, 707 

F.2d 1238 ( I  1 th Cir. 1983). In the instant case, charging the alleged false statements in the 

CITES permits and the alleged false statements in the health certificates in separate counts is 

both permissible and mandated. The CITES permit and the health certificate are two separate 

documents issued by two different l.ndonesian agencies for di fforent purposes. These unique 

circumstances present a risk that the jury may get confused or that the jury may convict the 

Defendant by a non-unanimous verdict. 1n other words, some members of the jury might vote lo 

convict based on the CITES pennit while other members of the jury might vote lo convict based 

on the health certificate. This confusion or non-unanimity would not arise because of a different 

view by jurors over which one of two pieces of  evidence supports a single violation. Rather, the 

confusion or non-unanimity would arise because of different views by jurors over two distinct 

violations. 

The Govcrrunent's reliance on United States v. Steurer, 942 F. Supp. 1183 (N,D. 111. 

1 996), is misplaced. See Government's Response, at 21 , n.4. Al!hough Steurer addressed the 

issue of duplicity in relation to a false statements violation, Steurer has no bearing on the instant 

case for two reasons. First, a district court decision is no( binding precedent on district courts. 

Howard v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 160 FJd 358, 359 (7th Cir. 1998); Hanna v. City of Chicago, 

2 12  F.Supp.2d 856, 860 (N.D.Tll. 2002). Second, the facts surrounding this case are clearly 

distinguishable from the facts in Steurer. Unlike the instant case, Steurer involved four false 

statements in a single document. In connection with a loan, the defendant submitled four 

5 
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separate promissory notes, each containing four false slatemenls -- a 11ctitious borrower's name, 

taxpayer idenli fication number, address, and purpose for bonowing lhe funds. Id. at 1 1 85-86. 

The four counts in the indictment were based on each or the four promissory notes. ld. at 1185. 

The defendant in Steurer moved to dismiss lhe counts based on duplicity, but the court denied 

the motion finding that the making of multiple false statements to a lending institution in a single 

document constituted one criminal violation. Sec id. at 1 1 87. Unlike the situation in Steurer, the 

Indictment against LABS charges two false slalements found in two separate documents issued 

by two different agencies or  the Indonesian government. Thus, the factual differences between 

Steurer and !he instant case demonstrate that the holding in Steurer is inapposile lo this case. 

The Government relies on United States v. Pavloski, 574 F.2d 933, 936 (7th Cir. 1978), 

for the proposition that inclusion in one count of multiple means of committing the single 

offense charged does not render the count duplicitous. Sec Government's Response, at 20. The 

Government, however, omits an important part of the court's statements in Pavloski. The court 

specifically found: 

When lhe offenses joined bear a relationship to one another and may be said to 
constitute a continuing course of conduct, the "distinct and separate" test should 
he applied, not as a metaphysical exercise, but with a view toward serving the 
purposes of the prohibition against duplicity. Those purposes . . .  are prevention 
of double jeopardy, of prejudice with respect to cvidcntiary rulings during trial, 
and of conviction by a verdict that is not unanimous. 

Id. at 936. LABS argues that the alleged false statement in the health certificate and the alleged 

false statements in the CITES permit do not constitute a continuing course of comlucl. 

Nevertheless, LABS asserts that this Court must consider !he Seventh Circuit's statement in 

Pavk1ski that even when the offenses joined together in one count bear a relationship to one 

another, the distinct and separate test still must be viewed toward serving the purposes of the 

prohibition against duplicity. See Pavloski, at 936. The duplicity concerns raised by the court in 
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Pavloski equally apply in the instant case. The use of two separate documents to support a single 

false records count in the instant case raises several serious issues including: 1) preventing the 

jury from deciding guilt or im10cence on each offense separately; 2) potentially leading to a non

ltnanimous verdict; 3) confusing the trial jury; and 4) making it dit1icult to determine whether an 

acquittal or conviction rests on only one of the documents or both. Thus, Counts One through 

Four must be dismissed as duplicitous. 

Similarly, Count Five of the Indictment is duplicitous. The Government argues in its 

response that Count Five is not duplicitous because the alleged relevant time fran1e reflects a 

continuous course of conduct over the four n,onth period in which the four O'Hare based 

shipments occurred. See Government's Response, at 23. Nevertheless, it is impossible to know 

whether the language of Count Five charges Defendant with one offense or four offenses. If the 

Defendant was convicted of Count Five, it would be impossible to determine whether the jurors 

unanimously agreed that a particular shipment violated 16  U.S.C. & 3372(a)(2)(A), whether some 

parts of the four shipments colleclivdy violated the statute, or whether each of the lbur 

shipments violated the statute. Therefore, Count Five exposes Defendant to the risk of being 

convicted of an offense by a non-unanimous verdict and exposes the Defendant to the inability to 

plead prior convictions or acquittals ,is a bar to subsequent prosecution for the same o flense. 

The case law recognizes that there is a fine line to draw in determining whether a count is 

duplicitous. See United States v. Perez, 2002 WL 1461 504, at *8 (N.D. Ill. July 3, 2002); 

Steurer, 942 F. Supp. at 1 1 86. ln light of the harm that could result from permitting the 

prosecution to go forth on Counts One through Five, these Counts must be dismissed. 

8. Counts One Through Five Of The Indictment Must Be Dismissed Because 
They Fail To Sufficiently Inform The Defendant Of The Nature And Cause 
Of The Accusations. 

The Sixth Amendment guarantees that in all criminal prosecutions the accused shall "he 
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infomied of the nature and cause of the accusation" against him. U.S. Const. amend. VI. An 

indidrn<:lnt mLLst be sufficiently detailed so that it adequately apprises the defendant of the 

charges, thereby enabling him lo prepare his defense. See United States v. Smith, 230 F.3d 300, 

306 (7 th Cir. 2000), cert. denied, 531 U.S. 1 1 76 (2001). The Indictment in this case is legally 

insufficient in several respects, and therefore, must be dismissed. 

As argued in Defendant's Motion to Dismiss, Counts One through Four of the Indictment 

do not enable this Court to discern w hethcr the charges are sufficient in law to support a 

conviction. In addition, if Defendant is found guilty of Counts One through Four of the 

Indictment, Defendant will not be able to plead double jeopardy as to bar the possibility of future 

prosecutions for the same offense. Finally, one of the most serious insufficiencies of the 

Indictment is that the strncture of Counts One through Four make it impossible to asce1tain 

whether the grand jury voted to return the Indictment on each of the first four counts based on 

the health certificate, the CITES pennit, both, or some parts of both combined. 

In regard to this last argument, the Government contends that the grand jury's decision 

need not be unanimous in order for the Indictment to be valid. See Government's Response, at 

26. The Government cites to Federal Ruic of Criminal Procedure 6(a)( l ), which states that the 

grand jltry shall consist of not less than 16 or more than 23 members. Id. In addition, the 

Government cites to Rule 6(f) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, which states that a 

grand jury may indict only upllTI the concurrence of 12 or more jurors. Although the 

Government accurately quotes Rules 6(a)(l ) and 6(f), the Government appears to misinterpret 

the substance of Defendant's argument. Specifically, LABS' argument is that due to the 

structure of the Indictment, it cannot be detennined whether the grand jurors unanimously voted 

to indict Defendant on Counts One through Four based on the same document. For example, six 
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jurors might have based their vote to indict on a false statement in the health certificate while the 

other six jurors voted to indict based on a false statement in the CITES permit. Thus, although 

1 2  jurors voted to indict, it is not possible to know whether these 12 jurors unanimously voted to 

indict based on one o l' the documents referred to in Counts One through Four, 

Count Five, as drafted, presents the same three sufficiency problems that exist in Counts 

One tlnough Four. Tn particular, it cannot be discerned from Count Five which shipment or 

shipments form the basis for the charge that Defendant violated 16 U.S.C. § 3372(a)(2)(A). In 

addition, it is not clear whether Count Five is charging Defendant with one offense or four 

offenses. 

Tn light of the fact that Counts One through Five do not provide ample detail and fail to 

provide Defendant with its Sixth Amendment right to be informed of !he nature and cause of the 

accusations, these counts must he dismissed. 

C. Count Five Of The Indictment Must Be Dismissed Because It Fails To Allege 
A Provable Or Legally Sufficient Underlying Offense. 

A Lacey Act trafficking violation under 16 U.S.C. § 3372 requires proof of both a 

separate and independent predicate violation of law, as well as proof of  an overlying violation of 

the Lacey Act's list of prohibited acts. See 1 6  U.S.C. § 3372. The underlying violation occurs 

when someone illegally takes, possesses, transports or sells fish or wildlife in violation of any 

state, hldian tribal or foreign law. ld. 1n the instant case, (here is no basis for the Lacey Act 

charge because there is no underlying violation. The macaques at issue in this case were not 

illegally taken, possessed, transported or sold in violation of any state, Indian tribal or foreign 

law. The Government contends that the actions of transferring and selling wild-caught macaques 

from Indonesia to the United States violated the Indonesian Decree, and therefore, these actions 

constitute the underlying Lacey Ac! violation. However, the September 17, 2002, DOF 
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Declaration unambiguously proves that there was no underlying violation of the Indonesian 

Decree. The DOF Declaration specifically states: 

Indonesian law does not prohibit the export of macaques caught in the wild, such 
as unproductive parent stock macaques, if the DOF detem1ines that the macaques 
arc permitted to be exported. The DOF has determined that the export of 
unproductive parent stock macaques is appropriate and consistent with Indonesian 
law . . . . Based on my review of the above-described documents, the issuance of 
the CITES export pem1its for the export of lnquatex's colony of macaques 
complied with all DOF procedures and decrees, including Decree No. 26/Kpts-
11/94. Based on the foregoing, I have concluded that the CITES permits issued 
by DOF to Inquatex for the export of macaques in 1997 were valid CITES permits 
and that the CITES permits complied with Indonesian law, including the Decree. 

See DOF Declaration, i1i1 3, 7-8. in light of the above Declaration provided by the DOF, it is 

apparent that there was no underlying violation of the Lacey Act because the macaques were not 

illegally taken, possessed, transported or sold in violation of any Indonesian law. 

Even if the above-quoted DOF Declaration did not exist, this Court would still be 

required to dismiss Cou.nt Five due to the fact that a single act may not constilule both the 

predicate violation and the overlying violation, See United States v. Carpenter, 933 F.2d 748 (9 th 

Cir, 1 991 ). As Defendant maintained in its Motion to Dismiss, the exporting/importing of 

macaques is a unitary act and cannot cons!i!u!e both !he predicate offense and the overlying 

offense. In its response to the Motion to Dismiss, the Government contends that the predicate 

offense for Count Five is the transportation and selling of the wild-caught primates in violation 

of a foreign law, and that the overlying offense is the importation of wild-caught primates into 

the United States. Sec Government's Response, at 32. The Government farther explains that the 

underlying act is more than just the export of macaques, but instead consists of the transportation 

and sale o f' macaques. Id. at 33. However, export is defined as "lo send or transport abroad 
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merchandise, especially for sale or (rade-"4 Thus, the term "export" and the phrase 

"transportation and sale" have !he same meaning. In conclusion, if the Court does not determine 

that the DOF Declaration renders the existence of a predicate offense a moo( issue, the 

Government's use of a unitary act for both the predicate offense and the overlying offense 

requires the Court to dismiss Count Five_ 

D. Counts Six Through Nine Of The Indictment Must Be Dismissed Because 
They Fail To Allege An Essential Element Of The Offenses Charged. 

Counts Six through Nine charge Defendant with violating 18 U.S.C. § 545. The elements 

of Section 545 are: I )  the defendant fraudulently and knowingly, 2) imported or brought into the 

United States, 3) any merchandise, 4) contrary to law. See Olais-Castro v. United States, 416 

F.2d 1 155, 1 1 58 (9th Cir. 1969)- It is well-established that an indictment must state all of the 

elements of the crime charged. United States v. Smith, 230 F.3d at 305. Ifa  statute provides that 

it is an offense to do a certain act contrary lo law, it is not enough to simply cite that statute and 

to allege that the act was done contrary to law. I Charles Alan Wright, Federal Practice and 

Procedure: Criminal 3d § 24 ( I 999). The indictment must show what other law was violated, 

either hy citation or by a sufficient statement of facts. Id. 

Counts Six through Nine of the Indictment in the instant case neither cite to the law 

which Defendant's acts were allegedly contrary to nor does the Indictment include a statement (lf 

facts that sufficiently indicates the underlying law allegedly violated. Counts Six through Nine 

specifically state: 

[D]efendants herein, did fraudulently and knowingly import into the United Slates 
certain merchandise contrary to law in the shipments, described below, namely, 
wild-caught Macaca fascicularis, knowing the merchandise to have been 
imported into the United States contrary to law_ 

4 Dictionary.com (visited October l ,  2002) <http://www.dictionary.com/search?q=export>. 
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fl.� Indictment, al 1 5 , ii 2. A review of the Indictment indicates that importing macaques inlo the 

United States could have been contrary to several laws. For example, importing macaques into 

the United States could have been contrary to 1 6  U.S.C. §§ 3372(d) and 3373(d)(3)(A)(i) 

(Counts One through Four), 16 U.S.C. § 3372(a)(2)(A) (Count Five), the Indonesian Decree, or 

the United States Fish and Wildlife Service's regulations. 

By inserting language in Paragraph 1 of Counts Six through Nine that "[l)he allegations 

contained in paragraphs I through 37 of Count One arc incorporated as if set forth herein," the 

Government contends that it gave ample notice of which "law" was at issue. However, the 

Lacey Act, the Indonesian Decree and the United States Fish and Wildlife Service 's regulations 

were each discussed in paragraphs 1 through 37 of Count One. Thus, incorporating paragraphs I 

through 37 of Count One into Counts Six through Nine does not shed any light on the "contrary 

to law" issue, but rather mak<!s the issue more confusing. Moreover, the Government's 

Response asserts that Counts Six through Nine are based upon an underlying violation of one 

law, and cite that law. However, Counts Six through Nine and paragraphs I through 37 of Counl 

One, taken together as suggested by the Government, refer to two laws, a foreign decree and a 

set of federal regulations, anyone of which could be the underlying law. 

In addition, the Government cites United States v. Wagstaff, 572 F.2d 270, 273 (Hlth Cir. 

1 978), for the proposition that citation of the law violated by book and page is unnecessary 

where the facts establishing a Section 545 prosecution arc set forth so as to apprise lhe accused 

of the offense he musl meet. See Government's Response, at 39. The court in Wagstaff also 

recognized that: 

Rule 7(c)(I ), F_R.Crim.P., demands that the indictment be "a plain, concise and 
definite written statement of the essential facts constituting the offense charged." 
Also necessary are facts which describe the essential clements of the offense 
intended to be charged. Also, it mu�( be s,1flkicnt to apprise the accused of the 
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nature of the o ffense so that he may adequately prepare his defense. 

Id. at 272-73. In the instant case, Defendant is not contending that the Government should have 

cited the underlying law by book and page. Rather, Defendant is arguing that, at a minimum, the 

facts within the Indictment should have sufficiently apprised Defendant of the nature of the 

offense in order to adequately permit Defendant to prepare a defense. However, tl1e Indictment 

fails to meet this minimum threshold because the alleged facts refer to numerous laws and 

regulations, and Counts Six through Nine do not indicate which law was at issue for the required 

underlying offense. Therefore, Counts Six through Nine must be dismissed bec,wsc they fail to 

allege an essential element of a violation of 1 8  U.S.C. § 545. 

E. Counts One Through Five And Ten Through Twelve Of The Indictment 
Must Be Dismissed Because They Allege Conduct That Comports With The 
Defendant's Reasonable Interpretation Of Applicable Legal Requirements, 
And As Such, The Government Cannot Meet Its Burden of Proof. 

Cdminal charges that are based on laws (hat do not "convey[] sufficiently definite 

warning as to the proscribed conduct" must be dismissed. See Belsic v. Immigration and 

Naturalization Service, 265 F.3d 568, 572 (711
' Cir. 2001). ln this case, Counts One through Five 

and Counts Ten through Twelve arc premised on alleged violations of laws and regulations tliat 

include ambiguous prohibitions.5 LABS' conduct, which was consistent with a reasonable 

interpretation of  those laws and regulations, cannot fom1 the basis for a criminal prosecution. 

See United States v. Whiteside, 285 F.2d 1345 (11th Cir. 2002), 

The Indonesian Decree is the lynchpin of Counts One through Five of the Indictment. 

Counts One through Four of the Indictment allege that Defendant submitted CITES permits and 

health certificates that included false statements in violation of 1 6  U.S.C. §§ 3372(d) and 

5 Whether tl1e United States or foreign law, decree, treaty, or regulations arc ambiguous or 
unambiguous, Defendant LABS' interpretation is one reasonable interpretation. 
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3373(d)(3)(A)(i). The Government's Response does not address LABS' arguments that uone of 

the alleged false statements set forth in Counts One through Four of the fodictment are indeed 

false." Moreover, the Government's only response lo LABS' position that Counts One through 

Four should be dismissed because they are premised on an assumed violation of the Indonesian 

Decree, is that the Indonesian Decree has no bearing on these counts. See Government's 

Response, at 4 1 .  The Government overlooks the fact that these documents were approved and 

issued by the Indonesian government.7 Thus, the documents can only be false, if they are false 

under applicable Indonesian law. See Indictment, at 2-4, �ii 7-1 1 (recognizing that tl1e 

Indonesian DOF was responsible for issuing the CTTES pcnnits for the export of macaques from 

lnquatex to LABS). The Indonesian Decree addresses the export of macaques, and therefore, the 

DOF was required to consider the Indonesian Decree when it issued the CITES permits. 

A September 17, 2002 declaration of Ir. Adi Susmianto, MSc, Director of the DOF 

Directorate responsible for issuing pcm1its to export animals from Indonesia pursuant to CITES, 

l\.lrther supports LABS' position that the infom1ation contained in the CITES permits is not false, 

0 In its Response, the Government describes the alleged false statement in the health certificates 
as "Captive bred born." Government's Response, at 1 5-17. This description is inaccurate and 
misleading. The comp lcte statement contained in the health certificates is "Captive bred born al 
INQUATEX, facilities (Jakarta/Indonesia)." The Government included this description in the 
Indictment. This statement does not mean that a shipment contains "only" captive bred animals; 
it m<;lans lhat the captive bred animals in the shipment were born at foquatex. LABS contends 
that its interpretation of the statement in thtl health certificates is reasonable, and therefore, 
LABS cannot be found guilty of submitting a false statement beyond a reasonable doubt. See 
United Stales v. Race, 632 F.2d 11 14, 1 120 (4"' Cir. 1980). 
7 Counts One through Four of the Indictment should also be dismissed under (he ac( of slate 
doctrine, which prohibits a court from inquiring into the validity of official acts undertaken by a 
foreign sovereign within its territory. See Banco National de Cuba v. Sabbatino, 376 U.S. 398, 
401 ( 1 964). The Government has never asserted that the fodonesian govcnnnent oflicials who 
approved and issued tl1e CITES permits and health certificates were not acting in their official 
capacities nor has it alleged that Indonesian govermnent officials were improperly or unlawfully 
influenced to issue the CITES permits or health certificates. There lore, the Government may not 
cho11lenge the validity of the in !'ormation contained in the documents. 
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and as such, may not subject Defendant to criminal charges. The DOF Declaration stales that 

DOF issued valid CITES permits lbr the export of macaques residing at Tnquatcx's facilities, and 

that the DOF's issuance of the CITES permits complied with the Indonesian Decree, which 

limits the export of macaques to those monkeys that reside at breeding facilities. See DOF 

Declaration, i1i1 3, 6-8. The DOF issued the CITES pennits knowing that lnquatex's colony 

included macaques that were oiiginally obtained from the wild.8 ld. ,r 5. Accordingly, the DOF 

Declaration directly supports Defendant's argument that the two allegedly false statements (i.e., 

"[c]aptive bred specimens, no quota allocated" and "ll(C)") are not statements that any shipment 

contained "only" captive-bred animals. Rather, as Defendant's assert in the Motion to Dismiss, 

[ c ]aptive bred specimens, no quota allocated" means that the colony had captive-bred animals 

and there were no quotas for captive-bred animals in 1 997, and "II (C)" means that the animals 

in the shipment came from breeding or husbandry efforts. The DOF, with knowledge of the 

source of \he macaques and with knowledge of the Indonesian Decree, issued the CITES permits 

in a manner that reflected that knowledge. 9 Under LABS' interpretation of the Indonesian 

Decree, lnquatex needed to obtain pem,ission from the DOF to export the macaques. LABS was 

aware that Inqualex bad requested DOF pem1ission to export the macaques and that DOF had 

granted permission for the export. The Declaration, which supports LABS' interpretation of the 

8 Tr. Susmianto's conclusion was based on bis review of correspondence between Inqualex and 
the DOF, CITES permits issued by DOF, the Indonesian Decree, and internal DOF infomiation. 
See id. ii 2. 
9 In the Motion to Dismiss, Defendant stated that its arguments for dismissal of Counts One 
through Five of the Indictment may also apply to Counts Six through Nine. Defendant maintains 
its position, as originally stated in Part IV of Defendant's Motion to Dismiss and restated in Part 
l.(D) of this Reply, that the Govennnent's failure lo identify a "contrary law" in Counts Six 
tlrrough Nine is  fatal to those counts. However, in the event that the Court determines that 
Counts Six through Nine surltciently apprised Defendant that the underlying offense was a 
violation of 16 U .S.C. §§ 3372(d) and 3373(d)(3)(A)(i) (Counts One tln·ough Four), Defendant 
asserts that the Government will be unable to prove that this underlying offense occurred given 
the existence of the DOF Declaration. 
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Indonesian Decree and LABS' position that the CITES permits are valid and accurate, prevents 

the Government from proving that the CITES pem1its included false statements. Therefore, the 

Court should dismiss Counts One through Four. 

Count Five of the Indictment charges Defendant with a Lacey Act violation, 16 U.S.C. 

§ 3372(a)(2)(A), for importing macaques into the United States. See Indictment, at 13 ,  'I] 2. The 

charging language specifically states that: 

[D]efendants herein, did knowingly import wildlife in interstate and foreign 
commerce, namely, wild-caught Macaca fascicularis, and in the exercise of  due 
care should have known that the wildlife was transported and sold in violation of 
a foreign law, namely, Decree No. 26/Kpts-11/94, which imposed a ban on the 
transportation from Indonesia, that is, the export of wild-caught Macacc, 
fascicularis. 

Id. at 13, 'I] 4. 

The Indonesian Decree, as the asserted predicate offense of Count Five, is the lynchpin of 

that count. The Government contends that the Indonesian Decree unambig,,ously bans the 

export of wild-caught primates from Indonesia. See Government's Response, at 42. The 

Government further argues that the language in the Indonesian Decree, which pem1i(s the export 

of macaques that "come from breeding efforts," can \ll1 I y be interpreted to mean that persons are 

permitted to export primates that are captive bred, but arc prohibited from exporting primates 

that are wild-caught. Id. 

Contrary to the Government's view, the Indonesian Decree, as translated, does not clearly 

and definitely ban the export of wild-caught crab-eating macaques. Due to the fact that the 

Decree does not define the meaning of the phrase "come from breeding efforts," this phrase 

could be interpreted several ways, including allowing the export of macaques that are maintained 

at a husbandry or breeding facility. 
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The DOF Declaration lends farther support to Defendant 's argument. The Declaration 

specifically states: 

The Decree, which has been in effect since January 1994, limits the export of 
macaques to those monkeys that reside at breeding facilities. The purpose of the 
Decree is lo encourage the restocking of macaques at breeding facilities by 
allowing for the export of unproductive parent stock macaques and to prevent the 
capture of macaques from the wild followed by the i1mnediate export of the 
captured macaques. Indonesian law does not prohibit the export of macaques 
caught in the wild, such as unproductive macaques, i f  the DOF determines that 
the macaques are permitted to be exported. The DOF has determined that the 
export of unproductive parent stock macaques is appropriate aud consistent with 
Indonesian law. 

Sec DOF Declaration, al ,r 3. In light of the Declaration, transporting and selling macaques is 

lawful under a reasonable interpretation of the Indonesian Decree. Accordingly, lhe importation 

of macaques into the United States cannot violate the Lacey Act because there was no illegal 

taking, possession, transportation or sale of fish or wildli fe in violation of a foreign law. See 16 

u.s.c. §3372. 

Given that there are multiple reasonable interpretations of the applicable law, whether or 

not that law is ambiguous or unambiguous, aud that Defendant 's reasonable interpretation is 

supported by a Declaration from the Indonesian DOF, the Government could never meet its 

burden of proof for this charge because there will always he this reasonable interpretation. See 

Race, 632 F.2d at 1120 ("one cannot be found guilty of a false statement under a contract beyond 

a reasonable doubt when his statement is within a reasonable construction of the contract."). 

Therefore, Count Five must be dismissed. 

Finally, regarding Counts Ten through Twelve, the Government asserts that the language 

in 50 C.F.R. § 14.!0S(b), the regulation upon which these counts are based, is "crystal clear." 

Govermuent's Response, at 43. The Govenrment does not address the reasonableness of LABS' 

interpretation of Section 14.105(b)(2). Rather, the Govermnent presents its own interpretation of 
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Section 1 4. 105(b )(2) as requiring that nursing mothers and unweaned young shall not be shipped 

unless for medical purposes. Td. The Government's interpretation ignores the structure and 

language of the regulation. The regulation stales that "[a) nursing mother with young, an 

unweaned mammal unaccompanied by ils mother, or an unweaned bird shall be transported only 

if the primary puip0SC is for needed medical treatment . . . . " 50 C.F.R. § 14.105(b)(2). If the 

regulation prohibited the shipment of nursing mothers accompanied by their unweaned infants, 

as urged by the Government, there would be no need for the regulation to list two separate 

categories relevant to maimnals: nursing mothers with young and unwcancd mainmals 

unaccompanied by their mothers. Furthennore, if the regulation was intended to prohibit the 

shipment of unweaned mammals whether or not accompanied by their mother, the regL1lation 

could have simply prohibited the shipment of unweaned mainmals, just as il prohibited the 

shipment of"unweancd birds." Instead, U1e regulation is concerned about protecting the mother

infant bond at a stage when the infant still relics on its mother for nourishment by ensuring that 

the infant will not be separated from its mother while it is still nursing. Al a minimum, the 

Government's alternative interpretation of Section 14.105(b)(2) indicates that there is mor� than 

one interpretation or the regulation. As such, lhe Government is unable to prove beyond a 

reasonable doubt that LABS' actions were based on an unreasonable interpretation of the Section 

l4. I05(b)(2). See Race, 632 F.2d at 1 120. Therefore, Counts Ten through Twelve must be 

dismissed. 

II. A Bill of Particulars Is Necessary To Ensure That LABS Is Fully And Specifically 
Informed Of The Nature Of The Charges Against It. 

A bill of particulars should be granted when an indictment fails to "sel forth essential 

elements of the offense charged" and fails to "sufficiently apprise[] the defendant or the charges 

to enable him to prepare for trial." Unite.\! States v. Kendall, 665 F.2d 126, 1 34 (7th Cir. 198 1 )  
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(quotation omitted). A bill or  particulars is also mandated when an indictment "fails to set forth 

specific facts in support of requisite elements or the charged offense, and the in formation is 

essential to the defense." United States v. Criilllli), 579 F.2d 340, 347 (5 th Cir. 1978). LABS' 

Motion for a Bill of Particulars requests that the Government provide additional particularization 

regarding Counts One through Four and Counts Six through Nine of the Indictment. LABS' 

Motion is extremely detailed and includes a rationale for each request for particularization. See 

LABS' Motion for a Bill o f  Particulars, at 9-13. For example, regarding Counts One through 

Four, LABS explains that it is entitled to know the victim of LABS' alleged false statements, as 

well as what infonnation is false, who made the alleged false statements, and how the defendant 

caused the alleged false statements to be made. See id. at 11-12. 

The Government's Response docs not address any of LABS' specific requests for 

particularization nor docs it acknowledge or counter the arguments proffered by LABS in 

support of the Motion. Instead, the Government describes the standards applicable to a request 

tor a hill of particulars and summarily concludes that the Defendants "seek information which 

has already been provided to them but also information to which they are not otherwise entitled." 

Government's Response, ,11 46. LABS has carefully reviewed the Indictment and all documents 

produced by the Government. 1 ° Contrary to the Government's position, LABS does not possess 

inforn1ation that answers its requests for particularization. Moreover, the Government has not 

identilicd which requests for particulaii,\a(ion seek information to which LABS is not entitled. 

The Government's conclusory arguments in response to LABS' Motion do not meaningfully 

address the bases for LABS' Motion and provide m, legitimate justification for denying LABS' 

I ll Defendant LA BS has not received any responses from the Government to LABS' discovery 
requests contained in letters dated May 16 and May 29, 2002. At the Status Conference on July 
10, 2002, the Government advised the Court that it planned to respond to all of the Defendants' 
discovery requests. 
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Motion. As such, this Court should grant LABS' Motion and require the Government to serve 

LABS with a bill of particulars that complies with LABS' request for particularization. 

Ill. The Indictment Improperly Includes Irrelevant And Prejudicial Statements That 
Must be Stricken. 

Pursuant to Federal Rule of C1i111inal Procedure 7(d), the court may strike surplusage 

from an indictment. This rule "introduces a means of protecting the defendant against 

immaterial or irrelevant allegations in an indictment . . .  which may, however, be prejudicial." 

Fed. R. Crim. P. 7(d) advisory committee's note. The Government's statement that references to 

Bionetics and to baksheesh "were not included, as Labs claims, as a means of prejudicing the 

defendants," does not excuse or remedy the prejudicial impact of those stakmenls. 

Government's Response, at 4 7. 

The Indictment's references to Bionetics as the owner of LABS, to the positions held by 

Defendants Stem and Henley at Bionetics, and to Defendant Stem's ownership interest in LABS 

are irrelevant to the charges brought in the Indictment. Moreover, the reference to Bionelics' 

purchase of' LABS is inaccurate. The Government's suggestion that a technical amendment 

could be employed if Bionetics did not purchase LABS does not cure the prejudicial impact of 

the Bionetics-related statements that would remain in the Indictment. See Government's 

Response, at 48. The Goverrnnent's asserted purpose for including references to Defendant 

Stem's ownership interest in Bionelics is to "show[] the relationship between and the motives of 

the parties." Id. Bionetics is not a party to this case. Furthermore, none of the charges in the 

Indictment directly state or even suggest that Bionetics had a role in any of the Defendants'  

alleged conduct. 

The Government also states that it "intends lo present evidence to show that Stem and 

Hen Icy, as officers of a larger entity, were interested in acquiring the Indonesian colony for 
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profit-related reasons and not necessarily for medical research purposes." Govermnent's 

Response, at 48. LABS does not dispute that it is a business established to, among other things, 

make a profit. However, whether or not LABS is a "for profit" or "not for profit" business has 

no bearing on the issues in this case. In addition, since Bionetics is not an owner of LABS, 

whether or not Stem and Henley are officers of a "larger entity" (i.e., Bionetics) is irrelevant and 

immaterial to Stem and Henley's actions as directors of LABS. The inclusion of references to 

Bionctics in the Indictment creates the incorrect and prejudicial impression that LABS has a 

parent company that is financially and legally responsible for LA BS' actions or the actions of 

any of the named Defendants. The Government has not presented any valid basis for including 

references to Bionetics in the Indictment, and therefore, these references must be stricken. 

In addition, the Government's claim that references to "baksheesh" arc highly relevant to 

the case, has no basis. The inclusion of references to baksheesh, which the Government 

incorrectly characterizes as a bribe, will improperly focus the attention or the jury on alleged 

wrongful behavior that has not been charged in the Indictment. The Government contends that 

the references to baksheesh arc probative of Defendants' knowledge of the falsity of documents 

or a violation of hldonesian law. See Government's Response, at 49. However, the 

Government's position is based on its mischaracterization of a memorandum that includes a 

reference to baksheesh and its misconception of the meaning or hakshccsh. The memorandum 

the Government mentions in the Indictment docs not state that Person A had actually "cut a 

baksheesh deal." Rather, the memorandum only includes a speculation by Person B regarding 

Person A's conduct without any basis in fact. Moreover, the Government's description of 

haksheesh as a bribe is both inaccurate and prejudicial. Person A testi fied before the grand jury 

that he gave a "tip" to DOF after the first permit was granted and that snch gratuities are a 
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custom in Indonesia. As LABS explained in its Motion to Strike, baksheesh is a gratuity or tip to 

expedite service; it is not a payment to influence the actions of government officials. Based on 

the foregoing, the Government 's inclusion of references in the Indictment to baksheesh, and 

especially the Government's definition of baksheesh as a bribe, does no( have any probative 

value and unfairly prejudices LABS. Therefore, the references to baksheesh must be stricken. 

IV. The Issuance Of Letters Rogatory Is Required To Obtain Information That Ts 
Essential And Material To LABS' Defense. 

Letters rogatory are fom1al requests from a United States court addressed to a foreign 

court "seeking its assistance in gathering evidence from witnesses residing there." U.S. v. Sensi, 

879 F.2d 888, 899 (D.C. Cir. 1989). Letters rogatory can encompass requests for testimony or 

documentary or other evidence. Seo 28 U.S.C. § 1 782. Defendants' Request for International 

Assistance ("Defendants' Letters Rogatory"), which accompanies the Motion for Issuance of 

Letters Rogatory, requests documents and deposition testimony from Indonesian government 

officials and private citizens. Defondants' Letters Rogatory requests documents and deposition 

testimony from individuals in Indonesia regarding several subjects including, but not limited to: 

the origin or the macaques that were part of the lnquatex colony; communications between 

Inquatex and LABS conceming the sale of (he Inquatex colony to LABS; Indonesian laws, 

regulations, and decrees governing the export of macaques; and several aspects of the Indonesian 

government's review and approval of Inquatex's export of the macaques. See Defendants' 

Motion Requesting Issuance of Letters Rogatory, at 9-10; id. Exhibit l ,  at 6-7. 

The Government's sole basis for objecting to Defendants' request is that the "government 

does not intend to prove that bribes were actually paid to secure the CITES permits at issue or 

the mind set of the Indonesian officials who authorized the permits' issuance." Government's 

Response, at 55. The Government fi.1rthcr assetts that the "focus of the inquiry in this case is on 
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the defendants' own knowledge and the impact of lhal knowledge on the shipping documents 

they received." Id. The Government inaccurately characterizes Defendants' LeHers Rogatory 

and the Government's own case. First, Defendants ' Letters Rogatory arc not limited to requests 

for testimony and information regarding whether bribes were paid to Indonesian government 

officials for the issuance of CITES permits or the mind set of those government officials when 

they issued the permits. In fact, only a small percentage of the document requests and deposition 

questions relate to payments or offers of payments to lndonesian government officials or 

employees or to the "mind set" of the individuals who authoriz,ed the CITES permits. See 

Defendants' Motion Requesting Issuance of Letters Rogatory, Exhibit 1. As explained above 

and in Defendants' Motion Requesting the Issuance of Letters Rogatory, Defendants seek 

testimony and documents regarding numerous issues that are material to Defendants' defense. 

Second, Defendants ' Letters Rogatory, including the requests that relate lo payments or 

money to Indonesian government officials and the mind set of Tndonesian o fficials who 

authorized the issuance of ClTES permits to Inquatex, concern information that is highly 

material to this case. Contrary to the position presented in the Government's Response, the 

Government' s  case is  not limited to LABS' knowledge and its impact on shipping documents 

received. Indeed, the Government acknowledges in its Response lhal il is  "seeking to ensure 

through this action the validity of the exportation of Indonesia's wildlife . . . . " Govenunent's 

Response, at 36-37. Given that the Indonesia DOF approved the export, and that lnquatex, and 

not LABS, applied for and obtained the CITES export permits, evidence regarding the validity of 

lhe exportation or Indonesia's wildlife can only be obtained lrom private individuals in Indonesia 

and government officials and employees in Indonesia. Although LABS was aware that lnquatcx 

had requested permission from DOF to export the macaques, LABS was not part of that process. 
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Moreover, the charges in the Indictment require proof of elements that have no 

relationship to LABS' knowledge. For exfilllple, Counts One through Four of the Indictment 

allege that LABS violated 16 U.S.C. § 3372 by knowingly "submit[ting] a false record, account, 

label for, and a false identification of' wildli fe, namely, CITES permits and health certificates . . .  

. " Indictment, a( 11 ,  ii 38. One of the elements of this offense is proving beyond a reasonable 

doubt that the statements alleged by the Government to be false are in fact false. The CITES 

permits and health certificates were issued by Indonesian authorities who did not have any 

contact with LADS. Therefore, evidence from relevant Indonesian autho,ities, as well as from 

Tnquatex and its officers and employees, regarding the rationale for the marmer in which lhe 

CITES permits and health certificates were completed is essential for LABS to adequately 

defend its position that the CITES permits and health certificates do not contain false 

statements.1 1  In addition, Count Five of the Indictment alleges that LABS knowingly imported 

macaques and in the exercise of due care should have known lhat the importation violated a 

foreign law in violation of 16 U.S.C. �S 3372(a)(2)(A) and 3373(d)(2). The Government 

identi fies the foreign law as the Indonesian Decree. LABS' knowledge is only one element of 

the offense charged in Count Five. The Government must also prove that the importation of the 

macaques from Indonesia actually violated the Indonesian Decree. Evidence from DOF (the 

agency that issued the Indonesian Decree and has responsibility for interpreting and applying the 

Decree) regarding the meaning and p,trposc of the Indonesian Decree is highly material to 

LABS' case. If LABS can demonstrate that its importation of macaques did not violate the 

Indonesian Decree, then lhe Government will not be able to prove Count Five. 

1 1  If the Court agrees with the Government's position that Counts Six through Nine of the 
Indictment incorporate an underlying violation of 1 6  U.S.C. § 3372(d), i.e., Counls One through 
Four, then LABS would also assert that it is essential for LABS to obtain information from 
Indonesia to prepare its defense to Counts Six through Nine. 

24 
Obtained by Rise for Animals.

Uploaded to Animal Research Laboratory Overview (ARLO) on 09/20/2020



Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 76 Filed: 10/10/02 Page 27 of 29 PageID #:416

;. 

Finally, the Government's reliance on U.S. v. Korogodsky, 4 F.Supp.2d 262 (S.D.N.Y. 

1 998), i s  misplaced. In Korogodsky, the defendant was charged with wire fraud related to a 

scheme to defraud 30 Russian firms by collecting advance payments from the fim1s for prodL1cts 

when the defendant had no intention of providing the products to the Russian firms. Id. at 264. 

The defendant requested issuance of letters rogatory to obtain evidence regarding the Russian 

!inns' miscomluct and certifications concerning the reliability of foreign contracts and bank 

documents. Id. at 265. The court allowed the defendant to obtain evidence regardi ng the 

reliability of the contracts and bank documents. Id. at 267. However, the court refused to issue 

letters rogatory regarding the Russian flm1s' alleged misconduct because it is not a defense that 

the victims of fraud may have engaged in misconduct. Id. at 265-66. Unlike the defendant in 

Korogodsky, Defendants' Letters Rogatory are justified because \hey seek evidence regarding 

essential elements of the charges brought by the Government. Based on the foregoing, issuance 

of  Delendants' Le\ters Rogatory is required to enable Defendants to obtain information that is 

material and critical to the defense in this case. 

CONCLUSION 

Wherefore, for the reasons set forth ahovo, and any additional reasons staled at any oral 

hearing, Defendant requests this Court: 

I )  grant LABS' Motion to Dismiss and issue an Order dismissing the Indictment in 

its entirety against Defendant LABS; 

2) or in the alternative, 

a) grant LABS' Motion for Bill of Patticulars and issue an Order directing 

\he Government lo serve LABS with a Bill of Particulars; and 

b) grant LABS' Motion to Strike, at1d issue atl Order striking the portions of 

the Indictment listed in LABS' Motion; and 
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c) grant Defendants' Motion Requesting Issuance of Letters Rogatory, issue 

an Order approving the issuance of Letters Rogatory, execute the Letters 

Rogatory, and require the Clerk of the Court to execute and append the 

seal of this Court (o the Letters Rogatory. 12 

GREENBERG TRAURlG, LLP 
800 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, D.C. 20006 
(202) 33 1 -3100 

Local counsel : 
Robert H. King, Jr. 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, P.C. 
77 West Wacker Drive 
Suite 2500 
Chicago, Illinois 6060 I 
(312) 456-8400 

October 9, 2002 

Respectfully submitted, 

1 2 Defendants' Letters Rogatory, as filed, include a post office box address for Mr. Agus 
Dannawan because Defendants were unaware of a street address for Mr. Dannawan at the time 
of filing their Request for Issuance of Letters Rogatory. If the Court decides to grant 
Defendants' request, !hen LABS reserves the right to supplement the Le((ers Rogatory to include 
a street address for Mr. Damiawan. 
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Nlinute Order Form (06/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Name of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 
or Magistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 DATE 11/4/2002 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 
,. 

TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e_g_ plaintiff, defendant, 3rd party plaintiff, and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(I) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

■ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion'' box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due _ __ . 

Answer brief to motion due _ __ . Reply to answer brief due _ __ . 

Ruling/Hearing on _ __ set for ___ at ___ . 

Status hearing re-set for 11/27/2002 at 9: 15 A.M .. 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Trial[ set for/re-set for] on ___ at ___ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to ___ at ___ . 

This case is dismissed [with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreement/pursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(m) □ Local Rule 4l.I □ FRCP4l(a)(l) □ FRCP4l(a)(2). 

(IO) ■ [Other docket entry] Status hearing set for 11/6/02 is vacated. Status hearing set for 11/27 /02 will 

be by telephone. The Court will rule on all pending motions on 11/27 /02 at 9: 15 a.m. The parties will 

not need to appear in open court. Counsel should arrange to have all parties on the line and then call 
chambers at (312) 435-5878. From today's date until 11/27/02 is excluded pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 
316l(h)(l)(F) and 18 U.S.C. 3161(h)(8)(A)(B). (X-E and X-T). 

(11) □ [For further detail see order (on reverse side ofi'attached to) the original minute order.] 

No notices required, advised it1 open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

✓ Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 form. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 
courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

Date/time received in 
central Clerk's Office 

number of notices 

da,:e docketed 

docketing deputyLS.Is 

date mailed notice 

mailing deputy initlals 
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Minute Order Fonn (06/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Name of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 
or Magistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 - all DATE 11/27/2002 

CASE US A vs. Labs of Virginia, Inc., et al. 
TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff, defendant, 3rd party plaintiff, and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

■ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due ___ . 

Answer brief to motion due _ __ . Reply to answer brief due _ __ . 

Ruling/Hearing on _ __ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Status hearing held and continued to 1/10/2003 at 10:00 A.M .. 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Trial[set for/re-set for] on _ __ at ___ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to _ __ at _ __ . 

This case is dismissed [with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreement/pursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(m) □ Local Rule 41.1 □ FRCP4!(a)(l )  □ FRCP4!(a)(2). 

(10) ■ [Other docket entry] Oral argument on defendants' motions for bill of particulars and defendants' 
motion for issuance of letters rogatory set for 1/10/2003 at 10:00 a.m. From today's date until 1/10/03 
is excluded pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 316l(h)(l)(F) and 18 U.S.C. 316l(h)(8)(A)(B). (X-E and X-T). 

(11) □ [For further detail see order (on reverse side o£'atrached to) the original minute order.] 

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

✓ Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 form. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 

courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

number of notices 

date docketed 

docke!mg deputy initials 

date mailed notice 

mailing deputy initlllls 
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IVlinme Order Form (06/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

l\ame of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge it' Other 
or Magistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 - a:!\ DATE 11/27/2002 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, Inc., et al. 

TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff, defendant, 3rd party plaintiff, and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(I) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due _ __ . 

Answer brief to motion due _ __ . Reply to answer brief due ___ . 

Ruling/Hearing on _ __ set for ___ at _ __ .. 

Status hearing[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for __ _  at__ . 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for __ _  at ___ . 

Trial[ set for/re-set for] on _ __ at __ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to ___ at _ __ . 

This case is dismissed [with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreernent/pursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(m) □ Local Rule 41.1 □ FRCP4l(a)(I) □ FRCP4l(a)(2). 

( 10) ■ [Other docket entry] Defendants Charles J. Stern and William Curtis Henley's motions to dismiss 

Count 5 of the indictment under the void for vagueness doctrine [36-1], motion to dismiss Count 5 of the 

indictment under the act of state doctrine [3 8-1], to dismiss Count 5 of the indictment for failure to allege 

an essential element of the offense (no predicate act) [40-1], motion to dismiss Count 5 of the indictment 

for failure to allege any factual basis for the offense [ 42-1] and motion for severance [ 4 7-1] are denied 

for the reasons stated on the record and in the govermnent's response. 

(11) □ [For further detail see order (on reverse side of/attached to) the original minute order.] 
No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

✓ Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 form. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 
courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

HJOO'.) l'.Jil:USIG ·s·n 
\,1 )-i-_17� 

t,C' -C' t,,01 L Z !\OH ZO 
Iv •v h 

n�-037\A 
Date/time received in 
central Clerk's Office 

number of notices 

date docketed 

date mailed notke 

mailing cieputy initials 

I' 
'
I 
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rvlmute Order Form (06/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

�ame of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 
or Magistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02CR312-cd\ DATE 11/27/2002 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, Inc., et al. 
TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e_g_, plaintiff, defendant, 3rd party plaintiff, and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented_] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(I) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due _ __ . 

Answer brief to motion due ___ . Reply to answer brief due ___ . 

Ruling/Hearing on _ __ set for _ __ at ___ . 

Status hearing[held/continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on __ _  set for ___ at ___ . 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on __ set for _ __ at ___ . 

Trial[set for/re-set for] on _ __ at _ __ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to _ __ at _ __ . 

This case is dismissed [with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreernent/pursuaut to] 
□ FRCP4(m) □ Local Rule 41.1 □ FRCP4l(a)(l )  □ FRCP4l(a)(2). 

( I 0) ■ [Other docket entry] Defendant Labs of Virginia Inc.' s motion to strike portions of the indictment 
[27-1], and motion to dismiss [28-1] are denied for the reasons stated on the record and in the 

government's response. Defendant David M. Taub's motion to dismiss the indictment [30-1] is denied 

for the reasons stated on the record and in the government's response. 

(11) □ [For further detail see order ( on reverse side o£'attached to) the original minute order.] 

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

✓ Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 fonn. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 

courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

number ofnolices 

OEC O 2 Wt!?. 
date docke1ed 

date mailed notice 

(pite&.i}�@Jie� la:! 
central Clerk's Office mailing depu:y initials 
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;vlinute Order Form (06/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Name of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 

or Magistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 DATE 1/3/2003 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 

TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff, defendant, 3rd party plaintiff, and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.} 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(I) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due _ __ . 

Answer brief to motion due _ __ . Reply to answer hrief due _ __ . 

Ruling/Hearing on ___ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Status hearing[held/continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for ___ at ___ · 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on __ set for ___ at ___ · 

Trial[set for/re-set for] on ___ at ___ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to _ __ at _ __ . 

This case is dismissed [with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreement/pursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(m) □ Local Rule 41.1 □ FRCP4l(a)(l) □ FRCP4l(a)(2). 

(10) ■ [Other docket entry] Enter Consent Order. Defendant David Taub's request for leave to travel 

outside the United States is granted. Defendant is granted leave to travel to Merida Yucatan, Mexico from 
January 30, 2003 through February 6, 2003. 

(11) ■ [For further detail see order attached to the original minute order.] 

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

✓ Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 form. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 

courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

number ofnolic:es 
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UNITED STATES DISTRJCT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRJCT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERJCA 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

No.02 CR 0312 
V. 

Judge Castillo 
LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. 
DAVID M. TAUB 

Magistrate Judge Bobrick 

CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III 

CONSENT ORDER 

I. David Taub, Defendant in the above-captioned action, seeks Leave of the 

Court to travel outside of the United States to Merida Yucatan, Mexico from January 30 

through February 6, 2003. 

2. The purpose of Mr. Taub's visit is both business and personal vacation. 

He will be accompanied on the trip by Scott Graber, Esquire, an attorney of record in this 

matter. 

3. Assistant United States Attorney Diane MacArthur has been notified of 

this request and has consented to grant ofthis request. 

Based upon the foregoing, it is hereby, 

ORDERED that Defendant David M. Taub is granted permission to travel outside 

of the United States to Merida Yucatan, Mexico, departing on January 30, 2003 and 

returning on February 6, 2003. 

SIGNED this 3�ay of January, 2003. 

Hon. Ru ii Castillo 
U.S. District Court Judge 
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'vlinute Order Form (06/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

�ame of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 
or Magistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 - all DATE 1/10/2003 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 

TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff, defendant, 3rd party plaintiff, and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(I) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

■ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due _ __ . 

Answer brief to motion due _ __ . Reply to answer brief due ___ · 

Ruling/Hearing on ___ set for _ __ at ___ . 

Status hearing held and continued to 1/31/2003 at 10:00 A.M .. 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Trial[set for/re-set for] on _ __ at _ __ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to ___ at _ __ . 

This case is dismissed [with/wifuout] prejudice and wifuout costs[by/agreement/pursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(m) □ Local Rule 41.1 □ FRCP4l(a)(l )  □ FRCP4 l (a)(2). 

(10) ■ [Oilier docket entry] After due consideration of all the relevant pl,adings and the arguments of counsel, 
defendants' motions requesting issuance ofletters of rogatory and defendants' motions for a bill of particulars are 
all granted for the reasons stated in open court. The parties are directed to confer and prepare a narrower proposed 
letters rogatory which allows for the deposition of five persons and the related production of relevant documents 
on or before 1/17 /03. A response to the bill of particulars will also be due on 1/17/03. From today's date until 

1/31/03 is excluded pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 3161(h)(l)(F) and 18 U.S.C. 316 l (h)(8)(A)(B). (X-E and X-T). 

(11) □ [For further detail see order (on reverse side o£1attached to) fue original minute order.] 

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

✓ Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 form. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 

courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

Date/time receiyed-i_n-· ·. '. J 
cet(frai C\tj°{ds·ct>ffiie � l .J 

number of notices 

JAN�13 2003 

\\ 
I I 

date mailed n tice 

mailing deputy niti.als 
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Ynr.ute Order Form (06/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Name of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 
or Magistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312- all DATE 1/16/2003 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 
TITLE 

MOTTON: 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintift: defendant, 3rd party plaintiff, and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4 )  

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due ___ . 

Answer brief to motion due _ __ . Reply to answer brief due _ __ . 

Ruling/Hearing on _ __ set for ___ at ___ . 

Status hearing[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on ___ set for _ __ at ___ . 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on __ set for _ __ at ___ . 

Trial[set for/re-set for] on _ __ at __ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to _ __ at _ __ . 

This case is dismissed [with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreernent/pursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(rn) □ Local Rule 41.1 □ FRCP4l(a)(l) □ FRCP4l(a)(2). 

(10) ■ [Other docket entry] This Court's 1/10/2003 minute order is amended as follows: The parties are 

directed to confer and prepare a narrower proposed letters rogatory which allows for the deposition of five 

persons and the related production of relevant documents on or before 1 /24/03. A response to the bill of 
particulars will also be due on 1/24/03. 

(11) □ [For further detail see order (on reverse side o£1attached to) the original minute order.] 

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

✓ Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 form. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 

courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

~ �J .;J - __ ; -Dat&mhe received in 
central Clerk's Office 

number of notices 

date mailed notice 

mailjng depu1y initials 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 

LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. 
DAVIDM. TAUB, 
CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY ill 

TO: Michael L. Fayad, Esq. 
Greenberg Traurig 
800 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, D.C. 20006 

Gerald A. Peffer, Esq. 
David Zinn, Esq. 
Williams & Connolly 
725 12m Street, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 2005-5901 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

No. 02 CR 312 
Judge Ruben Castillo 

NOTICE OF FILING 

Samuel J. Buffone, Esq. 
Ropes &Gray 
One Franklin Square llfut..k 1301 K Street, N.W., Suitr!l,�'f"i'�ft 
Washington, D.C. 2005-�� I Ci., 

2 7 20lJJ 

I� 
( 

"'so 
") 

,;,,,,,_;,m:Y
"'i 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on January 24, 2003, the undersigned filed with the Clerk of this 
Court, GOVERNMENT'S CONSOLIDATED RESPONSE TO DEFENDANTS' BILLS OF 
PARTICULARS, service of which is being made upon you. 

STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
) ss 

COUNTY OF COOK ) 

Respectfully submitted, 

PATRICKJ. FITZGERALD 
United States Attorney 

By: ��Crt) 
Assistant United States Attorney 
219 South Dearborn Street, 5000 
Chicago, Illinois 60604 
(312) 353-5352 

Phyllis Knobbe, being first duly sworn on oath, deposes and says that she is employed in the Office of the 
United States Attorney for the Northern District of Illinois; that on January 24, 2003, she caused a copy of 
the foregoing Motion to be faxed and mailed to the above individuals. 

£�D�o beforeme 
this "'day ofJan , 2003. 

����-;I._!�-

"OFFICIAL SEAL" 
Joan J. Poninski 

Notary Public, State of Illinois 
M)' Commission Exp. 05/21/2005 Obtained by Rise for Animals.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

vs. 

LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. 
DAVID M. TAUB, 
CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III 

No. 02 CR 312 
Judge Ruben CastillcJ> 

i"' ;; /) 
t r 

DOc,1,r�.,.m··. J/ •.V:; 1 ·.n .•. llkc;J ' / 1 
.JAN ��. . . ····. 

. 

GOVERNMENT'S CONSOLIDATED RES��N�JDIJi,'· L.:. · 
. '· 

DEFENDANTS' BILLS OF PARTICULARS 

The United States of America, by its attorney, Patrick J. 

Fitzgerald, United States Attorney for the Northern District of 

Illinois, respectfully responds to the Bills of Particulars of 

defendants Labs of Virginia, Inc. ("Labs") , David M. Taub, Charles 

J. Stern, and William Curtis Henley III as follows: 

A. BILL OF PARTICULARS OF LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. 

l. "Identify and particularize the Government theory as 

to why the term 'baksheesh' means 'bribe.'" 

The Merriam-Webster Dictionary defines baksheesh to mean 

"payment (as a tip or bribe) to expedite service." 

In June and July 1996, then-Labs employee Patrick Mehlman 

visited the Inquatex facility in Indonesia in order to inspect the 

colony of primates which Labs was interested in purchasing. On or 

about July 11, 1996, after Mehlman had returned to the United 

States, Mehlman distributed a memo to the Labs "Board of Directors" 

(of which defendants Taub, Stern and Henley were members at the 

time). Mehlman stated in the memo, among other things, that since 

Obtained by Rise for Animals.
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exporting wild-caught primates was clearly against Indonesian law 

unless some exception were written, Agus Darmawan, Inquatex's 

owner, had gone to the Indonesian government and had cut a 

"baksheesh" deal to pay them off. 

As I [Mehlman] developed idea about longer term 
arrangements, Agus [Darmawan] kept talking about worries that 
government might stop export or that animal rights problems 
might arise. He did not want to outright sell to us for that 
reason. I said that I could propose that he would be silent 
partner, lease us the property, and we would run colony at 
costs, monkeys would be ours. He would out, could do 
administrative for us, but he would have steady income on 
lease. Whenever not profitable, we terminate relationship. 
Breeding stock over there costs less than $100 each. 

Perhaps he knows something about Indonesia's plans for 
the future that he is not sharing with us, but he clearly was 
expressing some anxiety that if we did business with him, 
something negative would occur in the future. I never did get 
him to disclose on that one. My own personal view of his 
reason for selling is that he's losing his shirt. His 
operating costs are at least $720,000 since start up (at 
$180,000 operating costs per year for at least four years -
conservative figure) . His start up costs were at least 
$300,000, so his put a million in this. He has exported 508 
animals. If he's received $1000 per animal he is short about 
$500,000. This advice he got from everyone that colony bred 

animals are the wave of the future has not paid off for him, 

so he has gone to the Indonesian government and cut a 

baksheesh deal to pay them off so that he can export feral 

caught animals {that clearly violates their law, unless some 

exception is written). With the export of the breeding stock 
and our payment to him of $700-800,000, he perhaps breaks even 
and even makes a couple of thousand dollars. This would 
explain his anxiety about the future. If he's cutting a deal 

with government, he's worried about Animal Rightists or others 

finding out that he's exporting feral caught, and the possible 

withdrawal of government from the deal. That's my best guess. 

This brings up the last issue. If we are going to get 
involved in a deal where feral caught animals are sold from a 
colony and the colony is restocked with more ferals, we could 
come under fire for engaging in anti-conservation behavior. 

2 
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We are violating the spirit of the CITES convention. . I 
had the most trouble getting any clear answers from him 
[Darmawan] on questions related to the future . . . .  I got as 
much as I could, but he got vague on me on that one. I just 
get the feeling that he is in cahoots [sic] with Indonesian 
government. Also, he got CITES for blood export really 
quickly. He dines at a big expensive restaurant under the 
offices of Indonesian Fish and Wildlife (and joked about 
taking them there), and he has been trafficking in birds and 
fish for a couple of decades. We went to the bird market 
together, and it was obvious that Agus had status. He's been 
around. 

Labs Nos. 005070-05072)1 (emphasis supplied). 

Mehlman, Labs's own employee, then, used the word "baksheesh" 

to mean "bribe" (as opposed to "tip" or "gratuity") when he 

discussed Darmawan's "cutting a deal [with the Indonesian 

government] to pay them off. " Similarly, Mehlman, in the same 

memorandum, talked about his feeling that Darmawan was in "cahoots" 

with the Indonesian government. 

2. "Identify any persons alleged to have offered, made, 

or accepted payments of baksheesh or a bribe." 

Mehlman included as "Table l" to his July 11, 1996 memorandum 

a chart captioned "Cost of Running Inquitex [sic] As It Was 

Described to Me." Labs No. 05073. Mehlman listed certain items as 

expenses on a "per month basis in U. S. dollars. " Id. One line 

item, listed between "transportation" and "diesel for electricity" 

was "CITES charity" in the amount of "$300." Id. Mehlman then 

listed "12, 450" as the "total" of the monthly expenses and after 

1 "Labs No." refers to document production numbers placed 
by Labs and/or Bionetics on documents they produced in response to 
an earlier-served grand jury subpoena in this case. 

3 
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that figure listed "charity" in the amount of "1000." Id. 

Mehlman's monthly breakdown of expenses, then, appears to include 

approximately $1,300 in monthly payments of CITES "charity. " Labs, 

as part of the Purchase Agreement executed in January 1997, agreed 

to pay $0.30 per monkey per day as maintenance fees between the 

date on which the Purchase Agreement was executed and November 30, 

1997. Labs No. 06282 ('l[ 3.2.4) .2 Labs's payment of this 

maintenance fee, at least for the first month after entering into 

the Purchase Agreement and before the first O'Hare shipment, 

roughly equals this $13, 450 "charity" -inclusive monthly expense 

breakdown . 3 Labs, then, by paying monthly maintenance expenses, 

indirectly but knowingly funded Darmawan' s practice of making 

baksheesh payments as a part of his business operations. 

In November 1998, during an interview with Special Agent David 

Kirkby, Darmawan agreed with the statement that he (Darmawan) paid 

baksheesh to Indonesian Wildlife Management Authority officials for 

2 This paragraph reference is to a document :Labeled "final 
draft" of the Purchase Agreement. The government did not receive 
from Labs pursuant to the grand jury subpoena a final and/or an 
executed Purchase Agreement. 

3 The Purchase Agreement refers to 1, 312 monkeys as being 
in the colony at the time of the purchase. Labs No. 06278 ('l[ 3.1). 
Labs, then, paid approximately $11, 808 the first month in 
maintenance fees for all 1, 312 monkeys until the first shipment 
occurred ( (1, 312 x $0.30) x 30 days = $11, 808.00). This amount, 
when $1, 000 is added to it for charity as reflected in Mehlman's 
memorandum, roughly equals the$ $13, 450 per month which Mehlman 
was told it took to run Inquatex on a monthly basis. 

4 
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the purpose of exporting the illegal monkeys to Labs and that the 

officials made the shipments look legal. Darmawan also stated 

during the interview that, during his 1996 visit with the 

defendants in the United States before the Inquatex deal was 

finalized, he (Darmawan) described generally to the defendants his 

payment of baksheesh to Indonesian Wildlife Authority officials. 

Darmawan testified in the grand jury that he (Darmawan) gave 

individuals in the CITES permit office a $50. 00 tip when he 

submitted the CITES applications. Tr. 76. Darmawan testified that 

the tip was given to the clerks and that the clerks were to split 

up the tip among the various employees. Id. Darmawan also 

testified that after the first CITES application was granted, he 

gave a particularly large tip, approximately $250, to the 

Indonesian Management Authority because he was happy his 

application had been granted. Id. at 79. Darmawan further 

testified that he told Mehlman during Mehlman' s visit at the 

Inquatex facility, that as part of Darmawan's operating expenses 

Darmawan would be required to pay charity or tips to Indonesian 

wildlife officials. Id. at 85. 

The government notes that, while the shipments at issue in 

this case concluded by the end of May 1997, Labs itself expressed 

willingness to pay baksheesh in November 1997 in order to resume 

the shipment of monkeys following the Paris incident and Air 

France's refusal to transport any more monkeys from Indonesia. 

5 
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Taub stated in a memorandum to Stern dated November 28, 1997 that 

" [s] taying out of Chicago [O'Hare] and going into Atlanta [as the 

port of entry for the next shipment] is a must, and if we have to 

pay a little 'bachshish' to get this done, it is money well spent. " 

Labs No. 06083. 

3. "Particularize the amount of all alleged payments of 

baksheesh or a bribe." 

The amounts of the documented baksheesh payments are set forth 

above in the Response to Request No. 2. Mehlman's estimate of 

Inquatex' s monthly expenses, as explained to him by Darmawan, 

included a total of $1, 300 in CITES "charity. " Darmawan described 

his payment of a total of $300 in baksheesh after the first CITES 

applications were approved by Indonesian officials. Darmawan made 

it clear, however, to the defendants during his visit to the Labs 

facility in 1996 that he paid baksheesh to the Indonesian Wildlife 

Authority officials as part of his business dealings. It is 

likely, then, that there were additional (but undocumented) 

payments to ensure that the four O'Hare shipments at issue in this 

case took place. 

4. "Particularize the alleged purpose of any alleged 

payments of baksheesh or a bribe." 

The purpose of the baksheesh payments was to secure from the 

Indonesian government: (a) approval of the CITES applications; and 

(b) the issuance of CITES permits and health certificates 

reflecting that the shipments contained captive-bred monkeys 

6 
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without reference to the fact that the shipments contained 

productive wild-caught monkeys as well. 

5. "Particularize the Indonesian government action alleged 

to have occurred as a result of alleged payments of 

baksheesh or a bribe." 

The Indonesian government, on four separate occasions and in 

connection with each O'Hare shipment, issued CITES permits and 

health certificates which reflected, respectively, that the 

shipments contained captive-bred monkeys and that the monkeys had 

been "captive-bred born" at the Inquatex facility. The shipments, 

in fact, contained productive wild-caught monkeys, i. e. ,  monkeys 

that had not been captive-bred or born in captivity at the Inquatex 

facility. The CITES permits and health certificates, then, made it 

appear as if the shipments complied with the Indonesian ban against 

the export of wild-caught monkeys when the shipments, as the 

defendants in this case knew or in the exercise of due care should 

have known, did not so comply. 

6. "Particularize the Government theory as to the relevance 

of any alleged baksheesh deal, or payments of baksheesh 

or a bribe, to the charges alleged in the Indictment." 

The defendants wanted to purchase a breeding colony for use at 

its own United States-based facility. From the outset, the 

defendants knew that there were significant problems associated 

with the export of the Inquatex colony for this purpose. The 

defendants knew, from its own research and the various documents 

exchanged between the parties that the Inquatex colony contained 
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wild-caught monkeys and they also knew, because Mehlman, among 

others, told them, that Indonesian law prohibited the export of 

wild-caught monkeys unless some exception were written. 

The defendants placed the burden on Darmawan to secure the 

requisite Indonesian-based documents, including the CITES permits, 

in order to allow the shipments to take place. The CITES permits 

and other documents that Darmawan sent to the defendants in advance 

of each shipment clearly reflected that the shipments contained 

captive-bred monkeys with no reference to the fact, as defendants 

well knew, that the shipments contained wild-caught monkeys as 

well. The defendants also knew that the document which Darmawan 

presented from the Department of Forestry, the so-called 

"exception" to the Indonesian ban on the export of wild-caught 

monkeys, clearly referred to the export of unproductive wild-caught 

monkeys. The defendants knew that the wild-caught monkeys in the 

shipments were, in fact, productive and that the productive nature 

of the Inquatex colony was the reason for purchasing it in the 

first place. 

The disconnect or dis-juncture between what the defendants 

knew to be the demographics of the colony and what the CITES 

permits and health certificates reflected is what makes the issue 

of baksheesh relevant to this case. The defendants were told 

repeatedly that Darmawan relied heavily on baksheesh to influence 

Indonesian officials. 
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There are other documents in the defendants' possession which 

also put the defendants on notice about payments to government 

officials. On or about August 30, 1996, for example, Barry Brant, 

one of Agus Darmawan' s United States-based representatives, sent to 

defendant Stern by telefax a letter in which Brant stated that 

Darmawan would incur "substantial additional cost to obtain 

government approval allowing the transfer of the colony to LABS. " 

On or about February 17, 1997, Dr. George Ward, Labs's veterinarian 

who was in Indonesia at the time, wrote a letter to Taub in which 

he stated as follows: 

"that [Darmawan's ability to sell 1,000 primates per year] 
doesn't appear to be a problem given his connections with the 
local F [ish] & W [ildlife]. It is very impressive to me - I 
needed 6 months to complete all steps ( 9) in exporting a 
monkey from Bangkok and Agus [Darmawan] can accomplish (albeit 
only 6 steps here) it in 1½ weeks. Of course the 'charity' is 
a very important aspect. I'm still not convinced what our 
long range relationship should be. You have to look closely 
at past performance - it obviously didn't work for Peter 
Savage. " 

Typed notes of Dr. Ward about his trip to Indonesia also contain 

the statement "Agus has 'established' good connections - can obtain 

all permits necessary to ship monkeys in less than two weeks. Took 

GSW [Dr. Ward] six months in Thailand. " Labs No. 05619. 
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7. "Specify the paragraph in the Purchase Agreement, or 

in the CITES Treaty that requires the buyer, in this 

case, LABS, to provide the other, in this case, Inquatex, 

any documentation filed by LABS as part of the CITES 

permit process." 

Paragraph 2.1 of the "Final Draft" of the Purchase Agreement 

(Labs Nos. 06269-06298) provides in pertinent part as follows: "It 

is understood that Seller's [Inquatex] obligations under this 

Agreement are contingent upon the Seller successfully obtaining the 

required permits and consents of the governmental authorities of 

Indonesia to export the Colony to the United States and the Buyer's 

[Labs] obligations under this Agreement are contingent upon the 

Buyer successfully obtaining the required permits and consents of 

federal and state authorities in the United States to import the 

Colony from Indonesia and to keep it in the United States. 

No. 06278. 3 

Labs 

Paragraph 2. 2 of the Purchase Agreement provides in pertinent 

part as follows: "Upon execution of this Agreement, each party 

shall diligently proceed to secure the required governmental 

permits and consents, and each party shall regularly advise the 

other of its progress and provide copies of all applications and 

3 Similarly, Paragraph 4 .1. 2 provides "Seller [Inquatex] 
shall be responsible for securing any and all governmental permits 
and consents necessary and required to export the Monkeys from 
Indonesia, including the CITES permit and all necessary export 
documentation" (Labs No. 06283) and Paragraph 5 . 1.1 provides "Buyer 
[Labs] shall secure any and all governmental permits and consents 
to import the Monkeys into the United States." (Labs No. 06284) . 
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other documents filed in connection with obtaining such permits and 

consents. . Each party shall promptly forward to the other 

copies of the governmental approvals obtained by such party as 

contemplated by Section 2 .1 hereof." Labs No. 06278 (emphasis 

supplied) . 

8. "Identify 'Person A' and 'Person B.'" 

Person A is Patrick Mehlman and Person B is Agus Darmawan. 

9. "Particularize the CITES Treaty section ( s) or CITES 

permit instructions which render [the notations in 

the CITES permits for the four shipments at issue 

about 'crab-eating macaques' and '[c]aptive-bred 

specimens, no quota allocated' and the designation 

'II(C)'] [to be] false." 

Article VI, paragraph 2, of the Convention on International 

Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora ("CITES") 

provided in pertinent part that "Appendix II shall include: (a) all 

species which although not necessarily now threatened with 

extinction may become so unless trade in specimens of such species 

is subject to strict regulation in order to avoid utilization 

incompatible with their survival; and (b) other species which must 

be subject to �egulation in order that trade in specimens of 

certain species referred to in subparagraph (a) of this paragraph 

may be brought under effective control." Crab-eating macaques, or 

macaca fascicularis, were included on Appendix II at all relevant 

times in this case. In November 1994, during the Proceedings of 

the Ninth Meeting of the Conference of the Parties to CITES, 
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Resolution 9. 3 was adopted. This resolution standardized the codes 

and the meaning of the codes to be used on CITES permits. The 

resolution directed that the letter "C" be used to designate 

shipments containing species which contained " [a] nirnals bred in 

captivity in accordance with Resolution Conf. 2 . 12, as well as 

parts and derivatives thereof, exported under the provisions of 

Article VII, paragraph 5 of the Convention (specimens of species 

included in Appendix I that have been bred in captivity for non

commercial purposes and specimens of species included in Appendices 

II and III)." The Resolution also included in "Annex 1" as 

" [i] nforrnation that [s]hould [bl e [i]ncluded in CITES [p] errnits and 

[c] ertificates" the following categories, among others, of 

inforrna tion: "h) [ t] he appendix in which the species or subspecies 

or population is listed; i) [t] he source of the specimen; j) [t] he 

quantity of specimens and, if appropriate, the unit of measure 

used; . . p) [t] he actual quantity of specimens exported. " 

The CITES permits in this case referred to "captive-bred" 

specimens without reference to the wild-caught monkeys that each 

shipment at issue contained. The use of "captive-bred," then, was 

false. The CITES permits also each contained the standardized 

notation "II (C) . " The fact that each shipment also contained wild

caught monkeys also rendered the use of the II (C) notation false. 

The government does not contend that the phrase "no quota 

allocated" was false. There was no quota allocated by Indonesia 
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for the export of macaca fascicularis at the time of the shipments 

at issue in this case. 

10. "Particularize the CITES Treaty section ( s) or CITES 

permit instructions which make the statements [concerning 

'crab-eating macaques' and '[c] aptive-bred specimens, no 

quota allocated' ] applicable to the actual respective 

shipments from the Inquatex facility to LABS." 

Indonesia was a party to CITES at the time of the relevant 

shipments and each shipment of crab-eating macaques in this case 

was governed by CITES . Each shipment utilized a standard form 

bearing the CITES logo next to the CITES full name (Convention on 

International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora) . 

Each permit bore a CITES stamp upon issuance. 

11. "Particularize the CITES Treaty section(s) or CITES 

permit instructions that indicate that the two statements 

[concerning 'crab-eating macaques' and '[c]aptive-bred 

specimens, no quota allocated' ] refer to the contents of 

the shipments or a description of the shipments." 

See Response to Request No. 9 above. The standard permit 

forms as to the four relevant shipments contain a large box (Part 

"VIII") which contains the descriptive notation ( in English and 

Indonesian) "The above mentioned permittee is authorized to export 

the wild fauna and flora specified hereunder. " (Emphasis 

supplied.) The "II (C)" notation on each of these forms appears 

under the smaller box within this box labeled (again in English and 

Indonesian) "Source." This standardized designation, as noted 

above, means that permission is given as to the export of monkeys 

"bred in captivity." An asterisk appears in the next box labeled 
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in both languages with "Total exported (Quota) ." In Box IX 

("Special Conditions") , below the above-described large box, the 

asterisk is explained on each of the permits at issue with the 

notation "captive bred specimens, no quota is allocated." The 

"captive-bred" notation is in keeping with the II (C) designation 

and the "no quota allocated" is in keeping with the fact that there 

was no quota allocated at that time. The CITES form as to each 

shipment also contained a notation at the bottom that the "Original 

[of the form] (Accompanies the specimen)." 

12. "Particularize the CITES Treaty section ( s) or CITES 

permit instructions which limit the statements [about 

'crab-eating macaques' and '[c]aptive-bred specimens, no 

quota allocated' and the designation 'II(C)'l in such a 

way as to mean 'only' captive bred, as in exclusively 

captive bred." 

Conference Resolution 9. 3 (described above) defines "C" to 

mean "bred in captivity. " The definition does not include any 

reference to wild-caught monkeys and/or to monkeys not bred in 

captivity, i. e., in the wild. The permits at issue in this case 

also did not refer in any way to the fact that the shipments which 

they authorized and with which they were associated contained wild

caught monkeys. 

13. "Identify any United States and Indonesian agencies 

or authorities to whom the CITES permit applications 

were submitted and the CITES permits were submitted." 

The government does not know currently with certainty the 

Indonesian agencies to which the CITES permit applications and the 
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CITES permits were submitted. The government notes, however, that 

the standard forms used in this case bore the notation next to the 

CITES logo "Ministry of Forestry of the Republic of Indonesia 

Directorate General of Forest Protection and Nature Conservation. " 

In the United States, the CITES permits ultimately submitted to the 

Unites States Fish and Wildlife Service Division of Law 

Enforcement. 

14. "Identify and 

that a nexus 

particularize 

exists between 

the 

the 

Government 

statements 

theory 

[about 

'crab-eating macaques' and '[c]aptive-bred specimens, no 

quota allocated' and the designation 'II(C)'l and any 

function of a United States agency." 

The United States Fish and Wildlife Service has been delegated 

the responsibility of enforcing CITES and, as a part of that 

responsibility, ensuring that shipments of CITES wildlife into the 

United States are legal and that the records that accompany the 

shipments are accurate. See, e. g., 16 U.S.C. § 1538 (c) (1) (It is 

unlawful for any person subject to the jurisdiction of the United 

States to engage in any trade in any specimens contrary to the 

provisions of the [CITES] Convention. . ")  and 16 U.S. C. § 

3372 (d) ("It is unlawful for any person to make or submit any false 

record . or any false identification of, any wildlife 

. which has been transported . . in foreign commerce 

. " ) .  The words "captive-bred specimens" and the designation 

"II (C) " on a shipment which actually contains wild-caught monkeys 

renders the shipment illegal and the accompanying records false. 
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These violations are therefore within the jurisdiction of the 

United States Fish and Wildlife Service. 

15. ":Identify and particularize who placed the alleged1y 

false information on the CJ:TES permits." 

The government does not know the identity of the specific 

individual in Indonesia who typed the CITES permits for the 

shipments at issue in this case. The government notes however, 

that, as to each shipment, the defendants received copies of the 

applicable CITES permits before each shipment took place. 

16. ":Identify and particularize the Government theory 

that the health certificate is one of the documents 

required by United States laws and regulations or 

:Indonesian export-related laws or regulations." 

Count One, paragraph 10 of the indictment alleges that 

" [cl ertain documents must also accompany and be presented with each 

[wildlife] shipment. " No specific documents, however, are 

described in this paragraph. Later, in Count One, paragraph 14, 

the indictment alleges that the word "records" in Lacey Act Section 

3372 (d) , "includes . health certificates. " Count One later 

alleges that the defendants, in connection with each shipment, 

submitted false CITES permits and health certificates. See, e. g. , 

Count One, �� 28, 31, 34, 37. It is not a part of the government's 

theory, then, and the government need not prove, that (as stated in 

the Request) "the health certificate is one of the documents 

required by United States laws and regulations or Indonesian 

export-related laws or regulations. " Instead, the government has 
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alleged and must prove that the health certificates which Labs did 

submit were false. The government notes, however, that Title 50, 

Code of Federal Regulations, Section 14.52 (c) (2) provides in 

pertinent part that to obtain clearance for the entry of a shipment 

into the United States, the importer must submit " [a] ll permits, 

licenses or other documents required by the laws and regulations of 

the United States." Similarly, Section 14.52 (d) provides that the 

importer must provide " [al 11 permits or other documents required by 

the laws or regulations of any foreign country." Title 7, United 

States Code, Sections 2131-2159 ( "The Animal Welfare Act") 

regulates, among other things, the transportation of animals in 

interstate and foreign commerce . Title 9, Code of Federal 

Regulations, Section 2.  78 {a) provides in pertinent part that "[n] o 

dealer . [or] broker . shall deliver to any intermediate 

handler or carrier for transportation, in commerce, or shall 

transport in commerce any . nonhuman primate unless the 

nonhuman primate is accompanied by a health certificate executed 

and issued by a licensed veterinarian. " 

17. "Identify and particularize the United States or 

Indonesian law or regulation, or the health certificate 

instructions which limit the statement on the health 

certificate [concerning captive-bred born at 

INQUATEX facility (Jakarta/Indonesia)'] in such a way to 

mean 'only' captive-bred, as in exclusively captive

bred.11 

The government is not currently aware of any Indonesian law or 

regulation which is specifically responsive to this request. 
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Section 3372 (d) of The Lacey Act, 16 U.S.C. § 3372 (d) , provides in 

pertinent part that " [i] t is unlawful for any person to make or 

submit any false record, account, label for, or any false 

identification of, any . . wildlife which has been 

imported, exported, transported, sold, purchased, or received from 

any foreign country; or . . .  transported in interstate or foreign 

commerce. " Health certificates containing the notation "captive

bredborn at INQUATEX facility" accompanied shipments at issue in 

this case. The shipments contained wild-caught monkeys, monkeys 

which, based on common sense alone, cannot if wild-caught be 

"captive-bredborn." The Health Certificates also did not contain 

any reference to wild-caught monkeys being part of the shipments. 

18. ":Identify any United States 

or authorities to whom the 

submitted." 

and :Indonesian agencies 

health certificate was 

The government is not currently aware of the specific 

Indonesian agencies or authorities to whom the health certificates 

were submitted. Upon entry into the United States, however, the 

broker who handled the transportation of the shipments from Chicago 

to South Carolina submitted the paperwork accompanying the 

shipments (including the health certificates) to any or all of the 

following agencies for inspection: the Unites States Fish and 

Wildlife Service, the United States Department of Agriculture and 

the United States Department of Public Health. The U.S. Fish and 
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Wildlife Service maintained copies of the health certificates in 

the files associated with the shipments. 

19. theory "Identify and particularize the Government 

that a nexus exists between the statement 

[concerning 'captive-bred born at INQUATEX 

(Jakarta/Indonesia)'] and any function of 

facility 

a United 

States agency." 

Section 3372 (d) of The Lacey Act, 16 U.S.C. § 3372 {d) , 

provides in pertinent part that " [i] t is unlawful for any person to 

make or submit any false record, account, label for, or any false 

identification of, any . . wildlife . which has been 

imported, exported, transported, sold, purchased, or received from 

any foreign country; or . . .  transported in interstate or foreign 

commerce." Health certificates containing the notation "captive

bredborn at INQUATEX facility" accompanied shipments at issue in 

this case. Section 3375 of the Lacey Act provides in pertinent 

part that " [t] he provisions of this Act and any regulations issued 

pursuant thereto shall be enforced by the Secretary [of the 

Interior] Such Secretary may utilize by agreement the 

. services . of any other Federal Agency [such as the U .S. 

Fish and Wildlife Service] for purposes of enforcing this 

Act.,, 

20. "Identify and particularize who placed the allegedly 

false information on the health certificates." 

The government is not currently aware of the actual individual 

who placed the false information on the health certificates. The 
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name of the individual who certified the health certificates, 

however, appears on the face of the certificates. 

21. "Defendant requests the particularization of the theory 

and identity of the victim of the fraudulent conduct." 

The government does not have a "theory" about the victim of 

the defendants' fraudulent conduct because the "identity of the 

victim" is not as a part of the government's burden in this case. 

The government notes, however, that there are multiple victims from 

defendants' conduct which include: (1) the monkeys themselves; and 

( 2) the exporters and importers who do comply with the law by 

submitting true and accurate documentation. 

22. "Defendant requests the Government to identify which 

law makes the importation of the wild-caught macaca 

fascicularis a violation." 

Counts Six through Nine of the indictment charge that Labs and 

Taub "did fraudulently and knowingly import into the United States 

certain merchandise contrary to law . , namely, wild-caught 

Macaca fascicularis, knowing the merchandise to have been imported 

into the United States contrary to law. " The "contrary law" 

for purposes of Counts Six through Nine, is set forth in Paragraphs 

12 through 14 of Count One. These paragraphs, which are 

incorporated by reference in Counts Six through Nine, provide as 

follows: 

12. The Lacey Act, Title 16, United States Code, Section 
3371 et seq., among other statutes, governs the importation of 
species included in Appendix II of CITES into the United 
States. Section 3372 (d) of the Lacey Act provides in 
pertinent part that " [i] t is unlawful for any person to make 
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or submit any false record, account, label for, or any false 
identification of, any . . wildlife . . which has been . 

imported, exported, transported, sold, purchased, or 
received from any foreign country; or transported in 
-interstate or foreign commerce. " 

13. The term "person," as used in the Lacey Act, 
includes corporations. 

14. The "records" to which Section 3372 refers includes, 
among other documents, CITES permits and health certificates, 
and the labels or identifications contained therein. 

The indictment does not allege and the government need not 

prove that there is a specific United States-based law that makes 

it illegal to import wild-caught Macaca fascicularis from 

Indonesia. The illegality charged in the indictment flows instead 

from the false nature of the importation documents, the defendants' 

fraudulent importation of the monkeys through the use of false 

documents, and the illegal importation of nursing mothers with 

unweaned young. 

B. BILL OF PARTICULARS OF DAVID M. TAUB. 

1. "[T] he identity of 'Person A' referenced in paragraph 6 

of Counts One through Four of the Indictment." 

Person A is Patrick Mehlman. 

2. "[T] he identity of 'Person B' referenced in paragraph 6 

of Counts One through Four of the Indictment." 

Person B is Agus Darmawan. 
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3. "[T] he counts of the Indictment as to which Dr. Taub is 

alleged to be guilty, in whole or in part, as to 18 

u.s.c. § 2. 11 

The government is not clear as to what information Taub seeks 

through this request. Taub is not charged with specific violations 

of 18 U. S. C. ss 2 in the indictment. The government has not yet 

determined whether it will submit as part of the jury instructions 

Seventh Circuit Pattern Instruction No. 5. 06 concerning acting 

through another or aiding and abetting responsibility. 

4. "[Tl he legal, statutory or regulatory basis for the 

allegation in paragraph 10 of Counts One through Four of 

the Indictment that '[c] ertain documents must 

accompany and be presented with each shipment' of 

wildlife imported into the United States." 

See 50 C.F.R. § Section 14. 52 (c) (2) provides in pertinent part 

that to obtain clearance for the entry of a shipment into the 

United States, the importer must submit " [a] 11 permits, licenses or 

other documents required by the laws and regulations of the United 

States. " Similarly, Section 14.52 (d) provides that the importer 

must provide " [a] 11 permits or other documents required by the laws 

or regulations of any foreign country." 

5. "[Tl he legal, statutory or regulatory basis for the 

allegation in paragraph 14 of Counts One through Four of 

the Indictment that the records referred to by section 

3372 include CITES permits and/or health certificates." 

Section 3372 (d) of The Lacey Act, 16 U. S. C. § 3372 (d), 

provides in pertinent part that " [i] t is unlawful for any person to 

make or submit any false record, account, label for, or any false 
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identification of, any . . wildlife . which has been . 

imported, exported, transported, sold, purchased, or received from 

any foreign country; or . . .  transported in interstate or foreign 

commerce. 11 The health certificates were among the records 

submitted by Labs in connection with each of the four shipments. 

The health certificates each contained the false notation "captive

bredborn at INQUATEX facility." 

6. "[T] he particulars of the ' 'baksheesh' deal' referenced 

in paragraph 19 of Counts One through Four of the 

indictment including, without limitation, the identity of 

any person alleged to have made, accepted, or offered a 

bribe or bribes; the amount of any alleged bribe or 

bribes, the frequency of any alleged bribe or bribes; and 

what was given up or obtained as a result of any alleged 

bribe or bribes." 

See the responses to Labs Request Nos. 1-6 above. 

7. "[T] he LABS officer, agent, or employee alleged to have 

submitted the health certificates referred to in 

paragraphs 28, 31, 34, 37, and 38 of Counts One through 

Four of the Indictment." 

Labs used Tower Group as its broker in connection with the 

four shipments at issue. Labs employee Donna Jones submitted the 

documentation to Tower Group in connection with each shipment. The 

Tower Group then gave the documents to agent Anthony P. Carbatta. 

(The government has been informed that Mr. Carbatta is no longer 

associated with Tower Group.) Mr. Carbatta then gave the documents 

to the United States Fish and Wildlife. 
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8. "[T]he LABS officer, agent, or employee alleged to have 

submitted the CITES permits referred to in paragraphs 27, 

29, 32, 35, and 3 8  of Counts One through Four of the 

Indictment." 

See response to Taub Request No. 7 above. The government also 

notes that the Labs files, at the time of the United States Fish 

and Wildlife 1997 inspection of the facility, contained the 

following relevant documentation as to the last three of the four 

O'Hare shipments: 

Shipment 
Date 

04/10/97 

05/01/97 

05/30/97 

Documents 

(a) CITES permit stating "captive-breed." 

(b) Health Certificate stating "captive-bred. " 

(c) Observation in shipping notes that shipment 
contained mothers nurturing their young. 

(d) List of primates in shipment with DOBs. 

(a) CITES permit stating "captive-breed." 

(b) Health Certificate stating "captive-bred. " 

(c) List of primates in shipment with DOBs. 

(a) CITES permit stating "captive-breed. " 

(b) Health Certificate stating "captive-bred. " 

(c) List of primates in shipment with DOBs. 
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9. "[T] he person, agency or entity to whom the allegedly 

false CITES permits and/or health certificates referred 

to in paragraph 38 of Counts One through Four of the 

Indictment are alleged to have been submitted." 

The United States Fish and Wildlife Service received the 

original CITES permits accompanying the shipments and at least 

copies of the health certificates accompanying each shipment. 

Other agencies which reviewed the paperwork at the time the 

shipments entered the United States through O ' Hare may also have 

received copies of the shipping and/or importation documentation. 

10. "[T] he primates alleged to have been 'productive wild

caught crab-eating macaques' {Indictment, Count Five, � 

3 )  • " 

The early focus of then-Labs employee Patrick Mehlman was to 

determine the proj ected productivity levels of the Inquatex colony. 

This focus on productivity permeates the Labs-based documentation 

of the negotiations for the purchase of the colony. See, e.g. , 

Labs Nos. 05204 (Labs wants parent breeding stock of 5 3 3  adults 

within 6 months) ; 05210 ( handwritten notation "533  adult breeders " 

on demographic profile) ; 06186 ( Shipping Protocol divided between 

"parent breeders" and "colony-bred" offspring) ; 06215 ( letter from 

Stern to Darmawan in which Stern states " [w ] e understand the need 

to send bred animals together with the breeders. ") . These 

documents establish that Labs viewed the adult monkeys in the 

colony as "breeders. " The Purchase Agreement set forth the 

requirement that each shipment was to contain 1.5 j uvenile monkeys 
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for each adult monkey shipped. Each shipment, then, contained 

adult monkeys which, in Labs ' s  view, contained productive monkeys. 

The number of wild-caught monkeys in each shipment can be 

determined by comparing the list containing the dates of birth of 

each monkey in the colony with the tattoo numbers of the monkeys 

involved in each shipment. Labs well knew that Darmawan created 

his colony in 1991. Thus, any monkey 6 years old or older in the 

colony was wild-caught and not captive-bred. The fact that each 

shipment contained a mix of wild-caught and captive-bred monkeys 

(and that the defendants knew it) is also apparent from the way in 

which Labs described the monkeys in each shipment. The Labs 

documentation categorizes the monkeys in each shipment as either 

"adults" or as "captive breds. " See, e. g. ,  Labs Nos. 05416, 05554. 

11. "[Tl he primates alleged to have been 'nursing mothers 

with young' (Indictment, Counts Six through Nine, � 9)." 

The tattoo lists for the final three O ' Hare shipments 

reflected the number of nursing mothers and young in each shipment. 

In addition, Labs documentation demonstrates that the defendants 

were well aware of and approved the inclusion of nursing mothers 

and unweaned young in the shipments. See. e. g. , Labs Nos. 05565, 

05585, 05624, 05635. The government also notes that Taub admitted 

to the United States Fish and Wildlife Inspector during the 1997 

inspection of the Labs facility that he knew that Labs had shipped 

nursing mothers with unweaned young. Similarly, during Mehlman ' s  
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wrongful discharge trial, Stern testified that nursing mothers and 

unweaned young had been shipped. 

12. "[T] he particulars of the 

paragraph 2 of Counts 

Indictment." 

alleged fraud referred to in 

Six through Nine of the 

The fraud alleged in Counts Six through Nine occurred when 

Labs and Taub imported monkeys in four separate shipments through 

the use of documents which misrepresented the true source of the 

monkeys and the contents of each shipment. The fraud was 

significant because the shipping records concealed the fact that 

the shipments contained monkeys which had not been approved for 

export from Indonesia, i. e., productive wild-caught monkeys, and 

which were protected from export by Indonesian law. 

13 . "[T] he victim of 

paragraph 2 of 

Indictment." 

the alleged 

Counts Six 

fraud referred to 

through Nine of 

See the response to Labs Request No. 21 above. 

14. " [T] he object 

paragraph 2 

Indictment." 

of 

of 

the alleged 

Counts Six 

fraud referred to 

through Nine of 

in 

the 

in 

the 

The object of the fraud alleged in Counts Six through Nine was 

to transfer the newly-purchased Inquatex colony from Indonesia to 

the United States. 
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C. BrLL OF PARTrCULARS OF CHARLES J. STERN AND wrLLrAM CURTrS 

HENLEY rrr. 

1. Ro1e of Stern and Henley in rmportation of Monkeys. 

The documents previously produced by Labs and Bionetics in 

this proceeding are replete with examples of the actions taken by 

Stern and Henley about the importation of the Inquatex colony. 

These documents show that Stern and Henley, among other things, 

participated in the importation of the Inquatex colony through: (a) 

their active participation in the negotiations to purchase the 

colony including meeting with Darmawan in person in 1996; (b) their 

receipt of memoranda prepared by Patrick Mehlman describing the 

origins and demographics of the colony; (c) their frequent if not 

daily receipt of copies of the communications Taub sent to or 

received from Darmawan including CITES permits; (d) their review 

and approval of letters Taub drafted to Darmawan about the purchase 

of the colony and the shipment of the monkeys within it; (e) their 

direct communication with Darmawan about certain aspects of the 

transaction; (f) their approval of the payment of the monthly 

maintenance fees to Inquatex while the shipments were ongoing; and 

(g) their direction of the manner in which the shipments would 

occur. 

2. Knowledge of Stern and Henley about Wild-Caught Monkeys. 

The knowledge of Stern and Henley about the wild-caught nature 

of the monkeys in the Inquatex colony is also apparent from the 

documents Labs and Bionetics produced earlier in this case. See, 

28 
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g_,_g_,_ ,  Labs Nos. 052 81 (attachment to Mehlman memo which reflects 

that Inquatex had 668 "conditioned macaques (the ones from the 

wild) " and "breed" macaque"); 06215 (letter from Stern to Darmawan 

in which Stern stated " [w] e understand the need to send bred 

animals together with the breeders") ; 06254 (letter from Mehlman to 

Stern and Henley in which Mehlman stated that, unlike the Inquatex 

deal, a deal for a Chinese colony "follow [ed] the spirit of CITES, 

i . e . ,  we are only exporting purpose bred animals, not wild 

caught"). 

Darmawan also talked with Stern and Henley about the wild

caught nature of the monkeys in his colony during the 1996 visit. 

During the meeting, for example, Stern asked Darmawan how he was 

going to export feral monkeys to the United States knowing there 

was a ban. Mehlman also discussed with Stern and Henley his 

concerns that Darmawan would be able to get a CITES permit for the 

Inquatex colony. 

By : 

29 

Respectfully submitted, 

PATRICK J. FITZGERALD 
United States Attorney 

�h4L 
DIANE MacARTHUR 
Assistant U.S . Attorney 
219 South Dearborn Street 
Chicago, Illinois 60604 
(312) 353-5352 
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United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

�a.me of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 
or '.\1.agistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 - all DATE 1/27/2003 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 
TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff, defendant, 3rd partyplaintif( and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(\) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

■ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due ___ . 

Answer brief to motion due ___ · Reply to answer brief due ___ · 

Ruling/Hearing on ___ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Status hearing re-set for 2/6/2003 at 9:30 A.M .. 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on ___ set for ___ at ___ . 

Trial[set for/re-set for] on ___ at ___ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to ___ at __ . 

This case is dismissed [with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreementlpursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(m) □ Local Rule 41.J □ FRCP41(a)(l) □ FRCP41(a)(2). 

(IO) ■ [Other docket entry] Status hearing set for 1/31/2003 is vacated. Ruling on all pending motions 
reset to 2/6/2003 at 9:30 a.m. 

(11) 

.r 

□ [For further detail see order (on reverse side of/attached to) the original minute order.] 

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 form. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 

courtroom 
deputy's 
initials -·- ' ' 

I, t -: - -T)at.s;ltime.ieceived in 
.,_, __. c��1tral Clerk's Office 

number or notices 

AN 2 8 2003 date docke1ed 

docketin� 
1/2712003 

dale mailed notice 
RO 

mailing deputy init!als 
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In the Matter of 

United States of America 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

FILED 

.IAN 3 1 ?003 
v. Case Number: 02 CR 3 l 2 

MICHAEL W. DOBBINS 

CLIIIK, u.a. DIITRICT COURT Judge: Ruben Castillo 
Labs of Virginia, Inc., et al. Magistrate Judge Mason 

APPEARANCES ARE HEREBY FILED BY THE UNDERSIGNED AS ATTORNEY(S) FOR: 

Labs of Virginia, Inc. 

Charles J. Stem 

William Curtis Henley ITT and David M. Taub 
(A) 

SIGNATUIU:; 

NAMP. 

f!RM 

DOCKETED 
FEB 4 2003 

( \ rfB) 

SJGNATUil-.� 
�� b(Y, (J 

NAMF. · �.Imes G. Richmond 
FIRM Greenberg T rauri<' P.C. 

/''\ 

u 
. 

STREiET Allllll.RSS S.TREET APllll.P.SS 77 West Wacker Drive. Suite 2500 
CJTY/STAH)l:11' CITY/STATr.l/11' Chicago, Illinois 6060 I 
TP.U:IPI IONE NUMflFJt I FAX NUMBl:iR TE1U1PIIONE NUMBER 312-456-8400 I FAXNUMIJJ:;ll, 312-456-8435 
E-MAI I .. Af>DRE1SS richmondj@gllaw.com E-MAIi. ADDROSS 

lnENTIFICATJON r-,.:UMDER (SEE ITl:::M 4 ON REVEIRSl:i) IDE�HJFKATJON NUMBEiR (SCE Jl'f!M 4 0� REVERSE) 06206371 

:-,..i1-:MH!".R OF TRIAL- BAil-'/ YES 
□ 

NO 
□ 

MEMBP.R OF TRJAL BAil-'/ YES 
Pl! 

NO 
□ 

TRIAL AT'fOR1':EY.1 YES 
□ 

NO 
□ 

TFJAL A l'TOR'l'-.llY.' YES 
□ 

NO 

YtS I!! NO 
□ DESl(jNATf:D AS LOCAL- C(ll,INSEL? 

(C) (D) 

SIUN/<"l'lll<F. SlUNA'lllRT:'. 

NAM!-; NAM!:; 

FIRM FIRM 

STM.1-:1-:'l' ADDRESS STRl:i�T ..\DfJRIJSS 

CJTYl!:iTATF.IZIP CITYISTATi-:Jl.lF> 

TH.P..nJONE NUMl:lt'.lt I !'A� NUMBER I fAX NUMl:W,M. /7/ TELEi'H01-f'. "l,,'l.'MililR 

P.-MAILADDRCSS P.-MAIL ADDRl:iSS �{ /) 
lllll.NTlfllCATION NUMHF.R (Siiii ITEM 4 ON l(P..VIiRSii) Jlll-:NTIFICATION NUMIHl.R (Sllll ITEM 4 ON KP.VF.RSI!) V 

Mf:MfJER OF TRIA1- �AR? yi::s 
□ 

NO 
□ 

Yi:::S 
□ 

NU 
□ MEMBEfl. OF TRJAL BAJl.'1 

TIUAI, A'fTORNilY.' YES n NO n TRIAL ATTOM.NF.Y-1 Yll.S n NO 

[)P.SICNATEDAS LOCAi.COUNSEL'' Yl::'.S 
□ 

NU 
□ 

llESICrN"ATnD AS LOCAi. COlJNSl:.L'.I YES 
□ 

NO 
□ 

164405vl 
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164405vl 

INSTRUCTIONS FOR COMPLETING APPEARANCE FORM 

I. General Information 

Local Rule 53. 17 provides that once an attorney has 
111ed an appearance form on behalf of" a party, no additional 
appearances or subslitutioris may he made without leave of 
court. The Rule also provides that the attorney rnay riot 
withdraw without leave of court. Therefore, if more than 
one attorney is going to represent the party or parties shown 
on the front of this form, each should complete the attorney 
appearance section of the form. 

This form is designed to pem1it the filing of appearances 
by up to four attorneys who represent the same party or 
parties. If more than four attorneys representing the same 
party or parties wit-h lo tile appearances, additional forms 
should be used and the letters (A), (B), (C), and (U) 
indicating the attorneys should be altered to (E), (F), (G), 
(H), respectively for the fifth through the eighth attorneys, 
etc. 

2. Listing of Parties for Whom the Attorney is Appearing 

The names of each of the parties represented by the 
attorney(s) filing the appearance arc to be listed on the lines 
irnrnediately below the words i•Appcaranccs are hereby filed 
by the undersigned as attorncy(s) for:". The type of party, 
e.g., plaintiff; defendant, third party plalntlff, should follow 
each party. If all or the parties are of the same type, e.g., all 
parties represented are plaintiffs, then the type of party can 
be shown at the end of the listing of parties. 

3. Completing Attorney Information 

The information requested should be completed for each 
attorney flling an appearance. \1/hcrc two or more att{lmeys 
are from the same firrn

i only the l7rst listed from the firm 
need complete the inforrriation for firm name, street address, 
and city/state/ZIP. The others may indicate "Same as (letter 
designation offirst attorney)." 

4. Identification Number 

Attorneys who arc members of the Illinois bar should 
enter the identification number issued to them by the Illinois 
Attorney Registration and Disciplinary Commission 
(ARDC). Attorneys who arc nol members of the Illinois bar 
should leave this ih.m blank. 

5. Attorney {A) and Notices 

\1/here more than one attorney is listed on the 
appearance form, all listed will be entered on the docket of 
the Clcrki 

as auorneys ofrecord. However, notices will only 
be mailed to the attorney shown in box (A) on the form 
except where local counsel has been designated pursuant to 
Local Rule 83. 15 (see below), The auorney is responsible 
for notifying all other attorneys included on the form of the 
matter noticed. 

Where appearances arc filed on behalf of attorneys 
representing a state or local government, e.g. 1 

slates 
attorney, corporation counsel, the persons filing the 
appearance may wish to list the name of thi: assislant who ls 
in active charge of the case in box (A) and the appearance of 
the head of the agency, e.g., attorney general, corporation 
counsel, or any other assistant assigned to such cases in 

subsequent boxes, In that way, the assistant in ar,;livc charge 
will receive notice. 

6, Appearances and Trial Bar Membership 

All attorneys filing appearances must indicate whether or 
not they are members of the trial bar of this Cotirt and 
whether or not th[)y arc the attorney who will try the case in 
the event that it goes to trial. 

In criminal actions, an attorney who is not a member of 
the trial bar may nol nle an individual appearance. Pursuant 
to Local Rule 83.12, a member of the trial bar must 
accompany such attorney and must also file an appear·ance. 

In civil actions, an attorney who is not a member of the 
trial bar should designate the trial bar attorney who will try 
the case in the event that it goes to trial. Jr a trial bar 
attorney is not Hsted on the initial appearance and the case 
goes to trial, a trial bar attorney, pursuant to Local Ruic 
83.17, must obtain leave of court to file an .appearance. 

7. Designation of Local Counsel 

Pursuant to Local Rule 83.15, an attorney who docs not 
have an office in this District may appear before this Court 
!!only upon having designated, at the time of filing his/her 
initial notice or pleading, a member or the bar of this Court 
having an office within this District upon whom service of 
papers may be made," No attorney having an off'ic[) in this 
District may designate local cou1)sel. No attorney may 
designate more than one attorney as local counsel. Notices 
will be mailed by the Clerk's Office to both the attorney 
shown in box (A) and the attorney designated as local 
counsel. 

8. Parties are Required to Consider Alternative Dispute 
Resolution 

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §652(a), all litigants in civil csscs 
pending before this Court are directed to consider the use or 
an alternative dispute resolution process at lhe earliest 
appropriate stage of the litigation. Such process may 
include mediation, early neutral evaluation, minitrial, or 
arbilration. 

9. Local Rule J.2 Requires Notification As To Am Hates 

In every action in which an affiliate ofa public company 
is a party, counsel for such patty shall file with the Clel'k a 
statemenl listing each public company of which such party is 
an all11iate. Where such party is a plaintiff the statement 
shall be filed with the complaint. Where such party is a 
defendant the statement shall be filed with the answer or 
motion in lieu of answer. 
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SERVICE LIST 

I, James G. Richmond, an attorney, hereby certify that on this 3 I st day of January, 
2003, a true and correct copy of the foregoing Appearance of James G. Richmond for 
Defendants was served by depositing same in the U.S. Mail Depository at 77 West 
Wacker Drive, Chicago, Illinois, on the following: 

l644llvl 

Diane MacArthur, Esq. 
Assistant United States Attorney 
219 South Dearborn Street 
Chicago, IL 60604 

Michael L. Fayad, Esq. 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
800 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, DC 20006 

Samuel J. Buffone, Esq. 
Kelly B. Kramer, Esq. 
ROPES&GRAY 
One Franklin Square 
1301 K Street, N.W. 
Suite 800 East 
Washington, DC 20005-3333 

Gerald A. Feffer, Esq. 
David M. Zinn, Esq. 
WILLIAMS & CONNOLLY 
725 Twelfth Street, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20005 
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Minute Order Form (06/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Name of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 

or Magistrate .Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312- all DATE 2/3/2003 

CASE USA v. Labs of Virginia, et al. 

TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff, defendant, 3rd party plaintiff, and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(I) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due _ __ . 

Answer brief to motion due _ __ . Reply to answer brief due ___ . 

Ruling/Hearing on ___ set for ___ at ___ . 

Status hearing[held/continued to J [ set for/re-set for J on _ __ set for _ __ at ___ . 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on __ _  set for ___ at _ __ . 

Trial[ set for/re-set for J on ______ at 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to ___ at _ __ . 

This case is dismissed [with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreement/pursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(m) □ Local Rule 41.1 □ FRCP41(a)(I) □ FRCP41(a)(2). 

(10) ■ [Other docket entry] Defendant's oral request to reset the status hearing is granted. Status hearing 
reset to 2/12/03 at 1 :00 p.m. The parties do not need to appear for the hearing on 2/6/03. 

(11) □ [For further detail see order (on reverse side o£'attached to) the original minute order.] 

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

✓ Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 fonn. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 

courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

r n .: ..... 
OU a ·

· 

'· Thrteftifu� re'cbfved in 
central Clerk's Office 

number of notices 

FEB - 4 2003 
date docketed 

fS, 
dockeling deputy initials 

2/3/2003 

date mailed notice 

RO 

mailing deputy initials 
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• 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

FEa ? fl ?OU] 

0 IVIICff"lll 
Utt/f, U,1, 0:

1: 
Doaa,rvs 
11101 count 

) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) 

No. 02 CR 0312 
V. 

LABS OF VIRGTNlA, INC. DAVID M. TAUB CHARLES J. STERN, and WlLLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III 

Judge Castillo Magistrate Judge Bobrick 
DOCKETED 

FEB 2 1 2003 

DEFENDANTS' NOTICE OF Fll,ING FIRST AMENDED REQUEST FOR 
INTERNATIONAL .JUDICIAL ASSISTANCE 

Defendants, by undersigned counsel, respectfully submit this Notice to infon11 the Court 
that Defendants are filing a First Amended Request for I ntemalional Judicial Assistance. On 
July I, 2002, Defendants jointly filed the following documents: I) Motion Requesting Issuance 
of Letters Rogatory and Memorandum of Law in Support and 2) Request for International 
Judicial Assistance. The Request for International Judicial Assistance (the "Letters Rogalory") 
includes a !isl of individuals to answer questions, areas of inquiry and related questions, and 
document requests. During a hearing on January 10, 2003, the Court granted Defendants' 
Motion Requesting Issuance o I' Letters Rogatory and requested the parties to attempt to agree on 
a more concentrated set or letters rogatory regarding the individuals to be deposed and the areas 
of inquiry for depositions and document reqrtests. 

The parties attempted to reach an agreement regarding the scope oCthe Leuers Rogatory. 
During a hearing on February 12, 2003, the Court ordered that the scope of the Letters Rogatory, 
as presented in Defendants' letter lo the Government dated January 17, 2003, was acceptable lo 
the Court, with one exception to the list or subject matter areas or inquiry. The patties have 
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attempted to reach an agreement regarding the description of that subject matter area, which 
relates to requests by Inquatcx to the Indonesian Government to obtain pem1ission to export the 
Inquatex colony (listed as item number 4 in the areas or inquiry sel forth in the R equest for 
International Judicial Assistance). Regarding that subject matter, the Government has informed 
Defendants that it does believe il is necessary to refer to correspondence or to refer to the 
Declaration of Adi Susmianlo. In response to l he Government's comments, Defendants have 
revised item number 4 lo refer to cmwspomlence described in Schedule B which is attached to 
the Request for International Judicial Assistance. Defendants contend that this revision comports 
with the Court's order. 

During lhe February 12, 2003 hearing, the Court further ordered that Defendants file 
revised Letters Rogatory. By this Notice, the Defendants advise the Court or the liling (JC 

amended Letters Rogatory, including related schedules listing documents, deponents, and 
questions. The Letters Rogatory are attached hereto as Attachment I. 

Based on the foregoing, Defendants respectfnlly request this Court to accept Defendants' 
First Amended Request for International Judicial Assistance, execute lhe attached Letters 
Rogatory, and require the Clerk of the Court lo execute and append the seal of this Court to the 
Letters Rogatory. 

GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 800 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. Suite 500 Washington, D.C. 20006 (202) 331-3100 

Respectfully submitted, 
M chael L. Fayad Q .... J). 
By.' A L/4&_ All 1e for Defendant LABS of Virginia, Inc. 

2 
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ROPES &GRAY One Franklin Sql.larc 1301 K Street, N.W. Suite 800 East Washington, DC 20005-3333 (202) 626-3900 

WILLIAMS & CONNOLLY 725 Twelfth Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20005 (202) 434-5000 

Local counsel: James G. Richmond GREENBERG TRAUR!G, P.C. 77 West Wacker Drive Suile 2500 Chicago, Illinois 6060 I (3 12) 456-8400 
Febmary 20, 2003 

By (). , Att m y for Defendant David M. Taub 

B � A . . d n Curtis Hen Icy III 
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CERTH'ICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on this 20th day of Fcbrnary, 2003, a trnc and correct copy of the foregoing Delendants' Notice of Filing First AJ11ended Request for International Judicial Assistance, including all attachments, was served by hand delivery on the following: 
Diane MacArthur, Esq. Assistant United States Attorney 2 I 9 South Dearborn Street Chicago, TL 60604 

and by United States first class mail, postage prepaid, on the following: 
Michael L. Fayad, Esq. GREENBERG TRAURTG, LLP 800 C(mnccticut Avenue, N. W. Suite 500 Washington, DC 20006 
Samuel J. Buffone, Esq. Kelly B. Kramer, Esq. ROPES &GRAY One Franklin Square 1301 K Street, N.W. Suite 800 East Washington, DC 20005-3333 
Gerald A. Fel'fcr, Esq. David M. Zinn, Esq. WILLIAMS & CONNOLLY 725 Twelfth Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20005 

\l l41%v01 
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ATTACHMENT 1 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

UNlTED STATES OF AMERICA 

V. 

LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. 
DA YID M. TAUB 
CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

No. 02 CR 0312 

Judge Castillo 
Magistrate Judge Bobrick 

LETTERS ROGATORY 

REQUEST FOR INTERNATIONAL JUDICIAL ;\SSISTANCR 

Sender: 

United States District Court 
Northern District of New York 
Eastern Division 
219 South Dearborn Street 
Chicago, Illinois 60604 
U.S.A. 

To: 

Appropriate Judicial Authority of Indonesia 

The United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois presents its compliments to 

the appropriate judicial authority of Indonesia, and requests international judicial assistance to 

obtain evidence to be used in a criminal proceeding before this Court in the above-captioned 

matter. An Indictment has been filed in this matter. 

This Court requests the assistance described herein as necessary in the interests or justice. 

The assistance requested is that the appropriate judicial authority of Indonesia compel the 

production of documents from the below-named individuals and compel the appearance of the 
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below-named individuals lo give evidence and answer questions upon oral deposition as outlined 

below: 

Requested Deponents 

I )  Adi Susmianto 
Director of the Directorate of Biodiversity Conservation 
Department of F orcstry 
Gedung Manggala Wanabakti 
Block I, 8th floor 
General Galo! Subroto Street 
Jakarta, Indonesia 

2) Representative of the Department of Agriculture who can provide information and 
testimony regarding the issuance of the health certificates for the Inquatex colony 
exported lo the United States. 

3) Dondin Sajuthi, Ph.D. 
Department of Education and Culture 
Center of Primate Studies 
Research Institmc ofBogor Institute of Agriculture 
(Primate Research Center, 13ogor Agricultural University) 
Lodaya Street II No. 3 
Bogor 1 6 1 5 1 Indonesia 
Phone: (0251 ) 3204 1 7, 3 13637 
Fax: (0251 )  3607 12  

4) Agus Darmawan 
President, Indonesia Aquatics Export CV 
Inquatex Primates Division 
P.O. Box 4342 
Jakarta 1 1 1 1 0, Indonesia 
Phone: (02 1 )  567 1 952 
Fax : (021 ) 566 2093 

5) Such other person that the Indonesian Department of Forestry or Department of 
Agriculture may designate. 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

On April 2, 2002, an Indictment was issued against Defendants LABS of Virginia, Inc. ,  

David M. Taub, Charles J .  Stern, and William Curtis Henley III (collectively, the "Defendants") 

by a grand jury in Chicago, Illinois. Defendant LABS is in the business of raising, breeding, 
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managing, and providing animals lo Government and private organi.1/.ations for purposes of bio
medical research. 

The charges in the Indictment arise out of a transaction between LABS and Indonesian 
Aquatics Export CV ("lnquatcx"), a company located in Indonesia. In particular, the Indictment 
concerns alleged violations of federal statutes arising out of LABS' importation of a colony of 
monkeys consisting \lf approximately 1 ,300 cynomolgus macaques from Indonesia beginning in 
February 1997. The impo1tation of the colony was accomplished by six separate shipments in 
1 997 and 1998, lhe first four of which anived in the United States at Chicago. It is these four 
shipments thal arc the subject of the Indictment. 

The lmlictment alleges the following: Counts One through Four of the Indictment allege 
that Defondants LABS and Taub knowingly submitted false records related to the description of 
the monkeys with each of the four shipments in violation of 1 6  U.S.C. §§ 3372(d) and 
3373(d)(3)(A)(i); Count Five of the Indictment alleges that all Defendants knowingly imported 
monkeys and in lhe exercise of due care should have known that lhe importation violated a 
foreign law in violation of 16 U.S.C. §§ 3372(a)(2)(A) and 3373(d)(2); Counts Six through Nine 
allege lhat Defendants LABS and Taub knowingly and fraudulently imported the four shipments 
of the monkeys contrary to law in violation of 1 8  U.S.C. § 545; and Counts Ten through Twelve 
allege that Defendants LABS and Taub knowingly imported three shipments of monkeys and in 
the exercise of due care should have known that the importation violated a United States 
regulation allegedly governing the shipments or nursing mothers with young in violation of 16 
U .S.C. § §  3372(a)( l)(A) and 3373(d)(2). Defendants deny all of the charges and are defending 
against them. 
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In accordance with Rule 1 6  of the of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure and Rule 

16 . 1  of the Local Rules oi'the Northern District of Illinois, the United States Attorney's Office in 

Chicago, Jllinois provided Defondants with copies of documents that constitute some of the 

government's evidence against the Defendant. The Court understands that attcr reviewing these 

documents and the Indictment, the Defendants believe that there are individuals located in 

Indonesia that poss,:ss additional documents or have in formation that is relevant lo the subject 

matter involved in lhe pending action against defendants. Speci fieally, Defendants seek 

documents or information from individuals in Indonesia regarding lhc following subjects: 

I )  Indonesian laws, r,:gulations and decrees and decisions related to Decree No. 

26/Kpts-1 1/94 regarding the export of macaques, including export quotas, and any 

communications between the United Stales and the Indonesian Govcnunent 

regarding Indonesian laws and regulations, decrees and decisions related to 

Decree No. 26/Kpts-1 1/94. 

2) Communications between LABS, Inquatex, and/or the Indonesian Govcrmnent 

about the colony of Macaca fascicularis ("the colony") and legal requirements for 

the export and import of the colony including lhc shipment or nursing mothers 

and unweaned infants. 

3) Demographics and ages or the monkeys in the colony that resided at lnquatcx's 

facilities. 

4) Requests by lnquatex to the Indonesian Government to obtain permission to 

export the Inquatex colony, including documents referred to in Schedule B 

(attached hereto), CITES pern1its, health certificates, exceptions to Indonesian 

laws and decrees, and responses to such requests. 
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5) Examina(ion or the colony by  any ve(erinarian, including a veterinarian from 
Boger University. 

6) Review, approval, and issuance of the permission to export the colony, including 
CITES pem1its and health certi licates. 

7) Purpose of the health certificates. 
8) Payments or offers of payments made by or on behalf of Mr. Dannawan or 

lnquatex to Indonesian govermnent officials that relate to the pennission to export 
or export of the Inquatex colony. 

However, none nf the individuals who may have knowledge of lhc above-described subjects is a 
party to the case, and this Court does not have jurisdic(ion over any such individuals. As such, 
the Court is precluded from compelling the production of information possessed by the 
individuals. 

REQUESTS FOR DOCUMENTS 

This Court requests the appropriate judicial authority m Indonesia to compel the 
production of lhe documents listed in Schedule A (at(ached). 

DEPOSITIONS 

This Court requests (he appropriate judicial authority in Indonesia to compel the 
appearance o f  ( he requested d eponcnts 1 isled i n  Schedule B o  f ( his Letter o r  R equest t o  give 
evidence and answer questions upon the subj ect areas attached as Schedule C. 

PROCEDURE 

Defendants request (hat: (I ) the witnesses are examined under oath or affim1ation to be 
administered by a person authorized (o administer oaths in accordance with the federal law of the 
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United States or America or local law; (2) they receive permission lo have a representative 
appear before the court to examine, cross-examine and re-examine the witness, as necessary; (3) 
they are notified, at the address listed below, of the date, lime and place of the hearing; (4) the 
examination is produced in writing, verb atim, by an authorized court reporter in question-answer 
format; (5) the examination is authenticated by (he person recording the deposition; and (6) the 
deposition transcript and any documents produced at the deposition are returned to the 
Defendants' attorney at the following address: 

James G. Richmond, Esq. GREENBERG TRAURIG, P.C. 77 West Wacker Suite 2500 Chicago, Illinois 60601 U.S.A. 
RECI PROCITY 

This Court remains ready and willing to fulfill the same request b y  the appropriate 
judicial authority of Indonesia in a similar case when required. 

REIMBURSEMENT FOR COSTS 

This Court expresses its willingness to reimburse the appropriate judicial authority of 
lmkmcsia for costs incurred in executing this letter. 
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IT IS ORDERED that the Clerk of the Court is hereby directed to append to these Letters 
Rogatory the seal of this Court and to certify my signature and office. 

WITNESS, the Honorable Ruben Castillo, District .Judge of the United States District 
Com1 for the Northern District of Illinois, the _ _  day of _ __ _ 2003. 

Ruben Castillo, U.S.D.J. United States District Court No11hem District of New York 2 l 9 South Dearborn Street Chicago, Illinois 60604 U.S.A. 
I, Michael W. Dobbins, Clerk of the United States Court for the Northern District of lllinois, on this __ day of __ _ _ _ _  2003, herehy append the seal of this Court and certify that the Honorable Ruben Castillo, who signed these Lellers Rogatory, is a United States District Judge in and for the Northern District of lllinois. 

\\I \ 4 1 9�v0l\ 

Michael W. Dobbins Clerk or Court United States District Court Northern District of New York 2 l 9 Dearborn Street Chicago, lllinois 60604 U.S.A. 
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I. DOCUMENTS 

LETTERS ROGATORY REQUEST 
Schedule A: Documents 

A. Indonesian Laws, Regulations and Decrees: 

1 .  All decrees, laws, regulations, rules, interpretive opinions, or 

policies of the Minister of Forestry, or any other Indonesian government 

body or agency, relating to the export or transport of Long Tail Macaque 

(Macaca_fi1sci<;u/aris) from January 1990 through December 1998, 

including Decree 26/Kpts-1 1/94 and quotas established for the export of 

Macaca fascicularis 

2. All decrees, laws, regulations, rules, interpretive opinions, or other 

government announcements from 1 989 to the present establishing quotas, 

issuing permits, or issuing health certificates for the export of Macaca 

_fi1scicularis, incl ,,ding, but not limited to wild-caught, parent stock, or 

captive-bred Macaca_fi,scicularis. 

B. Department of Forestry, or the appropriate government agency documents. 

I. All documents relating to the export of the lnquatcx Colony, which 

occuffed in 1997, to or from any of the following: 

a. Agus Dannawan, CV INQUATEX-PRIMATES 

DIVISION, P.O. Box 4342 Jakarta 1 1 110, Indonesia. 
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b. Department of Forestry, Director General of the Forest 
Protection and Nature Conservation, Gedung Manggala Wanahakti 
Block I, 8th floor, General Gato! Subrolo Street, Jakarta, Indonesia. 
c. The Director of Conservation, Supervision Support, Nature 
and Conservation of Flora and Fauna, Gcdung Manggala 
Wanahakti, 7th floor, General Gatot Subrota Street, Jakarta, 
Indonesia 
d. The Director of Support of Regional Nature Protection and 
Conservation of Flora and Fauna, Gedung Manggala Wanabakti, 
7th lloor, General Gato! Subrota Street, Jakarta, Indonesia 
c. Secretary General of Forest Observation and Nature 
Conservation, Department of Forestry, Gedung Manggala 
Wanabakti, Jakarta. 
f. Any employee of the Department of Forestry. 
g. Dondin Sajuthi, Ph.D., Department of Education and 
Culture, Center of Primate Studies, Research Institute of Bogar 
Institute of Agriculture (Primate Research Center, Bogar 
Agricultural University), Lodaya Street ll No. 3 ,  Bogar 16 151, 
Indonesia, Phone: (0251) 320417, 3 13637, Fax: (025 1) 360712 

2. All applications, documents, or correspondence requ.esting CITES 
permits, including documents submitted hy or on behalf of Agus 
Damiawan and/or lnquatex, and all CITES permits issued concerning the 
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export of the lnquatex colony of Macacafascicularis beginning in 
January, I 996. 
3. All applications, documents, or correspondence requesting permits 
or approvals and all pem1its or approvals issued for the export of 
unproductive parent stock Cynos from 1994 until the present. 
4. All internal memoranda relating to the decision to permit 
Mr. Darmawan and/or Tnquatcx to export the Cynos. 
5. All documents related to the inspection of the Cynos by a 
veterinarian at the request of the Department of Forestry. 
6. All documents that in any way relate to payments or offers of 
payments by or on behalf of Mr. Dannawan or Inquatex to Indonesian 
government officials or employees related to the issuance of CITES 
pem1its for the Cynos or the export of the Cynos to the United States. 

C. Department of Agriculture, National Quarantine of Agriculture, Soekarno 
Hatta Quarantine Center for Domestic Animals. 

I .  All documents that in any way relate to the examination of each of 
the first four shipments of Mr. Dam1awan's and/or Tnquatex' s  Cynos to 
the United States. 
2. All documents that in any way relate to the health certificate issued 
for each of the first four shipments of Mr. Darmawan's and/or Inquatex's 
Cynos to the United States. 
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3. All documents that in any way relate to payments or offers of 
payments by or on behalf of Mr. Darmawan or Inquatex to Indonesian 
government officials or employees related to the issuance of the health 
certificates for Mr. Dannawan's and/or Inquatcx's Cynos which were 
shipped to the United Stales. 
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Tl. DEPOSITIONS 

LETTERS ROGATORY REQUEST Schedule B: Depositions 

A. Indonesian Government Officials. 

1 .  Adi Susmianto 
Director of the Directorate of Biodiversity Conservation 
Department of Forestry 
Gedung Manggala Wanabakti 
Block I, 8 th floor 
General Galo\ Suhroto Street 
Jakarta, Indonesia 

or the designated rcpresentative(s) of the Indonesian Department of 

Forestry who can provide infonnation and testimony regarding the 

following: 

(i) reviewing, considering, or approving applications and 

requests for CITES pennils and reviewing, approving, completing, 

issuing, or transmitting CITES permits; 

(ii) the leller and request of Agus Darmawan, dated July 5, 

I 996, to the Director of Support of Regional Nature Protection and 

Conservation of Flora and Fauna ("PHPA"); 

(iii) the response to Mr. Dan11awan from PHPA, dated July 1 5 ,  

1996; 

(iv) letter from Mr. Darn1awan to PHPA, dated August 9, 1996; 

(v) letter from Dondin Sajuthi, Ph.D. NIP (Employee 

Registration Number 130.536.684) to the Secretary General or 
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Forest Observation and Nature Conservation, dated September 12, 
1 996' l , 

(vi) applications, correspondence or documents from Mr. 
Dam1awan requesting CITES permits for the export of the Cynos 
from the lnquatex colony dated 1996 to the present, and the 
review, issuance and approval of the CITES pennits allowing 
export of Mr. Dannawan's and/or Inquatex' s  colony; and 
(vii) Internal memoranda relating to the decision to permit Mr. 
Darmawan and/or Inquatex to export the Cynos; and 
(viii) payments or offers of payments made by on behalf of Mr. 
Darmawan or lnquatex to Indonesian government officials or 
employees to obtain permission to export the Cy:nos. 

2. Representative(s) of the Department of Agriculture, who can 
provide infomiation and testimony regarding the issuance of the health 
certificates for the Inquatex colony exported to the United States and who 
was or were responsible for, had knowledge of, or have knowledge of the 
following: 

(i) reviewing, considering, or approving health certi lkatcs for 
Mr. Dannawan's and/or lnquatex's Cy:nos exported to the United 
States and reviewing, approving, completing, issuing, or 
transmitting the health certificates; 

1 Copies of the correspondence described in II.A. l .  (ii)-(v) are included in Exhibits I through 4 attached to these Schedules. 
2 
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(ii) requests from Mr. Dannawan and responses to Mr. 

Dam1awan regarding the health certificates to export the Inquatex 

colony; and 

(iii) internal memoranda relating to the decision to permit Mr. 

Darmawan and/or Inquatex to exp(,rt the Cynos. 

B. Other Indonesian Citizens. 

1 .  Agus Darmawan. 

2 .  Dondin Sajuthi, Ph.D. NIP (Employee Registration Number 

1 30.536.684). 

3. Such other person that the Indonesian Department of Forestry or 

Department or Agriculture may designate. 
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LETTERS ROCA TORY REQUEST 
Schedule C: Questions 

Ill. AREAS OF INQUlRY 

A. Indonesian laws, regulations and decrees and decisions related to De<::ree 

No. 26/Kpts- l 1 /94 regarding the export of macaques, including export 

quotas, and any communications between the United States and the 

Indonesian Govenm1.ent regarding Indonesian laws and regulations, 

decrees and decisions related to Decree No. 26/Kpts-1 1/94. 

B. Communications between LABS, Inquatex, and/or the Indonesian 

Government about the colony of Macaca fascicularis ("the colony") and 

legal requirements for the export and import of the colony, inch1ding the 

shipment of nursing mothers and unweaned infants. 

C. Demographics and ages of Lhe monkeys in the colony that resided at 

lnquatex's facilities. 

D. Requests by Inquatcx to the Indonesian Govcrmnent to obtain pennission 

to export the lnquatex colony, including documents referred to in 

Schedule B, CITES permits, health certificates, exceptions to Indonesian 

laws and decrees, and responses to such requests. 

E. Examination of the colony by any veterinarian, including a veterinarian 

from Boger University. 

F. Review, approval, and issuance of \he permission to export the colony, 

including CITES pem1its and health certificates. 
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G. Purpose of the health certificates. 
H. Payments or offers of payments by or on behalf of Mr. Dannawan or 

Inquatex to Indonesian government officials that relate to the pem1ission 
to export or export of the Inquatex colony. 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS EASTERN DIVISION 
'1JL:Eo 

MAY O cr 2003 
MIOI-IA£1. W UNITED ST A TES OF AMERICA 

vs. 
) 

) 

) 

) 

Cl:£RK • ooea1Ns 
No. 02 CR 3J 'U.S. DISTRICT COURT Judge Ruben C tillo 

J LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. ) DAVIDM. TAUB, 
bt;J CHARLES J. STERN, and VC/ft,'!Jtt,-_ WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III M-4y ) U fl} 

7 20. 
GOVERNMENT'S RESPONSE TO RENEWED MOTION OF DEFENDANTS TO 

DISMISS COUNT 5 OF THE INDICTMENT UNDER THE ACT OF STATE DOCTRINE 
BASED ON PROSECUTION'S ADMISSIONS IN THE BILL OF PARTICULARS 

This Court previously denied the motion of defendants Labs of Virginia, Inc., David M. 
Taub, Charles J. Stern, and William Curtis Henley III to dismiss Count 5 of the Indictment on the 
basis of the "act of state doctrine." The defendants now claim that particular government responses 
to their Bills of Particulars so alter the government's theory of the case that this Court must grant 
their earlier dismissal motion. Nothing in the government's responses, however, causes the act of 
state doctrine to be implicated in this case and, as a result, the defendants' renewed motion to 
dismiss must be denied. 
I. BACKGROUND 

In 1994, Indonesia banned the export of a species of wild-caught monkeys known as crab
eating macaques ("Decree No. 26/Kpts-11/94"). The phrase "wild-caught" refers to those primates 
which were caught in thejungles of Indonesia. "Captive-bred" primates, in contrast, are those 
primates which were born in captivity. In 1997, defendant Labs of Virginia, Inc. caused four 
shipments of these monkeys to be sent from Indonesia into the United States as a part of Labs's 
purchase of an entire colony of crab-eating macaques. Each of the shipments at issue were 
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accompanied by a " CITES" permit issued by the Indonesian government. The CITES permits 

represented that each shipment contained "captive-bred" primates when, in fact, the shipments 

contained a mix of "captive-bred" and "wild-caught" primates. 

The defendants in this case, Labs and its then-officers, David Taub, Charles Stern, and 

William Henley, are charged in Count 5 of the indictment with violations.of Sections 3372(a)(2)(A) 

and 3373(d)(2) of the Lacey Act. 16 U.S.C. 3372(d)(2) and 3373(d)(2). These sections provide in 

pertinent part that '.'[i]t is unlawful for any person ... to import, export, transport, sell, receive, 

acquire, or purchase in interstate or foreign commerce ... any ... wildlife ... transported, or sold 

... in violation of any foreign Jaw .... " Count 5 alleges that the defendants "did knowingly import 

wildlife in interstate and foreign commerce, namely, wild-caught Macaca fascicularis, and in the 

exercise of due care should have known that the wildlife was transported and sold in violation of a 

foreign law, namely, Decree No. 26/Kpts-11/94, which imposed a ban on the transportation from 

Indonesia, that is, the export of wild-caught Macaca fascicularis. 

II. ARGUMENT 

A. The Government's Theory of the Case Does Not Implicate the Act of State 
Doctrine. 

"The act of state doctrine in its traditional formulation precludes the courts of this country 

from inquiring into the validity of the public acts a recognized foreign sovereign power committed 

within its own territory." BancoNacional de Cubav. Sabbatino, 376 U.S. 398,401 (1964). See also 

United States v. Funmaker, 10 F.3d 1327, 1333 (7th Cir. 1993) (act of state doctrine "dictates that 

courts will not sit in judgment on the acts of another country done within that country's territory."). 

The doctrine, however, is to be applied sparingly, and only where the validity of a foreign sovereign 

2 
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is at issue. Ampac Group Inc. v. Republic of Honduras, 797 F.Supp. 973, 978 (S.D. Fla. 1992), 
citing W.S. Kirkpatrick & Co. v. Environmental Tectonics Corp. Int'/, 493 U.S. 400, 409-10 (1990), 
aff'd, 40 F.3d 389 (11th Cir. 1994). 

The charge in Count 5 in the instant case does not implicate the act of state doctrine because 
the charge does not require this Court to inquire into the validity or legality of any public acts by the 
Indonesian government. The government in this case is not challenging the validity of an Indonesian 
Jaw, i.e., Decree No. 26/Kpts-11/94 banning the export of wild-caught Macaca fascicularis, or the 
Indonesian government's general authority to issue the CITES permits associated with the four 
shipments in this case. Instead, the focus of the charge in Count 5 is on whether the defendants knew 
that the shipments contained wild-caught Macaca fascicularis, even though the CITES permits for 
the shipments specified "captive-bred," and whether, in the exercise of due care, the defendants 
should have known that the primates were thereby transported in violation of the Indonesian Decree. 1 
The proof of this charge can be accomplished without challenging either the general authority of the 
Indonesian government to act or the specific actions taken by the Indonesian government in this 
case.2 

1 Thus, the instant case is significantly different than those cases in which the act of state doctrine has been found to apply because the cause of action challenges a foreign law or decree 
(Banco Nacional de Cuba v. Sabbatino, 376 U.S. 398 (1964); World Wide Minerals, Ltd. v. Republic 
of Kazakhstan, 296 F.3d 1154 (D.C. Cir. 2002), cert. denied, 123 S.Ct. 1250 (2003)) or a foreign government's ability to act in a particular way (Oetjen v. Central Leather Co., 246 U.S. 297 (1918); 
Underhill v. Hernandez, 168 U.S. 250 (1897); Mol, Inc. v. Peoples Republic of China, 572 F.Supp. 79 (D. Ore. 1983), aff d, 736 F.2d 1326 (9th Cir.), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1037 (1984); Bokkelen v. 
Grumman Aerospace Corp., 432 F.Supp. 329 (E.D.N.Y. 1977)). 

2 The fact that a case involves actions by a foreign government does not automatically trigger application of the act of state doctrine. The act of state doctrine has routinely been found not to bar causes of action focusing on misrepresentations made as a part of a government authorized 
3 
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B. Nothing in the Government's Response to the Bills of Particulars Changes Either 
the Focus of the Charge in Count 5 or the Government's Theory of the Case. 

The government responded to a multitude of requests set forth in Bills of Particulars from 
each defendant. The defendants claim that, through these responses, the government has 
"completely reversed course" and now espouses as its principal theory that the defendants committed 
the violations charged in Count 5 because the CITES permits were obtained by fraud (bribes). The 
defendants argue that this allegedly new theory directly implicates the act of state doctrine because 
the government must now prove at trial that "the Indonesian government's approval of the exports 
was improper or corrupted." Renewed Motion at 2. The responses, however, do not change either 
the government's theory or its proof at trial. The government responded to the defendants' questions 
about bribes in good faith and the defendants' deli berate efforts to twist these answers into a defense
created and defense-imposed all-encompassing government theory of the case wholly fails. 

Requests 1 through 3 asked the government to identify the government's theory as to why 
the term "baksheesh" meant bribe, the persons alleged to have offered or accepted payments of 

or government sanctioned action. The courts in these cases have recognized that proof of the misrepresentations does not involve a challenge to the foreign government's authority to act or as an effort to negate the action itself. See, e.g., Perenco Nigeria Ltd. v. Ashland Inc., 242 F.3d 299, 306 n.28 (5th Cir. 2001) (court rejected defendant's invitation to apply the act of state doctrine in fraud action which followed Nigerian government's disapproval of sale because the misrepresentation at issue turned on defendant's own knowledge of a government official's position on the sale and not on the legality or validity of the official's subsequent actions with respect to blocking the sale); Forum Financial Group v. President and Fellows of Harvard College, 173 F.Supp.2d 72, 103-04 (D. Maine) (court rejected application of act of state doctrine because contract with a foreign sovereign (Russia) was not at issue in the case, rather the litigation involved the alleged tortious interference with the contract as well as other tortious conduct on the part of the defendants); Ampac, 797 F.Supp. at 978, 978 n.1 (S.D. Fla. 1992) (act of state doctrine did not apply because contract action did not require court to pass on the validity of any governmental act by a foreign sovereign; instead the litigation involved the "existence vel nom and precise terms of a contract for the sale of a corporation). 
4 
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baksheesh or bribes, and the amounts of the alleged payments. The government drew upon the 
defendants' own documents and evidence from defendants' own former employees or agents in 
responding to these requests. Request 4 then asked the government to "[p ]articularize the alleged 
purpose of any alleged payments of baksheesh or a bribe." The government responded as follows: 

The purpose of the baksheesh payments was to secure from the Indonesian government: (a) approval of the CITES applications; and (b) the issuance of CITES permits and health certificates reflecting that the shipments contained captive-bred monkeys without reference to the fact that the shipments contained productive wild-caught monkeys as well. 
Request 5 asked the government to "particularize the Indonesian government action alleged to have 
occurred as a result of alleged payments of baksheesh or a bribe." The government responded as 
follows: 

The Indonesian government, on four separate occasions and in connection with each O'Hare shipment, issued CITES permits and health certificates which reflected, respectively, that the shipments contained captive-bred monkeys and that the monkeys had been "captive-bred born" at the Inquatex facility. The shipments, in fact, contained productive wild-caught monkeys, i.e., monkeys that had not been captive-bred or born in captivity at the Inquatex facility. The CITES permits and health certificates, then, made it appear as if the shipments complied with the Indonesian ban against the export of wild-caught monkeys when the shipments, as the defendants in this case knew or in the exercise of due care should have known, did not so comply. 
These responses reflect what the defendants believed the "purpose" and impact of the 

baksheesh payments to be since the response was based on the defendants' own materials or 
individuals with whom the defendants associated. The government, for example, noted in its 
response to Request 1 that Patrick Mehlman, a former employee, informed the defendants in a 
memorandum that the person from whom the defendants were purchasing the primate colony "ha[ d] 
gone to the Indonesian government and cut a baksheesh deal to pay them off so that he can export 
feral caught animals." Gov't Response at 2. The responses to Requests 1 through 5 in no way reflect 
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the government's particular "theory of the case" as to the allegations contained in Count 5 and in no 
way mean that, in order to prove the charges, the government intends to show that the Indonesian 
government's approval of the CITES permits was corrupt. 

The fact that the government does not intend to prove as a part of the allegations in Count 
5 that Indonesian officials did accept bribes and/or that the officials knew the shipments contained 
wild-caught primates is evident from the government's response to Request 6, which the defendants 
do not cite in their renewed motion. Request 6 asked the government to "[p]articularize the 
Government theory as to the relevance of any baksheesh . . .  payments . . .  to the charges alleged in 
the Indictment. " The government responded as follows: 

The defendants wanted to purchase a breeding colony for use at its own United States-based facility. From the outset, the defendants knew that there were significant problems associated with the export of the Inquatex colony for this purpose. The defendants knew, from its own research and the various documents exchanged between the parties that the Inquatex colony contained wild-caught monkeys and they also knew, because Mehlman, among others, told them, that Indonesian law prohibited the export of wild-caught monkeys unless some exception were written. 
The defendants placed the burden on Darmawan to secure the requisite Indonesianbased documents, including the CITES permits, in order to allow the shipments to take place. The CITES permits and other documents that Darmawan sent to the defendants in advance of each shipment clearly reflected that the shipments contained captive-bred monkeys with no reference to the fact, as defendants well knew, that the shipments contained wild-caught monkeys as well. The defendants also knew that the document which Darmawan presented from the Department of Forestry, the so-called "exception" to the Indonesian ban on the export of wild-caught monkeys, clearly referred to the export of unproductive wild-caught monkeys. The defendants knew that the wild-caught monkeys in the shipments were, in fact, productive and that the productive nature of the Inquatex colony was the reason for purchasing it in the first place. 
The disconnect or dis-juncture between what the defendants knew to be the demographics of the colony and what the CITES permits and health certificates reflected is what makes the issue of baksheesh relevant to this case. The defendants were told repeatedly that Darmawan relied heavily on baksheesh to influence Indonesian officials. 
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There are other documents in the defendants' possession which also put the defendants on notice about payments to government officials. On or about August 30, 1996, for example, Barry Brant, one of Agus Darmawan' s United States-based representatives, sent to defendant Stem by telefax a letter in which Brant stated that Darmawan would incur "substantial additional cost to obtain government approval allowing the transfer of the colony to LABS." On or about February 17, 1997, Dr. George Ward, Labs's veterinarian who was in Indonesia at the time, wrote a letter to Taub in which he stated as follows: 
"that [Darmawan's ability to sell 1,000 primates per year] doesn't appear to be a problem given his connections with the local F[ish] & W[ildlife]. It is very 
impressive to me-I needed 6 months to complete all steps (9) in exporting a monkey from Bangkok and Agus [Darmawan] can accomplish (albeit only 6 steps here) it in 1 ½ weeks. Of course the 'charity' is a very important aspect. I'm still not convinced what our long range relationship should be. You have to look closely at past performance - it obviously didn't work for Peter Savage." 

Typed notes of Dr. Ward about his trip to Indonesia also contain the statement "Agus has 'established' good connections - can obtain all permits necessary to ship monkeys in less than two weeks. Took GSW [Dr. Ward] six months in Thailand." Labs No. 05619. 
· Gov't Response at 7-9. The relevance of baksheesh payments, then, under the government's theory 
of the case, is to the defendants' knowledge that the shipments were in violation oflndonesian law 
and not the Indonesian officials' knowledge or actions in issuing and approving the CITES permits. 
The government has never intended to prove as a part of its case that Indonesian officials knew that 
the shipments contained wild-caught primates or that the Indonesian officials approved the 
shipments in exchange for the payment of bribes. Nothing in the government's responses to the Bills 
of Particulars changes this approach. 

The defendants' improper attempt to manufacture an act of state doctrine issue in this case 
through the government's good faith responses to the defendants' requests for information should 
not be allowed. The defendants can neither elevate their previously-espoused views of the role of 
baksheesh payments into a controlling description of the nature of the case nor can the defendants 

7 

Obtained by Rise for Animals.
Uploaded to Animal Research Laboratory Overview (ARLO) on 09/20/2020



Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 99 Filed: 05/06/03 Page 8 of 11 PageID #:518

impose their views about the baksheesh payments on the way in which the government intends to 
try the case. 3 

The government notes, however, that the act of state doctrine would not bar this prosecution 
even if the government, as a part of its theory and proof, wished to show that Indonesia's issuance 
of the CITES permits had been procured by fraud. In W.S. Kirkpatrick & Co. v. Environmental 

Tectonics Corp. Int'/, 493 U.S. 400 (1990), the Supreme Court held that "[a]ct of state issues only 
arise when a court must decide--that is, when the outcome of the case turns upon--the effect of 
official action by a foreign sovereign. When that question is not in the case, neither is the act of state 
doctrine." 493 U.S. at 406 (emphasis in original). In Kirkpatrick, the plaintiff alleged that a 
competitor had obtained a contract with the Nigerian government through bribery of Nigerian 
officials. The district court dismissed the lawsuit under the act of state doctrine on the basis that in 
order to prevail the plaintiff would have to show, among other things, that Nigerian officials knew 
of the bribe and that but for the bribe plaintiff would have been awarded the contract. The district 
court concluded that the act of state doctrine applied since the lawsuit required an examination of 
the motivation of a sovereign act that would result in embarrassment to the foreign sovereign or 
constitute interference in the conduct of foreign policy of the United States. Id. at 403. The Third 
Circuit reversed and the Supreme Court affirmed the Third Circuit's decision. The Court found the 
act of state doctrine to be inapplicable because "[n]othing in the present suit require[d] the Court to 
declare invalid, and thus ineffective as 'a rule of decision for the courts of this country,' . . .  the 

3 Indeed, the limited role that baksheesh payments play in the government's case is evident in the fact that the government can establish the requisite elements of the violations alleged in Count 5 without any reference to baksheesh payments at all. Nothing in these elements requires the government to show that the CITES permits were procured by fraud or that the Indonesian officials knew the shipments contained wild-caught primates. 
8 
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official act of a foreign sovereign." Id. at 405 (citation omitted). The "official act" at issue in 
Kirkpatrick was the awarding of the contract itself. Similarly, in the instant case, even if the 
government sought to prove that the CITES permits at issue had been obtained through the payment 
of bribes, this Court would not as a result be required to declare the actual issuance of the CITES 
permits by the Indonesian government to be invalid. Here, as in Kirkpatrick, the government, as the 
proponent of the legal proceeding, is not through the proceeding trying to undo or disregard an action 
of the Indonesian government. 4 See Kirkpatrick, id. at 407. 

Moreover, due to the CITES-based nature of this case, at least one case has held that the act 
of state doctrine does not apply even if the validity of a foreign action is challenged. See United 

States v. 2,507 Live Canary Winged Parakeets, 689 F.Supp. 1106, 1120 (S.D. Fla. 1988). In 
Parakeets, the United States sought to forfeit parakeets exported in violation of Peruvian law. The 
defendant challenged the prosecution under the act of state doctrine because, the defendant claimed, 
the case required the determination of whether a Peruvian official had the authority to issue the 
CITES permit at issue. The district court rejected the defendant's act of state challenge. The court 
found that "[t]he purpose of CITES is to further international cooperation in assisting other countries 
in the enforcement of their wildlife protection laws. Thus, the treaty clearly requires member nations 
to ensure the validity of the exportation of another nation's protected wildlife for that benefit for that 

4 The instant case differs in this sense from cases such as World Wide Minerals, Ltd. 
v. Republic of Kazakhstan, 296 F.3d 1154 (D.C. Cir. 2002), cert. denied, 123 S.Ct. 1250 (2003), in which the act of state doctrine was found to apply where the gravamen of the plaintiff's claims involved challenges to a foreign sovereign's denial of a license and its expropriation of property governed by contract. See also Mol , Inc. v. Peoples Republic of Bangladesh, 572 F.Supp. 79 (D. Ore. 1983) (cancellation by Bangladesh of license to export wildlife), aff d, 736 F.2d 1326 (9th Cir.), 
cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1037 (1984); Bokkelen v. Grumman Aerospace Corp., 432 F.Supp. 329 (E.D.N.Y. 1977) (denial of import license by Brazil). 
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nation." Id. at 1120. The court held that, on this basis, the act of state doctrine had no prudential 
application to the case. Id. Much of the prosecution of the instant case is predicated on 
representations contained within the CITES permits for the four shipments at issue and the fact that 
the shipments contained wild-caught primates whose export was banned by Indonesian law. Thus 
here, as in Parakeets, the government is seeking to protect the wildlife of Indonesia in the manner 
contemplated by the Indonesian Decree. 

C. The Instant Case is in Keeping With and Not in Opposition to Indonesia's 
Official Acts and Will Not Hinder Foreign Affairs. 

The jurisprudential rationale behind the act of state doctrine involves "'the strong sense of 
the Judicial Branch that its engagement in the task of passing on the validity of foreign acts of state 
may hinder' the conduct of foreign affairs." Kirkpatrick, 493 U.S. at 404, quoting Banco Nacional 

de Cuba v. Sabbatino, 376 U.S. 398 (1964). "The policies underlying the doctrine include 
'international comity, respect for the sovereignty of foreign nations on their own territory, and the 
avoidance of embarrassment to the Executive Branch in its conduct of foreign relations."' World 

Wide Minerals, 296 F.3d at 1165, quoting Kirkpatrick, 493 U.S. at 408.5 The prosecution of the 
instant case upholds, and does not violate, the rationale and policies underlying the act of state 
doctrine. The government, through this action, is in effect seeking to uphold the Indonesian Decree 
and to protect Indonesia's wildlife. The prosecution of the charges in this case government, then, 

5 The mere fact that a case may embarrass a foreign government, however, is not enough to bar the action under the act of state doctrine. The Supreme Court in Kirkpatrick noted that the act of state doctrine does not establish an exception for cases that "may embarrass foreign governments." Kirkpatrick, 493 U.S. at 409 ("The act of state doctrine does not establish an exception for cases and controversies that may embarrass foreign governments, but merely requires that, in the process of deciding, the acts of foreign sovereigns taken within their own jurisdictions shall be deemed valid."). 
10 
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supports, rather than challenges, Indonesia's positions on these matters, and respects, rather than 

disparages, Indonesia's efforts to control the export of its endangered species.6 The prosecution of 

this case will in no way '"frustrate the conduct of foreign relations by the political branches of the 

government. . . .  '" Funmaker, 10 F.3d at 1333, quoting First Nat'/ City Bank v. Banco Nacional de 

Cuba, 406 U.S. 759, 767-68 (1972). 

III. CONCLUSION 
For the foregoing reasons, the United States respectfully requests that this Court deny the 

various pretrial motions of the defendants as described and set forth herein. 

By: 

Respectfully submitted, 

PATRICK J. FITZGERALD 
United States Attorney 

DIANE MacARTHUR 
Assistant U.S. Attorney 
219 South Dearborn Street 
Chicago, Illinois 60604 
(312) 353-5352 

6 The defendants' parting shot that the government has "proposed to introduce evidence 
of bribery without permitting defendants ( or Indonesia) to show that nothing untoward occurred in 
that country" is completely unfounded. The government has strived throughout these proceedings 
to make clear that the evidence of baksheesh payments, like a non-hearsay statement, is not being 
offered for its truth, that is, that bribe payments actually occurred, but rather for the effect of the 
evidence on the defendants. The evidence is relevant because it is probative of the defendants' 
knowledge that the shipments contained wild-caught primates and that the shipments were in 
violation of Indonesian law. The government objected to the Letters Rogatory in part because proof 
of corruption in the Indonesian government, or the actual payment of bribes in this case, are neither 
elements of the offense nor relevant to the prosecution of the current charges. 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ) 
) 

Plaintiff, ) 
) 

vs. 
· .. bu�, > 

11;• ;{�, 
LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC., et a1:'l1i _1 . �'y.1} 

}/ </}ft.-. '{{ 

De�ndanb. ) 

Magistrate Judge Mason 

NOTICE OF MOTION 

TO: See Certificate of Service 

W@"v!W1 ,-, 
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on 1'k11wli1�', March�, 2003 at 9:45 a.m. or as soon 

thereafter as counsel 111ay be heard, we shall appear before the Honorable Judge Ruben Castillo, 
or any Judge sitting in his stead, in Courtroom 2319 of the Dirksen Federal Building, 219 S. 
Dearborn SL, Chicago, Illinois and shall then and there prese11t tbc attached Motion To Withdmw 

and the proposed Order, copies of which arc hereby served upon you. 

Dakd: March 7, 2003 

Robert H. King, Jr. 
fames G. Richmo11d 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, P.C. 
77 West Wacl<er Drive, Suite 2500 
Chicago, Illinois 60601 
Phone: (312) 456-8400 
Fax: (312) 456-8435 

GREEli/11? 
I 

Onefof the Attorneys for 0�"7
11'

-
-d-an_t_s --
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

The undersigned, an attorney, hereby certifies that he caused the foregoing Motion to 

Wirhdmw to be served upon: 

Diane MacArthur, Esq. 
Assistant United States Attorney 
219 South Dearborn Street 
Chicago, IL 60604 

Michael L. Fayad, Esq. 
GREEl\TBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
800 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, DC 20006 

Samuel J. Buffone, Esq. 
Kelly B. Kramer, Esq. 
ROPES &GRAY 
One Franklin Square 
1301 K Street, N.W. 
Suite 800 East 
Washington, DC 20005-3333 

Gerald A. Feffer, Esq. 
David M. Zinn, Esq. 
WILLIAMS & CONNOLLY 
725 Twelfth Street, N.W. 
Washington, D.C 20005 

by placing true and correct copies of same, postage prepaid, in the United States mail at 77 W. 

Wacker Drive, Chicago, Illinois, on or before 5:00 p.m. this 7th day of March, 2003. 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

UNITED ST ATES OF AMERICA ) 
) 

Plaintiff, ) No. 02 CR312 

er, 

c. 

_, 
:r:' 

-·r.-1 q;: 

vs. 
bo� 

*11r·� ,"A"tft/) � 
Judge Ruben CalttEo .:,;: 

LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC., et af. /ot?J ) 
) 
) Defendants. 

Magistrate .Judge Mason 

MOTION TO WITI-IDRA W 

'-' 

NOW COMES Robe11 H. King, Jr. of Greenberg Traurig, P.C., and m()ves this Honorable 

Court for leave to withdraw his appearance as attorney for Defendants Labs of Virginia, Inc., 

David M. Taub, Charles J. Stern, and William Curtis Henley, lll, in Case No. 02 CR 312, filed 

by the United States of America, and in support thereof, states as follows: 

I. On April 16, 2002, Robert H. King, Jr. of Greenberg Traurig, P .C. entered his 

appearance as attorney of record for Defendants Labs of Virginia, Inc., David M. Taub, Charles 

J. Stem, and William Curtis Henley, III in this matter. 

2. On Jamiary 31, 2003, attorney James G. Richmond of Greenberg Traurig, P.C. 

filed his Appearance on behalf of Defendants Labs of Virginia, Inc., David M. Taub, Charles J. 

Stern, and William Curtis Henley, Ill in this matter. 

3. This motion is presented to expedite the delivery of all future communications to 

Mr. Richmond rather than Mr. King and the undersigned counsel respectfully submits that 

Plaintiff will not suffer any prejudice if the Court grants the reliefrequesled herein. 

WHEREFORE, Robert H. King, Jr. or Greenberg Traurig, P.C. respectfully moves this 

Court for leave to withdraw his appearance as attorney of record for Defendants Labs of 
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Virginia, Inc., David M. Taub, Charles J. Stem, and William Curtis Henley, III as well as for any 

other relief this Court finds just and reasonable. 

Dated: March 7, 2003 

Robert H. King, Jr. 
James G. Richmond 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, P.C. 
77 West Wacker Drive, Suite 2500 
Chicago, Illinois 60601 
Phone: (312) 456-8400 
Fax: (312) 456-8435 

Respectfully submitted, 
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UNITED ST ATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC., et al. 

Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

ORDER 

No. 02 CR312 

Judge Ruben Castillo 

Magistrate Judge Mason 

Upon notice to all parties and the Court heing duly advised, 

IT JS HEREBY ORDERED THAT: 

Robert II. King, .fr. of Greenberg Traurig, P.C., is granted leave to withdraw his 

appearance as Attorney of Record for Defendants Labs of Virginia, Inc., David M. Taub, Charles 

J_ Stem, and William Cu1iis Henley, lll, in Case No. 02 CR 312. 

Robert H_ King. Jr. 
James G. Richmond 

ENTERED: 

GREENBERG TRAURIG, P.C. (Firm #36511) 

77 West Wacker Drive, Suite 2500 
Chicago, Illinois 60601 
Phone: (312) 456-8400 

The Honorable Judge Ruben Castillo 
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Minute Order Fonn (06/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Name of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 

or Magistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312- all DATE 3/18/2003 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 

TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the follmv:ing box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff, defendant, 3rd party plaintiff, and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(]) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due ___ . 

Answer brief to motion due _ __ . Reply to answer brief due _ __ . 

Ruling/Hearing on _ __ set for _ __ at _ _ _  . 

Status hearing[held/continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on ___ set for ___ at ___ · 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on ___ set for ___ at ___ . 

Trialfset for/re-set for] on __ at ___ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to _ __ at _ __ . 

This case is dismissed [with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreement/pursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(m) □ Local Rule 41.1 □ FRCP4l(a)(l )  0 FRCP4l(a)(2). 

(10) ■ [Other docket entry] Robert H. King, Jr. of Greenburg Traurig, P.C.'s motion to withdraw as 

(11) 

counsel on behalf of the defendants is granted. The Clerk of Court is directed to send notices of all orders 
to attorney James G. Richmond of Greenberg Traurig, P.C. The parties do not need to appear for the 
motion call on March 19, 2003. 

□ [For further detail see order (on reverse side o£1attached to) the original minute order.] 

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

number of notices 

✓ Docketing to mail notices. M 

Mail AO 450 form. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 

courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 
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Minute Order Fonn (06/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Name of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 

or Magistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 - all DATE 3/19/2003 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 

TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the following box (a) indicate the partyfilingthe motion, e.g., plaintiff, defendant, 3rd party plaintiff, and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(I) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due _ __ . 

Answer brief to motion due ___ . Reply to answer brief due _ __ . 

Ruling/Hearing on _ __ set for__ _ at _ __ . 

Status hearing[held/continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for _ __ at ___ · 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for _ __ at _ _  _ 

Trial[set for/re-set for] on _ __ at __ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to _ __ at _ ___ . 

This case is dismissed [with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreement/pursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(m) □ Local Rule 41.1 □ FRCP4l(a)(l) □ FRCP4l(a)(2). 

(10) ■ [Other docket entry] Defendants' oral request to reset the status hearing is granted in part. 

(11) 

Telephone status hearing set for 4/2/03 at 1 :30 p.m. Counsel for defendants should get all parties on the 
line and then call chambers. 

□ [For further detail see order (on reverse side of/attached to) the original minute order.] 

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

number of notices 

MA 2 0 2003 

✓ Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 form. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 

courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

HfflDJ lJ!l:JlSiO ·s·n 
\l;�:-:;n·-·i 

date mailed notice 

�I,11Q;;l«t};i:i .:I 
central Clerk's Office mailing deputy initials 
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:vfinute Order Form (06/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

:"lame of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 
or Magistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312- all DATE 4/2/2003 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 

TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff, defendant, 3rd party plaintiff, and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due _ __ . 

Answer brief to motion due _ __ . Reply to answer brief due _ __ . 

Ruling/Hearing on _ __ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Status hearing[held/continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for _ __ at ___ . 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for _ __ at ___ . 

Trial[set for/re-set for] on _ __ at _ __ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to _ __ at ___ . 

This case is dismissed [ with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreement/pursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(m) □ Local Rule 41.1 □ FRCP4l(a)(l) □ FRCP4 l(a)(2). 

(IO) ■ [Other docket entry] Telephone status hearing held and continued to 6/11/03 at 12:45 p.m. Parties 

are to note that the time of the next hearing is different from that stated in open court. Government's 

response to Defendants' renewed motion to dismiss count five of the indictment is due on or before 
5/2/03. Defendants' reply will be due on or before 5/16/03. The Court will rule on 6/11/03 at 12:45 p.m. 
From today's date until 6/11/03 is excluded pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 316l(h)(l)(F) and 18 U.S.C. 
316l(h)(8)(A)(B). (X-E and X-T). 

(11) □ [For further detail see order ( on reverse side o£1attached to) the original minute order.] 

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

✓ Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 form. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 

courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

·�tefthne::received in 
central Clerk's Office 

date ocketed 

aocket1 " eputy initials 

mailing deputy in irials 
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.,,,, �) 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT,.,,, ;(JJ ,t:;;�] ·(:·q 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS );:n iJ " . 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 

LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. 
DAVID M. TAUB, 
CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III 

TO: Michael L. Fayad, Esq. 
Greenberg Traurig 
800 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, D.C. 20006 
FAX: (202) 331-3101 

Gerald A. Peffer, Esq. 
David Zinn, Esq. 
Williams & Connolly 
725 12"' Street, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 2005-5901 
FAX: (202) 434-5029 

EASTERN DIVISION 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

NOTICE OF MOTION 

Samuel J. Buffone, Esq. 
Ropes&Gray 
One Franklin Square 
1301 K Street, N.W., Suite 800 East 
Washington, D.C. 20005-3333 
FAX: (202) 626-3961 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on Wednesday, May 14, 2003 at 9:45 a.m. or as soon thereafter as 
counsel may be heard, I will appear before Honorable Ruben Castillo in the courtroom usually occupied 
by him in the Everett McKinley Dirksen Building, 219 South Dearborn Street, Chicago, Illinois, or before 
such other judge who may be sitting in his place and stead, and then and there present: 

GOVERNMENT'S AGREED MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE INSTANTER RESPONSE 
TO RENEWED MOTION OF DEFENDANTS TO DISMISS COUNT 5 OF THE 

INDICTMENT UNDER THE ACT OF STATE DOCTRINE BASED ON PROSECUTION'S 
ADMISSIONS IN THE BILL OF PARTICULARS 

in the above-captioned case, at which time and place you may appear if you see fit. 

By: 

Respectfully submitted, 

PATRICK J. FITZGERALD 
United States Attorney 

DIANE MacARTHUR 
Assistant U.S. Attorney 
219 South Dearborn 
Chicago, Illinois 60604 
(312) 353-5352 
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) ) ss COUNTY OF COOK ) 
Phyllis Knobbe being first duly sworn on oath deposes and says that she is employed in the Office of the United States Attorney for the Northern District of Illinois, and on the 5th day of May 2003, she caused a copy of the above mentioned motion to be mailed and faxed to the above individuals on said date. 

"OFFICIAL SEAL" 
MICHELLE APPLING 

NOTARY PUBLIC, STATE OF ILLINOIS 
MY COMMISSION EXPIRES 5/26/2004 

Pn�AA � SUBSCBED AND SWORN TO BEFORE ME 
� 5th day of May 2003 , 

�µlM �� NOT�PlIBirc 
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Uploaded to Animal Research Laboratory Overview (ARLO) on 09/20/2020



Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 97 Filed: 05/05/03 Page 3 of 4 PageID #:508

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AtvlERICA 

vs. 

LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. 
DAVID M. TAUB, 
CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY Ill 

) 
) 

) 

) 
) 

) 
) 

) 

No. 02CR 312 
Judge Ruben Castillo 

GOVERNMENT'S AGREED MOTION FOR LEA VE TO FILE INSTANTER 
RESPONSE TO RENEWED MOTION OF DEFENDANTS TO DISMISS COUNT 5 OF 

THE INDICTMENT UNDER THE ACT OF STATE DOCTRINE BASED ON 

PROSECUTION'S ADMISSIONS IN THE BILL OF PARTICULARS 

The United States of America, by its attorney, Patrick J. Fitzgerald, United States Attorney 

for the Northern District of Illinois , respectfully moves this Court for leave to file instanter its 
Response to Renewed Motion of Defendants to Dismiss Count 5 of the Indictment Under the Act 

of State Doctrine Based on Prosecution's Admissions in the Bill of Particulars ("Renewed Motion"). 

In support of this motion, the government states as follows: 

1. The government's Response to the Renewed Motion was due to be filed on or before 

Friday, May 2, 2003. Due to the involvement of the undersigned attorney in other matters, the 

undersigned attorney was unable to complete the Response by May 2, 2003. 

2. The government requests leave to file instanter the Response. A copy of the proposed 

Response is attached to this motion. 

3. The government will send a copy of the proposed Response to the defendants by 

facsimile transmission on Monday, May 5, 2003 so as not to delay their preparation of any Reply 

Memorandum. 

q Obtained by Rise for Animals.
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 97 Filed: 05/05/03 Page 4 of 4 PageID #:509

4. Attorneys for the defendants have no objection to the filing of the government's 

Response instanter. 

WHEREFORE, for the foregoing reasons, the government respectfully requests leave to file 

the attached Response instanter. 

By: 

2 

Respectfully submitted, 

PATRICK J. FITZGERALD 
United States Attorney 

DIANE MacARTHUR 
Assistant U.S. Attorney 
219 South Dearborn Street 
Chicago, Illinois 60604 
(312) 353-5352 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 98 Filed: 05/06/03 Page 1 of 1 PageID #:510
:vlinute Order Form (06/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Name of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 

or Magistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 DATE 5/6/2003 

CASE United States of America vs. Labs of Virginia, Inc., et al. 

TITLE 

MOTION: 

{In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff, defendant, 3rd party plaintiff, and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(!) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due _ __ . 

Answer brief to motion due _ __ . Reply to answer brief due _ __ . 

Ruling/Hearing on _ __ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Status hearing[held/continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on ___ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on ___ set for _ __ at _ _  _ 

Trial[ set for/re-set for] on _ __ at _ __ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to ___ at ___ . 

This case is dismissed [with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreement/pursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(m) □ Local Rule 41.1 □ FRCP41(a)(l) □ FRCP41(a)(2). 

(JO) ■ [Other docket entry] Telephone status conference reset to 6/12/03 at 12:45 p.m. Telephone status 

conference set for 6/11/03 is vacated. Government's agreed motion for leave to file instanter response 
to renewed motion of defendants to dismiss Count 5 of the indictment under the Act of State Doctrine 
based on Prosecution's admissions in the bill of particulars is granted. Defendants' reply will be due on 
or before 5/20/03. The parties do not have to appear for the motion call on 5/14/03. 

(11) □ [For further detail see order (on reverse side ofYattached to) the original minute order.] 

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

.,f Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 form. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 

courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

number of notices 

Y 07 2003 
dat,;: dockered 

y 1mua s 

date ailed nrn:ice 

Date/time received in 
- c"entral Clerk's Office mailing deputy initials 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 101 Filed: 06/12/03 Page 1 of 1 PageID #:531
Minute Order Form {06/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Name of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 

or Magistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312- all DATE 6/12/2003 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 
TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff, defendant, 3rd party !Jlaintiff, and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(!) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

D 

D 

D 

D 

D 

□ 

□ 

D 

□ 

Filed motion of[ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due _ __ . 

Answer brief to motion due ___ . Reply to answer brief due ___ . 

Ruling/Hearing on ___ set for _ __ at _ _ _  . 

Status hearing[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for _ __ at _ __ -

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on ___ set for ___ at _ __ . 

Trial[ set for/re-set for] on ___ at ___ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to ___ at ___ . 

This case is dismissed [ with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreement/pursuant to] 
0 FRCP4(m) □ Local Rule 41.1 □ FRCP41(a)(I) □ FRCP4l(a)(2). 

(10) ■ [Other docket entry] Telephone status hearing held and continued to 7/23/03 at 11 :00 a.m. From 
today's date until 7/23/03 is excluded pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 3161(h)(l)(F) and 18 U.S.C. 
3161(h)(8)(A)(B). (X-E and X-T). 

(11) □ [For further detail see order (on reverse side o£'attached to) the original minute order.] 

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

✓ Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 form. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 

courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

6E =l Wd t: I Nflf' £0 

L _ _ in 
central Clerk's Office 

number ofnotice5 

JUN 1 6 2003 

(Z}ff Is 

dale mailed notice 

mailing deputy initials 

/0/ 

Obtained by Rise for Animals.
Uploaded to Animal Research Laboratory Overview (ARLO) on 09/20/2020



Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 103 Filed: 07/23/03 Page 1 of 1 PageID #:546
\.1im111., n,c1i-,r Fnm1 (06/97) 

�;imc of Assigned Judge 
or 1\.1:igidr.:ue Judg�� 

CASE NUMBER 

CASE 

TITLE 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Ruben Castillo 

02 CR 312 - I 

Silting Judg<! if Other 
than Assigned J111lgc 

DATE 

USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 

7/23/2003 

MOTION: 

lln tJic following box (a) in<llcatc the ptH1:y riling lhl;:) motion, e.g., rlainliff. d,,:Jc-n,\:mt., :-lrd ptirly plaintiff", an(l (h) slale brictly the nalure 
ot"thc mnthm being prcsc:=nle<l.] 

UOCKRT l!:NTRY: 

(I) □ filed motion of [ U!:iC listing in "Motion" box above.] 

(2) □ Brief in suppo,1 of motion due _ __ _  . 

(}) □ Answer brief to motion due. _ __ . Reply to answer brief Jue _ ___ . 

(4) □ Ruling/Hearing 011 set tix at __ _ _ 

(5) □ StattLs hearing[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on __ _ set for al ---

(6) [J Pretrial conference[hcld/continucd lo] [set for/re-set for] on ___ set for al - --

(7) □ Trial[,ct for/re-set for] on__ __at _ __ . 

(8) □ [Bench/Jury trial] [1-learingj held/continued to _ __ al _ _  _ 

(9) □ This case is dismissed [with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreement/pursu•nl to] 
0 FRCP4(m) 0 Local Rulc41.l O FRCP41(a)(l) □ FRCP41(a)(2). 

( I 0) ■ [Other docket entry] Telephone status conference held and continued to 9/30/03 at 11 :30 a.m. 

From today's date until 9/30/03 is excluded pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 3 !6!(h)(8)(A)(B) and 18 lJ.S.C. 

3l6!(h)(2). (X-T and X-1). 

(11) □ [For further detail see order (on reverse side of/attached to) the original minute order.l 

No rn>liccs required, i,dviscd in open comt 

No notice� required, 

Notices mailed by judge's :-.la.ff 

Notitied counsel by telephurle. 

✓ Docketing lu mail not.ices. 

Mail AO 11:'W form. 

Copy to jndg�rnagistrnte ,i udge. 

RO 
eourltoom 
deputy's 
initials 

D11te/limc rccciv(:d in 
centrul Clerk's Oftfoe 

. 
. 

date mail tl II llL.'<.; 

1 j 

11111i!in� tl�J!ll u01111\I< 

Document 

Nu·m·h�r 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 104 Filed: 09/05/03 Page 1 of 1 PageID #:547
Minu1e Order Form (06/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Name of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 
or Magistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 - all DATE 9/5/2003 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 
TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff, defendant, 3rd party plaintiff, and (b) state briefly the nature 
ofthe motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

(10) 

(11) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

■ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due _ __ . 

Answer brief to motion due _ __ . Reply to answer brief due ___ -

Ruling/Hearing on ___ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Status hearing[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for __ _  at _ __ . 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on ___ set for _ __ at _ _  _ 

Trial[ set for/re-set for] on __ _  at __ _  . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to _ __ at _ __ . 

This case is dismissed [ with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreement/pursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(m) □ Local Rule 41.1 □ FRCP4l(a)(l )  □ FRCP41(a)(2) . 

[Other docket entry] Telephone status conference reset to 9/30/03 at 12:45 p.m. 

[For further detail see order ( on reverse side of/attached to) the original minute order.] 
No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

✓ Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 form. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 

courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

dockelin eputy initials 

I I 
date ma\Jed 1 tic:e 

mailing d J' ini1fals 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 105 Filed: 09/30/03 Page 1 of 1 PageID #:548
\1inule Order form (06/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Name of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 
or Magistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 - all DATE 9/30/2003 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 
TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff, defendant, 3rd party plaintiff� and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(I) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

D 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

D 

□ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due _ __ . 

Answer brief to motion due _ __ . Reply to answer brief due _ __ . 

Ruling/Hearing on ___ set for ___ at _ __ . 

Status hearing[held/continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for _ __ at __ _  . 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for _ __ at ___ . 

Trial[ set for/re-set for] on _ __ at _ __ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to _ __ at _ __ . 

This case is dismissed [with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreement/pursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(m) 0 Local Rule 41.1 □ FRCP4!(a)(I) □ FRCP4l(a)(2). 

(10) ■ [Other docket entry] Telephone status conference held and continued to 10/30/03 at 12:45 p.m. 

(11) 

✓ 

From 7/22/03 until 10/30/03 is excluded pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 3161(h)(l)(F) and 18 U.S.C. 
3161(h)(8)(A)(B). (X-E andX-T). 

D [For further detail see order (on reverse side of/attached to) the original minute order.] 

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 form. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 
courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 0 1' �  Da'ieltiijle" reC�h;-f:ct'frt 

central deft(] Office 

number ofno!ices 

malling deputy i ials 

I)tiCt:Uie11t 
N;�,µi��f:, 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 106 Filed: 10/30/03 Page 1 of 1 PageID #:549
Mlllute Order Form (06/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Name of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 
or Magistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 - all DATE 10/30/2003 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 
TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff, defendant, 3rd partyplaintif( and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(I) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due ___ . 

Answer brief to motion due __ _  . Reply to answer brief due _ __ . 

Ruling/Hearing on __ _  set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Status hearing[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for ___ at _ __ . 

Trial[set for/re-set for] on __ _  at _ __ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to ___ at _ __ . 

This case is dismissed [with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreernent/pursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(m) □ Local Rule 41.1 □ FRCP41(a)(l) □ FRCP41(a)(2). 

(10) ■ [Other docket entry] Telephone status conference held and continued to 12/10/03 at 12:45 p.m. 
From today's date until 12/10/03 is excluded pursuant to 18U.S.C.316l(h)(8)(A)(B). (X-T). 

(11) □ [For further detail see order (on reverse side of/attached to) the original minute order.] 

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

✓ Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 form. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 
courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

� ; { 1 __ . , .. . JDate/titne-tedei-Ved ifii 
cdnB"fil ftlerk's Office 

number of notices 

OCT 31 2003 

date mailed notice 

rnniling deputy initials 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 107 Filed: 12/10/03 Page 1 of 1 PageID #:550
Minute Order Fann (06/97) 

United States District Conrt, Northern District of Illinois 

Name of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 
or Magistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 - all DATE 12/10/2003 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 
TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff, defendant, 3rd party plaintiff, and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(I) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due ___ . 

Answer brief to motion due _ __ . Reply to answer brief due _ __ . 

Ruling/Hearing on _ __ set for ___ at _ __ . 

Status hearing[held/continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for _ __ at ___ . 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for ___ at _ __ . 

Trial[set for/re-set for] on _ __ at _ __ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to _ __ at _ __ . 

This case is dismissed [ with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreement/pursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(m) □ Local Rule 41.1 □ FRCP4!(a)(l) □ FRCP4l(a)(2). 

(] O) ■ [Other docket entry] Telephone status conference held and continued to 1/28/04 at 12:45 p.m. 
From today's date until 1/28/04 is excluded pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 3161(h)(8)(A)(B). (X-T). 

(11) □ [For further detail see order ( on reverse side of/attached to) the original minute order.] 

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

✓ Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 form. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 
courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

:,_;ri..ate/time-·recelved -in'; 
central Clerk's Office 

dated cketed 

dock ·ng dep 1y mitials 

mailing deputy in ilia ls 

(j 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 108 Filed: 01/28/04 Page 1 of 1 PageID #:551
Minute Order Form (06/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Name of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 

or Magistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 - all DATE 1/28/2004 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 
TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff, defendant, 3rd party plaintiff: and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(I) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

■ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due __ _  . 

Answer brief to motion due _ __ . Reply to answer brief due __ _  . 

Ruling/Hearing on ___ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Status hearing set for 3/3/2004 at 9:30 A.M .. 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for ___ at _ __ . 

Trial[ set for/re-set for] on __ _  at _ __ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to at 

This case is dismissed [ with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreement/pursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(m) □ Local Rule 41.1 0 FRCP41(a)(I) □ FRCP41(a)(2). 

(10) ■ [Other docket entry] Telephone status conference held. Parties to file their status reports on or 
before 3/1/04. From today's date until 3/3/04 is excluded pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 316l(h)(8)(A)(B) and 
18 U.S.C. 316l(h)(2). (X-T and X-I). 

(11) □ [For further detail see order (on reverse side oflattached to) the original minute order.] 

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

✓ Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 form. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 

courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

'D,ate/t_im.e receiv�d in 
Ce"iitra

f 

ci�rk's Office 

number of notices 

tiocilrt1��-ik 
NliiubeJ7,) 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 109 Filed: 02/24/04 Page 1 of 6 PageID #:552i 

-1 

UNI'l'ED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NOR'rHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

V. 

LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC, 
DAVID M. TAUB, 
CHARLES J, STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III 

) 

) 

) 
) 

) 
) 

) 

) 

No. 02 CR 312 
Judge Ruben Castillo 

NOTICE OF MOTION 

'rO: Michael L. Fayad, Esq. 
Debra Mercer, Esq. 
Greenberg & Traurig 
800 Connecticut Ave., N.W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, D,C. 20006 
(202) 533-2327 
(202) 331-3101 (fax) 

Gerald A. Feffer, Esq, 
David M. Zinn, Esq. 
Williams & Connolly LLP 
725 Twelfth St., N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20005-5901 
(202) 434-5000 
( 2 0 2 ) 4 3 4-5 0 2 9 ( fax) 

Samuel J. Buffone, Esq, 
Ropes & Gray 
One Metro Center 
700 12� St., N.W. 
Suite 900 
Washington, D.C. 20005-3948 
(202) 508-4600 
(202) 508-4657 (Buffone direct) 
(202)· 508-4650 (fax) 

,, 
I) 
� 

EILED 

FEB 2 -� 2004 
C MICHAEL W. DOBBINS 

LERK, U S. DISTRICT COURT 

PLl!lASE TAKE NOTICE that on Tuesday, February 24, 2004, at 1j: 15 

p.m. or as soon thereafter as counsel may be heard, I will appear 

before Judge Castillo in the courtroom usually occupied by him in 

the Everett McKinley Dirksen Building, 219 S. Dearborn Street, 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 109 Filed: 02/24/04 Page 2 of 6 PageID #:553

Chicago, Illinois, or before such other who may be sitting in his 

place and stead, and then and there present by telephone: 

GOVE:RmmNT'S OBJECTION TO AND REQUEST FOR PARTICIPATION OF 
COURT IN TELEPHONIC DESPOSITION OF GOVERNEMNT WITNESS 

PURSUANT TO LEATERS ROGATORY 

in the above-captioned case. 

By: 

Respectfully submitted, 

PATRICK J, FITZGERALD 
United States Attorney 

DIANE MacARTHUR 
Assistant united States Attorney 
219 S. Dearborn Street 
3rd Floor 
Chicago, Illinois 60604 
(312) 353-5352 

Obtained by Rise for Animals.
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UNffED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

vs. 

LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. 
DAVIDM. TAUB, 
CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY lll 

EI LED 

/'.IG ;:: , 2004 
MICHAE:L W, DOBBINS 

CLE:RK, U.S. DISTRICT COURT 

GOVERNMENT'S OBJECTION TO AND REQUEST J<'OR PARTICIPATION OF 

COURT IN TELEPHONIC DEPOSITION OF GOVERNMENT WITNESS 
PURSUANT TO LETTERS ROGATORY 

The United St.ices of America, by its attorney, Patrick J_ Fitzgerald, United States Attorney 

for the Northern District of Illinois, respectfully presents this motion in connection with a deposition 

in Indonesia tentatively scheduled for March 1, 2004 pursuant to the Letters Rogatory. In support 

of this motion, the government states as follows: 

l. This case involves alleged violations of law in connection with shipments in I 997 of a 

colony of primates from Indonesia Lo the United States. Defendant Labs of Virginia, Inc. purchased 

the colony from an lndonesian"based firm known as Indonesian Aquatics Export CV ("Inqualex"). 

Inquatex was owned by Agus Dannawan. The defendants had substantial contad with Dannawan 

during their negotiations with him for the purchase of the primate colony and their arrangements 

through him of the actual shipments at issue in the case. 

2. On or about January 10, 2003, Lhis Cou1i. authorized the issuance or Letters Rogatory to 

Indonesia. The Letters Rogatory sought depositions and/or information from a number of 

individuals. The defendants included Darmawan on the list of individuals and the defendants wish 

to question him about the areas designated in the Letters Rogatory. The parties have tentatively 
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mrnngcd for Danna wan to appear for a deposition at the United States Embassy in Jakarta, Indonesia 

on March I, 2004 pursuant to the Letters Rogatory process. The undersigned attorney, as well as the 

attorneys for the defendants in this proceeding, intend to partfripate in the deposition from their 

respective offices by way of telephonic hook-up with Darn1awan at the Embassy. 

3. Darmawan was immunized pursuant to Title 28, United States Code, Section , during 

the course of the government's investigation and he has previously testified in the grand jury. As 

counsel for the derendants arc aware, Darmawan has previously provided substantial information 

contrary to the defendants' positions in this case. The government intends to call Darmawan in its 

case in chief at ui al. 

4. The defendants have notified the government that they wish to proceed with Darmawan's 

deposition as if by Ruic 15 or the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure with the government having 

the opportunity to cross-examine. The government objects to this proposed order of questioning. 

lf the defendants wish to preserve Darm a wan\ testimony for trial, then the government should be 

allowed to question Darm a wan first, as if on direct examination, and the defendants should question 

him thereafter as if on cross-examination. 

5. The government requests that, since this anticipated session with Darmawan on March 

I, 2004 may result in his deposition testimony being used in lieu of his trial testimony, this Court 

pa1ticipate in the deposition as ifin a trial proceeding to, among other things, rule on objections from 

either side as those objections are made. The deposition would not commence until approximately 

8:00 p.m. on March I, 2004 because of the significant time difference between the United States and 

Indonesia. 

2 
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6. The government dues not object to presenting this motion lo the Court by way or 

telephonic conference call with defense counsel so as to obviate the need for defeme counsel to 

travel from Washington, D.C. for purposes of the motion. 

By: 

3 

Respectl'ully submitted, 

PATRICK J. FIT,';GERALD 

United Stales Attorney 

L� 
DIANE MacARTHUR 

Assistant U.S. Attorney 
219 South Dearborn Street 
Chicago, Illinois 60604 
(312) 353-5352 
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AFFIDAVIT OF FACSIMILE AND FEDERAL EXPRESS 

STATE OF ILLINOIS 
ss 

COUNTY OF COOK 

Carol Bithos, being first duly sworn on oath deposes and says 
that she is empl oyed in the Office of the United States Attorney 
for the Northern District of Ill inois; that on the 23rd day of 
February, 2004 she caused a copy of: 

GOVERNMENT'S OBJECTION TO AND REQUEST FOR PARTICIPATION OF 
COURT IN TELEPHONIC DESPOSITION OF GOVERNEMNT WITNESS 

PURSUANT TO LETTERS ROOATORY 

to be faxed and Federal Expressed to the following named 
individuals, on said date. 

Michael L. Fayad, Esq. 
Debra Mercer, Esq. 
Greenberg & Traurig 
800 Connecticut AvG., N.W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, D.C. 20006 
(202) 533--2327 
(?02) 331-3101 (fax) 

Gerald A. Feffer, Esq. 
David M. Zinn, Esq. 
Williams & Connolly LLP 
725 Twelfth St., N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20005-5901 
(202) 434-5000 
(202) 434-5029 (fax) 

Samuel J. Buffone, Esq. 
Ropes & Gray 
One Metro Center 
7 0 0 12 t1, St . , N . W. 
Suite 900 
Washington, D.C. 20005-3948 
(202) 508-4600 
(202) 508-4657 (Buffone direct) 
(202) 508-4650 ( fax) 

SUBSCRIBED and SWORN TO BEFORR 
me this 23rd day of February, 2004. 
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Minute Order Form (06/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

-Same of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 

or Magistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312- all DATE 2/24/2004 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 
TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff, defendant, 3rd party plaintiff, and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.) 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(I) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due ___ . 

Answer brief to motion due _ __ . Reply to answer brief due _ __ . 

Ruling/Hearing on _ __ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Status hearing[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for __ _  at _ __ . 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to J [ set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Trial[set for/re-set for] on ___ at _ __ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to ___ at _ __ . 

This case is dismissed [ with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreement/pursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(m) □ Local Rule 41.1 □ FRCP4l(a)(l) □ FRCP4l(a)(2). 

(10) ■ [Other docket entry] Defendants' response to the Government's objection to and request for 

(11) 

participation of court in telephonic deposition of government witness pursuant to letters rogatory is due 
on or before 2/27/04. Government's reply will be due on or before 3/2/04. The Court will rule on 3/3/04 
at 9:30 a.rn. 

□ [For further detail see order (on reverse side o£1attached to) the original minute order.] 

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

number of notices 

.fE!I 2 5 2004 

✓ Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 form. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 

courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

Date/time rec_eived. in 
central Clerk's Office mailing deputy initials 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
) 

) 
) 
) 

) 
) 

) 
) 

) 

) 

No. 02 CR 0312 
V. 

LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. 
DAVID M. TAUB 
CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY Ill 

Judge Castillo 

DOCKETED. 
MAR O 1 2004 

DEFENDANTS' RESPONSE TO GOVERNMENT'S OBJECTION 
TO AND REQUEST FOR PARTICIPATION OF COURT TN TELEPHONIC 

DEPOSITION OF GOVERNMENT WITNESS PURSUANT TO 
THE LETTERS ROGATORY 

Defendants LABS of Virginia, Tnc. ("LABS"), Charles J. Stern, William Curtis Henley 

III, and David M. Tauh, by the undersigned counsel, hereby file this Response to the 

Government's Objection to and Request for Participation or Court in the Telephonic Deposition 

of Agus Darmawan ("Government Objection"). 

l. On approximately January 26, 2004, the U.S. Embassy advised our representative 

that we could conduct the Letters Rogatory depositi011o at the Embassy. Based upon this 

assurance, the deposition of Mr. Darmawan was initially set to occur on March 1, 2004, at the 

Embassy in fakatta before a properly amhorizcd coutt repottcr. On February 24, 2004, despite 

earlier indications that the Embassy's facilit.ies could be used to conduct a video conference 

deposition, the consular section of the Embussy stated thut it would not allow depositions on 

Embassy grounds due to security concerns. The Embassy staff did agree that it would appear 

and administer the oaths for deponents at Indonesian counsel's office or another location in 
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Jakarta, such as a hotel, on any Wednesday, beginning on March 10, 2004. Accordingly, counsel 

is seeking to ohtain other dates on which the prosecution and other counsel arc available. 

2. In the Government Objection, for the first time, the Government announced it 

intended to call Mr. Darmawan as a witness in its case-in-chief. Previously and repeatedly, the 

Government made representations that it did not consider Mr. Darmawan or any other 

Indonesian witness as a part of its case. The Government's Consolidated Response to Pretiial 

Motions of Defendants, filed September 18, 2002, stated: "Extensive discovery in Indonesia is 

not necessary for either the prosecution or the defense or this case."1 Similarly, at a January 10, 

2003, healing hefore the Court, the Government represented: " ... I don't think that the 

Indonesian side of things is relevant or certainly not to the extent to which the defendants now 

wish to pursue by way of a trip to lndonesia or depositions of government otlicials."2 Indeed, 

the Govemment represented to the Court: "Mr. Dannawan is a separate issue. He's clearly 

Indonesian based, but l know, Judge, that certainly the defendants had contact with him and it's 

the documents we'll he relying on from him primarily that will establish our proor in this case.":; 

ln addition, the Government stated at that same hearing: "As to Taub, again, I think the focus is 

that which happened in the United States and the documents and the knowledge that they had 

acquired here ... l don't think it's necessary to go over there even for the broader allegations 

against Dr. Taub."4 In light of these representations, it appeared to Defendants that the 

Government had no intention of calling Mr. Darmawan or any other Indonesian witness lO testify 

at tiial. 

1 Government's Consolidated Response to Pretiial Motions of Defendants, filed September 18, 
2002 ("Government Response"), at 55. 
2 Tr. 24:5-9. 
3 Tr. 25:21-25. 
4 Tr. 24: 10-15. 
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3. The Government acknowledged in its Consolidated Response to Pretrial Motions, 

"[a) federal district court may, in its sole discretion, grant Letters Rogatory on behalf of a party 

in a criminal case pursuant to Ruic 15 of the Federal Rules or Criminal Proccdure."5 The 

Government further asserted in its Response that Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 15 

provides that a court may order the taking of a deposition in a criminal case "because or 

exceptional circumstances", and that coutis have interpreted the "exceptional drcumstanccs" 

standard of Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 15 to require "(l) that the witness will be 

unavailable for trial; and (2) that the information sought is material to the party's case." United 

States v. Korogodsky, 4 F.Supp.2d 262, 265 (S.D.N.Y. 1998) (citations omitted).6 Despite the 

Government's invocation of Rule 15's exceptional circumstances test as requiring the 

unavailability of the witness, the Government never indicated that Mr. Darmawan was in fact 

available to testil'y al trial. If the Government can provide a written assurance that Mr. 

Darmawan will appear at trial, then Defendants acknowledge that there is no reason for 

Defendants to depose Mr. Darmawan p1;or to trial. If such assurance cannot be provided, then 

the deposition of Mr. Darmawan should be taken consistent with Rule 15 of the Federal Rules of 

Criminal Procedure. 

4. Although Defendants discussed Mr. Darmawan's deposition with the 

Government, Defendants <lid not learn of the Government's desire that the Coutt paiticipate in 

the deposition until Defendants received the Government's Objection. Defendants do not object 

to this Comt's participation in the deposition. Defendants submit that the Court has discretion to 

determine whether and how it will participate in Mr. Darmawan's deposition, as well as any 

subsequent depositions, conducted pursuant to the Letters Rogatory. It should be note<l that the 

' Government Response, at 54. 
6 Id. at 54-55. 
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deposition of Mr. Darmawan will take place via teleconference, although there is a possibility of 

using videoconferencing. In either case, questions posed to Mr. Da1mawan along with his 

responses will have to be translated. These difficulties could result in a substantial protraction of 

the deposition. ln addition, the deposition co,tld take an extended period of time if it is 

conducted with all objections being ruled on, as suggested by the Government, and a full direct 

examination and cross examination. 

5 .  Defendants object to the Government's view - stated for the first time more than 

one year after the Letters Rogatory motion was filed -- that it should be permitted to question the 

witness first. Defendants filed a Motion Requesting Issuance of Letters Rogatory to Indonesia 

on July 1 ,  2002. On February 21, 2003, the Court approved and executed the Letters Rogatory. 

The Government firnt expressed its position regarding the order of questioning in depositions 

taken pursuant to the Letters Rogatory in its Motion filed February 24, 2004. The Lcttern 

Rogatory set forth documents and deposition testimony sought by Defendants and detail 

Defendants' request that certain procedures be used during depositions of individuals in 

Indonesia. The Letters Rogatory. as issued, specifically state that: 

The assistance requested is that the appropriate judicial authority of Indonesia 
compel the production of documents from the below-named individuals and 
compel the appearance of the below-named individuab to give evidence and 
answer questions upon oral deposition as outlined below.7 

The Request also contains the following two sections: 

DEPOSITIONS 

This Court requests the appropriate judicial authority in Indonesia to compel the 
appearance of the requested deponents listed in Schedule 13 of this Letter or 
Request to give evidence and answer questions upon the subject areas attached as 
Schedule C. 

7 Request for International Judicial Assistance, at 1-2 (emphasis added). 
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PROCEUURE 

Defendants request that: (1) the witnesses are examined under oath or affirmation 
to be administered by a person authorized to administer oaths in accordance with 
the federal law of the United States of America or local law; (2) they receive 
permission to have a representative appear before the court to examine, cross
examine and re-examine the witness, as necessary . .. .  8 

The Government did not seek any variation of this standard procedure. Furthermore, the LetLers 

Rogatory contemplate a thorough examination of the subject matters l isted in Schedule C of the 

Court's Request for International Judicial Assistance. When the Court granted Defendants' 

Request for issuance of Letters Rogatory, it slated that the "standard [for issuance of letters 

rogatory] is not one that requires a showing that admissible evidence will necessarily he yielded, 

but that potential admissible evidence could be yielded."9 A deposition of Mr. Dannawan is 

necessary based on the possibility that Mr. Darmawan will not appear for trial. Based on the 

Court's order granting the issuance of letters rogatory, the strict standards or trial admissibility 

are not applicable to the deposition of Mr. Da1mawan because the deposition may yield 

information that does not currently appear to he admissible at a future trial, but may become 

admissible based on events that occur at the trial. 

6. Notably, the Government has not sought to obtain information from Mr. 

Darmawan, nor from any other individual in Indonesia pursuant to the Letters Rogatory process. 

Tn fact, the Government has consistentl y objected to Defendants' request for Letters Rogatory as 

being irrelevant and unnecessary. See supra, 'll 2. The Government's consistent position 

throughout this case has been that only the state of mind of the Defendants is at issue tltld events 

in Indonesia arc irrelevant and that the Government's  entire case can be proven with 

contemporaneous documents. In contrast, the Defendants' position is that the truth of the 

a Id. at 5-6 (emphasis added). 
9 Tr. 46: 13-16. 
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allegations of bribery (if they are permitted to be part of this case at trial), the circumstances 

surrounding the issuance of the CITES and health cc1tificates, and the approval of the expott by 

the Indonesian government arc highly relevant issues. This is the evidence that Defendants seek 

in the Letters Rogatory. Defendants, as the parties who requested the deposition of Mr. 

Darmawan, should proceed first in the order of questioning at his deposition. Mr. Darmwan is 

Defendants' witness in accordance with the Letters Rogatory. Defendants object to the 

Government's characterization of Mr. Darmawan's grand jury testimony as contrary to 

Defendants' positions in this case, and contend that the Government's view on whether Mr. 

Darrnawan's testimony would support Defendants' case docs not alter the fact that Defendants, 

not the Government, have noticed Mr. Darmawan for a deposition. 

Court. 

7. Defendants will fully comply with any deposition procedures required by this 

Respectfully submitted, 

Michael L. Fayad 

By !IA I 
Attorney for Defendant LABS of 

GREENBERG TRAURTG, LLP 
800 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, D.C. 20006 
(202) 331-3 100 

By -,L._;;J.�1.M,&..��...lJc:<:�f'.Y 
Attorney for Defendan 
ROPES & GRAY 
One Frnnklin Square 
130 1 K Strect, N.W. 
Suite 800 East 
Washington, DC 20005-3333 
(202) 626-3900 
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February 27, 2004 

Gerald A. Peffer 

By ....J.��z:'!;,£...E:......._\,.t!'::::.� 
Attorney for Charles J. Stem an 

William Curtis Henley lil 

WILLIAMS & CONNOLLY 
725 Twelfth Street, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20005 
(202) 434-5000 

Local counsel: 
James G. Richmond 
GREENBERG TRAURJG, P.C. 
77 West Wacker Drive 
Suite 2500 
Chicago, lllinois 60601 
(3 l 2) 456-8400 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on this 27'" day of February, 2004, a trne and correct copy of the 
foregoing Defendants' Response to Government' s  Objection to and Re4uesl for Participation nf 
Court in -r,;,1ephonie Deposition of Government Witness Pursuant to the Letters Rogatory, was 
served by hand deli very on the following: 

Diane MacArthur, Esq. 
Assistant United States Attorney 
219 South Dearborn Street 
Chicago, lL 60604 

and hy United States first dass mai l ,  postage prepaid, on the following: 

Michael L. Fayad, Esq. 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
800 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, DC 20006 

Samuel J. Buffone, Esq. 
Kelly B .  Kramer, Esq. 
ROPES & GRAY 
One Franklin Square 
1301 K Street, N.W. 
Suite 800 East 
Washington, DC 20005-3333 

Gerald A. Fcffer, Esq. 
David M. Zinn, Esq. 
WILLIAMS & CONNOLLY 
725 Twelfth Street, N.W. 
Washington. D.C. 20005 

\\139\0Bvn:, 
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UNITED S'rATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF II,LINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

ill,ITED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 

LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. 
DAVID M. TAUB, 
CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III 

NOTICE OF FILING 

'IO: Michael L. Fayad, Esq. 
Debra Mercer, Esq. 
Greenberg & Traurig 
800 Connecticut Ave., N.W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, D.C. 20006 
( 2 0 2 ) 3 31 - 3101 ( fax) 

Gerald A. Peffer, Esq. 
David M. Zinn, Esq. 
Williams & Connolly LLP 
725 Twelfth St., N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20005-5901 
(202) 434-5029 (fax) 

Samuel J. Buffone, 
Ropes & Gray 
One Metro Center 
700 12� St., N.W. 
Suite 900 
Washington, D.C. 20005-3948 
(202) 508-4650 (fax) 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on Monday, March 1, 2004, I caused to 

be filed with the Clerk of this Court, 

GOVERNMENT'S REPORT TO THE COURT CONCERNING STATUS OF LETTERS 
ROGATORY AND GOVERNMENT'S REPLY MEMORANDUM CONCERNING 

OBJECTION TO TELEPHONIC DEPOSITION 

service of which is being made upon you. 

By: 

Respectfully submitted, 

PATRICK J. FITZGERALD 
United States Attorney 

� 
DIANE MacARTHUR 
Assistant U.S. Attorney 
219 S. Dearborn St. 
Chicago, Illinois 60604 
(312) 353-5352 
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UNITED ST ATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF lILlNOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 
Doc«ETEO 
MA/? 2 ?004-

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

vs. 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

No. 02CR312 f: /( 
Judge Ruben Castillo 

/2' D A1JJ1y 
O l LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. 

DAVID M. TAUB, ,.. . ?ar;., 
fh .. :r: <,1_,.. ., I.J ~ ,;L ,�, CHARLES J. STERN, and 

WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY Ill 
..... ".' . /Jr,,_ ' 

J.,,. :,., ·l�··:�-
"•·

._, 
ff,, 

¾,. �-. ·.,_,. 

GOVERNMENT'S REPORT TO THE COURT CONCERNING STATUS OF LETTERS 
ROGATORY AND GOVERNMENT'S REPLY MEMORANDUM CONCERNING 

OBJECTION TO TELEPHONIC DEPOSITION 

The government presents this status repo1t to the Coun concerning the letters rogatory as well 

as its Reply in connection with an ob,iection filed by the government to manner in which the 

defendants have proposed to conduct the deposition of Agus Darmawan in the letlers roghtory 

process. 

A. STATUS REPORT ON LETTERS ROG A TORY. 

l. On February 21, 2003, at the defendants' request, this Court approved the issuance of 

letters rogatory tu Indonesia. The letters rog,ttory authmized the questioning of six individuals: (I) 

Adi Susmianto (Department of Forestry); (2) a representative of the Department of Agriculture; (3) 

Dondin Sajuthi, Ph.D; (4) Agus Darrnawan; and (5) a representative of the Departments of Forestry 

or Agriculture to be designated by Indonesian officials. 

2. Between February 21, 2003 and December 2, 2003, the proceedings in this cuse focused 

on attempts to secure the reque�tcd information through the letters rogatory. On December 2, 2003, 

the first of the individuals designat;,d in the letters rogutory, Dr. Saimhi, appeared at a police station 

in Bogor City, Indonesia for questioning as a part of the letters rogatory process. The defendants 
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appeared :.t the questioning session through their lndonesian-based local counsel. The government 

was not notified of the deposition and did nol have a representative present. The transcript f'rom that 

session consists of five pages of 33 enumerated questions and answers. The transc1ipt reflects thm 

an investigator with the Indonesian Criminal Investigation Department asked Dr. Sajuthi the 

questions. 

3. No other designated individual was deposed between December 3, 2003 and January 28, 

2004. On January 28, 2004, during a telephonic ,;tatus conference, the defendants repotted to the 

Court that they were having continuing difficulties with local police officials in fndoncsiun in 

securing the cooperation and presence of the remaining designated individuals. The Court ordered 

that the government attempt to facilitate the letters rogatory by involving, if possible, the United 

States Embassy in the process. The Court also ordered the parties to report to the Court by March 

I, 2004 their respective progress in securing forward movement or the completion of the process. 

4. On January 28, 2004, after the telephonic status conference, the govemmcnl, through the 

undersigned attorney, contacted the Department of Justice's Office of International Affairs ("OIA") 

for direction us to the most appropriate and efficient means of communicating with the Embassy and 

local police officials. The OlA tol<l the undersigned atwrney that she should request that a Special 

Agent of the Federal Bureau of fnvestigation in Jakarta, fndoncsia reach out to the police officials. 

The case agent in this case, Special Agent Davi<l Kirkby of the United States Fish and Wildlife 

Service, sent an email message that day (January 28, 2004) or the next day to the FBl Special Agent 

in J akurta requesting assistance. The FBl Special Agent responded that he would be willing lo help 

provided that he received a "lead" from his agency approving his involvement in another agency's 

case. The FBI Special Agent, however, required information as to the specific police offi<:iah with 

2 
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whom the defendants had dealt in atLempting to secure the designated individuals for questioning. 

The government did not receive that i nformation from the defendants after the January 28, 2004 

telephonic status conference. 

5. In a letter dated January 27, 2004, the defendants made ce1tain new proposals concerning 

the manner in which the remaining questioning of individuals would be conducted. 

lt [is] our strong preference to obtain the testimony of the Indonesian individuals in the form 
that most closely resembles what we would normally do in the United States where a witness 
is unavailable for trial - take a deposition of the witness with the government having the 
opportunity to cross examine. To that end, we have asked our Indonesian representative to 
request that the witnesses either ( I )  appear for a Rule l 5  deposition in a location outside ot 
Indonesia (such as London), where both defense counsel and the government could attend, 
or (2) appear for a deposition al the U.S. embassy in Jakai1a, where defense counsel and the 
government could participate in per$on or by telephone. 

The government did not receive a copy of the January 27, 2004 letter until after the January 28, 2004 

telephonic status conference had taken place. 

6. On Febmary 5, 2004, in a ktter to defense counsel, the undersigned attorney noted Ihm 

the government had not yet received specific information about the Indonesian officials with whom 

the defendants were having difficulty. The government requested that the defendants provide the 

following information so that the information could be transmitted to the Jakarta-based FBI agent: 

( l) the names, positions, addresses and telephone numbers of the remaining individuals whose 

testimony was required; and (2) the names and locations of the local police officials or other 

individuals with the defendants' representatives had dealt in trying to arrange for the testimony to 

take placi;,, The undersigned attorney emphasized in the ktter that, based on defense counse l 's 

description to the Court of the problems they had encountered in the letter� rogat\lry process, the 

government's effrnt.� were focused on attempting to break the apparent log-jam in the willingness 
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of Indonesian officials Lo secure the attendance of the designated individuals at the depositions ,md 

not in negotiating with Indonesian officials as to where those depositions were to take place or who 

could or would attend them. 

7. The government never did receive from the defendants any details about local police 

officials or other individuals with whom they had had dillinilty. Instead, on February 12, 2004, the 

undersigned uttorney received an e1m1il from Mich,1cl Fayad, one of the defense attorneys who wrote 

on behalf of all defense counsel, annourn:ing that the defendants had made ammgements to take the 

depositions of four individuals at the United States Embassy in Jakai1a. The individuals identified, 

in the order in which the defendants wished to depose them, were: ( 1 )  Agus Darmawan; (2) Adi 

Susmianlo (former Director in the Department of Forestry); (3) Dr. Sajuthi ;  and (4) Mr. Widodo (a 

current Director in the Depurtment of Forestry). The email contained pmposcd dates for the 

Darmawan deposition ranging from February 24, 2004 and March 9, 2004. There were no dates of 

deposition proposed for the other individuals. 

8. On February 18, 2004, the undersigned attorney and Mr. Fayad spoke hy telephone. The 

undersigned attorney e)(pressed concern about the <.•hange in forn1at ol' the questioning of the 

individuals identified in the letters rogatory and told Mr. Fayad that she wished to examine the 

original leLters rogatory to see if the proposed fonnat was in keeping with their terms. The 

undersigned attorney also stated that, if n,;cessary, she would file objections with the Court 

concerning the new proposals by defense counsel. The undersigned attorney received an email later 

that day, sent on Mr. Fayad's behalf but in which all defense counsel joined, in which defense 

counsel stattld that the taking of deposition� was contemplated by and approved in the letters 

rogatory issued by this Court. The undersigned attorney slated in an email response that day, among 
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other things, that she would be prepared to go forward with the Darmawan deposition on March l, 

2004. 

9. On February 23, 2004, the govemment filed with the Cm11t an objection to the Dannawan 

deposition, specifically, the defendants' proposal that they question Darrnawan first to be followed 

by a government "cro%-examination." The government also requested in the submis.�ion that the 

Court participate in the de.position. 

JO. On February 24, 2004, Mr. Fayad informed the undersigned attorney that the United 

States Embassy would not allow dtlpositions to take place at the Embassy and that the Embassy 

official would only be available on Wednesdays in which to travel to another location to swear in 

any witness appearing for a deposition. The deposition of Darmawan on March 1 ,  2004, therefore, 

could not go forward as planned. The defendants wish to proceed first with the deposition of 

Darmawan and, to the government' s  knowledge, the depositions of the other designated individuals 

have not yet been scheduled. 

8. GOVERNMENT'S REPLY TO OBJECTIONS AS TO PROPOSED FORMAT 
OF DARMAWAN DEPOSITION. 

I l. Defendants incorrectly claim that the government's representation in its motion that it 

intends to call Darmawan in its case in chief at trial reilects a change in the government's position 

in this case. The government maintained al the time of the argument on the letters rogatory request, 

and still maintains, that testimony of Indonesian officials as to the permit process or the specific 

permits in this case is not relevant. Darmawan, however, is not an Indonesian official and is the 

individual with whom the defendants dealt directly in the transactions underlying this rnse. 1 The 

Darmawan and the defendants had extensi vc dealinp with one another which, for the 
most part, are documented through coTTespondenc<;, and other matc1ials. The indictment in this case 

5 

Obtained by Rise for Animals.
Uploaded to Animal Research Laboratory Overview (ARLO) on 09/20/2020



Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 112 Filed: 03/01/04 Page 7 of 10 PageID #:573

government docs intend to call Darmawan in its case in chief at trial and, to the undersigned 

attorney's knowledge, has never srnted otherwise to the Court or to defense counsel. The 

government intends to question Dannawan on direct examination, if he appears for trial, about the 

primate colony, his contacts and communications with the defendants, and the actual shipments of 

the primates to the defendants' United States facility. The government does not intend to question 

Darrnawan on direct examination as to whether he or anyone ebc actually paid or received a bribe 

to allow the shipments to take place. 

12. Dannawan is u citizen of Indonesia and Dannawan currently resides in Indonesia. The 

United States government has no subpoena power over Darmawan and the United States government 

cannot compel his appearance at the trial of this case. Darmawan's presence in  the lJnited States, 

therefore, would be voluntary on his pan and, as a result, the government is prepared to procetid al 

trial if necessary without Darmawan 's testimony as a part of its case in chief. 

13 .  The government filcd its objection to the Darmawan deposition because the defendants 

recently, and significantly, changed the manner in which the depositions pursuant to the letters 

rogatory apparently will be conducted.' Dr. Sajuthi, the first person to appear pursuant to the letters 

rogutory. w,1s ,tpparently questioned by an Indonesian official .  In late January 2004, for the first 

time, after the Dr. Sajulhi session Look plltce, defense counsel made arrangements to allow United 

refers repeatedly to Darmawan under the designation "Person A." 

2 The defendants also announced for the first time ()11 February 12, 2004 that they wish 
Dr. Sajuthi to ,tppear again for questioning, even th,,ugh he was previously deposed pursuant to the 
letters rogatory. The defendants apparently wish t<J take adv an tag,; of their newly proposed, changed 
format in  the depositions in order to allow them (the United States-based attorneys) to questi()n Dr. 
Sajuthi directly. The government has not yet determined whether it will object to this proposal. 
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States-based counsel, for both the defendants and the government, to question the designated 

individuals by means of telephonic hook-up or vidcornn fcrencing technology, 

14, The defendants wish to question Darm a wan at the deposition pursuant to Rule I 5 of the 

Federal Rules ot Criminal Procedure. i.e. , "in order to preserve his testimony for tri al," 

Fed.R.Crim,P, 15 ,  lf, indeed, as the defendants represent, the deposition may have to be used in lieu 

of Dmmawan's appearance at trial, then Lhe deposition should proceed in the manner which would 

best replicate Darmawan' s  testimony at trial, i,e , ,  a direct examination by the government to be 

followed by a cross-examination by the defendants. 

15 .  Nothing in Rule 15, when used in the context of a letters rogatory proceeding, requires 

that the defendants be allowed to question Dmmawan first, This deposition is a part of the letters 

rogatory process and nm an independent procedural step requested and conducted at the behest of 

one party in a pending case, The government, while i t  initia.lly objected to the letters rogatory, is 

now a part of the letters rogatory process loo, The letters rogatory were issued under the authority 

of this Courl and the United States and are not party specific. The defendants, despite lhcir apparent 

belief to the contrary, do not have exclusive control over the manner in which these depositions wi 11 

take place, i.e., it is not exclusively their deposition to take and, in  the context of the letters rogatory 

process, they do not have an automatic right to proceed first simply because they requested the 

Dannawan deposition first i n  the context of their letters rogatory motion. 

16. The "exceptional circumstances" under which depositions in criminal cases are allowed 

do not include giving a defendant a free opportunity prior to trial lo cross-examine a government 

witness. There is no prejudice to the defendants in requiring them to 4uestion Dannawan at a 

deposition after direct examination-like questions by the government. The defendants will not in 
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any way be deprived of an opportunity to confront Darmawan and to otherwise question him under 

the government's proposed format. 

By: 

8 

Respectfully submitted, 

PATRICK J, FITZGERALD 

United States Attorney 

L_� 
DIANE MacARTHUR 

Assistant U.S. Attorney 
2 1 9  South Dearborn Street 
Chicago, lllinois 60604 
(3 12) 353-5352 
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AFFIDAVIT BY FACSIMILE AND MAIL 

STATE OF ILLINOIS 

COUNTY OF COOK 
ss  

Carol Bithos, being first duly sworn on oath deposes and says 
that she is employed in the Of fice of the United States Attorney 
for the Northern Distric L of  I 1 lino i.s ; that. on the 1st day of 
March, 2004 she faxed and deposited in the mail a copy of  

GOVERNMENT'S REPORT TO THE COURT CONCERNING STATUS OF LETTERS 
ROGATORY AND GOVERNMENT' S  REPLV MEMORANDUM CONCERNING 

OBJECTION TO TELEPHONIC DEPOSITION 

to the following named individual ( s )  on said date . 

TO : Michael L .  Fayad, Esq. 
Debra Mercer, Esq. 
Greenberg & Traurig 
800 Connecticut Ave. , N . W .  
Suite 500 
Washington, D.C. 20006 
FAX : (202 ) 331-310 1 

Gerald A .  Peffer, Esq . 
David M. Z inn, Esq. 
Williams & Connolly LLP 
7 2 5  Twelfth St. , N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 2 0 0 0 5-5901  
FAX : ( 202 ) 434- 5 0 2 9  

Samuel J .  Buf fone , Esq . 
Ropes & Gray 
One Metro Center 
700 1 2 th St. , N . W. 
Sui te 9 0 0  
Washington , D . C .  20005- 3 9 48 
FAX : ( 2 02) 508-4650 

SUBSCRIBED and SWORN TO BEFORE 
me this 1st day of March , 2 0 04 
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• 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT C01J!n: 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS, 

EASTERN DIVISION 
,. 

DOCKETir 

., 

I 
I .... (I•, 't 

• 
I -, -�o 

lJNITED STATES OF AM_ijRICA cD 
AR · i ?nn4 

V. 

) 
) 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

) 

No. 02 CR 0312 

Judge Castillo 
LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. 
DA VJD M. TAUB 
CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III 

DEFENDANTS' LETTERS ROGATORY 
STATUS REPORT 

Fl l ED 
\I" MAR 1 2004 

Cle:c:A• w DOP'JIIJNS 
' .s, flYSTRICT COURT 

Pursuant to the Court's January 28, 2004 Order, Defendants LABS of Virginia, Inc. 

("LABS"), Charles J. Stem, William Curtis Henley lll, and David M. Taub, by the undersigned 

counsel, hereby submit this Status Report outlining the progress towards completing the process 

ordered by this Court in its Request for International Judicial Assistance to the appropriate 

authority in Indonesia. 

On February 21, 2003, this Court granted Defendants' First Amended Request for 

International Judicial Assistance (hereinafter, the "Request"). The approved Request petitioned 

the Indonesian government for assistance in obtaining specified documents and in compelling a 

list of identified witnesses to "answer questions upon oral deposition." Request, at 2. The list of 

deponents included three named individuals, Adi Susmianto, Dondin Sajuthi, and Agus 

Darmawan, and two individuals listed by official title. Attached hereto as Attachment A is a 

detailed report on the history and current status of the execution of this Court's Request. This 

Status Report summarizes the current status of, and plans to complete, the Request. 
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I. Current Status. 

A. Deposition Procedures. 

Over the past several months, defense counsel have succeeded in implementing a 

procedure for the taking of the depositions in Indonesia, as ordered by the Court in the Request. 

The implementation of this procedure is significant because execution of the Letters Rogatory is 

not centralized through a judicial authority. Rather, it is coordinated by various local police 

authorities. 

The procedure that has been arranged is as follows: Counsel will take the depositions of 

the designated individuals by video-conference or teleconference, so that all U.S. counsel, and 

the Court if it chooses to do so, can participate in the proceedings. The depositions will take 

place at a law office or hotel, with a translator and court reporter. The U.S. Embassy has agreed 

to administer the proper oaths. All of these procedures should ensure that testimony is taken in 

accordance with Fed. R. Crim. P. 15. 

At the most recent status conference, the Court expressed some concern with the length 

of time that it has taken to complete the Request. The procedures for processing and transmitting 

the Request through the U.S. Government and the Government of Indonesia have been 

cumbersome. The Court granted Defendants' Request on February 21, 2003. By April 24, 2003, 

the Request had been translated into Indonesian and authenticated by the U.S. Department of 

Justice, U.S. Department of State, and the Indonesian Embassy in the U.S. On June 5, 2003, the 

fully authenticated Request was hand-delivered to the Department of State in order to be sent to 

Indonesia. On June 11, 2002, the Request was sent from the Department of State to the U.S. 

Embassy in Jakarta, Indonesia. On June 27, 2003, receipt of the Request by the U.S. Embassy in 

Jakarta was confirmed. The U.S. Embassy in Jakarta did not sign the Requests and forward it to 
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its Indonesian government counterpart, the Indonesian Department of Foreign Affairs ("DFA"), 

until July 29, 2003, more than four weeks later. The Indonesian DF A, in tum, has been involved 

in arranging for the execution of the Request, which has required coordination among the U.S. 

Embassy and several Indonesian central government departments, as well as local authorities. 

In Indonesia, requests for international judicial assistance in taking depositions are 

officially assigned and transmitted to the local police facility in which the deponent is located. 

The police then are charged with asking questions based on the information in the Request, and 

may or may not allow a representative of the any of the foreign parties to propose questions or 

otherwise participate. As the Court recalls from the discussion of the Dondin Saj1'lthi deposition 

at the Bogar police station during the last status conference, this procedure does not lend itself to 

a case like this, involving numerous documents and complex legal issues, and led the Court to 

encourage a process whereby all parties participate. Accordingly, defense counsel requested that 

their Indonesian counsel, Mr. Frans Winarta, explore other alternatives. 

Initially, Mr. Winarta arranged for the depositions to be taken at the U.S. Embassy in 

Jakarta. After Mr. Winarta took initial steps to have one witness (Mr. Dannawan) summoned for 

a deposition at the Embassy, however, the Embassy informed Mr. Winarta on February 24, 2004 

that the depositions could not be held there for security reasons. 

At defense counsel's request, Mr. Winarta has now arranged for the depositions to take 

place outside of the Embassy under the same procedures that would be used at the Embassy. The 

Consular staff at the U.S. Embassy in Jakarta have advised Mr. Winarta that the Embassy staff 

will be available on Wednesdays (beginning March IO, 2004) to administer oaths for 

depositions. (Note that, due to the 12 hour time difference, a deposition commencing at 9:00 

AM on a Wednesday morning in Indonesia, would commence on Tuesday night in the U.S. at 
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9:00 PM EST and 8:00 PM CST.) Mr. Winarta has detennined that the Grand Hyatt Hotel in 

Jakarta can arrange video-conferencing at their business center. Counsel for Defendants have 

secured the services ofa translator in Washington D.C., Ms. Nine Syarikin, and have forwarded 

her biographical information to AUSA MacArthur. Counsel for Defendants have also secured 

the services of an official court reporting service, Olender Reporting, Inc. 

To summarize the status of deposition procedures, we have concluded arrangements for 

video-conferencing or teleconferencing, administration of the oath, a translator, and a court 

reporter. All defense counsel are available on the following Tuesday nights/Wednesday 

mornings in Indonesia: March 23-24, March 30-31, April 20-21, April 27-28, May 4-5, and May 

11-12. Defense counsel estimate four full nights/days will be necessary: a full night for Mr. 

Darmawan, a full night for Mr. Susmianto, a full night for Mr. Susmianto's successor, Mr. 

Widodo Sukohadi Ramono, and one night for both Dr. Sajuthi and Mr. Muchtar Baraniah, the 

official designated by the Department of Agriculture (hereinafter, "DOA"). Defense counsel 

suggest proposing to the Indonesian side at least six options to accommodate their schedules. 

Also, our experience with telephonic communications with Indonesia is that technical difficulties 

may arise, which is another reason for securing more than the minimum nun1ber of dates. 

B. Deponents. 

Summary of Scheduling Specific Deponents. 

Defense counsels' representative in Indonesia has been required to coordinate among 

numerous local, national, and international government bodies to coordinate the deposition 

process, including four local police facilities, Jakarta Police Headquarters, the Indonesian DF A, 

the U.S. Embassy, and the two Indonesian central government departments involved in this case. 

The current status is as follows: 
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1 .  Agus Darmawan. 

Mr. Darmawan's role is well known to the Court, and needs no summary in this Report. 

Mr. Darmawan has agreed to appear for a deposition if properly summoned by the police. His 

deposition was scheduled to occur on March 1 ,  2004, at the U.S. Embassy in Jakarta. Because 

the Embassy changed its position and will not allow the depositions to be taken at the Embassy, 

the plan to take Mr. Darmawan's deposition was cancelled. The West Jakarta Police will 

summon Mr. Darmawan, and we understand he will appear, at the next mutually convenient date. 

Mr. Winarta will make the request as soon as the Court rules on the Government's pending 

objections concerning the deposition procedures, and we advise him of the parties' available 

dates, including the Court if it chooses to participate. 

2. Adi Susmianto and Widodo Sukohadi Ramona. 

Adi Susmianto was the Director of the Directorate of Biodiversity of the Department of 

Forestry (hereinafter, "DOF") at the time counsel for Defendants began making preliminary 

inquiries of the DOF about the issuance of the CITES permits involved in this case. Mr. 

Susmianto gave a sworn statement which was previously submitted to this Court and the 

Government as an attachment to Defendants' Reply to the Government's Consolidated Response 

to Defendants' Pretrial Motions. Mr. Susimianto testified in his declaration, contrary to the 

charges in the Indictment, that the Indonesian government issued permits "authoriz[ing] the 

export of the entire colony, including parent stock macaques that were caught in the wild." Id. 

Mr. Susmianto was served a summons on October 13 ,  2003. He appeared at the 

Department of Protection of lndonesian Citizens and Legal Entities, DFA, on October 14 ,  2003, 

and stated that he was not the correct person to give testimony because he no longer held the 
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position of Director of the Directorate of Biodiversity of the DOF. Since Mr. Susmianto 

supervised the research of the issuance of the CITES permits in this case, and gave a sworn 

declaration about the issuance of the permits, it is necessary to depose Mr.Susmianto. Defense 

counsel has instructeq Indonesian counsel to reserve him with a subpoena to appear in 

accordance with the procedures outlined in this Report. It also is necessary to depose Mr. 

Ramono, as the cuttent Director and successor to Mr. Susmianto, because he is now the official 

in charge of the Directorate that had issued the CITES permits, and is the cuttcnt spokesperson 

for DOF. Indonesian counsel has advised that the Central Jakarta Police are willing to summon 

both Messrs. Susmianto ·and Ramano. Mr. Winarta will make the request as soon as the Court 

mies on the Government's pending objections concerning the deposition procedures and . we 

advise him of the parties' available dates. 

3 .  Mr. Dondin Sajuthi. 

Dondin Sajuthi was the veterinarian who examined Mr. Darmawan's colony, at the 

request of the DOF, in accordance with DOF procedures for exporting animals from Indonesia. 

Dr. Sajuthi was summoned and questioned by Jndonesian police on November 2 1 ,  2003. United 

States counsel for Defendants did not learn of the deposition until after it occurred, There is an 

official stamped and signed version of the deposition in the Indonesian language. Defense 

counsel have obtained an English translation of the deposition transcript and provided a copy to 

the Government. The transcript of the questioning of Mr. Sajuthi reflects the limitations of 

questioning by Indonesian police officers who lack familiarity with the facts of the case or nature 

of the pending charges. Since neither United States defense counsel nor the Government were in 

attendance at the deposition, and the areas set forth in Schedule C of the Request were not fully 

addressed, it is necessary to depose Dr. Sajuthi in accordance with the procedures set forth 
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herein. Mr. Winarta will request Bogor Police to summons Dr. Sajuthi as soon as the Court rules 

on the Government's pending objections to the deposition procedures, and we advise him of the 

parties' available dates. 

4. Muchtar Baraniah. 

Muchtar Baraniah, one of the individuals not specifically named in the Request, is the 

designated DOA official. Mr. Baraniah is in the jurisdiction of the South Jakarta Police, and l\.as 

not been summoned because the South Jakarta Police state they do not have the authority to 

serve a summons on Mr. Baraniah because the alleged crime occurred out of their precinct. The 

lndonesian DF A has stated that it will assist in facilitating an examination possibly through the 

Jakarta Police Headquarters. Mr. Winarta sent a letter to the DFA on February 27, 2004, and 

will meet with an official of DFA on March I ,  2004. We will advise the Court and Government 

of the results of this meeting at the bearing on March 3, 2004. As with the other deponents, Mr. 

Winarta will be in a better position to resolve any issues with DF A and Jakarta Police 

Headquarters if we can advise him of definitive dates on which the deposition can proceed. 

C. Documents. 

On January 30, 2004, Indonesian counsel informed defense counsel that all documents 

listed in Schedule A of the Request had been obtained except for the quotas from the DOF and 

documents from the Soekarno-Hatta Quarantine Center of the DOA. On February 9, 2004, 

Indonesian counsel went to the Directorate of Biodiversity Conservation at the DOF and learned 

that DOF was prepared (o certify some copies of the documents, however, it could not certify the 

CITES permits because the originals were missing. On February 10, 2004, Indonesian counsel 

were advised by DOA that other than the health certificates there were no documents relating to 

this case. On February 1 1, 2004, Indonesian counsel advised that they had received the quotas 
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for capture and export of wild animals from DOF, but were still waiting to receive officially 

stamped health certificates from DOA and CITES permits form DOF. On February 27, 2004, 

Indonesian counsel advised defense counsel that all available documents in Schedule A of the 

Request had been obtained. Defense counsel has requested Indonesian counsel to send these 

documents immediately. 

II. Plan to Complete Request. 

Defense counsel are prepared to schedule and participate m the deposition of Mr. 

Darmawan as early as possible in March 2004. As stated above, we have confirmed the 

availability of video-conferencing and teleconferencing, administration of the <)ath, a translator, 

and a court reporter. Once the Court rules on the Government's pending procedural objections 

and identifies whether it will participate in this and future depositions, and proposed dcltcs are 

confirmed, defense counsel will instruct Mr. Winarta to request Indonesian police to summon the 

deponents to appear. Defendants propose the following dates: March 23-24, March 30-3 1 ,  April 

20-2 1 ,  April 27-28, May 4-5, and May 1 1- 12 .  Finally, regarding the documents requested in 

Schedule A of the Request, defense counsel will forward copies of all documents to the 

Government after rccei ving (hem from Indonesian counsel. 

Respectfully submitted, 

GRE , BERG TRAURIG, LLP 
800 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, D.C. 20006 
(202) 331-3 100 
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Local counsel: 
James G. Richmond 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, P.C. 
77 West Wacker Drive 
Suite 2500 
Chicago, Illinois 6060 I 
(3 12) 456·8400 

March I, 2004 

/ 
·Sam 

One Metro Center 
700 12th Street, N .W. 
Suite 900 
Washington, DC 20005-3948 
(202) 508-4600 

ttorn y for Charles J. Stern and 

. 
\Vi am Curtis Henley III 

LLIAMS & CONNOLLY 
725 Twelfth Street, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20005 
(202) 434-5000 
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Attachment A 

This attachment 'provides a detailed outline of the status of the Letters Rogatory. The 
first section details the progression of the Letters Rogatory from the U.S. Department of State to 
the Department of Foreign Affairs in the Republic of Indonesia. The second section details the 
progression of scheduling depositions for each witness listed in Schedule B of the Letters 
Rogatory. The third section details the progression of obtaining documents listed in Schedule A 
of the Letters Rogatory. 

I. Letters Rogatory (U.S. Department of State to Indonesian Department of Foreign 
Affairs) 

• On February 21, 2003, Judge Castillo granted LABS' Request for Letters Rogatory. 

• On April 24, 2003, the Letters ofRogatory were authenticated by the U.S. Department of 
Justice, U.S. Department of State, and the Indonesian Embassy in the U.S. 

• On June 5, 2003, the Letters ofRogatory were hand-delivered to the Department of State 
in order to be sent to Indonesia. 

• On June 11 ,  2002, the Letters of Rogatory were sent from the Department of State to the 
U.S. Embassy in Jakarta, Indonesia. 

• On June 27, 2003, it was confirmed that the U.S. Embassy in Jaka1ta had received the 
Letters Rogatory. 

• On July 29, 2003, the Letters Rogatory were signed by the U.S. Ambassador and sent to 
four different people at the Department of Foreign Affairs ("DFA") in Indonesia. 

• On July 30, 2003, LABS' Indonesian counsel conducted a survey of the DFA to 
determine the status of the Letters Rogatory. 

• On August 29, 2003, Indonesian counsel learned that the Letters Rogatory would be sent 
to the police station in the city where each deponent resides on September 1 ,  2003. 

• On September 2, 2003, the Letters Rogatory were sent to each of the police stations 
where the witnesses listed in Section II of this memorandwn resided ( except for the 
police station where Agus Darmawan resided). 

II. Individual Deponents 

Adi Susmianto 

• On October 7, 2003, Indonesian counsel went to the Central Jakarta Police Station and 
met with the head of the Detective Unit. Indonesian counsel learned that a summons for 
Mr. Susmianto had been prepared and was to be sent out on October 13 ,  2003. 
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• On October 14, 2003, Mr. Susmianto appeared at the DFA and explained that since he no 
longer held the position as Director of the Directorate of Biodiversity Conservation of the 
Department of Forestry, he was not the correct person to give testimony. 

• On November I 3, 2003, a letter was sent by Indonesian counsel to Ms. Garbe at the U.S. 
Embassy. This letter was not in regard to any particular witness, however, the letter 
stated that, in general, the police have not been cooperating in having witnesses deposed. 
In addition, the letter requests the attendance by an Embassy representative at the 
deposition of any witnesses in order to record their statements. 

• On December 5, 2003, we were informed that Mr. Susmianto had given his relevant 
documents to the new person in charge. In addition, Indonesian counsel stated that they 
would find the name of Mr. Susmianto' s replacement at the Department of Forestry in 
order to have him summoned through the DFA. 

• We have since learned that Mr. Widodo Sukohadi Ramono is Mr. Susmianto's 
replacement at the Department of Forestry. 

· Dondin Sajutbi 

• On October 1 5, 2003, Indonesian counsel met with the Bogor Police Station, who is in 
charge of the Letters Rogatory for Mr. Sajuthi. The head of the Crime Unit Division, Mr. 
Soleh, stated that he had prepared the summons for Mr. Sajuthi and that he would make a 
record of the interview. However, Mr. Saleh first needed the Indonesian version of the 
Letters of Rogatory. 

• On October 20, 2003, the Indonesian version of the Letters Rogatory was provided to Mr. 
So]eh. 

• On November 17, 2003, Indonesian counsel traveled to the Bogor Police Station again to 
check on the progress in summoning Mr. Sajuthi. 

• On November 19, 2003, the Bogor Police confirmed that they served Mr. Sajuthi with a 
summons to appear before them on November 21 ,  2003 at 8:30 a.m. At that time, 
Indonesian counsel was still trying to confirm whether this schedule was suitable for a 
consular official of the U.S. Embassy to attend and certify the deposition. 

• On November 20, 2003, Indonesian counsel stated that due to the upcoming Lebaran 
Muslim holidays, the deposition of Mr. Sajuthi had been postponed until December. No 
exact date in December had been determined. 

• On November 24, 2003, Indonesian counsel stated that there was a change in plans and 
the deposition of Mr. Sajuthi wen t forward on November 2 1 ,  2003. The U.S. Embassy 
consular official could not attend the deposition on such short notice. Defense counsel 
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were provided with an official stamped and signed version of the deposition in 
Indonesian. 

Muchtar Baraniah (Department of Agriculture) 

• On October 7, 2003, Indonesian counsel went to the South Jakarta Police Station to 
monitor the Letters Rogatory for Mr. Baraniah. The Chief of the South Jakarta Police, 
Mr. Gufron, stated that summons for the Letters Rogatory should be sent through the 
Jakarta Police Headquarters rather than the South Jakarta Police Station. 

• On October 21 ,  2003, Indonesian counsel met the head of the Special Crime Unit 
Division at the South Jakarta Police Station. According to the head of the Special Crime 
Unit, a summons had been prepared for Mr. Baraniah and was to be delivered "as soon as 
possible." 

• On October 24, 2003, the South Jakarta Police stated that it was unwilling to serve a 
summons on Mr. Baraniah because the police Jack authority since the alleged crime 
occurred out of their precinct. At that time, Indonesian counsel stated that they would 
attempt to contact the U.S. Embassy. 

• On December 29, 2003, Indonesian counsel stated that the DF A will give instructions to 
the Jakarta Metropolitan Police to summon Mr. Baraniah, however, activity has slowed 
down due to the holiday season. 

• On January 27, 2004, Indonesian counsel stated that DFA requires proof that the South 
Jakarta District Police are unwilling to conduct examination and then the DF A will 
facilitate examination through Jakarta Metropolitan Police. 

Agus Darmawan 

• On August 29, 2003, it was relayed by the DFA that the address for Mr. Darmawan was 
incorrect, and therefore, a copy of the Letters of Rogatory could not be sent to him. 

• After investigation by Indonesian counsel, Mr. Darmawan's current home address and 
telephone number were located on October 24, 2003. 

• On December 5, 2003, Mr. Kemi at the Department of the Protection oflndonesian 
Citizens and Legal Entities, DFA was contacted in order to have Mr. Darmawan 
summoned at his address in Jakarta. 

• On December 22, 2003, the DF A sent a letter to the West Jakarta Metropolitan Police 
Station requesting them to summons Mr. Darmawan. 

• On January J 4, 2004, Mrs. Elba of the Department of Protection of Indonesian Citizens 
and Legal Entities, a department within the DF A, was contacted again. At that time, 
Indonesian counsel obtained a copy of the relevant letter of instruction dated December 
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22, 2003, from the DFA to the West Jakarta Police Station requesting the police to 
summons Mr. Darmawan at his home address. 

• On February 2, 2004, defense counsel learned that the West Jakarta Police lost the copy 
of the summons for Mr. Darmawan, which was sent to the police by the DF A on 
December 22, 2003. On February 2, 2004, Indonesian counsel stated that they would 
bring the West Jakarta Police additional copies of the letter from the DFA and the Letters 
Rogatory. 

• On February 5, 2004, we learned from Indonesian counsel that the West Jakarta Police 
have conducted a surveillance of Mr. Darmawan's house with a view to summoning hi1n. 
Mr. Darmawan would be summoned to 1.he police station first and then to the U.S. 
Embassy. 

• On February 9, 2004, Mr. Darmawan wa� summoned to the West Jakarta Police Station. 
Mr. Darmawan stated that he is willing to attend the U.S. Embassy for a deposition at a 
time suitable to himself and to the other parties involved, however, he will 'need 3 days 
advance notice. The relevant officer at West Jakarta Police has confirmed his willingness 
to arrange for attendance of Mr. Darmawan at a time suitable to us. 

• The deposition of Mr. Darmawan was scheduled for March 2, 2004 (the evening of 
March I ,  2004 in the U.S.), West Jakarta Police confirmed that they would summon Mr. 
Darmawan to appear on March 2, 2004, once the U.S. Embassy has confirmed 
availability. 

• On February 24, 2004, the consular section of the Embassy stated that it would not allow 
depositions to occur on Embassy grounds due to security concerns. However, the 
Embassy consular staff were available to administer oaths to deponents at another 
location. Embassy staff are available beginning on Wednesday, March 10, 2004, and 
every subsequent Wednesday thereafter. 

III. Documents 

• On January 30, 2004, Indonesian counsel informed defense counsel that all documents 
listed in Schedule A of the Letters of Rogatory had been obtained except for the quotas 
from the Department of Forestry and the documents from the Soekarno-Hatta Quarantine 
Center of the Department of Agriculture. ln addition, defense counsel learned that there 
was difficulty in the authentication the documents by the Department of Forestry. 

• On February 9, 2004, Indonesian counsel went to the Directorate of Biodiversity 
Conservation at the Department of Forestry. The Department of Forestry were prepared 
to certify some copies of the documents, however, the Department represented that they 
could not certify the CITES permits because the originals were missing. The Department 
of Forestry planned to search for the quota documents from 1997-2001 and stated that 
they would get back to us by Thursday, February 12,  2004. 
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• On February 10, 2004, two of LABS' Indonesian lawyers went to the Department of 
Agriculture. The Department officials reported that other than the health certificates 
there were no documents relating to this case. The lawyers requested the Department to 
officially stamp copies of the health certificates. 

• On February 1 1 ,  2004, Indonesian counsel advised that they had received the quotas for 
capture and export of wild animals from the Department of Forestry for 1998-2002. 
Indonesian counsel is still waiting to have the health certificate and CITES clocuments 
officially stamped by the Department of Agriculture and the Department of Forestry. 

• On February 12, 2004, Indonesian counsel was directed to inquire with the Departments 
of Agriculture and Forestry to determine if they have any responsive documents in 
addition to the final versions of the health certificates, CITES permits, and quotas. 

• On February 27, 2004, Indonesian counsel advised defense counsel that all available 
documents in Schedule A of the Request had been obtained. Defense counsel has 
requested Indonesian counsel to send these documents. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify thal on this I"  day of March, 2004, a true and correct copy of the 
foregoing Defendants' Letters Rogatory Status Report, was served by hand delivery on the 
following: 

Diane MacArthur, Esq. 
Assistant United Stales Attorney 
219  South Dearborn Street 
Chicago, IL 60604 

and by United States first class mail, postage prepaid, on the following: 

Michael L. Fayad, Esq. 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
800 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, DC 20006 

Samuel J. Buffone, Esq. 
Kelly B. Kramer, Esq. 
ROPES & GRAY 
One Metro Center 
700 1 2th Street, N.W. 
Suite 900 
Washington, DC 20005�3948 

Gerald A. Feffor, Esq. 
David M. Zinn, Esq. 
WILLIAMS & CONNOLLY 
725 Twelfth Street, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20005 
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'Yfinule Order Form (06/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Name of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 

or Magistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312- all DATE 3/3/2004 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 

TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff, defendant, 3rd party plaintiff, and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

■ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due _ __ . 

Answer brief to motion due _ __ . Reply to answer brief due ___ . 

Ruling/Hearing on _ __ set for ___ at ___ . 

Status hearing held and continued to 4/29/2004 at I 0:00 A.M .. 

Pretrial conference[beld/continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for ___ at __ _  . 

Trial[ set for/re-set for] on ___ at ___ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to ___ at ___ . 

This case is dismissed [with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreement/pursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(m) □ Local Rule 41.1 □ FRCP4l(a)(l) □ FRCP4l(a)(2). 

(10) ■ [Other docket entty] A firm trial date will be set at the next status hearing. Govermnent's objection 
to and request for participation of court telephonic deposition of government witness pursuant to letters 
rogatory is granted. From today's date until 4/29/04 is excluded pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 3161(h)(2) and 
18 U.S.C. 3161(h)(8)(A)(B). (X-I and X-T). 

(11) 

✓ 

□ [For further detail see order ( on reverse side of/attached to) the original minute order.] 

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's.staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 form. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 

courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

Dateltim6 received in 
central Clerk's Office 

number of notices 

mailing deputy i · ia 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ) 

) 
) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

v. 

LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. 
DAVID M. TAUB, 
CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III 

No. 02 CR 312, 
·Judge Ruben tastillo 

. i' 

'•"'I. 

FI CEO 

NOTICE OF MOTION 
N;'� i :., ?IJG4 

TO: Micheal Fayed - Debra Mercer 
Samuel Buffone 
Gerald Feffer - David M. �inn 

CLE MICHAEL W. 0088/NS RK, U.S. DISTRICT COURT 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that rm 'ruesday, April 13, 2004, at 9:45 

a.m. or as soon thereafter as counsel may be beard, I will appear 

before Judge Castillo in the courtroom usually occupied by him in 

the Everett McKinley Dirksen Building, 219 S. Dearborn Street, 

Chicago, Illinois, or before such other who may be sitting in his 

place and stead, and then and there present: 

GOVERNMENT'S EMERGENCY MOTION CONCERNING DESPOSITION 
SCHEDULED FOR APRIL 13 1 200� PURSUANT TO LETTERS ROGATORY 

in the above-captioned case, at which time and place you may appear 

if you see fit. 

By: 

Respectfully submitted, 

PATRICK J. FITZGERALD 
United Stat.es Attorney 

_b� 
DIANE MacARTHUR 
Assistant United States Attorney 
219 S. Dearborn Street 
3rd Floor 
Chicago, Illinois 60604 
(312) 353-5352 

//b 

J 
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UNrfED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTFRN D.IVISJON 

UNITED ST ATES OF AMERICA 
No. 02 CR 312 

VS, Judge Ruben Castillo FILED 
LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. ) N''? ; ,, ?004 DAVIDM.TAUB, ) 
CHARLES J. STERN, and ) CLE�;IIAF.L W. DOBBINS WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III ) 

1 

' U.S. DISTRICT COURT 
GOVERNMENT'S EMERGENCY MOTION CONCERNING DEPOSlTION 

SCHEDULED FOR APRIL 13, 2004 PURSUANT TO LETTERS ROGATORY 

The United States of America, by its attorney, Pat1ick J. Fitzgerald, United States Attorney 
for the Not1hem District of Jllinois, respectfully presents this emergency motion in connection with 
the scheduling of Agus Darmawan's deposition pursuant lo the Leuers Rogatory. The defendants 
have scheduled Darmawan's deposition to be taken on April 13. 2004 beginning at 9:00 p.m. local 
(Chicago) time. The parties have not been able to resol vc this scheduling issue without the 
intervention of the Court. In support or this motion. the government states as follows: 

I. The parties appeared before this Coun for a status hearing on March 3, 2004. At that 
time, the parties discussed with the Court the taking of depositions pursuant to the Letters Rogatory. 
The Court granted the government's request that, as to the deposition of Agus Darmawan, the 

government would proceed first with questioning to be followed by cross-examination hy defense 
counsel. The Court left to the parties to resolve the government's request that Darmawan's 
deposition be scheduled last in the sequence of depositions. 

2. On March ll, 2004, in response to an email from defense counsel, AUSA MacAnhur 
informed defense rnunsel ol the fi vc proposed dates between Man;h 23, 2004 and May 12, 2004 on 
which the government preferred depositions to take place. Neither the defense attorneys nor the 
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government discussed in the email exchange the particular individuals to be deposed on the specific 

dates discussed. At the conclusion of the email response, however, AUSA M.tcAtthur again 
informed defense counsel that she did not want the Darmawan deposition to be scheduled first. 

3. The government did not hear anything from the defendants between March 9, 2004 and 
April 7, 2004 about dates on which any individual had been scheduled for a deposition. On April 
7, 2004, one of the defense attorneys sent by telefax to AUSA MacArthur a letter informing her that 
the defendants intended to depose Dannawan on Tuesday, April 13, 2004 as the first individual Lo 
be deposed as part of the Letters Rogatory process. AUSA MacArthur received the telefaxed letter 
on Thursday, April 8, 2004. AUSA MacArthur immediately contacted defense counsel and objected 
to bvth the short notice given as to the actual dale of Darrnawan' s deposition. Defense counsel 
refused to schedule Dannawan's deposition later in the sequence of dates even though, to date, no 
otber depositions have been scheduled and all other previously-agreed upon dates remain open. The 
last of the agreed upon available dates are May ] I and 12, 2004. 

4. It appears that defense counsel's refusal to change the date is premised on a desire on their 
part to be able to report to the Coun during the nc,xt scheduled status on April 29, 2004 that at least 
one deposition has been completed. Darmawan · s deposition is apparently the only deposition that 
the defendants have been able Lo schedule thus far. 

5. The government objects to proceeding with the Darmawan deposition on August 13, 2004 
for the following reasons: 

a. The defense attorneys wailed until only six days before the scheduled deposition, 
with an intervening holiday weekend, before advising the government that they had scheduled 

2 
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Darm,1wan's deposition on April 13, 2004 and that they had not honored (or felt they could not 
honor) the request to schedule Darmawan's deposition last. 

b. Darmaw,m advised the government in a tclefoxcd letter dated March 23, 2004 that 
due to health reasons he would not be able to travel to the United States for the trial of this case. The 
fact that Darmawan currently does not agree to ctppear for the trial increases the importance of his 

videotaped deposition and the wisdom of tal<rng his deposition last in the sequence of scheduled 
dates. 

c. Darmawan's expressed inability Lo travel to the United States means that, in order 
to obtain the most complete form or his testimony possible, AUSA MacAtihur will likely travel to 
Indonesia to attend the deposition herself if she is able to secure permission to do so from the various 
authorities. While the defendant's were not awurc of AUSA MacAnhur's interest in traveling to 
Indonesia before scheduling Darrnawan's depos1tinn on April 13, 2004, upon learning of her 
intention to travel they have continued to refuse to change the deposition date. 

d. The parties had earlier agreed with each mher that April 23, 2004, among other 
dates, was also available for a deposition. Thus, even if the defendants wish to complete a 
deposition before the April 29, 2004 status, lhc April 23. 2004 date is also a possibility for the 
Dannawan deposition. 

6. If the Court is available the morning of Tuesday, April 13, 2004, the government requests 
the opportunity to discuss these scheduling issues with the Court by telephone with the participation 
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of defense counsel. 

By: 

4 

Rcspectrully submitted, 
PATRICK J, FITZGERALD 
United States Attorney 

/kM-��=-
DIANE MacARTHUR 
Assistant U.S. Attorney 
219 South Dearborn Street 
Chicago, Illinois 60604 
(3 12) 353-5352 
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AFFIDAVIT OF FACSXMILE 

STATE OF ILLINOIS  

COUNTY OF COOK 
ss 

Carol Bitho s ,  being first duly sworn on oath deposes and says 
that she is employed in the Office  o f  the united States Attorney 
for the Northern District of Il lino i s ;  that on the 12th day o f  
April , 2 004 she caused a copy of : 

GOVERNMJ!:NT ' S  EMERGENCY MOTION CONCERNING DEPOSITION 
SCHEDULED FOR APRIL 13,  2004 PURSUANT TO LETTERS ROGATORY 

to be faxed to the individual l s )  named below on said date. 

Michael Fayed - Debra Mercer 
FAX : ( 2 0 2 )  3 31-3 1 0 1  

Samuel Buf fone 
FAX : ( 2 02 ) 508-4 6 5 0  

Gerald Fef fer - David M .  Z inn 
FAX : ( 2 0 2 ) 4 34-5 0 2 9  

SUBSCRIBED and SWORN TO BEFORE 
me thi s  12th day of  April 2 0 0 4 . 

Notary Public 

OFFICIAL SEAL 

CECILIA M. BARAZOWSKI 
NOTARY PUBLIC, STATE OF IWNOIS 
MY COMMISSION EXPIRES 4·24·2005 
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Minute Order Fonn (06/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Name of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 

or Magistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 DATE 4/13/2004 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 
TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff, defendant, 3rd party plaintiff, and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(I) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due _ __ . 

Answer brief to motion due_ . Reply to answer brief due� 

Ruling/Hearing on _ __ set for ___ at ___ . 

Status hearing[held/continued to] [set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for _ __ at ___ . 

Trial[set for/re-set for] on _ __ at ___ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to _ __ at ___ . 

This case is dismissed [with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreement/pursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(m) □ Local Rule 41.1 □ FRCP41(a)(I) □ FRCP4!(a)(2). 

(10) ■ [Other docket entry] Government's emergency motion concerning deposition scheduled for April 
13, 2004 pursuant to Letters Rogatory is denied as moot by agreement between the parties. 

(11) 

✓ 

□ [For further detail see order (on reverse side ofi'attached to) the original minute order.] 

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 form. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 

courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

. .L 

: •"[
I'' ' ,-, -

: :::,, -
·::.,.·r; 

...;. '!, 

Date/time received in 
central Clerk's Office 

nwnber of notices 

docketin 
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'vlinute Order Fonn (06/97) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Name of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 
or Magistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 - all DATE 4/23/2004 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 
TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the foilowing box(a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff, defendant, 3rd party plaintiff, and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

(10) 

(11) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

■ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due _ __ . 

Answer brief to motion due _ __ . Reply to answer brief due __ 

Rulingffiearing on ___ set for ___ at _ __ . 

Status hearing[held/continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on ___ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to J [ set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for _ __ at ___ . 

Trial( set for/re-set for J on _ __ at-. __ . 

[Bench/Jnry trial] [Hearing] held/continued to _ __ at ___ . 

This case is dismissed [ with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreement/pursuant to J 
□ FRCP4(m) □ Local Rule 41.1 □ FRCP41(a)(l) □ FRCP4l(a)(2). 

( Other docket entry J Status hearing reset to 12:30 p.m. on 4/29/04. 

[For further detail see order (on reverse side of/attached to) the original minute order.] 

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

✓ Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 form. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 

courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

Date/time received in 
central Clerk's Office mailing deputy ioitials 
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Minute Order Form (06191) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Name of Assigned Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other 

or Magistrate Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 - all DATE 4/29/2004 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 

TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the following box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.g., plaintiff, defendant, 3rd party plaintiff, and (b) state briefly the nature 
of the motion being presented.] 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(]) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

■ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Filed motion of [ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due _ __ . 

Answer brief to motion due ___ . Reply to answer brief due _ __ . 

Ruling/Hearing on _ __ set for _ _ _  at _ __ . 

Status hearing held. 

Pretrial conference[held/continued to] [ set for/re-set for] on _ __ set for ___ at _ __ . 

Trial[ set for/re-set for] on ___ at _ __ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to _ __ at _ __ . 

This case is dismissed [with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agreement/pursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(rn) □ Local Rule 41.l □ FRCP4l(a)(I) □ FRCP4l(a)(2). 

(10) ■ [Other docket entry] Change of plea hearing set for 6/11/04 at 1 :00 p.m. From today's date until 
6/11/04 is excluded pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 3161(h)(2) and 18 U.S.C. 3161(h)(8)(A)(B). (X-I and X-T). 

(11) □ [For further detail see order (on reverse side o£'attached to) the original minute order.] 

No notices required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge's staff. 

Notified counsel by telephone. 

✓ Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 form. 

Copy to judge/magistrate judge. 

RO 

courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

Date/time receive� in 
'Central Clerk's Office 

m1rnber of 11otices 

PR 30 2004, 
date doc eted 

i 
docket1 depJ.y initials 

' ' 

\\ 
date mailed \�tice 

Ye 

mailillg deputy initf 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 120 Filed: 05/25/04 Page 1 of 1 PageID #:603

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Nam�·- uf Assigned Jud1,1c Ruben Castillo Sitti11g J11di.::c if Othc.-
or Magistrale Judge than As5igncd Jud�c 

CASI<: NUMRER 02 CR 312 - all DATE 5/25/2004 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, el aL 
TITLE 

MOTION: 

[In the following hox (a) indicate tht: party filing the motion, e.g., plai11tifC <lctc11d::i.nt. 3rd parly µlai11titt aml (lJ) !-;1ale bricily the 111-1tllr<:: 
of the n,�1liun bcin� prcscnLt:d.J 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(I) 0 

(2) □ 

(3) □ 

( 4) □ 

(5) □ 

(6) □ 

(7) □ 

(8) □ 

(9) □ 

Filed motion of[ use listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Hrief in suppott of motion due _ _  

Answer hriefto motion due Reply to answer brief due 

Ruling/Hearing on __ ·- set for __ ·- at __ 

Status hearing[heldlcontinued to] [set for/re-set for] on_ 

Pretrial conference[ held/continued to l l set for/re-set for J on 

Trial(set for/re-set for] on __ __ at _ ___ _ 

[Aencli/Jurytrial] !Hearing] held/continued to at 

set for at 

at 

This case is Jis111issed [with/without] prejudice and without costs[hy/agrecmeutlpursuant to] 
□ FRCP4(m) □ Local Rule 41.l □ fRCP4l(a)(l) □ FRCP4l(a)(2). 

( 10) ■ [Other docket entry] Change ol' plea hearing reset to June 14, 2004 at 12:30 p,m. Change of plea 
hearing set fi.,r June 11, 2004 is vacated. 

( I I) 0 [For further detail sec order (on reverse �ide ot!i:l.ttachcd to) th� original mim1te orJCl'.l 

No not.ices required, �dviscd in \Jpcn cm1rt. 

No noLiccs required. 

NotiL:es niailtd by,iudgc·s statl'. 

NotHkd cq1111scl by telcpJionit. 

✓ Docketing to rnail nolices. 

Mail 1\.0 450 form. 

(.\1py to judge/m:igistratc judge, 

RO 
cnurtro11m 
dep11ty's 
initials 

I >ate/time received in 
ce;ntra\ Clerk's Offii.;e 

A't 25 

Iluegm�lii 
Nu:rn,b�r 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 121 Filed: 06/10/04 Page 1 of 1 PageID #:604
\1ill\ll� Or<l�r Fu1111 (ll/,/LJ'/) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

J\amc of As!iii.:;ncd ,Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting .ludgc if Other 
or M..-gistnk ,Judge th.an /\.�signed .lud�c 

CASENLIMBER 02 CR 312 - all DATE 6/10/2004 

CASE USA vs. T.ahs of Virginia, et al. 
TITLE 

MOTION: 

tin l'lu: fi:)llowing box (11) indicuLi:: lhi: party liling the motion, e.H., plaillliff, dctc.ndant, 3rd piirty plain!.ilf un(! (b) :-;Lall: br'i(:.[]y the 11:1tme 
ot"the mollrn1 bdng prcsi;nLed.l 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

(I) D 

(2) D 

(3) D 

(4) □ 

(5) □ 

(6) D 

(7) D 

( 8) D 

(9) □ 

Filed rnolion of [ use I isling in "'Motion" box above,l 

Urief ln support of mo6on dL1C _ __ . 

Answer brief to motion due _ __ Reply to answer brief due ___ _ 

Ruling/Hearing on _ __ set for ___ at __ _ 

Status hearinglhcld/continued lO] [set for/re-set for] on 

Pretrial conferencelhcl<l/continued to] Lscl for/re-set for] on 

Trial[sct for/re-set for] on __ _  at 

f!Jench/Jury trial] flleari11gj held/continued to _ __ at __ 

set for 

scl for at 

This case is dismissed [with/withoutj prejudice and without costs[by/agreement/pursuanl lo] 
D FRCP4(m) 0 Local Rule 41.1 D l"RCP4 l(a)(I) 0 FRCP4 l(a)(2). 

(10) ■ [Other dockc1 etmyJ Parties' oral request to reset the change of pica hearing is granted. Ch,mgc 
of plea hearing reset to .June 21, 2004 at 12:30 p.m. From today's date until .June 21, 2004 is excluded 
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 316l(h)(2) and 18 U.S.C. 316l(h)(8)(A)(B). (X-1 and X-T). 

( I I ) □ LFor further detail see order (on reverse side 011/attached to) the original minute order.] 

,-

l\o notkt.:s ri:qui1'(!d, advised in open court 

Nolici.::s m.iilcd by judgt's statl. 

Notified COllllSCl by t.d�phonc. 

✓ Dm;kt:ling to mail 1101.ict:s. 

t--
Mail An 450 rorm. 

Copy to juJl-\i:/magistrntc _iudgi::. 

RO 

court.mom 
derut.y's 
initials 

Q I Ill f i1liGZ 

n:ifo/timi:: �ceivcd in 
,.,,,1f'll!'Cn!!k1s'Otti£c 

JU� 14 7.GG4 
dnte dnck�iud 

I 

I 

I 

DQc:un,;ent 
l'lu111@r 

;J J 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 122 Filed: 06/17/04 Page 1 of 1 PageID #:605

�rl me of Assigned Judge 
or Mai:=is.tr.nte .Judge 

CASENUMHER 

CASE 

TITLE 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Ruben Castillo 

02 CR 3 12 - all 

Sitting .Judge if Other 
than l\ssi�ned Jmlgc 

DATE 

\J SA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 

6/17/2004 

MOTlON: 

[In the following hox (a) indk,tte tl1c party nJingthe motion, e.g., plaintift� Jerendant, ht.I pmty plainliff. and (h) stale brid1y Lht naturo;; 
ufthc motion hdng prcscmei.l.] 

UOCKET ENTRY: 

( I ) □ 

(2) D 

(3) □ 

( 4) D 

(SJ □ 

(6) D 

(7) □ 

(8) D 

(ll) □ 

Filed motion o!'f use listing in LLMotion11 box above.] 

Brief in support or motion due_ .. · --· 

Answer brief to motion due__ Reply to answer brief due _ __ . 

Ruling/Hcaring on _ ____ set for___ at _____ . 

Status hearinglheldlcontinued to] [set for/re-set for] on .rwt for at 

Pretrial conferencc[heldlcontinueJ to] [set for/re-set for] on ____ __ ,er for ,it 

Trial[sct for/re.set for] on ___ __ at _ __ 

[Rench/Jury n"i,,IJ [Hearing] held/continued to ill 

This case is ditsmlsse<l [with/without] prejudice and without costs[by/agrcement/pu1·slHH1l tu.1 
□ FRCP4(m) □ Local Kule 41. l □ 1"RCP4 l(a)( I) 0 FRCP4l(a)(2). 

( 1 O) ■ [Other docket entry J Parties' oral request to reset the change of plea hearing is granted. Change 
ol'plea hearing reset to 6/29/04 al I 2:30 p.m. From today's date until 6/29/04 is exd,1ded pursu,mt to 18 
IJ.S.C. 3161(11)(2) .ind 18 IJ.S.C. 316l(h)(8)(A)(I3). (X-1 and X-T). 

(11) D [For further d�-Lail see order (on revt:rse side of/attached to) the original minute onkr,) 

Nu notice.� rcl1t1ircd, ad\'isc(I in upcn cuutt. 

No notiee:, rcquire<l. 

Nntle� m.-1ilcd by jU<IAe\ staff 

NoLilit:-d counsel by tdephonc. 

✓ DockeLiug to mail notices. 

M.1il AO 450 l'orm. 

Copy 1,, .it1dgc/ma.gistn1te _judge. 

COUrtl"!Hlrll 

J�puty's 
initials 

m�ili111: 1fo ty inil!�I� 

l)ocull!t�t 
Numb�r 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 123 Filed: 06/28/04 Page 1 of 1 PageID #:606

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

Nnmt of Asl'ii�nctl .Jutli.::c Ruben Castillo Sillini.:: ,Judge if OU1<1r 
or' Ma1,:;i!il.-ak .Jud�e than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 - all DATE 6/28/2004 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia, David M. Taub, Charles .J. Slern, and William Curlis 
TTTLE 

MOTION: 

lln the tO\lowing, box (a) indicate the party filing the motion, e.,g,, plaintitt defendant, Jr<l party plaintit=t; ,1ml (b} statt bi'itdly the 1mlure 
of the motion being prcscntcd.J 

UOCKlcT lcNTRY: 

( I) □ 

(2) □ 

(J) □ 

(4) 0 

(5) □ 

(6) 0 

(7) [J 

(8) □ 

(9) □ 

Filed motion of[ use listing in "Motion1

' box above.] 

BricC·in support ol"motion due 

Answer brief to motion due_ __ Reply Lo answer brief due _ __ . 

Ruling/Hearing on _ __ set for _ __ at---··· 

Status hearing[held/continued tol [set for/re-set for] on _ __ sci for at 

Pretrial conference[held/contirrncd to] [set for/re-set forJ ""·- --set for _ __ al 

Trial[set for/re-set for] on _ __ at _ __ . 

lRench/.lury trialJ lHearingJ held/continued to at 

This case is dismissed [with/without.l prejudice and without cost�lhy/agrccment/pursuant to l 
□ l'RCP4(m) □ Local Rule 4 l.l □ l'RCP41 (a)( I) □ FRCP4 I (a)(2), 

(IO) ■ [Other dockot entry] Parties' oral request to reset the change of plea hearing reset to 7 /15/04 al I :30 
p.m. From today's date until 7115/04 is excluded pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 3161(h)(2) and 18 US.C. 
3161 (h)(8)(A)(B). (X-1 and X-T). 

(II) 

'---

'---

'---

'---

'---

□ [For further detail see order (on reverse side of/attached to) the original minute order, I 
No 11olis:t:s requiri::J, u<lvise<l i11 op1;:ai cou1'l. 

No notices required. 

NoLified counsd hy tdephom:. 

Dockding In mull nolices. 

Mail A() 450 !"i)rm. 

Copy Lo .i ud�e/i111:1�islrnle .i udge. 

RO 

c1111rtrrn1m 
deputy's 
initials 

98 : I Wd BG Nnr �DOZ 

"',:" nl·,l��iv� in 
L U::.iiilitrnU:!a-kU<Jlicc 

JUN 28 200 
d11!� �-l�-k�tc•� 

\J 

Document 

Number 

--
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 124 Filed: 07/14/04 Page 1 of 1 PageID #:607

I 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

:--(anw of As!,ii;ued .Jutlge Ruben Castillo Siftln� Jud,;c ifOthi=r 
or Mngi�trate Jmlge than As�i�ncd JmJ�t 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 - al 1 DATE 7/14/2004 

CASE lJSA vs. Labs of Virginia, ct al. 
TJTLE 

!VI.OTION: 

fin lh!,; fol!owin� bO¾ (a) indicate ihe party ·11\illg the lllOtion, e.g., pl11intit): 1..kfcn<lai1t. 3rd p,11ty plai11ti1l. m1t.l (b) �1alt:. hrii.:lly 111� ll<-lltil'\' 
ort11c motion being prescnted.j 

OOCKF.T ENTRY: 

(I) □ 

(2) □ 

(3) □ 

(4) l1 

(5) □ 

(6) D 

(7) D 

( 8) D 

(9) D 

Filed motion of l use listing in "Motion'1 box above.] 

Rrief in support of motion due ____ . 

Answer brief Lo motion Jue Kepi; to answer brief due __ _ 

R.uling/l learing on ____ set for_ at - --

Status hearingfheld/cuntinucd toJ [set for/re-set for] on ____ set 1,,r _ al 

Pretrial conferencelhcld/cuntinued to] [set for/re-set forl on ___ set for 

Trial[set for/re-set forl on ____ at ___ , 

[Rench/Jury trialJ [llearingj held/continued to ___ al __ . 

i:lt __ ·--

This case is dismissed [with/withoutJ prejudice and without cost,[by/agreemcnt/pursuanl tol 
D l'RCP4(m) □ Local Rule41.l □ FRCP41(a)(l) □ FRCP41(a)(2). 

(10) ■ lOther docket entry! Dcfondants' oral reque8t to reset the change or plea hearing is granted. 
Change of plea bearing reset to 7/29/04 «t I LOO u.m. From today's dale until 7/29/04 is exduded 
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 316l(h)(2) and 18 U.S.C. 316l(h)(8)(A)(R). (X-1 and X-T). 

( I I) D lFor fo11her detail sec order (on reverse side ol/altachcd to) the original minute order.] 

No 1101.iccs rtquiri:::J. advhi.:;d in upcn cl)Url. 

No notices rt�quiret.1. 

Nolii.:;i,;s 1111.ti\cd by _judg�"s stall. 

Nnlilicd counsd by telephone. 

✓ f}rn;kcti11g to mail noth.::es, 

Mall /iO 450 fotm, 

<.:t1py t\) judgc/magi!:-hatc _iuJgc, 

coul'W.1(1111 
deputy's 
initials 

s 1 :� Wd ti 1 1nr �ooz 

Dotnment 
N,o\il>�i' 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 126 Filed: 07/28/04 Page 1 of 1 PageID #:610

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

N::1mc of A!'isi�11ed Judge Ruben Castillo Sluing Judge 11' Other 
tll" '1a1,,:iri.lrnle Judge than Assigned Judge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 - all DATE 7/28/2004 

CASE lJSA vs. Labs of Virginia, et al. 

TITLE 

MOTION: 

fin the following box (a) indicate the party tiling the motion, e.g .. plaintit{ defendant. 3t'(l party plaintiff, and (h) slaLe brli:::Jly tht: naluri: 
of the 1notion being prcscntcd.J 

UOCKET ENTRY: 

( I) 0 

(2) □ 

(.1) □ 

(4) □ 

(5) □ 

(6) □ 

(7) □ 

(8) □ 

(9) □ 

filed motion of [ use listing in "Motio11'1 box abovc.J 

Rrief in supprni of motion Jue _ __ . 

Answer brief to motion due Reply to answer hrit::f due 

Ruling/Hearing on _ __ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Status hearing[held/continucJ toJ lsct for/re-set for] on _ __ set fr,r _ __ at _ ____ . 

Pretrial conferencc[hclJ/cotllirrned to] [set for/re-set forl on _ __ set for _ __ at _ __ . 

Trial[ set for/re-set for] on al 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to _ __ at _ __ . 

This case is dismissed fwith/withoutl pre_judice and without cost�lbyhigrccmcnt/pursuant toJ 
ll FRCP4(m) □ Local llule 41.1 0 FRCP41(a)(I) □ FRCP41(a)(2). 

( 10) ■ [Other docket entry] Parties' oral motion to reset the change of plea hearing is granted. Change 
ol'plea hearing reset to 8/18/04 at 11 :30 a.m, From today's date until 8/18/04 is excluded pursuant to 18 
U.S.C. 316l(h)(2) and 18 lJ.S.C. 3l6l(h)(8)(A)(H). (X-I and X-T). 

(II) □ fl"or further detail see order (on reverse side of/attached to) the original n,inut.e order.J 

No notices r1.;quin:J, utlvisi::J i11 Dpt:!\ court. 

No r10Li-:es r�quircd. 

Notices mailed by judg(!'s stuff. 

Noti lied rnunscl by tclcphonc, 

✓ I )ockding to mail notice:io. 

Mail AO 450 form. 

( .'op).: to juJgdmagistrntc judge. 

I{() 
cour!r(1tm1 
deputy's 
inithils 

'_:' , .1' i ·r+rtetliulk received ill 
t. ',.; .. :: .,. '.�1 �nl\-RJ"'fli:::rk 's Office 

Document 
Number 
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Uploaded to Animal Research Laboratory Overview (ARLO) on 09/20/2020



Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 127 Filed: 08/18/04 Page 1 of 1 PageID #:611

\l1ni,1e 011kr Frnm (llN<J7) 

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois 

�ame of Assigned .Judge Ruben Castillo Sitting ,Judge if Otln·1· 
or Magistrate Judge than Assignl"d .Jnclge 

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 - 1 DATE 8/18/2004 

CASE USA vs. Labs of Virginia. Jnc. 
TITLE 

MOTION: 

( In t!1e following box (a) indic,1tc !he pnr(y O!ing lhe molion, c,g, p!aintin: dcfi:ndarn. 3rd party plaintiff. and (b) st,ui.:: hridly the 11a1un.: 
or the lllolion being presented.\ 

DOCKET ENTRY: 

( 1) 

(2) 

(3) 

( 4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

( 8) 

(9) 

□ 

□ 

D 

□ 

□ 

□ 

D 

□ 

□ 

Flied motion of ( t1se listing in "Motion" box above.] 

Brief in support of motion due _ ___ . 

Answer brief to motion due ___ . Reply to answer brief due 

Ruling/Hearing on ____ set for _ __ _ at _ __ . 

Status hcaring[held/continucd to I l set for!t-e-sct lorj on _ set for 

Pretrial conference[held/continuccl to] [set for/n:>sct for] on ______ sd !"or 

Trial[sct for/re-set for] on _ __ at ____ . 

[Bench/Jury trial] [Hearing] held/continued to _ __ _  at--�-· 

This case is dismissed [with/without] prejudice and without costs\by/c.1grccrnc111/pursua111 tol 
□ FRCP4(m) 0 Local Rule 41.1 □ FRCP4l(a)(l) 0 FRCP4l(a)(2) 

( 10) ■ [Other docket entry] Change of plea hearing held. Defendant appeared and en le red a pica ol'guilt) 
lo Count One of the Indictment. The Court finds the defendant is cornpclcnl lo plead. the pica is 
voluntary and there is a factual basis for the plea. Enter judgment 01· guilty on Count One o\' the 
Indictment. Enter Plea Agreement. Cause referred to the Probation Dept. I'm a prcscnlcnce invcsligation. 
Sentencing set for 1 1/16/04 at I :00 p.m. 

( I I) 

✓ 

□ [For further detail see order (on reverse side of/attached to) the original rninulc order 

No no(iccs required, advised in open court. 

No notices required. 

Notices mailed by judge·� st<1ff. 

Notified counsd by telephone. 

Docketing to mail notices. 

Mail AO 450 form. 

Copy to _iudgc/111agistrak judge. 

RO 

courtroom 
deputy's 
initials 

Date/time n.:ceivi.::d in 
central Clerk's Office tn,ulrn!c\ ,kptLI\' 11\1alo 

Document 
Number 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 128 Filed: 08/18/04 Page 1 of 17 PageID #:612

( 'i UNITED STATES DISTRJCT COURT NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS EASTERN DIVISION 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

vs. 
LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. 

;( This Plea Agreement between the United States Attorney for the Northern District ofillind?s, 
PATRICK J. FITZGERALD, and the defendant, LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. ("LABS"), by its 
authorized representative for the limited purpose of accepting the terms of this Plea Agreement and 
entering the plea of guilty or authorizing counsel to enter the plea of guilty, CHARLES J. STERN, 
and its attorneys, MICHAEL L. FAY AD and JAMES G. RICHMOND, is made pursuant to Rule 11 
of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure and is governed in part by Rule 11 ( c )(1 )(C), as more 
fully set forth in paragraph 17 below. 

Charles J. Stern was Chairman of the Board of Directors of LABS at the time of the issuance 
of the indictment in this case. Stem, along with William Curtis Henley and David M. Taub, were 
also named as defendants in the indictment. Defendant LABS was sold after the issuance of the 
indictment and is now owned by individuals other than Stem, Henley or Taub. As part of the sale 
agreement, Stern, on behalf of the now former owners of LABS, retained responsibility to direct the 
defense and any resolution of the charges in the indictment and the civil forfeiture action, and for any 
liability to LABS arising from both matters. The new owners of LABS were not involved in the 
conduct giving rise to the charges in the indictment and the new owners did not assume any personal 
responsibility for this conduct through their post-indictment acquisition of LABS. 

ii 

I 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 128 Filed: 08/18/04 Page 2 of 17 PageID #:613

Charles J. Stem has been authorized by the terms of the stock sales agreement, and by the 
Notarized Letter of Authorization attached hereto as Exhibit I, dated August£,�� the 
current ownership of LABS to enter into this Plea Agreement, and to enter the plea of guilty on 
behalf of defendant LABS. A copy of the Letter of Authorization shall be made part of the record 
of this case at the time of the entry of the plea of guilty. The Letter of Authorization also authorizes 
Mr. Fayad and Mr. Richmond, the attorneys for defendant LABS, to appear before this Court 
pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 43(b )(1) and to enter the plea on behalf of defendant 
LABS. 

This Plea Agreement is entirely voluntary and represents the entire agreement between the 
United States Attorney and defendant LABS regarding defendant's criminal liability in Case No. 02 
CR 312, any liability which LABS may have had as a result of the Complaint for Forfeiture referred 
to in paragraph 18 of this Plea Agreement, and any civil, judicial claim, demand, or cause of action 
whatsoever of the United States or its agencies relating to the facts and allegations set out in the 
indictment in this case. 

This Plea Agreement concerns only criminal liability and any forfeiture liability under the 
Complaint for Forfeiture. Moreover, this Agreement is limited to the United States Attorney's Office 
for the Northern District of Illinois and cannot bind any other federal, state or local prosecuting, 
administrative or regulatory authorities except as expressly set forth in this Agreement. 

By this Plea Agreement, PATRICK J. FITZGERALD, United States Attorney for the 
Northern District of Illinois, and the defendant, LABS, by CHARLES J. STERN, its authorized 
representative, and its attorneys, MICHAEL L. FAYAD and JAMES G. RICHMOND, have agreed 
upon the following: 

2 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 128 Filed: 08/18/04 Page 3 of 17 PageID #:614

1. Defendant LABS acknowledges that it has been charged in the indictment in this case 
with: (a) submitting false records in connection with four shipments of primates from Indonesia to 
the United States in violation ofTitle 16, United States Code, Sections 3372(d) and 3373(d)(3)(A)(i) 
(Counts One through Four); (b) importation of wildlife in violation of foreign law, in violation of 
Title 16, United States Code, Sections 3372(a)(2)(A) and 3373(d)(2)(Count Five); (c) importation 
of primates into the United States contrary to law, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, 
Section 545 (Counts Six through Nine); and ( d) importation of nursing female primates and their 
unweaned young, in violation of Title 16, United States Code, Sections 3372(a)(l) and 3373(d)(2) 
(Counts Ten through Twelve). 

2. Defendant LABS 's authorized representative has read the charges against defendant 
contained in the indictment, and those charges have been fully explained to defendant's authorized 
representative by defendant's attorneys. 

3. Defendant LABS's authorized representative fully understands the nature and 
elements of the crimes with which defendant has been charged. 

4. Defendant LABS will enter a voluntary plea of guilty to Count One of the indictment 
in this case. 

5. Defendant LABS will plead guilty because it is in fact guilty of the charge contained 
in Count One of the indictment. In pleading guilty, defendant admits the following facts and that 
those facts establish its guilt and relevant sentencing facts beyond a reasonable doubt: 

(a) During the period from at least 1996 through 1998, defendant LABS, a Virginia 
corporation, was engaged in the business of, among other things, breeding, selling, and maintaining 
non-human primates for use in medical research. LABS imported non-human primates for these 
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purposes. One type of non-human primate which defendant LABS imported for these purposes was 

known by the scientific name "Cynomolgolus macaques" (Macaca fascicularis), and by the 

common name "crab-eating macaques" ("macaques"). Defendant LABS had a non-human primate 

facility located in Yemassee, South Carolina. 

(b) Co-defendant Charles J. Stem was defendant LABS's Chairman of the Board. 

Co-defendant William Curtis Henley III was on defendant LAB' s Board of Directors. Co-defendant 

David M. Taub was the President and Chief Operating Officer of defendant LABS and was on 

LABS's Board of Directors. 

( c) Indonesian Aquatics Export CV ("Inquatex") was a company located in Indonesia 

that was owned by Person A and which was engaged in the business of breeding, raising and 

exporting non-human primates, including macaques. 

( d) The United States and Indonesia, among many other countries, are parties or 

signatories to an international treaty known as the Convention on International Trade in Endangered 

Species of Wild Fauna and Flora ("CITES"). CITES was enacted in order to protect, among other 

things, certain species of wildlife against over-exploitation. Species are designated under CITES 

according to a classification system known as "Appendices." Appendix II to CITES includes 

wildlife species which, although not necessarily threatened at the present time, might become 

threatened if trade in those species is not strictly limited. Thus, in an effort to monitor and to control 

the trade of Appendix II species, CITES requires that a party to the treaty such as the United States 

only import species included in Appendix II that are accompanied by a valid foreign export permit 

(a "CITES" permit) from the species' country of origin or from the country from which the species 

were exported. 
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( e) Macaques have been designated as an Appendix II species under CITES since 

1977. 

(f) The United States Fish and Wildlife Service ("USFWS") is designated by 

Congress as the authority within the United States which enforces CITES. The USFWS issues 

regulations to enforce the various wildlife protection provisions of CITES and to provide safeguards 

for the importation of wildlife into the United States. All persons, including corporations, involved 

in importing wildlife into the United States are required to adhere to these regulations. 

(g) All wildlife imported into the United States, including species in Appendix II to 

CITES, have to first be presented to the USFWS and the agency which, at the time period relevant 

to this case, was known as the United States Customs Service ("Customs") for inspection. Certain 

documents also have to accompany and be presented with each shipment. These documents include 

all permits and licenses required by the laws and regulations of the United States and all export

related permits required by the laws and regulations of the country of export. 

(h) Shipments containing species included in Appendix II to CITES have to be 

accompanied by a valid CITES permit. A CITES permit is valid only for the animals described in 

the permit. 

(i) One of the columns on a CITES permit is labeled "Appendices (source)." A 

CITES permit which contains the designation "II" in this column reflects a reference to CITES 

Appendix II. A CITES permit which contains the designation "II(C)" in this column means that the 

animals to which the CITES permit applied were bred in captivity. 

G) On or about January 31, 1997, defendant LABS entered into a formal agreement 

with Inquatex for the purchase of the Inquatex colony of approximately 1,312 macaques. The 
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Inquatex colony contained both male and female non-human primates. The colony consisted of 

macaques caught in the wild at the time the colony was started, bred in the wild and born in captivity 

at Inquatex, and bred and born in captivity at Inquatex. 

(k) The Inquatex colony was transported from Indonesia to defendant LABS in the 

United States in seven separate shipments between on or about February 20, 1997 and on or about 

October 13, 1998. The first four shipments entered the United States through O'Hare International 

Airport ("O'Hare") in Chicago, Illinois. These four shipments arrived at O'Hare on or about the 

following dates: (1) February 20, 1997; (2) April 10, 1997; (3) May 1, 1997; and (4) May 30, 1997. 

(1) The four O'Hare shipments contained a mix of wild-caught and captive-bred 

macaques. The CITES permits for each shipment, however, through the use of the "II(C)" 

designation, falsely represented that the shipments contained only captive-bred macaques. 

(m) On or about February 7, 1997, Person A sent defendant, through Taub, four 

CITES permits dated February 5, 1997, for the 220 macaques in the first shipment. Each of the 

CITES permits authorized the export of 55 "crab-eating monkeys." 

(n) On or about February 20, 1997, defendant did knowingly submit to the USFWS 

and/or Customs a false record, account, label for, and a false identification of wildlife, namely, 

CITES permits for the shipment of approximately 220 Macaca fascicularis which, through the 

"II(C)" notation, falsely represented that the shipments contained only captive-bred Macaca 

fascicularis, when, in fact, the shipment contained approximately 80 wild-caught Macaca 

fascicularis, which wildlife had been imported from a foreign country, namely, Indonesia, and 

transported in foreign commerce. 

6 

Obtained by Rise for Animals.
Uploaded to Animal Research Laboratory Overview (ARLO) on 09/20/2020



Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 128 Filed: 08/18/04 Page 7 of 17 PageID #:618

6. Defendant LABS, by its authorized representative, also acknowledges that pursuant 
to 18 U.S.C. §§ 3553 and 3572, the court may consider the following conduct for purposes of 
computing its sentence: 

(a) On or about April I 0, 1997, defendant did knowingly submit to the USFWS 
and/or Customs a false record, account, label for, and a false identification of wildlife, namely, 
CITES permits for a shipment consisting of approximately 253 Macaca fascicularis which, through 
the "II(C)" notation, falsely represented that the shipments contained only captive-bred Macaca 

fascicularis, when, in fact, the shipment contained approximately 98 wild-caught Macaca 

fascicularis, which wildlife had been imported from a foreign country, namely, Indonesia, and 
transported in foreign commerce. 

(b) On or about May I, 1997, defendant did knowingly submit to the USFWS and/or 
Customs a false record, account, label for, and a false identification of wildlife, namely, CITES 
permits for a shipment consisting of approximately 120 Macaca fascicularis which, through the 
"II(C)" notation, falsely represented that the shipments contained only captive-bred Macaca 

fascicularis, when, in fact, the shipment contained approximately 50 wild-caught Macaca 

fascicularis, which wildlife had been imported from a foreign country, namely, Indonesia, and 
transported in foreign commerce. 

( c) On or about May 30, 1997, defendant did knowingly submit to the USFWS and/or 
Customs a false record, account, label for, and a false identification of wildlife, namely, CITES 
permits for a shipment consisting of approximately 253 Macaca fascicularis which, through the 
"II(C)" notation, falsely represented that the shipments contained only captive-bred Macaca 

fascicularis, when, in fact, the shipment contained approximately 99 wild-caught Macaca 

. 
. 
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fascicularis, which wildlife had been imported from a foreign country, namely, Indonesia, and 

transported in foreign commerce. 

7. For purposes of applying the guidelines promulgated by the United States Sentencing 

Commission pursuant to Title 28, United States Code, Section 994, the parties agree on the following 

points: 

(a) The Sentencing Guidelines in effect on November 1, 2003 are applicable to 

defendant's offense. 

(b) Restitution is not an issue in this case and therefore restitution pursuant to 

Guideline § SB 1.1 is not appropriate. 

(c) A remedial order pursuant to Guideline§ 8B1.2(a) is not appropriate. 

( d) Community service pursuant to Guideline § 8B 1.3 is not appropriate. 

(e) An order of notice to victims, pursuant to Guideline§ 8B1.4 is not appropriate. 

(t) The provisions of Guideline §§ 8C2.2 through 8C2.9 do not apply because 

defendant's offense of conviction is an offense against the environment. 

(g) Defendant has the ability to pay a fine and, thus, pursuant to Guideline§ 8C2.10. 

a fine is appropriate and should be determined by applying the provisions of18 U.S.C. §§ 3553 and 

3572. 

(h) A term of probation is necessary to reduce the likelihood of future criminal 

conduct, pursuant to Guideline§ 8D1.l(a)(6). The term of probation shall be at least one year but 

not more than five years, pursuant to Guideline § 8D1.2(a)(l )  because the offense of conviction is 

a felony; and 
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(i) The defendant and its attorneys and the government acknowledge that the above 

calculations are preliminary in nature and based on facts known to the government as of the time of 

this Agreement. The defendant's authorized representative understands that the Probation 

Department will conduct its own investigation and that the Court ultimately determines the facts and 

law relevant to sentencing, and that the Court's determinations govern the final Sentencing 

Guidelines calculation. Accordingly, the validity of this Agreement is not contingent upon the 

probation officer's or the Court's concurrence with the above calculations. 

8. Errors in calculations or interpretation of any of the guidelines may be corrected by 

either party prior to sentencing. The parties may correct these errors or misinterpretations either by 

stipulation or by a statement to the probation office and/or court setting forth the disagreement as 

to the correct guidelines and their application. The validity of this Agreement will not be affected 

by such corrections, and the defendant shall not have a right to withdraw its plea on the basis of such 

corrections. 

9. Defendant, by its authorized representative, understands the count to which defendant 

will plead guilty carries the following penalties: (a) a term of probation for defendant of between one 

to five years pursuant to 16 U.S.C. § 3373(d)(3)(A) and 18 U.S.C. § 3561; (b) a maximum fine of 

$500,000, or a fine of twice the pecuniary gain to the defendant or twice the pecuniary loss to the 

victims, whichever is greater; and ( c) any restitution ordered by the Court. The parties agree that, 

pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3571(d), the pecuniary gain or pecuniary loss would be difficult to ascertain 

or estimate due to the nature and circumstances of defendant's offense and any attempt at such 

calculation would unduly complicate and prolong the sentencing process. 
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IO. The defendant's authorized representative understands that in accord with federal law, 
Title I 8, United States Code, Section 3013, upon entry of judgment ofconviction, the defendant will 
be assessed $400 on each count to which it has pied guilty, in addition to any other penalty imposed. 
The defendant agrees to pay the special assessment of $400 at the time of sentencing with a check 
or money order made payable to the Clerk of the U. S. District Court. 

1 1. Defendant's authorized representative understands that by pleading guilty the 
defendant surrenders certain rights, including the following: 

(a) If defendant persisted in a plea of not guilty to the charges against it, it would have 
the right to a public and speedy trial. The trial could be either a jury trial or a trial by the judge 
sitting without a jury. The defendant has a right to a jury trial. However, in order that the trial be 
conducted by the judge sitting without a jury, the defendant, by its authorized representative, the 
government, and the judge all must agree that the trial be conducted by the judge without a jury. 

(b) If the trial is a jury trial, the jury would be composed of twelve laypersons selected 
at random. Defendant and its attorneys would have a say in who the jurors would be by removing 
prospective jurors for cause where actual bias or other disqualification is shown, or without cause 
by exercising so-called peremptory challenges. The jury would have to agree unanimously before 
it could return a verdict of either guilty or not guilty. The jury would be instructed that defendant 
is presumed innocent, and that it could not convict it unless, after hearing all the evidence, it was 
persuaded of defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt and that it was to consider each count of 
the indictment separately. 
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( c) If the trial is held by the judge without a jury, the judge would find the facts and 

determine, after hearing all the evidence, and considering each count separately, whether or not the 

judge was persuaded of defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. 

( d) At a trial, whether by a jury or a judge, the government would be required to 

present its witnesses and other evidence against defendant. Defendant would be able to confront 

those government witnesses and its attorneys would be able to cross-examine them. In turn, 

defendant could present witnesses and other evidence in its own behalf. If the witnesses for 

defendant would not appear voluntarily, it could require their attendance through the subpoena power 

of the court. 

( e) At a trial, if defendant desired to do so, defendant could, through its agents, testify 

in its own behalf. 

12. The defendant understands that it may be entitled to have any disputed sentencing fact 

which could increase its sentence determined at a jury trial under a proof beyond a reasonable doubt 

standard. The defendant further understands that by pleading guilty, it agrees: 

(a) To have its sentence determined under the Sentencing Guidelines; and 

(b) To waive having sentencing facts alleged in the indictment and found by the jury 

beyond a reasonable doubt; and 

(c) To have the court determine its sentencing facts by a preponderance of the 

evidence; and 

( d) To allow the court to consider any reliable evidence, including hearsay, in 

determining its sentence. 
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13. Defendant, by its authorized representative, understands that by pleading guilty the 

defendant is waiving all the rights set forth in paragraphs 11 and 12. Defendant's attorney has 

explained those rights to defendant's authorized representative, and the consequences of its waiver 

of those rights. Defendant, by its authorized representative, further understands defendant is waiving 

all appellate issues that might have been available if defendant had exercised its right to trial. 

14. The defendant is also aware that Title 18, United States Code, Section 3742 affords 

a defendant the right to appeal the sentence imposed. Acknowledging this, the defendant, by its 

authorized representative, knowingly waives the right to appeal any sentence within the maximum 

provided in the statute of conviction ( or the manner in which that sentence was determined), on the 

grounds set forth in Title 18, United States Code, Section 3742 or on any ground whatsoever, in 

exchange for the concessions made by the United States in this Plea Agreement. The defendant also 

waives its right to challenge its sentence or the manner in which it was determined in any collateral 

attack. The waiver in this paragraph does not apply to a claim of involuntariness, or ineffective 

assistance of counsel, which relates directly to this waiver or to its negotiation. 

1 5 .  Defendant understands that the indictment and this Plea Agreement are matters of 

public record and may be disclosed to any party. 

16.  Defendant understands that the United States Attorney's Office will fully apprise the 

District Court and the United States Probation Office of the nature, scope and extent of defendant's 

conduct regarding the charges against it, and related matters, including all matters in aggravation and 

mitigation relevant to the issue of sentencing. 

17. This Plea Agreement is governed, in part, by Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 

l l (c)(l)(C). That is, the parties have agreed that: 
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(a) The sentence imposed by the Court shall include a term of probation of two years 

which shall be served by defendant LABS through its current ownership. 

(b) As a part of the sentence, the parties agree that the court shall order defendant to 

pay a fine in the amount of $500,000. The parties agree that this fine reasonably reflects the 

seriousness of defendant's offense and the need to provide just punishment and adequate deterrence 

and that this fine is consistent with the factors enumerated in 18 U.S.C. §§ 3553 and 3572 as relevant 

to the imposition of a fine. The parties agree that the fine shall be designated for deposit into the 

"Lacey Act Reward Account" if authorized by law. 

(c) The defendant shall pay the fine ordered by the Court on the day of sentencing 

with a certified or cashier's check or, in the event the sentencing hearing does not conclude by 4:00 

p.m. on the day on which it is scheduled, then defendant shall submit the certified or cashier's check 

in the full amount of the fine by the close of business on the day following the sentencing hearing. 

(d) Other than the agreed terms set forth in paragraphs I ?(a) through I 7(c) above, the 

parties have agreed that the Court remains free to impose the sentence it deems appropriate. If the 

Court accepts and imposes the parties' agreed terms, the defendant may not withdraw this plea as a 

matter of right under Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure l l (c) and (d). If, however, the Court 

refuses to impose the agreed terms, thereby rejecting the Plea Agreement, or otherwise refuses to 

accept the defendant's plea of guilty, this Agreement shall become null and void and neither party 

will be bound thereto. 

18.  The United States previously instituted a civil forfeiture proceeding captioned United 

States v. Monkey Money: The Value of Monkeys Illegally Imported by Labs a/Virginia, Inc., and Its 

Officers as Alleged in United States v. Labs of Virginia, Inc., et al., No. 02 CR 312 (N.D. Ill), No. 
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02 C 3833. This forfeiture proceeding sought to forfeit the proceeds from the importation of the 

primates pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 545. Defendant LABS, by its authorized representative, agrees to 

pay the United States of America the sum of $64,675.00 in full satisfaction of the allegations in the 

Complaint in Case No. 02 C 3833. This sum is in addition to the criminal fine described above in 

paragraph 17.1 Defendant LABS agrees to pay the $64,675.00 on the day of sentencing in the 

criminal proceeding with a certified or cashier's check or, in the event the sentencing hearing does 

not conclude by 4:00 p.m. on the day on which it is scheduled, then defendant shall submit the 

certified or cashier's check in the full amount by the close of business on the day following the 

sentencing hearing. 

19. Defendant LABS, by its authorized representative and on behalf of the members of the 

Board of Directors at the time of the allegations in the indictment, including Stern, Henley and Taub, 

agrees that during the period of probation imposed in this case Stern, Henley and Taub will have no 

personal involvement in any application for a license from the United States Fish and Wildlife 

Service to import wildlife or any importation of wildlife after any such license application is granted. 

Stern, Henley, and Taub each understand that in the event of a violation of this paragraph, the 

government, at its option, may move to vacate the Plea Agreement as to the particular individual 

defendant or defendants who violated this paragraph, rendering the Plea Agreement null and void 

as to that particular defendant or defendants, and thereafter prosecute that particular defendant or 

Defendant LABS, by its authorized representative and its attorneys, prior to any 
substantive discussions about the civil forfeiture proceeding with the representatives of the 
government assigned to this criminal proceeding, informed the representatives of the government 
assigned to this criminal proceeding that it wished to resolve the civil forfeiture proceeding at the 
same time as and as a part of the criminal proceeding and that it had no objection to the joint 
resolution of the two proceedings. 
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defendants not subject to any of the limits set forth in this Agreement. Stern, Henley and Taub each 

understand and agree that in the event that any of them individually breach this paragraph of the Plea 

Agreement, and the Government elects to void the Plea Agreement and prosecute the particular 

defendant or defendants who violated this paragraph, any prosecutions that are not time-barred by 

the applicable statute of limitations on the date of the signing of this Agreement may be commenced 

against that particular defendant or defendants in accordance with this paragraph, notwithstanding 

the expiration of the statute of limitations between the signing of this Agreement and the 

commencement of such prosecutions. Stern (in his individual capacity), Henley and Taub are not 

signatories to this Plea Agreement but defendant LABS, by its authorized representative, 

acknowledges that it has received the specific approval of these individuals to abide by the 

representations in this paragraph. 

20. After sentence has been imposed on the count to which defendant LABS pleads guilty 

as agreed herein, the government will move to dismiss the remaining counts as to defendant LABS 

and all counts as to defendants Stern, Henley and Taub. 

21. The United States Attorney's Office for the Northern District of Illinois agrees not to 

refer this matter to the Department of Justice or any of its agencies for civil or administrative 

proceedings based on the facts and allegations set out in the indictment in this case. The Department 

of Justice's Environment and Natural Resources Division has advised the United States Attorney's 

Office for the Northern District of Illinois that it will not institute any separate criminal proceedings 

based on the facts and allegations set out in the indictment in this case. 

22. Defendant LABS, by its authorized representative, understands that its compliance with 

each part of this Plea Agreement extends throughout the period of its sentence, and failure to abide 
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by any term of the Plea Agreement is a violation of the Agreement. Defendant further understands 

that in the event it violates this Agreement, the government, at its option, may move to vacate the 

Plea Agreement, rendering it null and void, and thereafter prosecute defendant LABS not subject to 

any of the limits set forth in this Agreement, or to resentence defendant LABS. Defendant LABS 

understands and agrees that in the event that this Plea Agreement is breached by defendant LABS, 

and the Government elects to void the Plea Agreement and prosecute defendants LABS, any 

prosecutions that are not time-barred by the applicable statute of limitations on the date of the 

signing of this Agreement may be commenced against this defendant in accordance with this 

paragraph, notwithstanding the expiration of the statute of limitations between the signing of this 

Agreement and the commencement of such prosecutions. 

23. Defendant LABS, by its authorized representative and its attorneys acknowledge that no 

threats, promises, or representations have been made, nor agreements reached, other than those set 

forth in this Agreement, to cause defendant to plead guilty. 

24. Defendant agrees this Plea Agreement shall be filed and become a part of the record in 

this case. 

25. Defendant, by its authorized representative, acknowledges that it has read this Agreement 

and carefully reviewed each provision with its attorneys. Defendant further acknowledges that it 
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understands and voluntarily accepts each and every term and condition of this Agreement. 

AGREED THIS DATE: 

��krt1,+;W 
PATRICK J. FITZGERALD 
United States Attorney 

DIANE MacARTHUR 
Assistant United States Attorney 
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UNITED STATES DISTRI NORTHERN DISTRICT OF EASTERN DMSIO UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, ) ) Plaintiff, ) 
) 

v. ) ) LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC., DAVID M. TAUB, ) CHARLES J. STERN, and ) WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III, ) ) Defendants. ) 
NOTICE OF FILING 

To: The Attached Service List 

---- r-o· �- a L C. . 
I •• :,� � J 2J04 L:i �' ;; :L \'/. D03.3!f1S COliaJ::;:,;, 1s: ::; �.-.;.:r CJ '7f 

LINO IS DOCKET ED 
DEC 1 3 2004 

No. 02 CR 0312 Judge Castillo Magistrate Judge Bobrick 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on Friday, December 10, 2004, pursuant to United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois Local Criminal Rules 32.l(e) and (g), the undersigned timely filed with the Court Defendant LABS of Virginia, Inc.'s Version Of The Offense Conduct And Position Paper As To Sentencing Factors, a copy of which is attached hereto and hereby served upon you. 

James G. Richmond 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 77 West Wacker Drive Suite 2500 Chicago, IL 60601 Tel. (312) 456-8400 Fax (312) 456-8435 

By: 

Respectfully submitted, LABS of Virginia, Inc. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE The undersigned, an attorney, hereby certifies that on this 10th day of December, 2004, a true and correct copy of the foregoing Notice Of Filing was served by band delivery on the following: Diane MacArthur, Esq. Assistant United States Attorney 219 South Dearborn Street Chicago, IL 60604 Kelly Hendrickson United States Probation Office 55 East Monroe Street Suite 1500 Chicago, IL 60603 and by United States first class mail, postage prepaid, on the following: Michael L. Fayad, Esq. GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 800 Connecticut Avenue, N. W. Suite 500 Washington, DC 20006 Samuel J. Buffone, Esq. ROPES&GRAY One Metro Center 700 12th Street, N.W. Suite 900 Washington, DC 20005-3948 Gerald A. Feffer, Esq. David M. Zinn, Esq. WILLIAMS & CONNOLLY 725 Twelfth Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20005 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DMSION 

DDC!'(ETED UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Plaintiff, 
v. LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC., DAVID M. TAUB, CHARLES J. STERN, and WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY Ill, Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 

) 
) 
) 

) 
) 
) 

) 
) 

No. 02 CR 0312 Judge Castillo Magistrate Judge Bobrick 

DEFENDANT LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC.'S 

VERSION OF THE OFFENSE CONDUCT AND 
POSITION PAPER AS TO SENTENCING FACTORS LABS of Virginia, Inc. ("LABS") and LABS of Virginia, Inc. d/b/a Alpha Genesis, Inc. ("Alpha Genesis")/ by their counsel, with the permission of the Court. hereby submit this 

': ': 'ti 1 1 :, co?'�fed "Defendant's Version Of The Offense Conduct" and "Position Paper As To 
, I ,, 
11 I \

1: Sentencing Factors" (hereinafter, "LABS' Memorandum") in accordance with U.S. District 
:, !, !\ 
I: I CoiJW N.b. Ill., Local Rule ("LCrR'') 32. l(e) and (g).2 

': \ '1i 
i I ! 

1 U\il�ss otherwise indicated, all references to LABS in this Memorandum, are to LABS, as o�i:4!and structured as of the date of the Indictment. As explained in this Memorandum, all of the $t❖ck'i, bf; LABS was sold to Dr. Gregory C. Westergaard after the return of the Indictment. 
',' 'i'' 1•1 .,, '.'. Dr. Westergaard has registered LABS of Virginia, Inc. as "d/b/a Alpha Genesis, Inc." All refe�be�j to' ;LABS under its current ownership are to Alpha Genesis. With the consent of LASS\ lin� Alpha Genesis, undersigned counsel represent the fonner shareholders of LABS and Alpltf \��e�F,',in connection with sentencing in the above captioned matter. 

2 In �rdmic# with LCrR 32(e) the Government's Version Of The Offense Conduct was due to be :rtmi���:, t�. the _Probation Officer and "served" on each de_fendant. within 14 da� after the det , , .��o�a:. f gwlt, or on September 1 ,  2004. It appears this pl�g was subnutted to the Prob�ti: · r i;Pf er on November 23, 2004, and sent by regular mail to counsel for Defendant LABS. I� :w . i received on November 30, 2004. Under the local rule, LABS has 7 days to re,�'� iu,',mittmg °"""""'''' vemon or The o,r,,,,, Cood,ct. Deren"'"''• Pooition 
·: ! !!. ':'! !!:' \ 
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'1
, i On August 18, 4004, the United States Attorney for the Northern District of Illinois and 
I I 

' I Defendant LABS entere\l into a Plea Agreement resolving the above-captioned case. The parties 
I I 

I ! presented the Plea A�ent to the Court on August 18, 2004, and LABS, through counsel, 
I I 
i ·, entered a plea of guilty pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure l l (c)(I)(C). This Court 
I i 
1
. I conditionally accbpted ilie plea of guilty and referred the matter to the U.S. Probation Office for 
' ' 

i a presentence review and'. a Presentence Investigation Report. By this Memorandum, LABS and 
\ 

' 

i ' Alpha Genesis pr�vide th¢ Court and Probation Officer with additional facts and circumstances 
'. I 

'1 

; surrounding the events alleged in the Indictment in order to complete the Statement of Facts as 
I I 
I ! presented in the 'l>Jea AFement, and submit Defendant LABS' Version Of The Offense 
I
, 

I, 
' ' Conduct. LABS imd Alpha Genesis also present herein factors important to the sentencing 
I I determination whi±c' are in dispute, and a description of the LABS and Alpha Genesis Ethics and Compliance Pro I .3 \S requests that the Court and Probation Officer consider the 
I . infonnation provided hereitj when determining whether to accept the Plea Agreement, the plea of guilty, and in seJg any �onditions of probation as part of the sentence to impose on Alpha Genesis. I I 

i 
I , · THE r»IC'IMENT AND RELATED FORFEITURE ACTION On 1pril 2, ioo2, an\,Indictment was issued against Defendants LABS, David M. Taub, Charles J. Stern and �illiam1

1

1

Curtis Henley ill (collectively, the "Defendants'') by a Grand JUI)' in Chicago, Ij
1

linois. f e c�ges in the Indictment arose out of a transaction between LABS and 
i ' Paper is due t? be fi1 1 with $1 e Court and Probation Officer 7 days before sentencing. With the Court's permi sion, d in o er to maintain the current sentencing date, Defendant LABS has combined its ersion f The ffense Conduct and Position Paper in one pleading and files the combined pl ·ng to 

. 
y, D;ber 10, 2004. The Government and Probation Officer have no objection to th comb" ed pie · g. 

3 See 18 U.S. Sectio13572( (8). 
I I

, 
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Indonesian Aquatics Export CV ("Inquatex"), a company located in Indonesia LABS breeds, raises, manages, and provides certain species of non-human primates ("NHPs"), commonly referred to as monkeys, to United States Government and private organizations for purposes of bio-medical research. Under permits and Decrees of the Government of Indonesia, which were 
, I : 
, I ! granted at least as early as 1993, lnquatex captures certain species of NHPs from islands in proximity to Indonesia, and raises, breeds, maintains and sells these species of NHPs. In 

' : particular, the Indictment charged alleged violations of federal statutes arising out of LABS' purchase of an entire colony of a species of NHPs, consisting of approximately 1,300 cynomolgus macaques, of the species "Macaca fascicularis" and commonly known as crabeating or long-tailed macaques ("Macaques") from Inquatex.4 The colony was shipped in six shipments beginning in February 1997. The point of entry into the United States for the first four shipments was Chicago's O'Hare International Airport. The Indictment concerned these four shipments. The remaining Macaques were imported at other points of entry on February 13, 1998, October 7, 1998, and October 14, 1998. The Indictment alleged the following violations: Cowtts One through Four of the Indictment alleged that Defendants LABS and Taub knowingly submitted false records related to the description of the monkeys with each of the four shipments in violation of 16 U.S.C. §§ 3372(d) and 3373(d)(3)(A)(i) (a felony); Count Five of the Indictment alleged that all Defendants knowingly imported monkeys and in the exercise of due care should have known that the importation violated a foreign law in violation of 16 U.S.C. §§ 3372(a)(2)(A) and 3373(d)(2) (a misdemeanor); Counts Six through Nine alleged that Defendants LABS and Taub knowingly 
4 Historically, due to the demand for healthy and disease-free Macaques, both LABS and Inquatex, separated by one-half the circumference of the globe, engaged in breeding and maintaining healthy and disease-free Macaques. 
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and fraudulently imported the four shipments of the monkeys contrary to law in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 545 (a felony); and Counts Ten through Twelve alleged that Defendants LABS and Taub knowingly imported three shipments of monkeys and in the exercise of due care should have known that the importation violated a United States regulation allegedly governing the shipments of nursing mothers with infants in violation of 16 U.S.C. §§ 3372(a}(l)(A} and 3373(d)(2) (a misdemeanor). On May 30, 2002, the United States filed a criminal forfeiture action pursuant to Title 18 U.S.C. Section 981(a)(l}(C) and based on the violations of Title 18 Section 545 in counts Six through Nine. This �rocdeding sought to forfeit the proceeds of the importation of the 
I, Macaques, and was stayed pending the completion of the criminal case. The Court dismissed the i '1 forfeiture action with prejudi�e on January 29, 2004. 5 

'
1

' ' 

tHE STOCK SALE TRANSACTION 
'
i i On December 31\ 2d1n, while the Indictment was pending, the then Shareholders of 
, I LABS ("Former Sharehq\�etj"} sold all of the stock of LABS to Dr. Gregory C. Westergaard, !i, :1 Ph.D., who is now the President and Chief Executive Officer of the company.6 Dr. Westergaard 

)

1

1 \ \ began his employment with L,ABS in July, 1998, as the Head of the LABS Division of Research 
I'

,
', I 

ii I and Development, and thiiefote, had no involvement in the conduct which is the subject of the 
'
.
\'· 

I 
: ; I 
: I ! Indictment. The Stock Sal� Agreement requires Dr. Westergaard to maintain the name listed in 

11 I '
1
! '! ·: 

5 At one point the case :#as ldismissed, then the Government, with the consent of LABS, on January 23, 2004, filed a *pti�n to Reinstate and Voluntarily Dismiss pending settlement of the criminal case. The Court �1 msuited the forfeiture complaint, and then dismissed it with prejudice on January 29, 2004, whic 'wtthe final disposition of this case. 
I I 

6 The information and su��o g Exhibits in this section were presented during the Change of Plea hearing on August �ff 2904. At the Court's request, and because this information is material to the. acceptanc� 
1
bf t\he Plea Agreement and the sentence to be imposed on Alpha Genesis, it is included herein( 

I\, I '' 
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the original Articles of Incorporation, LABS of Virginia, Inc., until the conclusion of the subject litigation. On January 27, 2004, Dr. Westergaard, by counsel, recorded a registration of trade name in Beaufort County, South Carolina for LABS to operate under the name of Alpha Genesis, Inc. The registration was recorded in the Register of Deeds for Beaufort County, in compliance with South Carolina and Virginia law. The Stock Sale Agreement specifically identified the pending Indictment and the civil forfeiture action (the "Litigation''), and the potential impact on the Company of any consequent civil and criminal fines and penalties, as well as the collateral consequence of possible suspension and debannent from future U.S. Government contracts and grants.7 Dr. Westergaard and the Former Shareholders agreed that after closing of the sale, the Former Shareholders would remain responsible for the Litigation and the payment of any consequent fines and penalties upon any judgment of conviction, and the resolution of any collateral suspension and debarment through an "Administrative Agreement", if the Federal Government Department(s) with whom LABS did business would agree to such a resolution. The Stock Sale Agreement required Dr. Westergaard to execute a Consent to the designation of the Former Shareholders as "attomeysin-fact" for LABS in connection with the Former Shareholders' retained responsibility. Dr. Westergaard signed the required Consent dated December 31, 2003.8 The Former Shareholders designated Mr. Stem to act on their behalf in connection with the responsibility and authority described in paragraph 7 of the Stock Sale Agreement and the Consent of Dr. Westergaard. 
7 See Stock Sale Agreement, ,r 7.1 and 7.2, attached hereto as Exhibit I. References to the "Company" encompass LABS as it was operated under former ownership and LABS (now called Alpha Genesis) as it is currently being operated under new ownership. 
8 See Stock Sale Agreement, Exhibit I, attached hereto as Exhibit 2. 
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THE PLEA AGREEMENT 

The Plea Agreement, which was executed by the Government and LABS on August 18, 2004, provided that LABS would enter a plea of guilty to Count One of the Indictment. (Plea Agreement, , 4). The false records underlying Count One are four permits submitted to the then United States Fish and Wildlife Service ("USFWS'') and/or the United States Customs Service ("Customs") pursuant to the Convention of International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora ("CITES"), each of which authorized the export of 55 Macaques. In particular, the conduct underlying Count O11e is the submission to USFWS and/or Customs of CITES permits for the first shipment of 220 Macaques that falsely represented, through the notation of II(C) on the permits, that the shipment included only captive-bred Macaques, when the shipment actually contained 80 Macaques caught in the wild for Inquatex, in accordance with permission granted by the Indonesian Department of Forestry and Estate Crops ("DOF") in order for Inquatex to start and replenish its colony. 9 

The Plea Agreement requires LABS to pay a fine of$500,000 in connection with the plea to Count One and an amount of $64,675.00 in connection with the dismissed forfeiture complaint. The Plea Agreement also requires LABS, under its new ownership, to serve a two year term of probation. Undersigned couns�l explained all provisions of the Plea Agreement and consequences of 
'1
, entering a plea of guilty \to Mr. Stern on behalf of the Fonner Shareholders and to Dr. 

\ 
:, I '1/estergaard and his couns�. All parties agreed to the tenns. Mr. Stern executed a Declaration 

i, . ' I stJiting that he had the autho?ty to act on behalf of the Fonner Shareholders, to agree to the terms 

9 
{\. CITE·· · s\ �. ·t with th� notation .. "II(C)" is a reference to CITES Appendix II and an identificatio� of the animals 4t the shipment as being bred in captivity. 

\, :,, \
, 

1
,_ 

'\ 

6 
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of the Plea Agreement, and to enter the plea of guilty or authorize the undersigned counsel to do so.10 By letter dated August 1 8, 2004, Mr. Stern advised the undersigned counsel that he had been fully advised of the terms of the Plea Agreement and bis rights ifhe decided to proceed to trial, and executed the Plea Agreement and authorized undersigned counsel to enter the plea of guilty on behalf of LABS.11 Paragraph 19 of the Plea Agreement requires the individual defendants in the above-captioned matter to agree to certain conditions. Each of the individual defendants have signed representations that they will abide by the terms of paragraph 19 of the Plea Agreement. 12 The Plea Agreement further states that after sentence has been imposed on LABS for the plea of guilty to Count One, the Government will move to dismiss the remaining counts as to LABS and all counts as to Defendants Stern, Henley, and Taub. This Court conditionally accepted the Plea Agreement, subject to the Preseotence Investigation Report of the Probation Office. 
THE GOVERNMENT'S VERSION OF THE OFFENSE CONDUCT Apparently, the Government submitted its version of the offense conduct pursuant to LCrR 32.l (e) on November 23, 2004. 

10 See Declaration of Charles J. Stern, dated August 18, 2004, attached hereto as Exhibit 3. 
1 1  See Letter from C. Stem to counsel, dated August 18, 2004, attached hereto as Exhibit 4. 
12 See Memo from C. Stein to C. Stern, August 18, 2004; Memo from W. Henley to C. Stern, August 18, 2004; Letter from D. Taub to C. Stern, August 17, 2004, attached hereto as Exhibit 5. 

7 Obtained by Rise for Animals.
Uploaded to Animal Research Laboratory Overview (ARLO) on 09/20/2020



Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 132 Filed: 12/10/04 Page 10 of 51 PageID #:641

The discussion of the so-called "Blakely waiver''13 in the Government's Version OfThe Offense Conduct addresses sentencing enhancements, which appears to be, for the most part, a moot point, and if this point is not moot, the Government incorrectly describes the scope of the waiver. 14 The Government and the Defendant have agreed that Defendant will pay the maximum fine, which the Court cannot exceed when imposing the sentence, and a term of probation of two years, three years less than the maximum term. Thus, the open sentencing issues are whether the Court will finally accept the Plea Agreement and the plea and the two-year term of probation. The Probation Officer has recommended a fine and term of probation which are consistent with the Plea Agreement. Since the plea agreement was executed and the plea entered pursuant to Rule l l(c)(l )(C), if the Court imposes a term of probation in excess of two years, th9 Defendant could withdraw the plea, if it chooses to do so. Accordingly, while the term of pibbation is important, i t  is also important for Defendant LABS to conclude this case. �e Blakely scope of the Blakely waiver is equal to and circumscribed by the facts i admitted tiy the defendant in the plea agreement and change of plea hearing. These "admitted I 
13 In Blakcly v. Washington. 124 S.Ct. 2531 (2004) the Supreme Court held, in part, that other than the fact of a prior conviction, any fact that increases the penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed 1�tatutory maximum must be submitted to a jury and proved beyond a reasonable doubt. Blakely specifically concerned sentencing law in the State of Washington, and the Supreme Ci stated that it was not expressing an opinion on the lawfulness of the federal sentencing · · delines. However, subsequent to the issuance of the Blakely decision, several federal co . • including the United States Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit, have issued decisions addressing whether and how the holding in Blakely applies to the federal sentencing guidelines. \see United States v. Booker, 375 F.2d 508 (7tli Cir. 2004) (holding that the federal sentencing guidelines were unconstitutional as applied to the sentence in the case). Given the uncertain status of the federal sentencing guidelines, federal prosecutors, including the Assistant United. Statz. Attorney representing the Government in this case, have insisted that plea agreements · elude language whereby the defendant agrees to waive its right to a determination ofsentencin facts by a jury. 
14 See Gove\ent's Version Of The Offense Conduct, at 10. 

8 
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facts", and only these facts, are the "sentencing facts" that the Court may consider in determining the appropriate sentence. The Government, in its Version Of The Offense Conduct, inappropriately includes facts that may not be considered by the Court as sentencing facts. Those facts include the Government's discussion of the view of a former LABS employee, Patrick Mi,hlman, that Mr. Darmawan bad cut a "baksheesh" deal with the Indonesian government to pay them off for the issuance of CITES permits and that "charity" was an important aspect of obtaining the CITES permits.15 Ju discussed below, the Government's conclusion is inaccurate and directly contradicted by the documents and grand jury testimony in this case. Moreover, the Government did not charge LABS with paying a bribe to obtain CITES permits. Furthermore, the Government indicates that financial reasons motivated LABS to ''push the envelope" to get the adult Macaques out of Indonesia as soon as possible. 16 An economic motive is not an element of the crime to which LABS pied guilty, nor is it relevant to the offense conduct In addition, the Government's Version Of The Offense Conduct includes statements regarding the shipment of pairs of nursing mothers and unweaned young in the last three of the four shipments charged in the Indictment, ', and further characterizes LABS' conduct regarding such shipments as an i aggravating fact�r to be considered in sentencing. 17 None of the foregoing facts constitute 
' sentencing facts as such facts are defined in the Plea Agreement, nor do they relate to conduct relevant to the viblation to which LABS pied guilty. Therefore, they may not be relied upon by this Court to determine the sentence. 

I, 

15 See jg,_, at 6 and',7. 
16 See id. 
17 See id. at �-9 an� 1''�. 

'
1 i 
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The Plea Agreement does contain a Blakely waiver.18 However, by that waiver, Defendant only waived its right to have sentencing facts found by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. The Plea Agreement details the precise facts and conduct subject to the Blakely waiver, and only these facts may be considered by this Court when determining LABS' sentence. Paragraph 5 of the Plea Agreement states: "In pleading guilty [to the charge contained in Count One of the Indictment], defendant admits the following facts and that those facts establish its guilt and relevant sentJncJig facts beyond a reasonable doubt." (emphasis added) Thus, the 
i \ 1

1 Defendant admits that the facts set forth in Paragraph 5 establish beyond a reasonable doubt: I) its guilt, and 2) relevant sentencing facts. The facts stipulated in Paragraph 5 include a description of the structure of CITES, the parties to the transaction for the importation of the Macaques, and the CITES permits issued for the Macaques. Paragraph 5 does not mention the payment of baksheesh, charity or a bribe, does not refer to an economic motive underlying LABS' conduct, and does not discuss the shipment of nursing mothers and unweaned young. In addition, in Paragraph 6 of the Plea Agreement, the Defendant acknowledges certain specific additional conduct that may be considered by the Court in computing its sentence. The conduct described in Paragraph 6 includes Defendant's knowing submission to USFWS and/or Customs of CITES permits that falsely represented the content of the last three of the four shipments that were the subject of the Indictment, essentially the same conduct described in Paragraph 5. Issues regarding baksheesh, unweaned infants, and economic motive are not encompassed by this conduct, nor are they relevant to sentencing for a crime concerning submission of documents including a false Source Code. In accordance with the Plea Agreement, the Court may not 
18 See Plea Agreement, ,i I 2. 
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consider facts, other then those set forth in Paragraphs 5 and 6 of the Plea Agreement, when determining LABS' sentence. 
SUMMARY OF DEFENDANT'S VERSION OF THE OFFENSE CONDUCT LABS has admitted that it should have more closely scrutiniz.ed the CITES permits, and that it is legally responsible for submitting the CITES permits for the first shipment of Macaques each of which contained, the a false designation of "II(C)" in "Source" column, indicating that the animals were bred in baptivity, because the first shipment contained 220 Macaques, 80 of 

; I which were wild-caught. Accordingly, LABS has admitted the facts which provide a factual basis for it plea of guilty to Count One. As explained in more detail below, by the terms of contract for the purchase of the Inquatex colony, Agus Dannawan, the owner of lnquatex, was responsible for obtaining all licenses, CITES permits, and other permits required by the Indonesian Government for the export of the colony. According to Mr. Dannawan's grand jury testimony, the Indonesian DOF typed the infonnation on the CITES permits. LABS received copies of correspondence between Mr. Dannawan and Indonesian authorities stating that the request for issuance of the CITES permits for the wild-caught and captive-bred Macaques had been approved, and received copies of the CITES permits prior to the first shipment. LABS had no contact with the DOF concerning the CITES permits. Correspondence between Mr. Darmawan and Indonesian officials, together with the recent signed Declaration of a DOF official, establishes that Mr. Dannawan advised the DOF that he sought permission to export certain wild-caught Macaques that were no longer economically productive to keep for breeding, that the DOF followed their own Decrees and procedures when issuing the CITES permits, and that the DOF issued valid and lawful CITES permits for the wild-caught and captive-bred Macaques. 
11 Obtained by Rise for Animals.
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Furthermore, LABS' admitted conduct concerning Count One is not representative of the 

manner in which LABS has conducted its business since its inception in 1996. Rather, it is an 

aberration and not systemic. LABS, under former and current ownership, is committed to a 

strong business ethics and compliance program which is integrated into its daily operations. 

LABS has a history of compliance with all applicable legal and industry standards that govern its 

unique business. Moreover, LABS' current owner, Dr. Westergaard, has strengthened and 

unified the etltlcs and compliance program, chosen highly qualified professionals to manage and 
I 

operate the business and the ethics and compliance program, and clearly communicated the 
' 

importance of rthical and legal compliance to all employees. These actions ensure that the 

conduct underl�ing Count One will not be repeated. 

I. 

!, 
; I

I 

Statement of Facts. 
' ' 

I, 

' 

A. • History of LABS of Virginia, Inc. 
I 

, '
! 

; i i , If1 1974, ptton Bionetics Inc.("LBI") established the Yemassee Primate Center ("YPC") 
'

1 i ': 
! 

in rutaI southeastern South Carolina for the pwpose of inexpensively and efficiently breeding 
\ \ : ! 
'i I ' I 

and rtaini�g fHPs for biomedical research. 19 The initial YPC facility was established on 30 

forest�d itcres ·:,ro� the pwpose of developing large-scale NHP breeding, originally supporting 

sever"� J.s. dovbmment projects for the National Institutes of Health ("NIH"), Division of 
l I ' I 

Researph � eso�c�s ("DRR"). NIH is an institute within what is now called the Department of 

Health\ an1 HwhJ �ervices ("HHS"). From 1974 until 1982, the YPC facility was primarily I i i 1 1 
I \ ! '1 

devote4 to: breeding and maintaining rhesus monkeys for the NIH. An additional animal project 
', I I : I \ ! I: !, !

j 

19 LBI ha1: no' cp114ebtion to, and is a wholly different company, than the Bionetics Co.rporation 
fN .. ..1._"". 'N , , 1  

, w.i . . O ewHUnl CV.:Si � U:guua. 
1
, 1 I ', \ i  1 'i ' I 1 \ , I

! 

\ 
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at YPC included breeding rabbits for in-house serum antibody production, although this program is no longer in place. In 1982, the DRR terminated its rhesus-breeding program at YPC. In 1979, LBI secured a rhesus NHP breeding contract from the Food and Drug Administration ("FDA"), an administration also within HHS, and established the Morgan Island ("Ml") satellite facility as a programmatic and administrative adjunct to the YPC. Morgan Island is a remnant island in St. Helena Sound, close to Yemassee, South Carolina, and completely surrounded by St. Helena Sound and the Atlantic Ocean. In 1985, a Dutch conglomerate, Akzo International, purchased a portion of LBI that included the YPC and MI, and continued its operations variously as Organon Teknika Corp. ("OTCj and Bionetics Research Inc. ("BR!"). In May 1987, Dr. David M. Taub purchased YPC, including Morgan Island, and continued its operation as Laboratory Animal Breeders & Services, Inc. ("LABS, lac. j, a South Carolina corporation. In 1991, LABS, Inc. added the Hampton Primate Center ("HPCj, a few miles from YPC, as a third site where NHPs were maintained, principally for the breeding of Macaques. In 1989, LABS, Inc. received an NIH grant to develop a "Specific Pathogen Free" breeding colony of rhesus and pigtailed macaques. In 1991, a large cynomolgus macaque breeding program was developed at HPC for a major U.S. pharmaceutical company. In May 1996, all of the shares of LABS, Inc. were purchased by a trust. The shareholders of the trust included Messrs. Stem and Henle/0 LABS was registered as a Virginia corporation named LABS of Virginia, Inc. ("LABS"). In 1997, a domestic breeding colony of cynomolgus macaques at was established HPC. In 1998, LABS established a Centers for 
20 Messrs. Stem and He�ey were officers of the Bionetics Corporation ("TBC"), a Virginia corporation. TBC never liad any ownership interest in LABS. 

13 Obtained by Rise for Animals.
Uploaded to Animal Research Laboratory Overview (ARLO) on 09/20/2020



Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 132 Filed: 12/10/04 Page 16 of 51 PageID #:647

Disease Control ("CDC") registered quarantine facility at YPC. In December, 2003, as noted above, all of the shares of LABS were sold to Dr. Westergaard. Since at least 1987, LABS business has been breeding, selling, maintaining and conducting research on NHPs. Well in excess of 75 percent of the NHPs that were sold by LABS to U.S. Government and commercial customers, and educational institutions were kept at LABS facilities and maintained by LABS staff. Well in excess of 50 percent of the research was conducted by LABS alone, and most of the remainder was jointly conducted by LABS and the Principal Researchers of the customers and institutions. Very few NHPs were sold and immediately sent to customers or institutions, they were maintained at and by LABS. In this regard, LABS is unique. As noted throughout this Memorandum, LABS has always been involved, directly or indirectly, in biological and neurological medical research on NHPs. The research always has involved many of the most important biological and neurological conditions faced by humans of all ages around the world. Two examples include Auto-Immune Deficiency Syndrome (" AIDSj and Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder ("ADHD"). More recently the spectrum has included bio-terrorism research, including vaccines for anthrax and smallpox outbreaks on a large scale. This work has attracted the attention of diverse "animal rights" groups, including extremists elements. For this reason, both Mr. Darmawan and LABS tried to complete the colony transaction with minimal public visibility. While "animal rights extremists" are entitled to state their view, if the members of such groups do not want to take advantage of the biological, neurological and Homeland security advances achieved by research on NHPs for themselves or theµ- families, that is their right, but it is not their right to deny these solutions to the world-populatlon at-large. The Government's statements in its Version Of The Offense 
' 
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Conduct that this effort at low visibility is evidence of criminal conduct is narrow-nunded and short-sighted, as well as contrary to the intent of both LABS and Inquatex. B. Indonesian Government's Recognition that Captive Breeding of Macaques is Necessary and Approval of lnquatex as a Captive Breeding Facility and Exporter of Macaques. Inquatex • Primate Division began operations in July, 1991, in accordance with Indonesian law, when it began observing and analyzing the captive breeding, productivity, 
' 
I management and gn:)wth of Macaques, and the prospect of sale and export of this species. In 
', 

' ' approximately 1993,1, Inquatex requested permission from the Indonesian Government to be 
' ! designated as a bree<tng facility which has successfully bred the species in a manner that is not detrimental t� re s1val of the species. The Indonesian Institute of Sciences, Research Centre for Biology (r:fpstituj of Sciences"), performed a study on Inquatex's captive breeding facility, located in th� "Mlage \of Rumpin, for the Indonesian Government 21 The Institute of Sciences Report, published in \ t 993, recommended that Inquatex be designated by the Indonesian 

' i i ' Government � \ succdsfully engaging in captive breeding for international trade, as long as 
' ) '. I 

' ; : I CITES permit$ k'ere gl-anted and the requirements of applicable Indonesian Decrees were met 
ii ·, ';

1.
:,, ' 

:I! 

' 
I, The Institute of Sciencbs Report acknowledges that Inquatex had 34 wild-caught Macaques in 

' ·. 
'
. •.··,. , i .• \ 1991 �d �t 'cl numbfr of wild-caught had increased to 352 as of the 1993 study. The Institute 

i ] ', \'1 - .
1
, I of �ci�ces R�rt alsoi details the location of capture, the supplier, the manner of capture, the 

.• ' ' ' !i ! 
' 

' i manner in ,whicI:i iMacaques are selected for the Inquatex breeding program, and notes that the 
•,. \ ',: '. ·i!. i::

_ 

II
!. , i ',:ii . i: \: ' 

,
:_ \ supfljer

1

\flf��,t1:��es that did not meet certain requirements. 22 
I : : i :, \ ' ·

:; ' : , I  ; 

I I j , :, ' I 

21 CN\tive Br�di:ng qf�ng-Tailed Macaques (Macaca fascicularis) in C.V. Inquatex - Primates  Diyiaj.\:,nl\ :, R���� ahd -�evelopment Centre for Biology, The Indonesian Institute of Sciences (119\3\�l 
�fnt�� (/fhe \Institute of Sciences Report"), attached hereto as Exhibit 6. 

22 S��J,titute or ,�Cf�nci Report, at 6. 
' : ,,

, 
' ' I 

15 Obtained by Rise for Animals.
Uploaded to Animal Research Laboratory Overview (ARLO) on 09/20/2020



Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 132 Filed: 12/10/04 Page 18 of 51 PageID #:649

The Institute of Sciences Report clearly explains the Indonesian approach to striking a balance between conservation, sustained usage, and trade in this breed. The Institute of Sciences Report notes that the use of an export quota limiting the number of Macaques exported each year, "is found to be useful and beneficial to reduce illegal capture of this macaque in the wild.',23 Sustained use or breeding increases the supply of Macaques to meet the demands of biomedical research community, and therefore reduces the export of wild-caught animals and the consequent threat to the Macaque population in the wild. As the Institute of Sciences Report recognizes, without managed breeding, Macaques would become extinct as a result of exporting to meet the demand for Macaques. The Institute of Sciences Report concludes that managed breeding of Macaques should begin immediately to reduce the dependency on wild-caught Macaques to meet the increasing demand. 24 

The Indonesian Government, in addition to recognizing the necessity of using managed breeding to meet the demand for Macaques, has addressed a problem that is inherent in the operation of captive breeding facilities. It is a biological fact that managtXI breeding of Macaques requires the replenishment of the parent stock as the Macaques age or acquire healthrelated conditions. Older Macaques that have lived in captivity for many years, as well as Macaques that have health related conditions, cannot be returned to the wild. An unpopular solution is to prematurely euthanize these Macaques to make space at captive breeding facilities for productive breeders. LABS' purchase of a colony of Macaques from Inquatex, described below, was an alternative and preferable way to provide space for younger parent stock Macaques at the Inquatex captive breeding facility because the colony included older parent 
23 Id., at 16. 
24 Id. 
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stock Macaques that were no longer economically productive as breeders. LABS' purchase of these Macaques allowed the older Macaques to have a longer life span in a healthier environment while making significant contributions to human health. Moreover, LABS' purchase of older parent stock Macaques was consistent with Indonesian law which permitted the export of such Macaques. Long before LABS sought to purchase the Inquatex colony, Indonesia recognized the benefit of allowing Inquatex to sell and export older parent stock Macaques that were originally captured from the wild. In 1993, following the Institute of Sciences Report, the DOF passed Indonesian Decree No. 145/Kpts/DJ-VI/93 which allowed Inquatex to export 300 wild-caught Macaques. In 1994, the DOF issued Decree No. 26/Kpts -1 1/94 which applied to the Macaques in this case and a certain species of fish. 1bis Decree was one of many Decrees issued by the Indonesian Government implementing CITES and addressing CITES-related issues, in accordance with all of the factors unique to Indonesia regarding their flora and fauna. 1bis Decree required that Macaques used for export must come from "breeding efforts", which "breeding efforts" must meet the Indonesian Decrees and requirements for that activity. As such, the exporter must be licensed, the number of Macaques exported must not exceed applicable export quotas, and approval of the export must be based on an investigation and evaluation by an Accreditation Team. Accordingly, this Decree does not ban the export of wild-caught or captivebred Macaques, rather, it allows the export of both subject to a preliminary requirement that they come from breeding efforts, i.e., the Inquatex breeding program, which are approved by DOF because they meet the requirements of other Decrees. The intent of the Decree No. 26/Kpts-
1 1/94 is to prevent ''poaching". Moreover, in this case, in l 996-97, the DOF approved the 

17 Obtained by Rise for Animals.
Uploaded to Animal Research Laboratory Overview (ARLO) on 09/20/2020



Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 132 Filed: 12/10/04 Page 20 of 51 PageID #:651

export and issuance of the CITES permits to lnquatex, and reaffirmed this decision to the U.S. Government in connection with this Indictment in 2002, and again 2004. 
C. CITES Policy Regarding Trade In Covered Species CITES is an International Convention that was entered into force on July 1, 1975, and bas been signed and adopted by 166 governments. Both the United States and Indonesia are parties to CITES as of 1975 and 1979, respectively. The purpose of CITES is to ensure that international trade in wild animals and plants does not threaten their existence. In the early days of CITES, trade in wildlife was viewed as exploitation and contrary to a basic letter and spirit of CITES principal of conservation. More recently, particularly after about 1992, some trade measures were viewed as enhancing the effectiveness of environmental protection regulations. For example, the 1992 United Nations Conference on Environment and Development "addressed the fact that, in several multilateral environment agreements, trade provisions play a role in tackling global environmental challenges and use trade measures to enhance the effectiveness of environment protection regulations. The U.N. Conference recognized that such regulations should address the root causes of environmental degradation so as not to result in unjustified restrictions on trade, and that the challenge was to ensure that trade and environment policies were consistent and reinforced the process of sustainable use. "25 Sustainable use and trade restrictions have always been the challenge for CITES members. Indonesia in particular has had a long evolution of Presidential Decisions and Decrees implementing ;CITES, and more recently has issued Decrees which try to strike this balance 

' ' ! i among meeting the international demand for Macaques, trade in this species, and conservation of 
! the sp�cies. For example, fudonesia issued Presidential Decisions related to the preservation of 

25 Willem Wijilstekers, Tod Evolution of CITES, at 7 (6th ed. 200 I). 
'

, 
:, 

1
, I

! 
', i 
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> :  ' '  
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flora and fauna as early as 1931. As CITES was debated among countries concerned about the preservation of flora and fauna, and finally adopted in July of 1975, Indonesia issued related Decrees in numerous years, including 1967, 1974, 1978, 1982, 1988, 1989 , 1990, 1993, 1994, 1996, and 1998. Indeed, as described above, Indonesia issued Decrees particularly aimed at preserving Macaques in 1993 and 1994. The existence of numerous Indonesian Decrees governing trade in wildlife indicates that Indonesia takes the letter and spirit of the principles of CITES seriously, and does not cavalierly authorize the export of protected species , particularly Macaques. In fact, the permission to export the wild-caught Macaques in this case was viewed by the Indonesian DOF as an integral part of its effort to use trade to preserve the species, while using the most humane way to deal with the wild-caught Macaques that could no longer be relied on to create healthy offspring in an economical way. CITES provides a framework for each party to adopt its own national legislation to ensure that the reqtiirements and the basic philosophy of CITES are implemented in a way that 
I fits the different co*ditions within each member country as to animals and plants listed in CITES 
I, Appendices I, II, ahd III. Each party to CITES must designate a Management Authority to administer the pern;iit system, and a Scientific Authority to determine scientific issues. The USFWS, Division of Management Authority, is the Management Authority for the United States, 

'1 and the USFWS, Division of Scientific Authority, is the Scientific Authority; the Directorate General of Forest Prbtection and Nature Conservation at the DOF is the Management Authority 
I . for Indonesia and the Indonesian Institute of Sciences is the Scientific Authority. Species covered by CITES 1

: may only be traded between parties to CITES if the appropriate 
' 

,
, documentation has been obtained from the Management Authority of the country of origin. 
'1
, 
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The species of animals and plants covered by CITES are listed in three Appendices based on the degree of protection the species need. Macaca fascicularis, the species involved in this case, is an Appendix II species. Species listed in Appendix II of CITES are not necessarily threatened with extinction, but trade in such species must be controlled to avoid utilization of the species in a manner that is incompatible with survival. To engage in trading Appendix II animals, an export permit issued by the Management Authority of the state of export. There is no need to obtain a CITES permit from the state of import, unless such a permit is required by the importing state.26 The United States does not require importers of Appendix JI animals to 
i obtain a CITES import permit. Therefore, wider CITES, the only permit that is required for the shipment of Macaques from Indonesia to the United States is an export permit issued by 
i Indonesia's DOFl 
,, 

i The CITES permit requirements are not aimed at prohibiting commercial trade in ! wildlife. Rather.' \CITES requirements ensure that CITES members can easily monitor trade in wildlife in accordbce with the principles underlying CITES. In fact, as noted above, CITES bas emphasized that �ntrolled commercial trade can facilitate the preservation of a species, such as the Macaques in this case. For example, the CITES Conference of the Parties in 1992, in Kyoto 
I, Japan, recognized,�ust as did the United Nations Conference, that commercial trade can enhance 
i conservation and �e sustained use principles of CITES. Resolution 8.3 from the Kyoto I Conference reads a$ follows: Conf. 8.3 Recognition of the benefits of trade in wildlife 

26 See CITES, �elf IV. 
i, 1, :: I 
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NOTING that the majority of species of wild fauna and flora that CITES seeks to protect and enhance occur in the developing countries of the world; RECOGNIZING that the sustainable use of wild fauna and flora, whether consumptive or non-consumptive, provides an economically competitive land-use option; BEING AW ARE that, unless conservation programmes take into account the needs of local people and provide incentives for sustainable use of wild fauna and flora, conversion to alternative fonns of land use may occur; RECOGNIZING that over-utilization is detrimental to the conservation of wild fauna and flora; RECOGNIZING further that legal trade in a species should not lead to increases in illegal trade anywhere in its range; RECOGNIZING also that the returns from legal use may provide funds and incentives to support the management of wild fauna and flora to contain the illegal trade; ACKNOWLEDGING that the aesthetic, scientific, cultural, recreational and other largely non-consumptive uses of wild fauna and flora are also of enormous importance; RECOGNIZING that there are many species for which trade would be detrimental to their survival; THE CONFERENCE OF THE PARTIES TO THE CONVENTION RECOGNIZES that commercial trade may be beneficial to the conservation of species and ecosystems and/or to the development of local people when carried out at levels that are not detrimental to the survival of the species in question. 
Indonesia's Decrees, which permit the export of wild-caught and captive-bred Macaques within the export quota determined by an Accreditation Team, comport with the CITES principles expressed in Conference Resolution 8.3. Indonesia's use of export quotas ensures that any export of a particular species of wildlife is not detrimental to the survival of that species. Furthennore, LABS' purchase of the lnquatex colony, described below, exemplifies the principles that scientific and non-consumptive use of wildlife is of enonnous importance and that commercial trade is beneficial to conservation of a species. 
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D. LABS' Purchase of the Inquatex Colony 

As noted in Section A of this Memorandum, historically LABS has engaged in breeding and maintaining Macaques, and conducting and assisting government and commercial customers in conducting research using this breed. For example, thd,HPC was added as third the LABS site principally for the breeding of Macaques. In 1989, �S received an NIH grant to develop a "Specific Pathogen Free" breeding colony which inclJ�4 pigtailed macaques. In 1991, a large 
I I ' ' Macaque breeding program was developed at HPC for J �jor U.S. pharmaceutical company. 

: \ ! : -; In 1996, Macaques were in high demand by government, institutional, and private researchers. 27 The research required healthy Macaques whose genetic history was known and could be documented. At this time, the available supply of Macaques was frequently infected or prone to inf�tion by Simian Retro Virus ("SRV"), an AIDS-like disease that infects NHPs, including Mdcaques. For LABS, acquiring an entire SRV-free colony, consisting of several 
Il
l established breeding groups, could provide a steady and reliable supply of this species for its 
i
i I 

I ' government, institutional and commercial research projects. Since LABS' care and treatment 
!! 

\ environment � of such high quality, acquiring a self-sustaining colony seemed a viable option. After making ! inquiries through the international NHP community, LABS discovered that Inquatex had a colony of Macaques that it would sell. LABS planned to import the Inquatex 
' I I 

' 

27 In the late l 980's there was an outbreak of the ebola virus among Rhesus monkeys (Macaca 
mulatto) ldcated, ;at 1 facility in Reston, Virginia. After this outbreak, the U.S. Government banned th� )m�;rtan,on of Rhesus monkeys and established a number of domestic breeding colonies or1,l;Uiesµs mbnkeys to insure a clean safe supply. LABS owned one of these colonies. 

l I I l i  I In the 199�',s �Frers moved away from the Rhesus monkeys and focused on cynomolgus monkeys (' C�q$"). \ Cynos are smaller and less expensive to import than Rhesus. LABS noticed tha� 'irnM,te� cynos (mainly from China) were not clean and possessed a risk to the researcher �d tli� 13neral public. LABS determined that breeding a domestic Cyno colony would provi�. e a! 41.,ean readily available supply of Cynos in the event of an outbreak of a disease that affected Cyrto�. d the Government banned the importation of this species. ': :, \ ii, \ \ 
' " ' 1 
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colony so it could maintain that colony and, using that colony, breed its own domestic colony of 

Macaques. On January 29, 1997, Inquatex and LABS signed the contract for the sale of the 

colony. Mr. Dannawan was responsible for obtaining all permits, including the CITES permits, 

· from the Indonesian Government necessary for the export from Indonesia and import to the U.S. 

Completion of the shipment of the entire colony was important to both companies for a 

number of reasons, including the economics of the sale. Mr. Dannawan needed the space and 

profit from the sale to continue his breeding efforts, and LABS needed both research and 

breeding eligible Macaques as soon as possible for its business activities. Established J>ree;:Jing 

groups had to be maintained within each shipment, and if members were separated, they had to 

be rejoined as soon as possible or they would be rejected, which would create a virtually 

insolvable problem for the established breeding group and the rejected Macaques. Specific 

examinations on pregnant females were performed by the then LABS Head of Veterinary 

Medicine to estimate the stage of pregnancy and ship pregnant females before their third 

trimester. Generally, LABS wanted to get as many Macaques out of Inquatex and established at 

LABS because of its far superior facilities and staff. The urgency to remove the entire colony as 

soon as possible was driven by many of these related factors, including economics, but was by 

no means driven only or primarily by the "profit" aspect of the economics factors of the 

transaction. 

E. The Issuance of the CITES Permits Accompanying the Shipment of 
Macaques. 

The DOF issued CITES permits for the export of each of the four Chicago shipments of 

Macaques, as well as the three additional shipments in 1998. Prior to the DOF's issuance of the 

CITES permits, Mr. Darmawan, in July 1996, submitted a formal written request to the DOF for 

permission to sell and export a colony of Macaques, which were part of the population of his 
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breeding efforts. Mr. Dannawan was a licensed exporter, and, as noted above, in 1993 his breeding efforts at his Rumpin facility were studied and evaluated by Indonesian Institute of Sciences, and approved by the Indonesian Government to engage in breeding efforts. Also, in 1993, Inquatex had been authorized by an Indonesian Decree to export 300 wild-caught Macaques. As demonstrated by the following summary of correspondence and actions that preceded the DOF's issuance of the CJ"IES permits, Mr. Dannawan requested permission to export an entire colony of Macaques, and fully disclosed that the colony included a number of wild-caught Macaques that were used to start and replenish that colony. In accordance with the Indonesian Decrees referenced above, including Decree No. 26/Kpts-11/94, the DOF sent an Accreditation Team, including an internationally known veterinary doctor, Dondin Sajuthi, Ph.D.,28 to examine the colony.29 The CITES permits were reviewed, completed and approved by Indonesian authorities and sent to Mr. Dannawan, who forwarded them to LABS. Thus, the Indonesian Management and Scientific Authorities, with full knowledge that the Inquatex colony included wild-caught animals, issued the CITES permits. As demonstrated below, the Government, in its Version Of The Offense Conduct, rollsup into a ball statements which are rank speculation or simply not true, and tosses it to the Court and Probation Officer in the hope the ball will stick. One example is the references to bribery. The Government refers to three statements, two in a memorandum from Patrick Mehlman and 
28 Dr. Sajuthi graduated from the Bogar Agricultural Institute in Indonesia in 1979, and holds a Masters degree from the University of Wisconsin (1984) and a doctorate degree from Wake Forest University (1992). Dr. Sajuthi is currently the Director of International Programs at the Bogor Agricultural University in Indonesia and is the author of numerous scientific articles c(mceming NHPs, including articles related to Macaque genetics and immune systems. 29 A copy of the correspondence referenced in this Memorandum is attached as Exhibit 7. Exhibit 7 includes the Indonesian language version of the correspondence as produced to D�fendants by the Government, as well as a certified translation of the correspondence into Etiglish. 
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one statement in a hand-written note from George Ward to Mr. Taub, and encourages the conclusion that a "bribe" was paid by Mr. Darmawan to obtain the CITES permits. The Government did not charge LABS with paying a bribe to obtain the CITES permits, and the referenced statements do not support that conclusion. Moreover, the conclusion itself is in direct contradiction to the to the sworn testimony of Mr. Darmawan before the grand jury. As background, Mr. Darmawan's ability to understand and speak English is poor. Mr. Dannawan did make valid charitable contributions to two Indonesian universities and supported research students from at least one of these universities at his facility. Mr. Darmawan, in his grand jury testimony, stated that he did give small amounts of money to Indonesian DOF administrative clerks to process CITES permits, including, as he testified in the grand jury, to type the CITES permits. These "tips", or "baksheesh" as the Government calls them, were customary in Indonesia. More importantly, these tips were never concealed but were referred to openly by Mr. Darmawan, and, again, according to his sworn testimony before the grand jury, were not given to obtain the permits but to type the permits and process the paperwork. In the Mehlman memorandum cited by the Government, Mr. Mehlman states explicitly that his reference to "cut a baksheesh deal to pay them off . . .  " is his "own personal view . . . ." The statement by the veterinarian, Dr. Ward, that Mr. Dannawan completed all steps necessary to export the colony 1 ½ weeks is simply wrong. As detailed above, Mr. Darmawan started the export process, including the CITES permit request, on July 5, 1996, and did not complete the process, until six months later, on February 5, 1997, the same amount of time it took Dr. Ward, a non-resident of Bangkok where he requested permission to export a monkey. Similarly, giving non-government Indonesian workers a little extra money to work longer and harder make the 
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export go smoothly is not only customary in Indonesia but in virtually every country in the world, and is not, as the Government suggests, illegal, improper or unethical. Correspondence between Mr. Dannawan and DOF indicates that DOF knew that Mr. Darmawan's colony included parent stock Macaques that had reached the end of their breeding cycle. In a letter dated July 5, 1996, Mr. Darmawan notified and requested permission from the Director of Support of Regional Nature Protection and Conservation of Flora and Fauna, a division of the DOF, for the sale of economically unproductive parent stock in his colony. Mr. Darmawan explained in the Jetter that lnquatex had limited space available to hold additional parent stock to be used as breeders. Mr. Darmawan also stated that the parent stock in the colony had become economically unproductive and that lnquatex desired to restock the parent stock of the colony with more productive Macaques. Mr. Darmawan proposed that the DOF give him permission to export the economically unproductive parent stock, thereby giving Inquatex permission to sell those Macaques. Generally, the Macaque breeding cycle begins at about age four for males and age three for females. While the cycle does not begin and end on exact dates, the effective breeding period typically occurs in the middle of the cycle. The effective breeding period means the period when the male and female animals are most likely to achieve conception, and the female is least likely to experience illness or miscarriage during pregnancy. The Indonesian Institute of Sciences Report concluded that the most productive period of the lnquatex Macaques was age three to four for females and age four to five for males. Veterinary scientists would agree, as a general proposition, that both males and females are less likely to achieve conception, and females are Jess likely to experience the pregnancy without difficulty and less likely to produce healthy offspring as they reach the later stages of the breeding cycle. The failure to conceive and 
26 Obtained by Rise for Animals.

Uploaded to Animal Research Laboratory Overview (ARLO) on 09/20/2020



Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 132 Filed: 12/10/04 Page 29 of 51 PageID #:660

successfully produce offspring in a given year means that the male and female have grown one year older and one year closer to the end of the most productive period within the breeding cycle without producing offspring. As the Macaques reach the end of their breeding cycle, they are 
less likely to produce offspring and are considered to be economically unproductive. The Indonesian Government's grant of authority to export economically unproductive Macaques in 1993, and again for the sale to LABS in 1996 and 1997, were necessary steps in Indonesia's plan to balance conservation and trade, as described in the Institute of Sciences Report. This proven principle was the reason for Mr. Darrnawan's request and for DOF's approval, as described in the correspondence discussed below, By granting permission to export, DOF facilitated more effective conservation of Macaques by allowing Mr. Darrnawan to replenish his parent stock and therefore, to achieve more successful breeding results. In a letter dated July 15, 1996, the DOF informed Mr. Dannawan that it did not have any objection "in principle" to lnquatex exporting its unproductive parent stock. By letter dated August 9, 1996, Mr. Darmawan provided a certified statement to the DOF representing that the lnquatex veterinarian had examined the parent stock and determined that 533 Macaques were unproductive parent stock. At the direction of the DOF, and in accordance with the Decree No. 26/Kpts-11/94, an Accreditation Team, including Dr. Sajuthi, the Director of the Bogor Institute of Agriculture, Primate Research Center, examined the parent stock Macaques at lnquatex on September 6, 1996, and determined that 521 of the 533 wild-caught parent stock Macaques in the colony Inquatex proposed to sell to LABS, and that Mr. Dannawan had certified to be not economically productive in his August 9, 1996 letter, "are no longer productive and economical for further keeping as breeders." In a letter dated September 12, 1996, Dr. Sajuthi advised the DOF of his examination and findings regarding Inquatex's parent stock. The DOF subsequently 
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issued CITES permits to Inquatex for the export of the colony of the Macaques, which included the 521 parent stock Macaques which were no longer productive and economical to keep as breeders. The CITES permits for the export of the first shipment of Mr. Darmawan's colony were issued on February 5, 1997, by the Indonesian DOF. On or about February 7, 1997, the CITES permits for this shipment were sent to LABS, which submitted them to USFWS through its Customs broker in Chicago. As noted above, the CITES permits for the first shipment were issued and signed by OOF on February 5, 1997, and send by Mr. Darmawan to LABS on or about February 7, 1997. Toe "Source" column of the permits, which was completed by DOF, listed the notation "II(C)". This source designation is currently defined as "bred in captivity". LABS reviewed the CITES permits, but did not closely scrutinize the notations in the "Source" column of the permits, and sent them to their Customs Broker in Chicago, which presented them to the USFWS. The first shipment contained 220 Macaques, 80 of which were wild-caught Thus, LABS' failure to closely examine the CITES permits caused the submission of permits containing a false "II(C)" designation in the Source column. Prior to the arrival of the first shipment in Chicago on February 20, 1997, LABS sent a letter to Division of Quarantine at CDC concerning LABS' certification as a registered facility for quarantining NHPs. In that letter, LABS stated that the Inquatex colony was "composed of animals that were originally caught from the wild under the proper authority and licensure of the Indonesian Government, as well as animals born in and recruited from this colony.',30 In 
30 Letter from D. Taub to T. DeMarcus, February 18, 1997, attached hereto as Exhibit 8. This document was produced by LABS to the Government in response to the Grand Jury subpoena 
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addition, inventories accompanying the shipments listed the birth dates of all monkeys, thereby 

identifying their age. 

In support of Defendants' Pre-trial Motions and Reply to the Government's Omnibus 

Response to the Motions, Defendants obtained a Declaration, dated September 1 7, 2002, from Ir. 

Adi Susmianto, MSc, the then current Director of the DOF Directorate of Biodiversity, in order 

to confirm the facts detailed above.31 In the Declaration, Ir. Susmianto stated that the DOF, with 

complete knowledge that the colony to be exported by Inquatex included Macaques that were 

bred and born in captivity, and wild-caught Macaques, issued valid CITES permits for the export 

of Macaques residing at Inquatex's facilities, and that the DOF's issuance of the CITES permits 

complied with the Indonesian Decree. 32 Ir. Susmianto stated that the DOF conclusion in the 

Declaration was based on the review of the above-described correspondence between Inquatex 

and the ( DOF, CITES permits issued by DOF, the Indonesian Decree, and internal DOF 

informatjon.33 In particular, Ir. Susmianto certified that DOF knew that the Inquatex colony 

included economically unproductive parent stock Macaques which were originally obtained from 

the wild when Mr. Darmawan started his colony, and issued CITES permits to Inquatex for the ! 
I 

export o( the entire colony of Macaques residing at Inquatex's facility, including Macaques that 
I 
i 

were cau�t in the wild. Ir. Susmianto concluded that the CITES permits issued by DOF to 
I 

Inquatex for the export of Macaques in 1997 were valid CITES permits and that the CITES 

31 Defend�ts sought and obtained the Declaration because the events had occurred several years 
earlier. ?\,fr. Dannawan refused to talk to counsel for Defendants and the Government had not 
interviewetl the Indonesian Government officials, so Defendants sought to do so. The 
Declaratioj:i was presented to the Government and the Court as a preliminary indication of the 
position of1the DOF. 
32 See gen�rally. DOF Declaration , attached hereto as Exhibit 9. 

I 
33 See id. ,1:2. 

I 

', 
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permits complied with Indonesian law, including the Decree. On June 18, 2004, Defendants again confirmed the DOF position regarding both the validity of the CITES permits and validity of the importation Mr. Widodo S. Ramono, the current Director of Biodiversity Conservation at the DOF, confirmed in writing that Ir. Susmianto's Declaration was valid based on Indonesian laws and relevant Government decrees. 34 
Finally, LABS, from its inception, has been committed to a strong and comprehensive ethics and compliance program. While LABS did not have a standard operating procedure for the importation of NHP's at the time of the conduct in the Indictment, it did have an effective program in: all other areas, as evidenced by its impeccable record. The failure to scrutinize the , , ' Source Code designation in the CITES permits which resulted in the submission of the false i 

, I  Source Cod� information was an aberration, which, as noted below, has been corrected. 
I I • : I 

F. ' \ The Shipment of Unweaned Infants. 
·,· \  By sliippmg nursing mothers together with their young, LABS intended to act in the best , ' I ' " interest of th� atiiritals and to conduct the shipment in a manner that was humane and healthful. 35 

' 

',' \ ' 

i 
, 

, ; LABS was c�j�ed :th maintaining and nurturing the bond between a nursing mother and her young. lnd�d, t; S�pping Protocol drafted by LABS for lnquatex's export of the Macaques stated that "(s]ri1all infants must accompany their mothers." The Shipping Protocol further 
, ·, \

' ., 
!
, 

: 

' i 1 ' I I 
34 Confirmation of :Wid6dq S. Ramono, attached hereto as Exhibit I 0. 

I ' · : ,, I I 

35 As explairted: below; LABS conducts its business in a manner that ensures that all animals under its d,arel�� $ated �umanely and live in a healthy environment. LABS is accredited by �C: ���?nal\ 1d has been approved by NIH as being in co�pliance with NIH's Public Health ,Secyic� Pohpy on Humane Care and Use of Laboratory Animals. Moreover, the Macaques ',init'· ·.rt¥•
.
·.• J,y \ LA.BS enjoyed living conditions that were far superior to those at lnquatex. i rn ' qe�rte 'Ward, a LABS veterinarian who spent several months at lnquatex, reported �� 

1 

• q.�.J ... '�.•.* J�an. inadequate supply of monkey chow, unhygienic water delivery system, ancl •i>
. 
r.hb1�. m. '� ,with . ages. 

I ! :: 1!lj : ·  1 : 1 ,d1! , , I ] ' '' I ' . , . ,, ; ' I 
! '

1 
I , , , ,' i I I 
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' 

!
I stated: "F�males in Jast �¢ster will be excluded from selection until after they give birth and 

\ \I ,, their infani1 stabilize�\ after at 1east 2 weeks." 
I i • Pririr to the ' st ship ent containing pairs of nursing mothers and unweaned young, Mr. Darmawan advised message dated March 25, 1997, that including pregnant Macaques 
i in their first trimeste 
I , : : 'i 

ers with unweaned infants was "OK" with him. However, Mr. 
I Darmawan rted L e full responsibility if anything happened to the shipment, such as the pregnr t Mac ues ex riencing a miscarriage or the young Macaques dying in transport. If a miscarriage or d�ath occ ed, Mr. Darmawan was concerned that airlines may refuse to 

1, 
11 . carry the Mfcaques °[ the In onesian Government would refuse to allow the export of the 

: ii Macaques re�g � the Inq 1 tex colony, and apparently Mr. Darmawan did not want LABS 
I i' I to blame him\ for any sµch proolems with executing the export. Mr. Darmawan did not express I 1 1 I I '1 : 1 any concerns'\ to LAB�1 about �e lawfulness of transporting nursing mothers with unweaned 

I I young. Indeed, in a m�morandlun to LABS dated August 1, 1997, Mr. Darmawan stated that 
I Ii I " l there is no b$1 shippirig a mot11er with infant in the International Air Transport Association 
\ \I I regulations. I , , 

I
, 

', I ·, '. 1

i I The 41v�mme��•s Version Of The Offense Conduct includes the Government's conclusion thatiLABS' :
1 

�nduct 1olated 50 C.F.R § 14.105(b)(2), which addresses consignment 
: \  ,

1
' 

,: :; 
,' of live wild ��alsi,1 td birds \ to carriers. LABS did not plead guilty to such a violation. Moreover, the '�ent�ncin� facts ruj determined in the Plea Agreement, do not contain any facts 

\ \  I, I i ii I related to the s,p,fnt yt1nursing \others and unweaned young. 
Seetioo 1•- 1Ds+r '""t' A o,.,;og =tho- ..,, ""'""' m w ...... �m""" unaccompanied ':by 'i'ts rtiother, or an unweaned bird shall be transported [to the United States] Iii' "f' th riml 

1

1

' 

\ I '!I . f, j eded di al .. Th gnl . . ed o , Y',l ! e P--Tf, fFJ'ff Is or nt me c treatment . . .  . e re  anon IS concern 
' , ,: ':', I ! \  \ 

1,i \ !; I 
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with protecting the mother-infant bond at a stage when the infant still relies on its mother for 

nourishment by ensuring that the infant will not be separated from its mother while it is still 

nursing. A reasonable interpretation of this regulation is that the regulation was intended to 

prohibit the transport of animals that would disrupt the mother-infant relationship. Therefore, it 

would be lawful for nursing mothers with unweaned infants to be transported, as long as they are 

transported together. 36 LABS' actions were consistent with the purpose of the regulation, i.e., to 

promote humane and healthful transport, and LABS' actions resulted in the humane and ' 
i 

healthful transport of thf Macaques. In fact, there was only one death in transit for the entire 

colony of over l ,000 Mabaques. 
1. 

Moreover, LABS actions were consistent with 9 C.F.R. § 3.87, promulgated by the 
i 

Secretary of Agriculture, ,which governs humane transportation ofNHPs and concerns "primary 
·, 

enclosures used to tport nonhuman primates." Subsection 3.87(d)(l)(i) regarding 

"compatibility" states in �lev!lllt part: 

Only one live nonhuman primate may be transported in a primary enclosure, 
except as follows: \A mother and her nursing infant may be transported together. 

' 
', 

This regulation, which was in effect in 1997 at the time of the shipments from Indonesia, 
I
i 

indicates that it is lawful td1 ship a nonhuman primate mother and her nursing infant 

At the time of the s1tipments at issue in this litigation, LABS was not aware of any statute 
I
I 

or regulation that prohibi¥ the shipment of nursing mothers accompanied by their young. 
1, 

I :. :, 
36 If the regulation probibitfi the sbi

.
"pment of nursing mothers accompanied by their unweaned 

infants, as the Govemmen� contends, there would be no need for the regulation to list two 
Separate categories relevant

J'
to rti.anuhals: nursing mothers with young and unweaned mammals 

$accompanied by their m thers. Furthermore, if the regulation was intended to prohibit the 
shipment of unweaned 

�
als whether or not accompanied by their mother, the regulation 

c6uld have simply prohibi 4 t)ie shipment of unweaned mammals, just as it prohibited the 
srpment of"unweaned b" .'1 '

1i 

! I 
. , , 

I 
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However, LABS did not intend to violate any laws when it imported the Macaques and was open 

about its practice of shipping nursing mothers accompanied by their young. The documentation 

sent to USFWS and Customs before each shipment and the documentation accompanying each 

shipment clearly indicated that there were unweaned infants in the second, third, and fourth 

shipments. The documentation included lists that identified some of the Macaques in each 

shipment as being babies and noted each Macaque's date of birth, thereby indicating that 

unweaned infants were included in the shipments. Furthermore, both USFWS and Customs 

inspectors saw that there were unweaned infants in these three shipments,37 but allowed these 

shipment to enter the United States and did not advise LABS that the shipments violated any 

laws or regulations. 

II. The LABS and AJpha Genesis Ethics and Compliance Program. 

A. U. S. Government Regulatory Authority Over LABS and AJpha Genesis. 

LABS, now operating as Alpha Genesis, performs a significant amount of work for U.S. 

Government departments and agencies, in addition to working for private pharmaceutical companies and 

research institutes, including major universities. 38 As a "government contractor", the Company is 

subject to the compleic Federal Acquisition Regulation ("FAR"), including provisions requiring 

government contractors to be ''presently responsible" to perform government contracts, provisions 

governing the Government's decision to suspend or debar a government contractor receiving 

37 An unweaned infant is easy to identify because a nursing mother carries her infant on her 
shoulder. 
38 LABS, now doing business as Alpha Genesis, is a party to five government contracts, three of 
which were entered by LABS under former ownership. Regarding the three government 
contracts that were entered into by LABS prior to its sale, Dr. Westergaard, has advised the 
appropriate contracting officer of LABS' change in ownership. Under FAR Section 42.1204(b) 
(48 C.F.R. § 42.1204(b)), a novation agreement is not necessary when there is a change in the 
ownership of a government contractor as a result of a stock purchase. 
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government contracts, and provisions detailing mitigating factors that the Government should consider 

in deciding whether to suspend or debar a government contractor or take another action in lieu of 

suspension or debarment.39 Many federal departments and agencies have their own "Suspension and 

Debarment Official" who has authority to impose suspension or debarment on a government contractor. 

When a government contractor, such as the Company, performs work for multiple federal departments 

and agencies, there may be several suspension and debarment officials that share the responsibility of 

assessing whether a contractor should be suspended or debarred. The regulations and procedures 

governing suspension and debarment set forth in the FAR apply to all federal agencies and departments, 

although some federal agencies and departments have additional regulations that are only applicable to 

them. Typically, the agency that has the most current contracts measured in dollars or significance of 

the work is the ,"cognizant suspension and debarment authority", and the official who will coordinate 

with the suspension and debarment officials of the other agencies that may have an interest in the 

present responsibility of the contractor. Alpha Genesis performs work under contracts the Department 

of Health and Human Services' NIH at the National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism 

("NIAAA") and the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (''NIAID"), and for the Food 

and Drug Administration ("HHS/FDA"). Alpha Genesis has entered into two additional contracts with 

NIH/Office of Research Services ("ORS") and the Department of Defense's Department of the Army 

("DOD/DA"). 

39 See 48 C.F.R. §§ 9.406-l (a); 9.407-l(b)(2). If a government contractor is suspended or 
debarred from receiving government contractors, a government agency may continue any 
contracts in existence at the time of the suspension or debarment unless the agency head directs 
otherwise. 48 C.F.R. § 9.405-l(a). 
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The return of an Indictment and a plea and judgment of guilty are both separate grounds for suspension or debannent under the FAR and the corresponding ID-IS FAR regulations.40 In these circumstances, the Suspension and Debannent Official has discretion whether to suspend, debar, take some other action or defer any action. Any action must take into account the mitigating factors, must be based on whether the contractor is presently responsible, and may not be punishment for the underlying conduct.41 

Prior to the return of the Indictment in April, 2002, counsel for LABS informed the HHS Suspension and Debarment Official of the possibility of the return of an indictment. HHS assumed the role of the cognizant suspension and debarment authority, and subsequent to the issuance of the Indictment LABS submitted its ethics and compliance material to the ID-IS Suspension and Debarment Official. HHS is an especially appropriate agency to assume this role because, in addition to being responsible for the Company's compliance with the FAR, it is also responsible for the Company's compliance with regulations applicable to animal research, care, and use. HHS has continued to monitor the progress of the criminal case, and following the plea of guilty on August 18, 2004, advised counsel for the Company that it would continue to be the cognizant suspension and debannent authority to address Alpha Genesis' present responsibility to perform government contracts. The HHS Suspension and Debannent Official has stated that an administrative agreement with Alpha Genesis appears to be the best resolution of the Company's present responsibility. An administrative agreement, sometimes called a corporate integrity agreement, is a recognu.ed alternative to suspension or debarment. The agreement, between the agency with suspension and debarment authority and the contractor, requires the contractor to implement and maintain a complete ethics and 
40 See 48 C.F.R. §§ 9.406-2(a); 9.407-2(b). 
41 See 48 C.F.R. § 9.402(b). 
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compliance program that is, in part, tailored to the type of work the contractor does for the agency, in part on other provisions of the FAR or comparable agency regulations, and has a visible ethics component. In this case, HHS would review the Alpha Genesis Ethics and Compliance Program, may require changes or additions, and would require Alpha Genesis to maintain this Program for the period of the agreement, usually three years, as well as after the expiration of the agreement. Periodic audits are required, usually annually, and periodic reports are required regarding compliance with the agreement and summarizing other ethics and compliance developments, usually semiannually or in some cases quarterly. A failure to comply with the agreement allows the agency to reconsider its suspension or debarment decision based on the underlying conduct as well as the violation of the agreement. HHS's decision to enter such an agreement means that HHS will not issue a notice of proposed suspension or debarment to Alpha Genesis, as long as it is in full compliance with the agreement. Alpha Genesis and HHS are in the process of discussing the terms of such an agreement, and Alpha Genesis plans to provide HHS with a draft of the agreement within the next month. Alpha Genesis proposes that it submit all reports required under the administrative agreement to the Probation Office in accordance with the reporting schedule set by in the administrative agreement, and that no additional reports be required during its term of probation. In addition, Alpha Genesis suggests that HHS, the agency with special expertise in regulating companies in the animal <:are industry, notify the Probation Office if HHS determines that Alpha Genesis has breached the terms of the administrative agreement or engaged in conduct that HHS suspects to be unlawful. 
B. The LABS and Alpha Genesis Ethics and Compliance Programs Since its inception in April 1996, LABS has been committed to a strong ethics and compliance program. LABS' history demonstrates that, with the exception of the conduct 

:
: ' ' underlying the count to which LABS has pied guilty in this Litigation, LABS has had a history of 
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full compliance with all laws and regulations applicable to its unique business. While the 

regulations applicable to LABS, and now to Alpha Genesis, as a government contractor are 

extensive and complex, the laws and regulations applicable to the Company as an animal care 

and research business are equally extensive and complex. Since LABS began operations under 

these two sets of regulations, LABS has never been subject to any investigations, notices of 

violations, or enforcement actions concerning violations of any of the applicable laws or 

regulations. 42 

On May 23, 2002, following the return of the Indictment, LABS provided a written 

submission to the Assistant Secretary for Administration and Management at HHS, the HHS 

Suspension and Debarment OfficiaL This Submission detailed LABS' ethics and compliance 

program ("LABS' Program"), which was in place prior to the conduct that was the subject of the 

Indictment, and was in place at the time of the submission.43 

LABS' Program was made up of three primary components: (1) a Code of Ethics and 

Standards of Conduct (the "Code"); (2) the Institutional Animal Care and Use Program and the 

Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (the "IACUC"), which is an semi-autonomous 

body composed of five voting members;44 and (3) the Standard Operating Procedures (the 

"SOP' s"), which include an extensive training program for all employees. At the time of the 

42 In 1998, following a fire in one of the buildings, LABS voluntarily agreed to install an HV AC 
monitoring system. 
43 A copy of LABS' submission to HHS, without exhibits, is attached hereto as Exhibit 1 1. 
Current versions of some of the exhibits that were previously submitted to HHS are submitted as 
exhibits to this Memorandum as part of the Alpha Genesis Ethics and Compliance Program. 
Alpha Genesis' current Program and LABS' Program are substantially similar. The differences 
between these two programs are detailed below. 
44 The establishment of the IACUC is required by 9 C.F.R. § 2.31 .  
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conduct in the Indictment, there was no SOP that detailed the legal requirements for the importation of animals. However, Alpha Genesis, has established and implemented an SOP specifically addressing the laws and industry standards that govern the importation of animals. 
On December 31, 2003, Dr. Westergaard purchased all of the stock owned by the then Shareholders of LABS. 45 Dr. Westergaard is the sole owner of all of the stock of Alpha Genesis, and currently bolds the title of President and Chief Executive Officer. Dr. Westergaard and his family\ reside in Beaufort, South Carolina. Upon the purchase of LABS, Dr. Westergaard 

\ adopted and maintained the LABS' Program as it existed at the time of purchase. With this purchase, LABS was under a new management team whose members were full-time residents of 
! the Yemilssee area. Several key executive positions were filled with other veterinary scientists, \ who also'.are full-time residents in the Yemassee area. Susan Menkus Howell, Ph.D., is Alpha Genesis' birector of Research and Development. Dr. Howell holds Masters and Doctorate I degrees ¼ Anthropology from Arizona State University, has worked as a professor of Anthropoldgy at Arizona State University, and has published numerous articles and presentations 

·,. regarding the behavior ofNHPs.46 Dr. Jose Francisco Rodriguez is Alpha Genesis ' Director of 
I 

\ Veteri� ¥edicine. Dr. Rodriguez received bis degree in veterinary medicine from the University 1
\ o� Puerto Rico, served as the Chief Staff Veterinarian at the Caribbean Primate 

\ Research Ce�er of that university from 1989 through 2002, and has published numerous articles 
·
,

I 
\ regarding !llia��ues and rhesus monkeys.47 

1
1
, i, 

45 A copy of�. ·.·.
·. ;westergaard'� c� .. · cul�£\�itae is attached hereto � �xhibit 12. 

46 A copy ofDt\ �owell's cumcul'F" VItae attached hereto as Exhibit 13. 
41 A copy ofoi, Rbdriguez's curriculum vi is attached hereto as Exhibit 14. 

1 , 1 1 '
. 

I 
i.,-_ \. ' 

, 

I :, , I, ! 
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Under the leadership of Dr. Westergaard and his new team, Alpha Genesis thoroughly reviewed and strengthened the ethics and compliance program. The Alpha Genesis team started by giving the program a formal name: the Alpha Genesis Ethics and Compliance Program (hereinafter, the "Program"). Next, members of the team reviewed the Code, IACUC program, and each SOP. Some changes were made and all SOPs were reissued on September 14, 2004, under the name of Alpha Genesis. Alpha Genesis has not significantly altered the structure of the Program as it existed under former ownership. Alpha Genesis' revisions to the Program have resulted in the implementation of a strengthened and unified Program that specifically addresses the alleged conduct underlying the Indictment. The following important changes occwred under Alpha Genesis: 
I .  The Program was given a formal name and unified around the three foundation components (i.e., the Code, IACUC, and SOPs). These steps gave the Program a new image, associated it with new management, and made it user-friendly by explaining that the Program was not another complex set of requirements, but a unified structure built upon components with which each employee was familiar. 
2. Dr. Westergaard has issued a "Statement from the President" to all employees that explains the importance of the Program, describes how each of the parts work together, clearly identifies the Ethics Official, and encourages employees to report suspected violations and make suggestions on how to further strengthen the Program. Dr. Westergaard's message explains that senior management of Alpha Genesis is committed to the Program, and both requests and demands that all employees take personal ownership of the Program in order to maintain and further build an environment of trust among employees and with all customers. 
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This message is itself a fourth structural point to the Program, and was an 

important step in creating a culture of ethics and compliance among all 

employees, and informing employees that Alpha Genesis had undertaken a value

shift with the initiation of the Program. That shift was a rebirth of the Program as 

a company asset in which each employee had personal interest and stake. 

3. Alpha Genesis centralized responsibility for the Program in the IACUC, and 

appointed the Chairperson of the IACUC, Dr. Howell, as the Ethics Official. The 

IACUC was the natural place for the Program because the IACUC plays a central 

role in the everyday operations of Alpha Genesis. Also, Dr. Howell, as the Chair 

of the IACUC and the Ethics Official, is perfect choice for establishing and 

maintaining a visible and accessible Program. Dr. Howell's impeccable 

credentials and dynamic presence within the Alpha Genesis community will 

reinforce management's commitment to the Program and the Program's role in 

the daily operations of Alpha Genesis. 

4. The pew SOP detailing procedures for importing animals, whether or not Alpha 

Genesis imports in the future, communicates to employees that the Alpha Genesis 

co�unity must always be vigilant in looking for ways to improve the Program, 

and f�r gaps, as no ethics and compliance program is perfect. The SOP covers all 

laws and regulations governing the importation of animals and includes a 
'
! 

checklist of requirements to be followed by all employees involved in any aspect 
! 

of importing animals. 48 

48 The SOP governing the importing of animals is attached hereto as Exhibit 15. 
' '

, ·, \ i' ' ;, 
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C. Summary of the Ethics and Compliance Program 

1. The Code of Ethics and Standards of Conduct. 

Each Alpha Genesis is required to read the Code and attend annual training about the 

Code. At the conclusion of this training, each employee is required to execute a Code 

Certification that they have reviewed the Code, understand it, and will comply with it. 49 The 

Code consists of 15 Sections.50 The Sections are built upon the Code's foundation which is set 

forth in Section l .  Section l of the Code clearly states the overarching principle that guides 

Alpha Genesis' conduct: 1;he company mandates of full compliance with applicable laws, 

regulations, the highest industry standards for research animal care and use, the Institutional 

Animal Care and Use Program, and the SOPs. Section One unifies these government and 

industry regulations and standards and all components of the Program under management's 

guiding philosophy of "trust in the skill and personal integrity of its employees." Although the 

SOPs are comprehensible, full compliance with regulations and standards as detailed in the 

SOPs, and the extensive training requires substantial effort by employees. The Program assumes 

there will be occasions when applicable regulations and standards do not provide a clear answer 

to issues arising in daily operations. Ethics serves to guide employee conduct to do the "right 

thing" when gaps in regulations and standards are present. If the right course of action is not 

easily apparent, employees must ask for help from a supervisor, member of the IACUC, or the 

Ethics Official, or the company Hotline. Moreover, if an employee is directed to a course of 

action that does not seem right, or appears to contravene an SOP, the employee must report this 

direction to designated management. The Code prohibits threats of reprisal or actual reprisal. 

49 The Code Certification is attached hereto as Exhibit 1 6. 
50 The Code is attached hereto as Exhibit 1 7. 
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Such reprisals are themselves violations. In both situations, employees are directed to call or write to the Ethics Official (Dr. Howell) or the President (Dr. Westergaard). 
Section 3 of the Code is compliance and Discipline. Section 3 advises employees that 

. i failure to comply With the Code may be the basis for termination. Since the Code requires compliance and ', etlrical behavior by employees in conducting Alpha Genesis' business, an I ' 
·, ': employee is subj�ct to disciplinary action for violations of laws, regulations, industry standards, i : and contract terms, 1

)15 well as for violations of Program's ethics standards. Thus, no improper 
i
i 

!, conduct escapes the t,ossibility of disciplinary action. 
I, ! Section 4 co�ers Animal Care Guidelines. There are many guidelines and requirements 

! 
' that are detailed � �e I ACUC Program documentation, the SOPs, the training, and the several 
I I certifications and Jcc�tations maintained by the Company. Section 4 identifies the following: 
I I 
i i Importation of �rs, Quarantine of Animals, the Animal Welfare Act and Amendments, the 
' I American Associatlor! for Laboratory Animal Science ("AALAS") Certification process, and the 
] I 

. I Animal Welfare A�stmce Program which must be reviewed and approved by the Office of I , Laboratory Animal '
1
W�lfare ("OLA W") of the Public Health Service under the Animal Welfare 
'
1 !! Act51 The IACUC\ "'.hich is summarized below, is the "heart" of the Program because it must ', i comply with detailed rt:quirements set by law and because its members are highly credentialed 
I, i and experienced wit)! the care of animals. The remaining components of this Code Section on 
' I 

I ', Animal Care are �e American Association for Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care 
' 

\ 

' i ', (''AAALAC"), the $OPs, the Animal Health Program, and the Occupational Health Program 
. . 

' 
i : i which protects the he�th of employees and requires a safe working environment for employees. 
' 

I 
\ i i 

51 See rublic S�rvice�\ Health Service Policy on Humane Care and Use of Laboratory Animals, O(fice bf Laboratory , 'mal Welfare, National Institutes of Health, amended, August 2002. ; ! i I ' ' ·, ! 
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Sections 5 through 7 of the Code make Research Programs, Reporting of Animal Abuse or Research Misconduct, and Animal Care Recordkeeping part of the Code. Sections 8 through 15 incorporate into the Code certain sections of the FAR which employees commonly encounter when bidding, negotiating, and performing government contracts. Violation of the legal requirements in Sections 8 through 15 can create significant risk for Alpha Genesis. Thus, the Code gives added visibility to the requirements discussed in these sections, beyond the guidance contained in SOPs and training. 
2. The IACUC. 

The IACUC includes five members: Dr. Sue Howell, Ph.D. (the IACUC Chair and Director of Research and Development at Alpha Genesis); Dr. Jose Rodrigez, D.V.M. (Director of Veterinary Medicine at Alpha Genesis); Isabelle Lussier, B.S. (Project Manager for Alpha Genesis' Hampton colony); Mr. Theodore Evan, M.S. (Research Associate at Alpha Genesis); and Reverend Ronald Cellini (a Catholic priest and the public member of the IACUC). As explained in Alpha Genesis' Description of Institutional Animal Care and Use Program, the IACUC's responsibilitie� include: I) reviewing project protocols, including all protocols related 
! . to research projects, breeding projects, and all SOPs related to the care and use of animal", and . .  recommending modificati6ns to improve the welfare of the animals; 2) recommending changes 
'

, ', to institutional policies on animal welfare and animal husbandry; 3) reviewing and establishing training programs; and 4) repprting its recommendations and actions to the Institutional Official, 
h ", Dr. Westergaard, and Dr. Jlo�ell, the IACUC Chair and Ethics Official. The IACUC conducts 1111 audit of Alpha Genesis' facilities and SOP's at least twice each , : !  . ' year and responds to an/concerns about Alpha Genesis' care and use of the animals in its 
:,i:: ii :.: i, !,\ 
1, \1

. ,, !
·
' : [ ! i  facilities whenever such cop� are raised. 

: ::i:_·!
i', /'• ·.

·· . . 
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The IACUC Chair serves as the Ethics Official, and works in consultation with the IACUC and Institutional Official to implement, enforce, and update the Program. The responsibilities of the Ethics Official include: managing all aspects of the Program, responding to reports of possible violations of the Program, and responding to questions regarding the Program, monitoring and auditing the terms of the Administrative Agreement and probation. The Ethics Official reports directly to Dr. Westergaard. The Ethics Official maintains a file of the Certificates of Acceptance of the Code of Ethics and Standards of Conduct ("Code Certificates") which each employee signs during their annual training. Alpha Genesis employees also are required to review and sign a Notification of Animal Abuse and Neglect and Reporting Deficiencies in Animal Care and Treatment. Notifications are maintained by the IACUC Chair and passed on to the Institutional Official for action. The Institutional Official may request guidance from the IACUC in investigating and resolving any issues that arise with regard to any deficiencies. 
3. The SOPs and Training. Alpha Genesis requires all employees to adhere to the SOPs that are applicable to their work as a condition of employment. There are approximately 60 SOPs, which clearly define the way Alpha Genesis conducts its day-to-day business. The following are representative day-today operations covered in the SOPs: care and treatment of the animals, facility maintenance, research procedures, and quality assurance. All directors, managers, and supervisors maintain copies of SOPs. In addition, copies are available in each building. SOPs are reviewed by the IACUC and signed off by the IACUC Institutional Official, Dr. Westergaard, following IACUC review and approval. The IACUC has oversight of all SOPs in use at Alpha Genesis. 
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· Employees receive training in all SOPs relevant to their job responsibilities. Alpha Genesis' extensive training program ensures that Alpha Genesis will be able to provide a safe, healthy environment for both employees and animals. Alpha Genesis also documents training to provide management with a tool to follow employee development, to ensure that employees have received the necessary training, and to demonstrate to outside agencies that employees are trained. All employees receive mandatory orientation and safety training during their first week of employment. Employees receive job specific training during their 90 day probationary period and at periodic intervals appropriate to the topic, but no less than annually. In addition, quarantine training is mandatory for all animal care and veterinary technicians. Alpha Genesis complies with all training required by the Animal Welfare Act. This training ensures that scientists, investigators, and research technicians utilize humane methods of animal lllllintenance and experimentation. Each employee receives annual training in the Code during the employee's Job Specific Training, and signs the Code Certificate. Each new hire must meet with the Head of Human Resources for orientation, during which the Code will be reviewed and the new hire will execute the Code Certificate. Thereafter, each employee is trained in the Code as part of the employee's annual Job Specific Training. The Code Certificate contains a representation the employee has read, understood and agrees to comply with the Code. 
4. Accreditations and Audits. During the time period of the conduct underlying this litigation, LABS was fully accredited by the Association for Assessment and Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care International ("AAALAC International"), which is considered the highest industry standard achievable with regards to laboratory animal practices. AAALAC accreditation is valid for three years. LABS was initially accredited by AAALAC International on March I ,  1993, and has been 
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re-accredited every three years thereafter. LABS also maintained the Assurance of Compliance 

with Public Health Service Policy on Humane Care and Use of Laboratory Animals with the 

OLAW, NIH. On January 16, 2002, LABS received approval from the OLAW of LABS' 

Assurance of Compliance that expires on December 31 ,  2006. Therefore, the Assurance of 

Compliance, as applied to Alpha Genesis, is valid until December 31 ,  2006. OLA W's approval 

was based upon a review by OLA W of the following components of LABS' Program: LABS' 

organization structure; the membership, procedures, and policies of the IACUC; LABS' Health 

and Safety Orientation Manual; a description of LABS' facilities and the species located within 

LABS' facilities; and LABS' training programs. Toe AAALAC International accreditation and 

Assurance of Compliance issued by NIH continue to apply to Alpha Genesis . 

LABS was routinely and regularly audited and inspected by the United States Department 

of Agriculture ("USDA"). LABS was also subject to audits and inspections by CDC for 

purposes of ensuring that LABS complies with applicable law and standards governing the 

quarantine of imported animals. Subsequent to the importation that is the subject of this 

litigation, LABS has not imported any animals. Throughout LABS' history, it passed all such 

audits and inspections. LABS submitted quarterly reports to the FDA, one of the government 

agencies with which LABS contracted and the FDA visited LABS' facilities on a annual basis. 

Alpha Genesis is now subject to audits and inspections of government agencies and is required to 

submit quarterly reports to the FDA. 

There is little risk that any of the conduct alleged in the Indictment will occur in the 

future because Alpha Genesis has a comprehensive and detailed Program, established and 

operational since, at least 1996, and recently upgraded, which is designed to ensure that all 

employees are aware of and comply with legal and ethical requirements applicable to Alpha 
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Genesis. Alpha Genesis has invested substantial resources to ensure that Alpha Genesis employees are trained and that they comply with all legal, regulatory, contractual, and ethical obligations applicable to Alpha Genesis' business. Alpha Genesis, and LABS before it, has been committed to operating in a legal and ethical manner as an integral part of its business, and Alpha Genesis will continue this commitment in the future. 
CONCLUSION LABS and Alpha Genesis respectfully request the Court to consider the foregoing when determining the appropriate sentence to be imposed. 

Date: December 10, 2004 

Michael L. Fayad Debra McGuire Mercer GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 800 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. Suite 500 Washington, D.C. 20006 (202) 331-3100 James G. Richmond GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 77 West Wacker Drive Suite 2500 Chicago, Illinois 60601 Tel. (312) 456-8400 Fax (312) 456-8435 

By: 

Respectfully submitted, Defendant LABS of Virginia, Inc. and LABS of Virginia, Inc., d/b/a Alpha Genesis, Inc. 
• 
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Stock Sale Agreement, 11 7  . 1  and 7 .2 

Stock Sale Agreement, Exhibit I 

Declaration of C. Stern, dated August 1 8, 2004 

Letter from C. Stem to M. Fayad and J. Richmond, dated August 18, 2004 

Memorandum from C. Stem to C. Stem, dated August 1 8, 2004; Memorandum 
from W. Henley to C. Stem, dated August 18, 2004; Letter from D. Taub to C. 
Stem, dated August 1 7, 2004 

Captive Breeding of Long-Tailed Macaques (Macaca fascicularis) in C.V. 
Inquatex - Primates Division, Research and Development Centre for Biology, 
The Indonesian Institute of Sciences (1993) 

Indonesian correspondence re CITES permits 

Letter from D. Taub to T. DeMarcus, dated February 18, 1997 

Declaration of Adi Susmianto, MSc, dated September 17, 2002 

Confirmation of Widodo S. Ramone, dated June 18, 2004 

Letter from M. Fayad and D. Mercer to A. Schoenberg, dated July 25, 2002 

Dr. Westergaard's curriculum vitae 

Dr. Howell's curriculum vitae 

Dr. Rodriguez's curriculum vitae 

Import Nonhuman Primate Quarantine Policy and Procedures 

Cod.e Certificate 

Code ofEthics and Standards of Conduct 
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.,-'�AO 245B (Rev. 12103) Judgment in a Criminal Case 
Sheet l 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTIIERN District of ILLINOIS 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 

Labs of Virginia, Inc. 

: 

THE DEFENDANT: 

DOCKETED 
Dfc 

I 7 2004 

JUDGMENT IN A CRIMINAL CASE 

Case Number: 02CR312-l 

USM Number: 

Michael L. Fayad 
Defendant's Attorney 

■ pleaded guilty to count(s) ..;C;;..;o"-un-"'
t
'-On

==-----------------------------

0 pleaded nolo contendere to count(s) 
which was accepted by the court. 

0 was found guilty on count(s) 
after a plea of not guilty. 

The defendant is adjudicated guilty of these offenses: 

Title & Section Nature of Offense 
16 use §§3372(d) and 
3373(d)(3)(A)(i) 

Submitted False Records and False Identification of Wildlife 
that bad been Imported from a Foreign Country and Transported 
in Foreign Commerce. 

C 
Offense Ended 

V20/970 

--J 

Toe defendant is sentenced as provided in pages 2 through 
the Sentencing Reform Act of 1984. 

0 The defendant has been foun d not guilty on count(s) 

r 

c. r.J 

4 ofthis judgmenl The sentencfis �pursuant to 
-�--

- � 

■ Count(s) Two(2) - Four(4) □ is ■ are dismissed on the motion of the United States. 

It is ordered that the defendant must notify the United States attorney for this district within 30 days of any change of name, residence, 
or mailing address un til all fmes, restitution, costs, and special assessments imposed by this judgment are fully paid. If ordered to pay restitution. 
the defendant must notify the court and United States attorney of material changes m economic circumstances. 

December 15 2004 

'Signature of Judge 

Honorable Ruben Castillo. U.S. District Court Judge 
Name and Title of Judge 

Date 
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t,O 245B (Rev. 12/03) Judgment in a Criminal Case 
, Sheet 4---Probation 

DEFENDANT: 
CASE NUMBER: 

Labs of Virginia, Inc. 
02 CR 312-1 

PROBATION 

The defendant is hereby sentenced to probation for a term of: 
Two(2) year Probationary period for the Company. 

The defendant shall not commit another federal, state or local crime. 

Judgment-Page _...__ or 

C: 

(fl 

c::: 

,-., 
.� 

<cc> .,_-

�� 
-..I 

--:J 

4 

r 
0 

The defendant shall not unlawfully possess a controlled substance. The defendant shall refrain from any unlawful use of a controlled 
substance. The defendant shall submit to one drug test within 15 days of placement on probation and at least two periodic drug tests 
thereafter, as determined by the court. 

■ The above drug testing condition is suspended, based on the court's determination that the defendant poses a low risk of 
future substance abuse. (Check, if applicable.) 

■ The defendant shall not possess a firearm, destructive device, or any other dangerous weapon. (Check, if applicable.) 

D The defendant shall cooperate in the collection of DNA as directed by the probation officer. (Check, if applicable.) 

D The defendant shall register with the state sex offender registration agency in the state where the defendant resides, woiks, or is a 
studen� as directed by the probation officer. (Check, if applicable.) 

D The defendant shall participate in an approved program for domestic violence. (Check, if applicable.) 

If this judgment imposes a fine or restitution, it is a condition of probation that the defendant pay in accordance with the Schedule of 
Payments sheet of this judgment. 

The defendant must comply with the standard conditions that have been adopted by this court as well as with anyadditional conditions 
on the attached page. 

I) 

2) 

3) 

4) 

5) 

6) 
7) 

8) 

9) 

11) 
12) 

13) 

STANDARD CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISION 

the defendant shall not leave the judicial district without the permission of the court or probation officer; 

the defendant shall report to the probation officer and shall submit a truthful and complete writtenreport within the first five days of 
each month; 

the defendant shall answer truthfully all inquiries by the probation officer and follow the instructions of the probation officer; 

the defendant shall support his or her dependents and meet other family responsibilities; 
the defendant shall work regularly at a lawful occupation, unless excused by the probation officer for schooling, training, or other 
acceptable reasons; 
the defendant shall notify the probation officer at least ten days prior to any change in residence or employment; 
the defendant shall refrain from excessive use of alcohol and shall not purchase, possess, use, distribnte, or adminisi:er any controlled 
substance or any paraphernalia related to any controlled substances, except as prescribed by a physician; 
the defendant shall not frequent places where controlled substances are illegally sold, used, distnlmted, or administered; 
the defendant shall not associate with any 1>ersons engaged in criminal activity and shall not associate with any person convicted of a 
felony, unless granted permission to do so by the probation officer; 

the defendant shall permit a probation officer to visit him or her at any time at home or elsewhere and shall permit confiscation of any 
contraband observed in plain view of the probation officer; 

the defendant shall notify the probation officer within seventy-two hours of being arrested or questioned by a law enforcement officer; 

the defendant shall not enter into any agreement to act as an informer or a special agent of a law enforcement agency without the 
permission of the court; and 
as directed by the probation officer, the defendant shall notify third parties of risks that may be occasioned by the defendant's criminal 
record or l'ersonal history or characteristics and shall permit the probation officer to make such notifications and to confirm the 
defendant s compliance with such notification requirement 
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Sheet 5 - Criminal Monetary Penalties 

DEFENDANT: 
CASE NUMBER: 

Labs of Virginia, me. 

02 CR 312-1 

Judgment-Pago _...__ 

CRIMINAL MONETARY PENALTIES 

The defendant must pay the total criminal monetary penalties under the schedule of payments on Sheet 6. 

TOTALS 
Assessment 

$ 400.00 
Fine 

$ 500,000.00 
Restitution 

SN/A 

of __ .,,__ __ 

D The determinationofrestitution is deferred until . An Amended Judgment in a Criminal Case(A0245C) will be entered 
---

after such determination. 

D The defendant must make restitution (including community restitution) to the following payees in the amount listed below. 

If the defendant makes a partial payment, each payee shall receive an approximately _proportioned ,P.ayrnent, unless specified otherwise in 
the priority order or percentage payment column below. However, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3664l1), all nonfederal victims must be paid 
before the United States is patd. 

N arne of Payee Total Loss• Restitution Ordered 

TOTALS $ _______ _ $ ________ _ 

D Restitution amount ordered pursuant to plea agreement $ _________ _ 

Priority or Percentage 

C 

(fl 

D The defendant must pay interest on restitution and a fme of more than $2,500, unless the restitution or fine is paid in full before the 
fifteenth day after the date of the judgment, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(1). All of the payment options on Sheet 6 may be subject 
to penalties for delinquency and default, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(g). 

■ The court determined that the defendant does not have the ability to pay interest and it is ordered that: 

■ the interest requirement is waived for the ■ fine D restitution. 

D the interest requirement for the D fine D restitution is modified as follows: 

• Findings for the total amount oflosses are reguired under Chapters I 09A, 110, I I 0A, and I 13A ofTitle 18 foroffenses committed on or after 
September 13, 1994, but before April 23, 1996. 
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t Sheet 6 - Schedule of Payments 

DEFENDANT: 
CASE NUMBER: 

Labs of Virginia, Inc. 
02 CR 312-1 

SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS 

Judgment-Page _.:,4_ of __ 4 __ 

Having assessed the defendant's ability to pay, payment of the total criminal monetary penalties are due as foll�s: 

A ■ Lump sum payment of$ 500,000.00 due immediately, balance due 

D not later than __________ , or 
D in accordance D C, D D, D E, or D F below; or 

B D Payment to begin immediately {may be combined with DC, DD, or D F below); or 
' . 
C 
C: 

C D Payment in equal _____ {e.g., weekly, monthly, quarterly) installments of $ _____ ove(; period of 
_____ { e.g., months or years), to commence ____ (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after the date of this judgment; or 

D D Payment in equal _____ {e.g., weekly, monthly, quarterly) installments of $ _____ over a period of 
_____ {e.g., months or years), to commence ____ (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after release from imprisonment to a 

term of supervision; or 

E D Payment during the term of supervised release will commence within _ _ _ _  (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after release from 
imprisonment. The court will set the payment plan based on an assessment of the defendant's ability to pay at that time; or 

F ■ Special instructions regarding the payment of criminal monetary penalties: 

Fine of $500,000.00 payable immediately as well as the forfeiture agreement by the parties in the amount of 
$64,675.00 to be designated for deposit mto the "Lacey Act Reward Account." 

Unless the court has e'::f ����r ordered otherwise, if this judgment imposes imprisonment, payment of criminal mone�pena!ties is due duriml 
imprisonment. All c · monetary penalties, except those payments made througn lhe Federal Bureau of Prisons' Inmate Financial 
Responsibility Program, are made to the clerk of the court. 

The defendant shall receive credit for all payments previously made toward any criminal monetary penalties imposed. 

D Joint and Several 

Defendant and Co-Defendant Names and Case Numbers {including defendant number), Total Amount, Joint and Several Amount, 
and corresponding payee, if appropriate. 

D The defendant shall pay the cost of prosecution. 

D The defendant shall pay the following court cost(s): 

D The defendant shall forfeit the defendant's interest in the following property to the United States: 

Payments shall be applied in the following order: (I) assessment, {2) restitution principal, {3) restitution interest, {4) fine principal, 
(5) fine interest, (6) community restitution, (7) penalties, and (8) costs, including cost of prosecution and court costs. 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

vs. 

LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. 

No. 02 CR 312 
Judge Ruben Castillo 

FILED 

JAN 2 8 200§ 

MICHAEL W. DOBBINS 
GOVERNMENT'S AGREED MOTION TO CORRECT CLERICAHi.�tlllf!i41§t tiUUNf 

IN JUDGMENT IN A CRIMINAL CASE 

The United States of America, by its attorney, Patrick J. Fitzgerald, respectfully requests that 

this Court correct a clerical error pursuant to Federal Rule Criminal Procedure 36 in the Judgment 

in a Criminal Case as to defendant Labs of Virginia, Inc. In support of this motion. the government 

states as follows: 

I .  On December 15, 2004, this Court imposed sentence as to defendant Labs ofVirginia, Inc. 

pursuant to the written Plea Agreement in the case. The Court ordered, as a part of defendant Labs· s 

sentence, that Labs pay a fine of $500,000 and that the fine would be designated to the "Lacey Act 

Reward Account." The Court also ordered defendant Labs to pay to the United States of America 

the sum of$64,675.00 as full satisfaction of the allegations in a previously instituted a civil forfeiture 

proceeding captioned United States v. Monkey Money. The Value of Monkeys lllegally Imported hy 

Lahs of Virginia, Inc., and Its Officers as Alleged in United States v. Lahs of Virginia, Inc .. et al.. 

No. 02 CR 312 (ND. 1/l), No. 02 C 3833. 

2. The Judgment in a Criminal Case as to defendant Labs, issued on December 15, 2004, 

provides as a part of the "Special instructions regarding the payment of criminal monetary penalties" 

section as follows: 

·• 
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Fine of $500,000 payable immediately as well as the forfeiture agreement by the parties in 
the amount of$64,675.00 to be designated for deposit into the "Lacey Act Reward Account." 

Judgment at 4 ("Schedule of Payments"). A copy of the Judgment is attached to this motion. 

3. The current Judgment does not reflect that the forfeiture sum should be deposited into a 

separate account from the Lacey Act Reward Account. Defendant Labs, at the government's request. 

prepared a check in the amount of $64,675.00 payable to the USMS [United States Marshal's 

Servicel Seized Asset Management Account in full satisfaction of the forfeiture obligation. The 

government therefore requests that the Judgment be corrected so as to reflect that the $64,675.00 be 

deposited into the Seized Management Account. The government proposes the following modified 

language for the Judgment: 

Fine of $500,000 payable immediately to be designated for deposit into the "Lacey Act 
Reward Account,"and $64,675.00 payable immediately to be designated for deposit into the 
"USMS Seized Asset Management Account" in full satisfaction of the civil forfeiture 
proceeding. 

4. Counsel for defendant Labs does not object to this request. 

By: 

2 

Respectfully submitted, 

PATRICK J. FITZGERALD 
United States Attorney 

DIANE MacARTHUR 
Assistant U.S. Attorney 
2 I 9 South Dearborn Street 
Chicago, Illinois 60604 
(312) 353-5352 
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�AO 2458 (Rev. 12r'03) Judgment in a Criminal Case 

Sheet l 

'( --1 �;-o '-l 

Pl2-t,i UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

V. 

Labs of Virginia, Inc. 

THE DEFENDANT: 

■ pleaded guilty to count(s) Count One(]) 

□pleaded nolo contendere to count(s) 
which was accepted by the court. 

0 was found guilty on count( s) 
after a plea of not guilty. 

The defendant is adjudicated guilty of these offenses: 

Title & Section Nature of Offense 

District of ILLINOIS 

JUDGMENT IN A CRIMINAL CASE 

Case Number: 

USM Number: 

Michael L. Fayad 
Defendal)-t�¥ --

' 
/ 

02CR312-l 

DEC 202004 

16 USC §§3372(d) and 
3373( d)(3 )(A)(i) 

Submitted False Records and False Identification of Wildlife 
that had been Imported from a Foreign Country and Transported 
in Foreign Commerce. 

Offense Ended 
2/20/97 

Count 
One( I) 

The defendant is sentenced as provided in pages 2 through 
the Sentencing Reform Act of I 984. 

__ 4 __ of this judgment. The sentence is imposed pursuant to 

0 The defendant has been found not guilty on count(s) 

■ Count(s) Two(2) - Four(4) 0 is ■ are dismissed on the motion of the United States. 

It is ordered that the defendant must notify the United States attorney for this district within 30 days of any change of name, residence, 
or mailing address until all fines, restitution, costs, and special assessments imposed by this judgment are fully paid. If ordered to pay restitution, 
the defendant must notify the court and United States attorney of material cfianges in economic circumstances. 

Honorable Ruben Castillo, U.S. District Court Judge 
Name and Title of Judge 

Date 
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Sheet 4-Probation 

4 

DEFENDANT: Labs of Virginia, Inc. 

02 CR 312-1 

Judgment-Page __ 2_ oi 

CASE NUMBER: 

PROBATION 

The defendant is hereby sentenced to probation for a term of: 
Two(2) year Probationary period for the Company. 

The defendant shall not commit another federal, state or local crime. 

The defendant shall not unlawfully possess a controlled substance. The defendant shall refrain from any unlawful use of a controlled 
substance. The defendant shall subrrut to one drug test withm 15 days of placement on probation and at least two periodic drug tests 
thereafter, as detennined by the court. 

■ The above drug testing condition is suspended, based on the court's determination that the defendant poses a low risk of 

future substance abuse. (Check, if applicable.) 

■ The defendant shall not possess a firearm, destructive device, or any other dangerous weapon. (Check, if applicable.) 

D The defendant shall cooperate in the collection of DNA as directed by the probation officer. (Check, if applicable.) 

0 The defendant shall register with the state sex offender registration agency in the state where the defendant resides, works, or is a 

student, as directed by the probation officer. (Check, if applicable.) 

D The defendant shall participate in an approved program for dcmestic violence. (Check, if applicable.) 

If this judgment imposes a fine or restitution, it is a condition of probation that the defendant pay in accordance with the Schedule of 
Payments sheet of this judgment. 

The defendant must comply with the standard conditions that have been adopted by this court as well as with anyadditional conditions 
on the attached page. 

1) 

2) 

3) 

4) 

5) 

6) 

7) 

8) 

9) 

l l) 

12) 

13) 

STANDARD CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISION 

the defendant shall not leave the judicial district without the permission of the court or probation officer; 

the defendant shall report to the probation officer and shall submit a truthful and complete writtenreport within the first five days of 
each month; 

the defendant shall answer truthfully all inquiries by the probation officer and follow the instructions of the probation officer; 

the defendant shall support his or her dependents and meet other family responsibilities; 

the defendant shall work regularly at a lawful occupation, unless excused by the probat10n officer for schooling, o·aining, or other 
acceptable reasons; 

the defendant shall notify the probation officer at least ten days prior to any change in residence or employment; 

the defendant shall refrain from excessive use of alcohol and shall not purchase, possess, use, distribute, or administer any controlled 
substance or any paraphernalia related to any controlled substances, except as prescribed by a physician; 

the defendant shall not frequent places where controlled substances are illegally sold, used, distributed, or administered; 

the defendant shall not associate with any persons engaged in criminal activity and shall not associate with any person convicted of a 
felony, unless granted permission to do so by the probation officer; 

the defendant shall permit a probation officer to visit him or her at any time at home or elsewhere and shall permit confiscation of any 
contraband observed in plain view of the probation officer; 

the defendant shall notify the probation officer within seventy�two hours of being an-ested or questioned by a law enforcement officer; 

the defendant shall not enter into any agreement to act as an informer or a special agent of a law enforcement agency without the 
permission of the court; and 

as directed by the probation officer, the defendant shall notify thlfd parties of risks that may be occas10ned by the defendant's criminal 
record or personal history or charactenstics and shall permit the probation officer to make such notifications and to confirm the 
defendant s compliance w1th such notification requirement. 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 134 Filed: 01/28/05 Page 5 of 7 PageID #:691AO 2458 {Rev. 12/0]) Judgment ma Crt111inal Case 

Sheet 5 - Cnrn1nal Monetary Penalties 

DEFENDANT: 

CASE NUMBER: 

Labs of Virginia, Inc. 
02 CR 312-1 

Judgment - Page 

CRIMINAL MONETARY PENAL TIES 

The defendant must pay the total criminal monetary penalties under the schedule of payments on Sheet 6. 

TOTALS 
Assessment 

$ 400.00 

Fine 
$ 500,000.00 

Restitution 
$ NIA 

of 4 

D The detennination of restitution is deferred until ___ . An Amended Judgment in a Criminal Case (AO 245C) will be entered 
after such determination. 

D The defendant must make restitution (including community restitution) to the following payees in the amount listed below. 

If the defendant makes a partial payment, each payee shall receive an approximately proportioned payment, unless specified otherwise in 
the prioritx order or percentage payment column below. However, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3664(1), all nonfederal victims must be paid 
before the United States is paid. 

Name of Payee Total Loss* Restitution Ordered 

TOTALS $ $ ________ _ 

0 Restitution amount ordered pursuant to plea agreement $ __________ _ 

Priority or Percentage 

0 The defendant must pay interest on restitution and a fine of more than $2,500, unless the restitution or fine is paid in full before the 
fifteenth day after the date of the judgment, pursuant to I 8 U.S.C. § 3612(1). All of the payment options on Sheet 6 may be subject 
to penalties for delinquency and default, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 36 l 2(g). 

■ The court detennined that the defendant does not have the ability to pay interest and 1t is ordered that: 

■ the interest requirement is waived for the ■ fine O restitution. 

D the interest requirement for the D fine D restitution is modified as follows: 

• Findings for the total amount of losses are required under Chapters 109A, 110, 11 0A, and 113A of Title 18 for offenses committed on or after 
September 13, 1994, but before April 23, 1996. 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 134 Filed: 01/28/05 Page 6 of 7 PageID #:692AO 2458 (Rev. 1 2/03) Judgment 1n  a Cnminal Case 

Sheet 6 - Schedule of Payments 

DEFENDANT: 
CASE NUMBER: 

Labs of Virginia, Inc. 
02 CR 3 1 2-1  

SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS 

Judgment - Page 

Having assessed the defendant's ability to pay, payment of the total criminal monetary penalties are due as follows: 

A ■ Lump sum payment of$ 500 000.00 due immediately, balance due 

, or D not later than 
D in accordance □ C, □ D, D E, or D F below: or 

B D Payment to begin immediately (may be combined with D C, D D. or D F below); or 

4 of 4 

C D Payment in equal ______ (e.g., weekly, monthly, quarterly) mstallments of $ ______ over a period of 
(e.g., months or years), to commence _____ (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after the date of this judgment; or 

D D Payment in equal ______ (e.g., weekly, monthly, quarterly) installments of $ ______ over a period of 
(e.g., months or years), to commence _____ (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after release from imprisonment to a 

term of supervision; or 

E D Payment during the term of supervised release will commence within _____ (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after release from 
imprisonment. The court will set the payment plan based on an assessment of the defendant's ability to pay at that time; or 

F ■ Special instructions regarding the payment of criminal monetary penalties: 

Fine of $500,000.00 payable immediately as well as the forfeiture agreement by the parties in the amount of 
$64,675.00 to be designated for deposit into the "Lacey Act Reward Account." 

Unless the court has expressly ordered otherwise, if this judgment imposes imprisonment, payment of criminal monetary penalties is due during 
imprisonment. All cnminal monetary penalties, except those payments made through the Federal Bureau of Prisons' Inmate Financial 
Responsibility Program, are made to the clerk of the court. 

111e defendant shall receive credit for all payments previously made toward any criminal monetary penalties imposed. 

D Joint and Several 

Defendant and Co-Defendant Names and Case Numbers (including defendant number), Total Amount, Joint and Several Amount, 
and corresponding payee, if appropriate. 

D The defendant shall pay the cost of prosecution. 

D The defendant shall pay the following court cost(s): 

D The defendant shall forfeit the defendant's interest in the following property to the United States: 

Payments shall be applied in the following order: (I / assessment, (2) restitution principal, (3) restitution interest, (4) fine principal, 
(5) fine interest, (6) community restitution, (7) pena ties, and (8) costs, including cost of prosecution and court costs. 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 134 Filed: 01/28/05 Page 7 of 7 PageID #:693

AFFIDAVIT BY FACSIMILE AND MAIL 

STATE OF ILLINOIS  

COUNTY OF  COOK 
ss 

Carol Bitho s ,  being first duly sworn on oath deposes and says 
that she i s  employed in the Office of the Uni ted States Attorney 
for the Northern District o f  I l l ino i s ; that on the 2 8

th 
day of 

January , 2 0 0 5  she faxed and depos ited in the mai l  a copy of 

GOVERNMENT ' S  AGREED MOTION TO CORRECT CLERICAL ERROR 

IN JUDGMENT IN A CRIMINAL CASE 

to the following named individual ( s )  on said date . 

TO : Michael L .  Fayed, Esq . 
8 0 0  Connecticut Ave . , N . W .  
Suite 5 0 0  
Washington , D . C .  2 0 0 0 6  
FAX : ( 2 0 2 )  3 3 1 - 3 1 0 1  

SUBSCRIBED and SWORN TO BEFORE 
me this 28th day o f  January , 2 0 0 5  

"OFFICIAL SEAL" 
Barbara J. Sims 

Notary Public. State of fllinois My Commission Exp. 05/2!/2005 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 135 Filed: 01/28/05 Page 1 of 1 PageID #:694

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

V. 

LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. 

No. 02 CR 312 
Hon. Ruben Castillo 

NOTICE OF MOTION 
FILED 

TO: Michael L. Fayed, Esq. 
800 Connecticut Ave., N.W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, D.C. 20006 
FAX: (202) 331-3101 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on Wednesday, February 2, 2005, at 

9:45 a.m. or as soon thereafter as counsel may be heard, I will 

appear before Judge Castillo in the courtroom usually occupied by 

him in the Everett McKinley Dirksen Building, 219 S. Dearborn 

Street, Chicago, Illinois, or before such other who may be sitting 

in his place and stead, and then and there present: 

GOVERNMENT'S AGREED MOTION TO CORRECT CLERICAL ERROR 

IN JUDGMENT IN A CRIMINAL CASE 

in the above-captioned case, at which time and place you may appear 

if you see fit. 

By: 

Respectfully submitted, 

PATRICK J. FITZGERALD 
United States Attorney 

DIANE MacArthur 
Assistant U.S. Attorney 
219 S. Dearborn St., 3rd Floor 
Chicago, Illinois 60604 
(312) 353-5352 
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02CR312 - 1 U.S.A. vs. Labs of Virginia Page 1 of  1

Order Form (01/2005)

United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois

Name of Assigned Judge
or Magistrate Judge

Ruben Castillo Sitting Judge if Other
than Assigned Judge

CASE NUMBER 02 CR 312 - 1 DATE 2/17/2005

CASE
TITLE

U.S.A. vs. Labs of Virginia

DOCKET ENTRY TEXT:

(Defendant Labs of Virginia only).  The Government’s Agreed Motion to correct clerical error in judgment in
a criminal case [134] is granted.

Docketing to mail notices.

 Courtroom Deputy
Initials:

SB

Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 136 Filed: 02/17/05 Page 1 of 1 PageID #:695
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 137 Filed: 03/02/05 Page 1 of 7 PageID #:703- (Rev. 12/0J) Amended Judgment in a Criminal Case 
1%eet l 

(NOTE, Identify Chang� with Asterisks(*)) 
J7'1( 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
Northern District of Illinois 

l!NlTED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 

AMF,NDED JUDGMENT IN A CRIMINAL CASE 

Labs of Virginia, Inc. 

Date of Original .Judgment: December 151 2004 
(Or Date uf Last Amenc.led Judgment) 
Reason for Amendment: 

Case Number: 02 ClU12.1 
USM Number: 
Michael L. Fayad 
Def'em.lanl's Attorney 

D Cum�ction or Sentence on Remand (18 U,S.C. 3742(t)(l) and (2)) 
D Reduction of Sentence tor CJ1;mgcd Circumstance� (Fed. I{_ Crim. 

P. 35(h)) 

D Moctification of Supervision Conditions ( 18 U.S,C. �§ 3563(c) or 35l:l3(c)) 
D Modificalion of Imposed Term of lmprirnnm�t for Exlnmrdinary and 

Compelling Reasons (18 U.S.C. § J582(c)(l)) 
0 Corrci::tion of Si::ntcncc hy Sentencing { '.nurt (fod. K. Crim. P. J5(a)) 

■ (.'nrrc(:!1011 i)f Sl:1111'.,!n(:i,:- l"nr ( '.krical Mistake (Fed. R. Crim. P. )(J) 
D Mmlificalion of Imposed Term ol' Imprisonment for Kt:trnadive Amen�lmenl(s) 

tn tile s,�nic11cing Oui<1cli11cs (ll:l 1 J.S.C. § J5!:l'.2(c)Ci!)) 
D J)i1·cct Motion to District Court Pursu:int D 28 U.S.C. § 2255 or 

0 Ii'\ ll.S.('. § .155()(-:.:)(7) 

D \.1odific11tion nf l�cst1111ti0n (lrdt:r ( I i'-l l 1.0.('. � 3(1Mtt• ,..,, 

THE DEFENDANT: 

■ pleaded guilty to count(s) _(_)_nc�l�-------------------------------- -----
D pleaded nulo contcndere to count(s) 

which was accepted by the cou1i. 
D was found guilty on count(s) 

atkr a plci:1. of not guilty. 
The del�mlant is aJjuJic,atc::J guilty of these offenses: 
Title & Section Nature of Offense 
16 USC �*3372(d) and Submitted False Records and False Identification nfWilcllifo 

337J(d)(J )(A)(i) Lhat had been Imported from a Foreign Country and Trnnsported 
in Foreign Commei-ce. 

Offense Ended 
2/20/97 

Count 
One( 1) 

Tht: Jefendant is sentenced as provided ln pages 2 of 3 of this judgment. The sentence is imposed pursuant to 
the Sentencing Refonn Act of 1984. Olhcr than the amendrnents or modifications stated in this judgment, the judgment entered 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ ___ is to stand (see attachment). 
D The dcfondant has been foLtnd not guilty on count(s) 
■ Cmml(s) remaining Dis ■ are dismissed on the motion of the United States. 

It is ordered that the defendant must notify the United States Attorney f(lr this district within 30 days of any change of namei residence, 
or mailing address until all fines, restitution, costs1 and special assessments imposed by this ,iuctgn1c_nt an: fully p�tid, Ir ordered to pay restitution, 
tl1e defendant nrnst notify the court and l Jnitcd Stat(..'::-, atlorncy of mall'nal changL·s in econonuc c H'Cllmstanc<:.�S. 

December l 5. :2004 

,,,,. Signature of Judge 
llonomble Ruben Castillo, U.S. DISTRICT JUDGE 

Date 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 137 Filed: 03/02/05 Page 2 of 7 PageID #:704A() 245( (Rev. 12/03) Amended J11l1gmcnt in <l Crimi1wl C:ise 
Sl.1cct ;i - Crimina..l Monetary Pcn�ltics (NOTE: lde11tify Changt:s with Asterisks(*)) 

DEFENDANT: 
CASE NUMBER: 

J uJg:men l - Page 
Labs of Virginia, Inc. 
02 CR 312-1 

CRIMINAL MONETARY PENALTIES 

-�2 __ of 

The defendant must pay the following total criminal monetary penalties under the schedule of payments on Sheet 6. 

TOTALS 
Asses� 

$ 400.00 
Fine 
*$500,000.00 and $64,675.00 

Restitution 
$ NIA 

0 The determination ofrcstitutiun is deferred until An Amended Judgment in a Criminal Case (AO 245C) will be 
---

entered after such determination. 

D The defendant shall make restitution (including community restitution) to the following payees in the amoum listed he low. 

If the defondant makes a pattial payment, each payee shall receive an approximatelv proportioned_payment,_ unless spe_cified otherwise 
111 the pnonty order orpl':rccntagc payml':nt column bdow. However, pursuant tu 18 lJ.S.l.. * 3664(1), all nonkderal victuns must bepntd 
before the United States is paid. 

Name of Payee Total Loss• Restitution Ordered 

TOTALS $ ___ _ _ _ _ _  _ $ 

D Restitution amount ordered pursuant to plea agreement $ _________ _ 

Priority or Pen,entoge 

D The defendant must pay interest on restitution anJ a fine of more than $2.500, unless the restitution or fine is paid in Cull before lhe 
1i.ni.:enlh day after the date of the j1,.1dgrncnt, pi1rsuant to 18 U.S.C. � J6 l 2(J). All of the payment options on Sheet 6 may hi: subject 
to penalties for delinquency and defoult1 pursuant to l 8 U.S.C. § J612(g). 

■ The court determined that the dcfondant docs nol have the ability to pay interest, and it is ordered that: 

■ the interest requitement is waived for ■ flne D restitution. 

D the interest rcqLtirement for the D fine D restituti011 is inodifiod as follows: 

• Findings for the total amount of losses are required under Chap tees 109A, 110, 11 OA, and 113A of Title 18 for offonscs committed on or 
after September 13, 1994, hlll before April 23, 1996. 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 137 Filed: 03/02/05 Page 3 of 7 PageID #:705AO 245{" \Rev. 1 2/03) Amended Judgment 111 a {"riminal ('a:-;e 

Sht:d 6 Sd1eJule of Puymenls 

DEFENDANT: 
CASE NUMBER: 

Labs of Virginia, Inc. 
02 CR 3 12-1 

SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS 

{NOTF: ldcntif'.Y Cl1angcs witl1 Astct·isks (111)) 

Judgment - Page __.__ of 

Having: assesse<l Lhc ddCn<lant's ability lo pay, paym�nt of the total criminal monetary penalties shall he due as follows: 

A ■ Lump sum payment of $ 500 000.00 due immediately; balance Jue 

D not later than , or 

D iu accordance with D C\ D D, D E, or D r  below; or 

R D Payment to hcgin imm�<liatdy (rnay be combined with D C, D D, or O F  below); or 

C D Payment in equal _____ (e.g., weekly, rnontl1ly, qua,terly) installments of $ _ __ _ _  ove'r a period of 
(e.g., months or years), to commence ----- (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after the datesfthis j\_Klf,ment; or 

0 D Payment in equal _____ (e.g., weekly, monthly, quarterly) installments of $ ' over a period of 
(e.g., months or years), to commence _____ (e.g., 30 or 60 days) alter release ti'orn imrcis_onment to a 

wrm of supervision; or 

E O Payment during the tern, ofsupervi�cd release will commence within ____ (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after 'i:ei,ease from 
imprisonment. Th(..1 r.::<)urt will sd the payment plan hascd on an asscssmc11t ofthc defendant's ability to pay at that time; or 

F ■ Special instiuctions regarding the payment of criminal monetary penalties: 

*Fine of$500,000.00 payable immediately to be designated for deposit into the "Lacey Act Reward 
Account", and $64,675.00 payable immediately to be designated for deposit into the "USMS Seized Asset 
Management Account", in full satisfaction of the civil forfeiture proceeding. 

Unless the court has expressly ordered otherwise, if this j l1dgment imposes imprisonment, payment of criminal 
mondarypern1l ties is due during (he period of imprisonment. All criminal monelarypenallies, exctlpl (hosepaymenls 
rnadc through the Federal Bureau of Prisons' Inmate Financial Responsibility Program, arn rnnde to the clerk of tho 
court. 

The defendant shall receive credit for all payments previously made toward any criminal monetary pe1ialties 

□ Joint and Several 

Defendant and Co-Defendant Names and Case Numbers (including defendant number), Joint and Several 
Amount, and corresponding payee, if appropriate. 

□ The defendant shall pay the cost of prosecution. 

D The defondant shall pay the following court cost(s): 

D The defendant shall forfeit the defendant's interest in the following property to the United States: 

Payments shr.dl be applied in the following, onkr: ( 1 1· ass(..1ssmc11L (2) restitution principal, (J)  restitL1tion itlltrest, (4) fine principal
1 ( 5 )  Cine rnterest, (6)  community restitution, (7) penu ties

i 
and (8) costs, .including cm;t of prosecution and court cost::.;. 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 137 Filed: 03/02/05 Page 4 of 7 PageID #:706

(Rev. 12/03) Judgment in a Crini,j"naJ Case, 
Sheet 1 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN District of ILLTNOIS 

UNITED STATES OF AMERJCA 

V. 
Labs of Virginia, Inc. 

: 

TIIE DEFENDANT: 

DOCKETED 
DEc 

I 7 2004 

JUDGMENT IN A CRlfflNAL CASE 

Case Number: 02 CR.312-1 

USMNwnber; 

Michael L. Fayad 
�fend111.t'.s: Attomc:)' 

■pleaded guilty to count(s) _C_o_ut1_t_O_n_•{-J-) ---------------------------,---
0 pleaded nolo contendere to count(s) 

which was accepted by the court. 
D was found guilt)' on count(s) 

aflcr a plea of not guilty. 

111e d�fendant is adjudicated guilty of these offenses: 

Title & Secuon Nature or Offense 

...., 
,r:_.] 

i.� 
16 USC §§3372(d) and 
3373(d)(3)(A)(i) 

Submitted False Records and False ldentificalioa of Wildlife 
that had been Imported from a Foreign Coullby and Transported 
in Foreign Commerce. 

C 
Offense Epded 

2120/97c, 

= r� 1 l-> 

11,c defendant is sentenced as provided in pages 2 through 
tile Sentencillg Reform Act of 1984. 

0 The defendant has been tbund not guilty on count(s) 

,.... 
..::. r-) 

4 of this judgmenl The sentencfis � pim;uanl lo 
---- -� � 

■Count(s) Two(2) • Four(4) D is ■ are dismissed on the motion of the United States. 

It is ordered that the defendant must notify the United Sillies attorney for this district within30 days ofanycban;e of name, rcsideuce, 
o, mailing_ address until all fines, restimtion, cos!!, iind special assessment, imposed by this judg,nentan, fu!Jy paid. If� to payrestilulioe. 
the defenctant must notify dle court and United o,tatcs attorney of materiol cliange, in cconollric circumstances. 

Decembot 15 2004 

� 

Ho1J2rable Ruben Castillg, U.S. District Court Judge 

Obtained by Rise for Animals.
Uploaded to Animal Research Laboratory Overview (ARLO) on 09/20/2020



Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 137 Filed: 03/02/05 Page 5 of 7 PageID #:707

10 2.4ftU ·· · /R.v. 1.itoJ) JU<lgmont in , Criminal Cue 
,- Sh�t 4-Prol,11-bon 

DEFENDANT: Labs of Virginia, Inc. 
02 CR 3 1 2-l 

Jud....,,1----l',ge __.__ of 

CASE NUMBER: 

PROBATION 

Th• defendant is hereby sentenced to probation for a tenn of: 
C 
(J> 

Two(2) year Probationary period for the Company. 

The defendlnt shall not commit another federal, stste or local crime. 
The defendant shall not unlawfully possess a controlled substance. The defendant shall rc!i'ain l'rom any unlawful use of a controlled 

substance. TI,e defendant ohall submit to one drug test within 15 dlys of placement on probation and at least two periodic drug iests 
thertafler, as detennined by the court. 

II Toe above drug testing condition is suspended, based on the court's determination that the defeodlnt poses a low risk of 
future substance abuse. (Chock, ifopplicablo,) 

II The defendant shall not possess • fireann, destructive device, or any other dangerous weapon. (Chc<,k, if applicable.) 

□ Toe defendant shall cooperate in the collection of DNA .. diree!ed by the probation officer. (Check, if "!'Plicoble.) 

D The defel!dant shall register with the stslc sex offender mgisl?ation agency ill � stale whom the defClldant resMe., wo,b, OJ is 1 
studen� as directed by the probation officer. (Check, if applicable.) 

0 The defendant shall participate in an approved program for domestic violence. (Chc,:k, if applicable.) 
If this judgment imposes a fine or reotitution, it is a condition of probation that the defendant pay ill accordance with the Schedule of 

Payments sheet of lhis judgment. 
TI,e defendon! mu,t comply with the standard conditions that have been adcpted by this court .. well .. with anyadditional conditions 

on the attached page. 

I) 
2) 

STANDARD CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISION 

the defendant shall not leave the judicial district without thc pcmuosion of� court or probation officer; 
the defendant shall "'Port lo the probation officer and shall submit a truthful and complcle wrillcllreport within the first live days of 
each month; 

3) the defendant shall answer truthfully all inquiries by the probation officer and follow the illlltructions of the probation officer, 

4) 

5) 

6) 

7) 

8) 

9) 

10) 

I I) 
12) 

1 3) 

the defendant shall support his or her depcndenu and meet other family responsibilities: 
the defendant shall work regularly at a lawful occupation, unless excused by the probation officer for schooling, training. or olhe,: 
acceptsblc reasons; 
the defendant shall notify the probation officer at leost ten dlys prior to any change ill residence or employme,rt; 
the defendant shall refrain from excessi vc use of aloohol and shall not pun:hase, possess, use, distributt:, or adminis!er my controlled 
substance or any paraphernalia related to any controlled substances, except as p,escribed by a physician; 
tho defendant sh•IJ not frequent places where controlled substances are illogally sold, used, distributed, or adminlstercd; 
the defendant shall not associale with any 11crsom engaged ill orimillal activity and shall not associate with any pelSIJII C011vicl<,d of a 
felony, ullless grmtcd pemtission to de so by thc probalion officer; 
the defeodlnt shall permit a probaticn officer to visit him OJ her at any time at home or elsewhere and shall permit confiscati011 of any 
contmband observed ill plain view of the probation officer; 
the defendlnt shall notify tho probation officer within seventy-two how,; of being ancsied or questioned by a law enfon:=,.,nt officer. 
the defendant shall not enter into any agicomont 10 act as an informer or a special agent of a law enfon:emont agency without the 
permission of tho court; and 
as directed by the probation officer, thc defendant shall notify third parties of risk.s that may be occasioned by the defendant's criminal 
record or personal history or characteristics and shall permit tho probation officer to make such notifications and to collfino the 
defendant s compliance with such notification requirement. 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 137 Filed: 03/02/05 Page 6 of 7 PageID #:708
.: 

AO 24513 "� (R.ev� 11.io:3) 'judgment !n l Criminal Case 
Shee1 5 � Criminal Monetary PenaltiCII 

DEFENDANT: 

CASE NUMBER: 

Labs of Virginia, Inc. 
02 CR 312·1 

CRIMINAL MONETARY PENALTIES 

The defendant must pay the total criminal monetary pollBltiea under the ,chedule of payments on Sheet 6. 

TOTALS 
Assessment 

$ 400.00 
Fine 

S 500,000.00 
Restitotiog 

S NIA 

D Th• determinatioo of restitution is deferred until ____ . An Amended Judgment in a Criminal Caso (AO 245C) will be mtered 
after such determination. 

D The defendant must wake restitution (including community restitutioo) to the following payoos in the amount listed below. 

If the defendant makes a partial paymen� each payee ohall receive .,, approximately _proportiooed ,P.•)'1_l_l•� unless specified otherwise in 
the priori!)'. order or percentage payment colUDW below. However, pursuant 10 18 U.S.C. § 3664(1), all noufe-deral victims muot be paid 
before the Uoited States ill po1d 

Name Of f11yee Total Loss• R.fsUtuUon Ordered 

TOTALS $ ________ _ $ ______ _ 

D Restitution amount ordered pursuant to plea agreement $ _________ _ 

Ppor.lty or penent•ge 

C 

<I> 

0 The defendant must pay inlereal on restitution ll!ld a fine of more than S2,500, unless the restitution or fine ill paid in lilll before the 
fifteenth day after the date ofthejudgmen� pw,1uant to 1 8  U.S.C. § 3612(1). All oflhe payment optio1111 on Shoet 6 may be subject 
to penalties for delinquency and def•ult. purauant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(g), 

■ The court determined that the dofeodanl does nol have the ability to pay interest and ii ill ordered that: 

■ the intere•t requirement ill waived for the ■ fine D restitution. 

D the interest requirement for the D fine D reotitutioo ill modified as followo: 

• Findings for the totalamountoflosses are""')uired underChapten 109A, l !0, 1 l0A, and 1 13A ofTitle 18 foroffensescornmittedooorafter 
September 13 ,  1994, but before April 23, 1996. 
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AO 24.5-B , ··-{tcv. 1 2iUJ)judgmentin 111 Criminal Caao 
,' Shet:t 6 - SChcdule of Paymer,ts 

DEFENDANT: 

CASE NUMBER: 
Labs of Virginia, Inc. 
02 CR 3 12°l 

SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS 

J1,u:l�t- Paga  ____!__ or _ __. __ 

Having assessed the defendant's ability to pay, payment of the total criminal monetary penalties ,u,: due u foll'!"•= 
"--::, 
= -"' 
,;::, � 
L"'l 

A ■ Lump sum payment of$ 500 000.00 due immediately, balanoo due 

□ 
□ 

not- later than _________ , or 
in accordance D C, O D, D E, or 0 F bolow; or 

,--, 

c . .. , 
D 

C 

0 Payment to begin immediately (may be combined with oc, O D, or O F  below); or 
�--' 0 

D 

E 

F 

D Payment in equal _____ (e.g., weekly, monthly, quarterly) installments of $ _____ over'i period of 
____ ( e.g., months or years}, to commcnce ____ (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after the date of Ibis judgment; or 

O Payment in equal _____ (e.g., weekly, monthly, quarterly) installmenis of S _____ over a period of 
____ (e.g., months or years), to commence ____ (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after release from imprisoon>ont to a 

term. of supmvisio11� 0r 

D Payment during the term of ,upervised release will commence within ____ (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after n:leasc from 
imprisonment. The court will set the pa)'IIICllt plan based on a.n use,sment of the dcfcndant's ability to pay at that time; or 

■ Special instructions n:garding the payment of crimwa1 monetary penalties: 

Fine of $500,000.00 -payable immediately as well as the forfeiture agreement by the parties in the amount of 
$64,675.00 to be designated for deposit mto the "Lacey Act Reward Account." 

Unless the court has o,q,rc,ssly ordered otherwise, if this judgment imposes imprisonment, payment of crimina.l!no�pena!ties is due duri,,g 
imprisonment. AU crilili.nal moneta,y penalties, except ihose payments mode lhrougn the Federal Bun:au of Prisons' lnmak: Financial 
Responsibility Program, an: made to tho clerk of the coun. 

The defendant shall receive credit for all payments previously made toward any criminal monetary penalties imposed. 

D Joint and Several 

Defendant Md C0"Defendant Names and Cue Numbers (includinJ defendant number), Tora! A.mount, Joint and Several Amount, 
and corresponding payee, If appropriate. 

D The defendant shall pay the cost of proseeution. 

D The defendant shall pay the following court cosl(s): 

D The defendant shall forfeit the defendant's intereSI in tho following property to tho United States: 

PaYl!ICllts shall be applied in the following ord-;.,\!/ti
usessment, (2) restitution principal, (3) n,stitution interest, (4) fwc prin<:ipal, 

(5) fine interest, (6) community rcstirulion, (7) ·••• a.nd (8) costs, including cost of prosecution lllld court costs. 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 137-2 Filed: 03/02/05 Page 1 of 7 PageID #:696- (Rev. 12/0J) Amended Judgment in a Criminal Case 
1%eet l 

(NOTE, Identify Chang� with Asterisks(*)) 
J7'1( 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
Northern District of Illinois 

l!NlTED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 

AMF,NDED JUDGMENT IN A CRIMINAL CASE 

Labs of Virginia, Inc. 

Date of Original .Judgment: December 151 2004 
(Or Date uf Last Amenc.led Judgment) 
Reason for Amendment: 

Case Number: 02 ClU12.1 
USM Number: 
Michael L. Fayad 
Def'em.lanl's Attorney 

D Cum�ction or Sentence on Remand (18 U,S.C. 3742(t)(l) and (2)) 
D Reduction of Sentence tor CJ1;mgcd Circumstance� (Fed. I{_ Crim. 

P. 35(h)) 

D Moctification of Supervision Conditions ( 18 U.S,C. �§ 3563(c) or 35l:l3(c)) 
D Modificalion of Imposed Term of lmprirnnm�t for Exlnmrdinary and 

Compelling Reasons (18 U.S.C. § J582(c)(l)) 
0 Corrci::tion of Si::ntcncc hy Sentencing { '.nurt (fod. K. Crim. P. J5(a)) 

■ (.'nrrc(:!1011 i)f Sl:1111'.,!n(:i,:- l"nr ( '.krical Mistake (Fed. R. Crim. P. )(J) 
D Mmlificalion of Imposed Term ol' Imprisonment for Kt:trnadive Amen�lmenl(s) 

tn tile s,�nic11cing Oui<1cli11cs (ll:l 1 J.S.C. § J5!:l'.2(c)Ci!)) 
D J)i1·cct Motion to District Court Pursu:int D 28 U.S.C. § 2255 or 

0 Ii'\ ll.S.('. § .155()(-:.:)(7) 

D \.1odific11tion nf l�cst1111ti0n (lrdt:r ( I i'-l l 1.0.('. � 3(1Mtt• ,..,, 

THE DEFENDANT: 

■ pleaded guilty to count(s) _(_)_nc�l�-------------------------------- -----
D pleaded nulo contcndere to count(s) 

which was accepted by the cou1i. 
D was found guilty on count(s) 

atkr a plci:1. of not guilty. 
The del�mlant is aJjuJic,atc::J guilty of these offenses: 
Title & Section Nature of Offense 
16 USC �*3372(d) and Submitted False Records and False Identification nfWilcllifo 

337J(d)(J )(A)(i) Lhat had been Imported from a Foreign Country and Trnnsported 
in Foreign Commei-ce. 

Offense Ended 
2/20/97 

Count 
One( 1) 

Tht: Jefendant is sentenced as provided ln pages 2 of 3 of this judgment. The sentence is imposed pursuant to 
the Sentencing Refonn Act of 1984. Olhcr than the amendrnents or modifications stated in this judgment, the judgment entered 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ ___ is to stand (see attachment). 
D The dcfondant has been foLtnd not guilty on count(s) 
■ Cmml(s) remaining Dis ■ are dismissed on the motion of the United States. 

It is ordered that the defendant must notify the United States Attorney f(lr this district within 30 days of any change of namei residence, 
or mailing address until all fines, restitution, costs1 and special assessments imposed by this ,iuctgn1c_nt an: fully p�tid, Ir ordered to pay restitution, 
tl1e defendant nrnst notify the court and l Jnitcd Stat(..'::-, atlorncy of mall'nal changL·s in econonuc c H'Cllmstanc<:.�S. 

December l 5. :2004 

,,,,. Signature of Judge 
llonomble Ruben Castillo, U.S. DISTRICT JUDGE 

Date 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 137-2 Filed: 03/02/05 Page 2 of 7 PageID #:697A() 245( (Rev. 12/03) Amended J11l1gmcnt in <l Crimi1wl C:ise 
Sl.1cct ;i - Crimina..l Monetary Pcn�ltics (NOTE: lde11tify Changt:s with Asterisks(*)) 

DEFENDANT: 
CASE NUMBER: 

J uJg:men l - Page 
Labs of Virginia, Inc. 
02 CR 312-1 

CRIMINAL MONETARY PENALTIES 

-�2 __ of 

The defendant must pay the following total criminal monetary penalties under the schedule of payments on Sheet 6. 

TOTALS 
Asses� 

$ 400.00 
Fine 
*$500,000.00 and $64,675.00 

Restitution 
$ NIA 

0 The determination ofrcstitutiun is deferred until An Amended Judgment in a Criminal Case (AO 245C) will be 
---

entered after such determination. 

D The defendant shall make restitution (including community restitution) to the following payees in the amoum listed he low. 

If the defondant makes a pattial payment, each payee shall receive an approximatelv proportioned_payment,_ unless spe_cified otherwise 
111 the pnonty order orpl':rccntagc payml':nt column bdow. However, pursuant tu 18 lJ.S.l.. * 3664(1), all nonkderal victuns must bepntd 
before the United States is paid. 

Name of Payee Total Loss• Restitution Ordered 

TOTALS $ ___ _ _ _ _ _  _ $ 

D Restitution amount ordered pursuant to plea agreement $ _________ _ 

Priority or Pen,entoge 

D The defendant must pay interest on restitution anJ a fine of more than $2.500, unless the restitution or fine is paid in Cull before lhe 
1i.ni.:enlh day after the date of the j1,.1dgrncnt, pi1rsuant to 18 U.S.C. � J6 l 2(J). All of the payment options on Sheet 6 may hi: subject 
to penalties for delinquency and defoult1 pursuant to l 8 U.S.C. § J612(g). 

■ The court determined that the dcfondant docs nol have the ability to pay interest, and it is ordered that: 

■ the interest requitement is waived for ■ flne D restitution. 

D the interest rcqLtirement for the D fine D restituti011 is inodifiod as follows: 

• Findings for the total amount of losses are required under Chap tees 109A, 110, 11 OA, and 113A of Title 18 for offonscs committed on or 
after September 13, 1994, hlll before April 23, 1996. 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 137-2 Filed: 03/02/05 Page 3 of 7 PageID #:698AO 245{" \Rev. 1 2/03) Amended Judgment 111 a {"riminal ('a:-;e 

Sht:d 6 Sd1eJule of Puymenls 

DEFENDANT: 
CASE NUMBER: 

Labs of Virginia, Inc. 
02 CR 3 12-1 

SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS 

{NOTF: ldcntif'.Y Cl1angcs witl1 Astct·isks (111)) 

Judgment - Page __.__ of 

Having: assesse<l Lhc ddCn<lant's ability lo pay, paym�nt of the total criminal monetary penalties shall he due as follows: 

A ■ Lump sum payment of $ 500 000.00 due immediately; balance Jue 

D not later than , or 

D iu accordance with D C\ D D, D E, or D r  below; or 

R D Payment to hcgin imm�<liatdy (rnay be combined with D C, D D, or O F  below); or 

C D Payment in equal _____ (e.g., weekly, rnontl1ly, qua,terly) installments of $ _ __ _ _  ove'r a period of 
(e.g., months or years), to commence ----- (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after the datesfthis j\_Klf,ment; or 

0 D Payment in equal _____ (e.g., weekly, monthly, quarterly) installments of $ ' over a period of 
(e.g., months or years), to commence _____ (e.g., 30 or 60 days) alter release ti'orn imrcis_onment to a 

wrm of supervision; or 

E O Payment during the tern, ofsupervi�cd release will commence within ____ (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after 'i:ei,ease from 
imprisonment. Th(..1 r.::<)urt will sd the payment plan hascd on an asscssmc11t ofthc defendant's ability to pay at that time; or 

F ■ Special instiuctions regarding the payment of criminal monetary penalties: 

*Fine of$500,000.00 payable immediately to be designated for deposit into the "Lacey Act Reward 
Account", and $64,675.00 payable immediately to be designated for deposit into the "USMS Seized Asset 
Management Account", in full satisfaction of the civil forfeiture proceeding. 

Unless the court has expressly ordered otherwise, if this j l1dgment imposes imprisonment, payment of criminal 
mondarypern1l ties is due during (he period of imprisonment. All criminal monelarypenallies, exctlpl (hosepaymenls 
rnadc through the Federal Bureau of Prisons' Inmate Financial Responsibility Program, arn rnnde to the clerk of tho 
court. 

The defendant shall receive credit for all payments previously made toward any criminal monetary pe1ialties 

□ Joint and Several 

Defendant and Co-Defendant Names and Case Numbers (including defendant number), Joint and Several 
Amount, and corresponding payee, if appropriate. 

□ The defendant shall pay the cost of prosecution. 

D The defondant shall pay the following court cost(s): 

D The defendant shall forfeit the defendant's interest in the following property to the United States: 

Payments shr.dl be applied in the following, onkr: ( 1 1· ass(..1ssmc11L (2) restitution principal, (J)  restitL1tion itlltrest, (4) fine principal
1 ( 5 )  Cine rnterest, (6)  community restitution, (7) penu ties

i 
and (8) costs, .including cm;t of prosecution and court cost::.;. 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 137-2 Filed: 03/02/05 Page 4 of 7 PageID #:699

(Rev. 12/03) Judgment in a Crini,j"naJ Case, 
Sheet 1 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN District of ILLTNOIS 

UNITED STATES OF AMERJCA 

V. 
Labs of Virginia, Inc. 

: 

TIIE DEFENDANT: 

DOCKETED 
DEc 

I 7 2004 

JUDGMENT IN A CRlfflNAL CASE 

Case Number: 02 CR.312-1 

USMNwnber; 

Michael L. Fayad 
�fend111.t'.s: Attomc:)' 

■pleaded guilty to count(s) _C_o_ut1_t_O_n_•{-J-) ---------------------------,---
0 pleaded nolo contendere to count(s) 

which was accepted by the court. 
D was found guilt)' on count(s) 

aflcr a plea of not guilty. 

111e d�fendant is adjudicated guilty of these offenses: 

Title & Secuon Nature or Offense 

...., 
,r:_.] 

i.� 
16 USC §§3372(d) and 
3373(d)(3)(A)(i) 

Submitted False Records and False ldentificalioa of Wildlife 
that had been Imported from a Foreign Coullby and Transported 
in Foreign Commerce. 

C 
Offense Epded 

2120/97c, 

= r� 1 l-> 

11,c defendant is sentenced as provided in pages 2 through 
tile Sentencillg Reform Act of 1984. 

0 The defendant has been tbund not guilty on count(s) 

,.... 
..::. r-) 

4 of this judgmenl The sentencfis � pim;uanl lo 
---- -� � 

■Count(s) Two(2) • Four(4) D is ■ are dismissed on the motion of the United States. 

It is ordered that the defendant must notify the United Sillies attorney for this district within30 days ofanycban;e of name, rcsideuce, 
o, mailing_ address until all fines, restimtion, cos!!, iind special assessment, imposed by this judg,nentan, fu!Jy paid. If� to payrestilulioe. 
the defenctant must notify dle court and United o,tatcs attorney of materiol cliange, in cconollric circumstances. 

Decembot 15 2004 

� 

Ho1J2rable Ruben Castillg, U.S. District Court Judge 
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10 2.4ftU ·· · /R.v. 1.itoJ) JU<lgmont in , Criminal Cue 
,- Sh�t 4-Prol,11-bon 

DEFENDANT: Labs of Virginia, Inc. 
02 CR 3 1 2-l 

Jud....,,1----l',ge __.__ of 

CASE NUMBER: 

PROBATION 

Th• defendant is hereby sentenced to probation for a tenn of: 
C 
(J> 

Two(2) year Probationary period for the Company. 

The defendlnt shall not commit another federal, stste or local crime. 
The defendant shall not unlawfully possess a controlled substance. The defendant shall rc!i'ain l'rom any unlawful use of a controlled 

substance. TI,e defendant ohall submit to one drug test within 15 dlys of placement on probation and at least two periodic drug iests 
thertafler, as detennined by the court. 

II Toe above drug testing condition is suspended, based on the court's determination that the defeodlnt poses a low risk of 
future substance abuse. (Chock, ifopplicablo,) 

II The defendant shall not possess • fireann, destructive device, or any other dangerous weapon. (Chc<,k, if applicable.) 

□ Toe defendant shall cooperate in the collection of DNA .. diree!ed by the probation officer. (Check, if "!'Plicoble.) 

D The defel!dant shall register with the stslc sex offender mgisl?ation agency ill � stale whom the defClldant resMe., wo,b, OJ is 1 
studen� as directed by the probation officer. (Check, if applicable.) 

0 The defendant shall participate in an approved program for domestic violence. (Chc,:k, if applicable.) 
If this judgment imposes a fine or reotitution, it is a condition of probation that the defendant pay ill accordance with the Schedule of 

Payments sheet of lhis judgment. 
TI,e defendon! mu,t comply with the standard conditions that have been adcpted by this court .. well .. with anyadditional conditions 

on the attached page. 

I) 
2) 

STANDARD CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISION 

the defendant shall not leave the judicial district without thc pcmuosion of� court or probation officer; 
the defendant shall "'Port lo the probation officer and shall submit a truthful and complcle wrillcllreport within the first live days of 
each month; 

3) the defendant shall answer truthfully all inquiries by the probation officer and follow the illlltructions of the probation officer, 

4) 

5) 

6) 

7) 

8) 

9) 

10) 

I I) 
12) 

1 3) 

the defendant shall support his or her depcndenu and meet other family responsibilities: 
the defendant shall work regularly at a lawful occupation, unless excused by the probation officer for schooling, training. or olhe,: 
acceptsblc reasons; 
the defendant shall notify the probation officer at leost ten dlys prior to any change ill residence or employme,rt; 
the defendant shall refrain from excessi vc use of aloohol and shall not pun:hase, possess, use, distributt:, or adminis!er my controlled 
substance or any paraphernalia related to any controlled substances, except as p,escribed by a physician; 
tho defendant sh•IJ not frequent places where controlled substances are illogally sold, used, distributed, or adminlstercd; 
the defendant shall not associale with any 11crsom engaged ill orimillal activity and shall not associate with any pelSIJII C011vicl<,d of a 
felony, ullless grmtcd pemtission to de so by thc probalion officer; 
the defeodlnt shall permit a probaticn officer to visit him OJ her at any time at home or elsewhere and shall permit confiscati011 of any 
contmband observed ill plain view of the probation officer; 
the defendlnt shall notify tho probation officer within seventy-two how,; of being ancsied or questioned by a law enfon:=,.,nt officer. 
the defendant shall not enter into any agicomont 10 act as an informer or a special agent of a law enfon:emont agency without the 
permission of tho court; and 
as directed by the probation officer, thc defendant shall notify third parties of risk.s that may be occasioned by the defendant's criminal 
record or personal history or characteristics and shall permit tho probation officer to make such notifications and to collfino the 
defendant s compliance with such notification requirement. 
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.: 

AO 24513 "� (R.ev� 11.io:3) 'judgment !n l Criminal Case 
Shee1 5 � Criminal Monetary PenaltiCII 

DEFENDANT: 

CASE NUMBER: 

Labs of Virginia, Inc. 
02 CR 312·1 

CRIMINAL MONETARY PENALTIES 

The defendant must pay the total criminal monetary pollBltiea under the ,chedule of payments on Sheet 6. 

TOTALS 
Assessment 

$ 400.00 
Fine 

S 500,000.00 
Restitotiog 

S NIA 

D Th• determinatioo of restitution is deferred until ____ . An Amended Judgment in a Criminal Caso (AO 245C) will be mtered 
after such determination. 

D The defendant must wake restitution (including community restitutioo) to the following payoos in the amount listed below. 

If the defendant makes a partial paymen� each payee ohall receive .,, approximately _proportiooed ,P.•)'1_l_l•� unless specified otherwise in 
the priori!)'. order or percentage payment colUDW below. However, pursuant 10 18 U.S.C. § 3664(1), all noufe-deral victims muot be paid 
before the Uoited States ill po1d 

Name Of f11yee Total Loss• R.fsUtuUon Ordered 

TOTALS $ ________ _ $ ______ _ 

D Restitution amount ordered pursuant to plea agreement $ _________ _ 

Ppor.lty or penent•ge 

C 

<I> 

0 The defendant must pay inlereal on restitution ll!ld a fine of more than S2,500, unless the restitution or fine ill paid in lilll before the 
fifteenth day after the date ofthejudgmen� pw,1uant to 1 8  U.S.C. § 3612(1). All oflhe payment optio1111 on Shoet 6 may be subject 
to penalties for delinquency and def•ult. purauant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(g), 

■ The court determined that the dofeodanl does nol have the ability to pay interest and ii ill ordered that: 

■ the intere•t requirement ill waived for the ■ fine D restitution. 

D the interest requirement for the D fine D reotitutioo ill modified as followo: 

• Findings for the totalamountoflosses are""')uired underChapten 109A, l !0, 1 l0A, and 1 13A ofTitle 18 foroffensescornmittedooorafter 
September 13 ,  1994, but before April 23, 1996. 
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AO 24.5-B , ··-{tcv. 1 2iUJ)judgmentin 111 Criminal Caao 
,' Shet:t 6 - SChcdule of Paymer,ts 

DEFENDANT: 

CASE NUMBER: 
Labs of Virginia, Inc. 
02 CR 3 12°l 

SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS 

J1,u:l�t- Paga  ____!__ or _ __. __ 

Having assessed the defendant's ability to pay, payment of the total criminal monetary penalties ,u,: due u foll'!"•= 
"--::, 
= -"' 
,;::, � 
L"'l 

A ■ Lump sum payment of$ 500 000.00 due immediately, balanoo due 

□ 
□ 

not- later than _________ , or 
in accordance D C, O D, D E, or 0 F bolow; or 

,--, 

c . .. , 
D 

C 

0 Payment to begin immediately (may be combined with oc, O D, or O F  below); or 
�--' 0 

D 

E 

F 

D Payment in equal _____ (e.g., weekly, monthly, quarterly) installments of $ _____ over'i period of 
____ ( e.g., months or years}, to commcnce ____ (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after the date of Ibis judgment; or 

O Payment in equal _____ (e.g., weekly, monthly, quarterly) installmenis of S _____ over a period of 
____ (e.g., months or years), to commence ____ (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after release from imprisoon>ont to a 

term. of supmvisio11� 0r 

D Payment during the term of ,upervised release will commence within ____ (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after n:leasc from 
imprisonment. The court will set the pa)'IIICllt plan based on a.n use,sment of the dcfcndant's ability to pay at that time; or 

■ Special instructions n:garding the payment of crimwa1 monetary penalties: 

Fine of $500,000.00 -payable immediately as well as the forfeiture agreement by the parties in the amount of 
$64,675.00 to be designated for deposit mto the "Lacey Act Reward Account." 

Unless the court has o,q,rc,ssly ordered otherwise, if this judgment imposes imprisonment, payment of crimina.l!no�pena!ties is due duri,,g 
imprisonment. AU crilili.nal moneta,y penalties, except ihose payments mode lhrougn the Federal Bun:au of Prisons' lnmak: Financial 
Responsibility Program, an: made to tho clerk of the coun. 

The defendant shall receive credit for all payments previously made toward any criminal monetary penalties imposed. 

D Joint and Several 

Defendant Md C0"Defendant Names and Cue Numbers (includinJ defendant number), Tora! A.mount, Joint and Several Amount, 
and corresponding payee, If appropriate. 

D The defendant shall pay the cost of proseeution. 

D The defendant shall pay the following court cosl(s): 

D The defendant shall forfeit the defendant's intereSI in tho following property to tho United States: 

PaYl!ICllts shall be applied in the following ord-;.,\!/ti
usessment, (2) restitution principal, (3) n,stitution interest, (4) fwc prin<:ipal, 

(5) fine interest, (6) community rcstirulion, (7) ·••• a.nd (8) costs, including cost of prosecution lllld court costs. 
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1%eet l 

(NOTE, Identify Chang� with Asterisks(*)) 
J7'1( 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
Northern District of Illinois 

l!NlTED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 

AMF,NDED JUDGMENT IN A CRIMINAL CASE 

Labs of Virginia, Inc. 

Date of Original .Judgment: December 151 2004 
(Or Date uf Last Amenc.led Judgment) 
Reason for Amendment: 

Case Number: 02 ClU12.1 
USM Number: 
Michael L. Fayad 
Def'em.lanl's Attorney 

D Cum�ction or Sentence on Remand (18 U,S.C. 3742(t)(l) and (2)) 
D Reduction of Sentence tor CJ1;mgcd Circumstance� (Fed. I{_ Crim. 

P. 35(h)) 

D Moctification of Supervision Conditions ( 18 U.S,C. �§ 3563(c) or 35l:l3(c)) 
D Modificalion of Imposed Term of lmprirnnm�t for Exlnmrdinary and 

Compelling Reasons (18 U.S.C. § J582(c)(l)) 
0 Corrci::tion of Si::ntcncc hy Sentencing { '.nurt (fod. K. Crim. P. J5(a)) 

■ (.'nrrc(:!1011 i)f Sl:1111'.,!n(:i,:- l"nr ( '.krical Mistake (Fed. R. Crim. P. )(J) 
D Mmlificalion of Imposed Term ol' Imprisonment for Kt:trnadive Amen�lmenl(s) 

tn tile s,�nic11cing Oui<1cli11cs (ll:l 1 J.S.C. § J5!:l'.2(c)Ci!)) 
D J)i1·cct Motion to District Court Pursu:int D 28 U.S.C. § 2255 or 

0 Ii'\ ll.S.('. § .155()(-:.:)(7) 

D \.1odific11tion nf l�cst1111ti0n (lrdt:r ( I i'-l l 1.0.('. � 3(1Mtt• ,..,, 

THE DEFENDANT: 

■ pleaded guilty to count(s) _(_)_nc�l�-------------------------------- -----
D pleaded nulo contcndere to count(s) 

which was accepted by the cou1i. 
D was found guilty on count(s) 

atkr a plci:1. of not guilty. 
The del�mlant is aJjuJic,atc::J guilty of these offenses: 
Title & Section Nature of Offense 
16 USC �*3372(d) and Submitted False Records and False Identification nfWilcllifo 

337J(d)(J )(A)(i) Lhat had been Imported from a Foreign Country and Trnnsported 
in Foreign Commei-ce. 

Offense Ended 
2/20/97 

Count 
One( 1) 

Tht: Jefendant is sentenced as provided ln pages 2 of 3 of this judgment. The sentence is imposed pursuant to 
the Sentencing Refonn Act of 1984. Olhcr than the amendrnents or modifications stated in this judgment, the judgment entered 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ ___ is to stand (see attachment). 
D The dcfondant has been foLtnd not guilty on count(s) 
■ Cmml(s) remaining Dis ■ are dismissed on the motion of the United States. 

It is ordered that the defendant must notify the United States Attorney f(lr this district within 30 days of any change of namei residence, 
or mailing address until all fines, restitution, costs1 and special assessments imposed by this ,iuctgn1c_nt an: fully p�tid, Ir ordered to pay restitution, 
tl1e defendant nrnst notify the court and l Jnitcd Stat(..'::-, atlorncy of mall'nal changL·s in econonuc c H'Cllmstanc<:.�S. 

December l 5. :2004 

,,,,. Signature of Judge 
llonomble Ruben Castillo, U.S. DISTRICT JUDGE 

Date 
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Case: 1:02-cr-00312 Document #: 137-3 Filed: 03/02/05 Page 2 of 7 PageID #:711A() 245( (Rev. 12/03) Amended J11l1gmcnt in <l Crimi1wl C:ise 
Sl.1cct ;i - Crimina..l Monetary Pcn�ltics (NOTE: lde11tify Changt:s with Asterisks(*)) 

DEFENDANT: 
CASE NUMBER: 

J uJg:men l - Page 
Labs of Virginia, Inc. 
02 CR 312-1 

CRIMINAL MONETARY PENALTIES 

-�2 __ of 

The defendant must pay the following total criminal monetary penalties under the schedule of payments on Sheet 6. 

TOTALS 
Asses� 

$ 400.00 
Fine 
*$500,000.00 and $64,675.00 

Restitution 
$ NIA 

0 The determination ofrcstitutiun is deferred until An Amended Judgment in a Criminal Case (AO 245C) will be 
---

entered after such determination. 

D The defendant shall make restitution (including community restitution) to the following payees in the amoum listed he low. 

If the defondant makes a pattial payment, each payee shall receive an approximatelv proportioned_payment,_ unless spe_cified otherwise 
111 the pnonty order orpl':rccntagc payml':nt column bdow. However, pursuant tu 18 lJ.S.l.. * 3664(1), all nonkderal victuns must bepntd 
before the United States is paid. 

Name of Payee Total Loss• Restitution Ordered 

TOTALS $ ___ _ _ _ _ _  _ $ 

D Restitution amount ordered pursuant to plea agreement $ _________ _ 

Priority or Pen,entoge 

D The defendant must pay interest on restitution anJ a fine of more than $2.500, unless the restitution or fine is paid in Cull before lhe 
1i.ni.:enlh day after the date of the j1,.1dgrncnt, pi1rsuant to 18 U.S.C. � J6 l 2(J). All of the payment options on Sheet 6 may hi: subject 
to penalties for delinquency and defoult1 pursuant to l 8 U.S.C. § J612(g). 

■ The court determined that the dcfondant docs nol have the ability to pay interest, and it is ordered that: 

■ the interest requitement is waived for ■ flne D restitution. 

D the interest rcqLtirement for the D fine D restituti011 is inodifiod as follows: 

• Findings for the total amount of losses are required under Chap tees 109A, 110, 11 OA, and 113A of Title 18 for offonscs committed on or 
after September 13, 1994, hlll before April 23, 1996. 
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Sht:d 6 Sd1eJule of Puymenls 

DEFENDANT: 
CASE NUMBER: 

Labs of Virginia, Inc. 
02 CR 3 12-1 

SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS 

{NOTF: ldcntif'.Y Cl1angcs witl1 Astct·isks (111)) 

Judgment - Page __.__ of 

Having: assesse<l Lhc ddCn<lant's ability lo pay, paym�nt of the total criminal monetary penalties shall he due as follows: 

A ■ Lump sum payment of $ 500 000.00 due immediately; balance Jue 

D not later than , or 

D iu accordance with D C\ D D, D E, or D r  below; or 

R D Payment to hcgin imm�<liatdy (rnay be combined with D C, D D, or O F  below); or 

C D Payment in equal _____ (e.g., weekly, rnontl1ly, qua,terly) installments of $ _ __ _ _  ove'r a period of 
(e.g., months or years), to commence ----- (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after the datesfthis j\_Klf,ment; or 

0 D Payment in equal _____ (e.g., weekly, monthly, quarterly) installments of $ ' over a period of 
(e.g., months or years), to commence _____ (e.g., 30 or 60 days) alter release ti'orn imrcis_onment to a 

wrm of supervision; or 

E O Payment during the tern, ofsupervi�cd release will commence within ____ (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after 'i:ei,ease from 
imprisonment. Th(..1 r.::<)urt will sd the payment plan hascd on an asscssmc11t ofthc defendant's ability to pay at that time; or 

F ■ Special instiuctions regarding the payment of criminal monetary penalties: 

*Fine of$500,000.00 payable immediately to be designated for deposit into the "Lacey Act Reward 
Account", and $64,675.00 payable immediately to be designated for deposit into the "USMS Seized Asset 
Management Account", in full satisfaction of the civil forfeiture proceeding. 

Unless the court has expressly ordered otherwise, if this j l1dgment imposes imprisonment, payment of criminal 
mondarypern1l ties is due during (he period of imprisonment. All criminal monelarypenallies, exctlpl (hosepaymenls 
rnadc through the Federal Bureau of Prisons' Inmate Financial Responsibility Program, arn rnnde to the clerk of tho 
court. 

The defendant shall receive credit for all payments previously made toward any criminal monetary pe1ialties 

□ Joint and Several 

Defendant and Co-Defendant Names and Case Numbers (including defendant number), Joint and Several 
Amount, and corresponding payee, if appropriate. 

□ The defendant shall pay the cost of prosecution. 

D The defondant shall pay the following court cost(s): 

D The defendant shall forfeit the defendant's interest in the following property to the United States: 

Payments shr.dl be applied in the following, onkr: ( 1 1· ass(..1ssmc11L (2) restitution principal, (J)  restitL1tion itlltrest, (4) fine principal
1 ( 5 )  Cine rnterest, (6)  community restitution, (7) penu ties

i 
and (8) costs, .including cm;t of prosecution and court cost::.;. 
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(Rev. 12/03) Judgment in a Crini,j"naJ Case, 
Sheet 1 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN District of ILLTNOIS 

UNITED STATES OF AMERJCA 

V. 
Labs of Virginia, Inc. 

: 

TIIE DEFENDANT: 

DOCKETED 
DEc 

I 7 2004 

JUDGMENT IN A CRlfflNAL CASE 

Case Number: 02 CR.312-1 

USMNwnber; 

Michael L. Fayad 
�fend111.t'.s: Attomc:)' 

■pleaded guilty to count(s) _C_o_ut1_t_O_n_•{-J-) ---------------------------,---
0 pleaded nolo contendere to count(s) 

which was accepted by the court. 
D was found guilt)' on count(s) 

aflcr a plea of not guilty. 

111e d�fendant is adjudicated guilty of these offenses: 

Title & Secuon Nature or Offense 

...., 
,r:_.] 

i.� 
16 USC §§3372(d) and 
3373(d)(3)(A)(i) 

Submitted False Records and False ldentificalioa of Wildlife 
that had been Imported from a Foreign Coullby and Transported 
in Foreign Commerce. 

C 
Offense Epded 

2120/97c, 

= r� 1 l-> 

11,c defendant is sentenced as provided in pages 2 through 
tile Sentencillg Reform Act of 1984. 

0 The defendant has been tbund not guilty on count(s) 

,.... 
..::. r-) 

4 of this judgmenl The sentencfis � pim;uanl lo 
---- -� � 

■Count(s) Two(2) • Four(4) D is ■ are dismissed on the motion of the United States. 

It is ordered that the defendant must notify the United Sillies attorney for this district within30 days ofanycban;e of name, rcsideuce, 
o, mailing_ address until all fines, restimtion, cos!!, iind special assessment, imposed by this judg,nentan, fu!Jy paid. If� to payrestilulioe. 
the defenctant must notify dle court and United o,tatcs attorney of materiol cliange, in cconollric circumstances. 

Decembot 15 2004 

� 

Ho1J2rable Ruben Castillg, U.S. District Court Judge 
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10 2.4ftU ·· · /R.v. 1.itoJ) JU<lgmont in , Criminal Cue 
,- Sh�t 4-Prol,11-bon 

DEFENDANT: Labs of Virginia, Inc. 
02 CR 3 1 2-l 

Jud....,,1----l',ge __.__ of 

CASE NUMBER: 

PROBATION 

Th• defendant is hereby sentenced to probation for a tenn of: 
C 
(J> 

Two(2) year Probationary period for the Company. 

The defendlnt shall not commit another federal, stste or local crime. 
The defendant shall not unlawfully possess a controlled substance. The defendant shall rc!i'ain l'rom any unlawful use of a controlled 

substance. TI,e defendant ohall submit to one drug test within 15 dlys of placement on probation and at least two periodic drug iests 
thertafler, as detennined by the court. 

II Toe above drug testing condition is suspended, based on the court's determination that the defeodlnt poses a low risk of 
future substance abuse. (Chock, ifopplicablo,) 

II The defendant shall not possess • fireann, destructive device, or any other dangerous weapon. (Chc<,k, if applicable.) 

□ Toe defendant shall cooperate in the collection of DNA .. diree!ed by the probation officer. (Check, if "!'Plicoble.) 

D The defel!dant shall register with the stslc sex offender mgisl?ation agency ill � stale whom the defClldant resMe., wo,b, OJ is 1 
studen� as directed by the probation officer. (Check, if applicable.) 

0 The defendant shall participate in an approved program for domestic violence. (Chc,:k, if applicable.) 
If this judgment imposes a fine or reotitution, it is a condition of probation that the defendant pay ill accordance with the Schedule of 

Payments sheet of lhis judgment. 
TI,e defendon! mu,t comply with the standard conditions that have been adcpted by this court .. well .. with anyadditional conditions 

on the attached page. 

I) 
2) 

STANDARD CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISION 

the defendant shall not leave the judicial district without thc pcmuosion of� court or probation officer; 
the defendant shall "'Port lo the probation officer and shall submit a truthful and complcle wrillcllreport within the first live days of 
each month; 

3) the defendant shall answer truthfully all inquiries by the probation officer and follow the illlltructions of the probation officer, 

4) 

5) 

6) 

7) 

8) 

9) 

10) 

I I) 
12) 

1 3) 

the defendant shall support his or her depcndenu and meet other family responsibilities: 
the defendant shall work regularly at a lawful occupation, unless excused by the probation officer for schooling, training. or olhe,: 
acceptsblc reasons; 
the defendant shall notify the probation officer at leost ten dlys prior to any change ill residence or employme,rt; 
the defendant shall refrain from excessi vc use of aloohol and shall not pun:hase, possess, use, distributt:, or adminis!er my controlled 
substance or any paraphernalia related to any controlled substances, except as p,escribed by a physician; 
tho defendant sh•IJ not frequent places where controlled substances are illogally sold, used, distributed, or adminlstercd; 
the defendant shall not associale with any 11crsom engaged ill orimillal activity and shall not associate with any pelSIJII C011vicl<,d of a 
felony, ullless grmtcd pemtission to de so by thc probalion officer; 
the defeodlnt shall permit a probaticn officer to visit him OJ her at any time at home or elsewhere and shall permit confiscati011 of any 
contmband observed ill plain view of the probation officer; 
the defendlnt shall notify tho probation officer within seventy-two how,; of being ancsied or questioned by a law enfon:=,.,nt officer. 
the defendant shall not enter into any agicomont 10 act as an informer or a special agent of a law enfon:emont agency without the 
permission of tho court; and 
as directed by the probation officer, thc defendant shall notify third parties of risk.s that may be occasioned by the defendant's criminal 
record or personal history or characteristics and shall permit tho probation officer to make such notifications and to collfino the 
defendant s compliance with such notification requirement. 
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.: 

AO 24513 "� (R.ev� 11.io:3) 'judgment !n l Criminal Case 
Shee1 5 � Criminal Monetary PenaltiCII 

DEFENDANT: 

CASE NUMBER: 

Labs of Virginia, Inc. 
02 CR 312·1 

CRIMINAL MONETARY PENALTIES 

The defendant must pay the total criminal monetary pollBltiea under the ,chedule of payments on Sheet 6. 

TOTALS 
Assessment 

$ 400.00 
Fine 

S 500,000.00 
Restitotiog 

S NIA 

D Th• determinatioo of restitution is deferred until ____ . An Amended Judgment in a Criminal Caso (AO 245C) will be mtered 
after such determination. 

D The defendant must wake restitution (including community restitutioo) to the following payoos in the amount listed below. 

If the defendant makes a partial paymen� each payee ohall receive .,, approximately _proportiooed ,P.•)'1_l_l•� unless specified otherwise in 
the priori!)'. order or percentage payment colUDW below. However, pursuant 10 18 U.S.C. § 3664(1), all noufe-deral victims muot be paid 
before the Uoited States ill po1d 

Name Of f11yee Total Loss• R.fsUtuUon Ordered 

TOTALS $ ________ _ $ ______ _ 

D Restitution amount ordered pursuant to plea agreement $ _________ _ 

Ppor.lty or penent•ge 

C 

<I> 

0 The defendant must pay inlereal on restitution ll!ld a fine of more than S2,500, unless the restitution or fine ill paid in lilll before the 
fifteenth day after the date ofthejudgmen� pw,1uant to 1 8  U.S.C. § 3612(1). All oflhe payment optio1111 on Shoet 6 may be subject 
to penalties for delinquency and def•ult. purauant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(g), 

■ The court determined that the dofeodanl does nol have the ability to pay interest and ii ill ordered that: 

■ the intere•t requirement ill waived for the ■ fine D restitution. 

D the interest requirement for the D fine D reotitutioo ill modified as followo: 

• Findings for the totalamountoflosses are""')uired underChapten 109A, l !0, 1 l0A, and 1 13A ofTitle 18 foroffensescornmittedooorafter 
September 13 ,  1994, but before April 23, 1996. 
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AO 24.5-B , ··-{tcv. 1 2iUJ)judgmentin 111 Criminal Caao 
,' Shet:t 6 - SChcdule of Paymer,ts 

DEFENDANT: 

CASE NUMBER: 
Labs of Virginia, Inc. 
02 CR 3 12°l 

SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS 

J1,u:l�t- Paga  ____!__ or _ __. __ 

Having assessed the defendant's ability to pay, payment of the total criminal monetary penalties ,u,: due u foll'!"•= 
"--::, 
= -"' 
,;::, � 
L"'l 

A ■ Lump sum payment of$ 500 000.00 due immediately, balanoo due 

□ 
□ 

not- later than _________ , or 
in accordance D C, O D, D E, or 0 F bolow; or 

,--, 

c . .. , 
D 

C 

0 Payment to begin immediately (may be combined with oc, O D, or O F  below); or 
�--' 0 

D 

E 

F 

D Payment in equal _____ (e.g., weekly, monthly, quarterly) installments of $ _____ over'i period of 
____ ( e.g., months or years}, to commcnce ____ (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after the date of Ibis judgment; or 

O Payment in equal _____ (e.g., weekly, monthly, quarterly) installmenis of S _____ over a period of 
____ (e.g., months or years), to commence ____ (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after release from imprisoon>ont to a 

term. of supmvisio11� 0r 

D Payment during the term of ,upervised release will commence within ____ (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after n:leasc from 
imprisonment. The court will set the pa)'IIICllt plan based on a.n use,sment of the dcfcndant's ability to pay at that time; or 

■ Special instructions n:garding the payment of crimwa1 monetary penalties: 

Fine of $500,000.00 -payable immediately as well as the forfeiture agreement by the parties in the amount of 
$64,675.00 to be designated for deposit mto the "Lacey Act Reward Account." 

Unless the court has o,q,rc,ssly ordered otherwise, if this judgment imposes imprisonment, payment of crimina.l!no�pena!ties is due duri,,g 
imprisonment. AU crilili.nal moneta,y penalties, except ihose payments mode lhrougn the Federal Bun:au of Prisons' lnmak: Financial 
Responsibility Program, an: made to tho clerk of the coun. 

The defendant shall receive credit for all payments previously made toward any criminal monetary penalties imposed. 

D Joint and Several 

Defendant Md C0"Defendant Names and Cue Numbers (includinJ defendant number), Tora! A.mount, Joint and Several Amount, 
and corresponding payee, If appropriate. 

D The defendant shall pay the cost of proseeution. 

D The defendant shall pay the following court cosl(s): 

D The defendant shall forfeit the defendant's intereSI in tho following property to tho United States: 

PaYl!ICllts shall be applied in the following ord-;.,\!/ti
usessment, (2) restitution principal, (3) n,stitution interest, (4) fwc prin<:ipal, 

(5) fine interest, (6) community rcstirulion, (7) ·••• a.nd (8) costs, including cost of prosecution lllld court costs. 
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·{\� 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 
:�·-·· "'-T_.Er 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

VS, 

DA YID M. TAUB, 
CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CURTIS HENLEY III 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

No. 02CR312 
Judge Ruben Castillo 

MAR 10 2005 

· M:l. '.V. DOBBINS 

C ..... ,, u.S. OISTRICT COURT 

GOVERNMENT'S AGREED MOTION FOR ENTRY O:F ORDER REFLECTING 

DISMISSAL OF COUNTS AGAINST INDIVIIHJAL DEFENDANTS 

The United States of America, by its attorney, Patrick J. Fitzgerald, respectfully requests the 

entry of a written order reflecting the earlier oral dismissal of the counts in the indictment against 

the individual defendants, David M. Taub, Charles J. Stern. and William Curtis Henley. in this 

proceeding. In support of this motion, the government states as follows: 

1. On December 15, 2004, this Court imposed sentence as to defendant Labs of Virginia, Inc. 

pursuant to the written Pica Agreement in the case. At the conclusion of the sentencing hearing, the 

government orally moved for the dismissal ofall counts against Taub, Stern, and Henley. The Court 

granted this motion. 

2. It does not appear that a written order reflecting the dismissal of counts against the three 

individual defendants was entered following the sentencing hearing. The government requests that. 

in order to clarify the linal disposition of this case as to the three individual defendants, this Court 

enter an order eonlinning the dismissal of Taub, Stern and Henley from the proceeding. A copy of 

a draft Order is attached for the Court's review. 
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3. Counsel for Taub, speaking collectively on behalf of the three individual defendants. has 

no objection to this request. 

By: 

2 

Respectfully submitted, 

PATRICKJ. FITZGERALD 

United States Attorney 

� 
DIANE MacARTHUR 
Assistant U.S. Attorney 
219 South Dearborn Street 
Chicago, Illinois 60604 
(312) 353-5352 
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AFFIDAVIT OF MAILING AND FACSIMILE 

STATE OF ILLINOIS 

COUNTY OF COOK 
ss 

Carol Bithos, being first duly sworn on oath deposes and says 
that she is employed in the Office of the United States Attorney 
for the Northern District of Illinois; that on the 10th day of 
March, 2005 she placed a copy of 

GOVERNMENT'S AGREED MOTION FOR ENTRY OF ORDER REFLECTING 

DISMISSAL OF COUNTS AGAINST INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS 

in a Government franked envelope addressed to the following named 
individual(s) and caused the envelope(s) to be deposited in the 
United States mail chute located in the Everett McKinley Dirksen 
Building, Chicago, Illinois, and faxed copies on this date. 

TO: Michael L. Fayad, Esq. 
Debra Mercer, Esq. 
Greenberg & Traurig 
800 Connecticut Ave., N.W. 
Suite 500 
Washington, D.C. 20006 
(202) 331-3101 (fax) 

Gerald A. Feffer, Esq. 
David M. Zinn, Esq. 
Williams & Connolly LLP 
725 Twelfth St., N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20005-5901 
(202) 434-5029 (fax) 

Samuel J. Buffone, Esq. 
Ropes & Gray 
One Metro Center 
700 12

th 
St., N.W. 

Suite 900 
Washington, D.C. 20005-3948 
(202) 508-4650 (fax) 

SUBSCRIBED and SWORN TO BEFORE 
me this 10th day of March, 2005. 

�i� 
I 

"OFFICIAL SEAL" 

Barbara J. Sims 
Notary Public, State of Illinois 

My Commission Exp. 05/21/2005 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 

DAVID M. TAUB, 
CHARLES J. STERN, and 
WILLIAM CUTRIS HENLEY III 

No. 02 CR 312 
Judge Ruben Castillo 

F/Lc D 
NOTICE OF MOTION 

MAR ,.,,,cf/114-Jz l n 2005 
fliERlf. AEL 1,1/ c., 2 Oo 

TO: Michael L. Fayad, Esq. 
Debra Mercer, Esq. 
Greenberg & Traurig 
800 Connecticut Ave., 
Suite 500 
Washington, D.C. 20006 
(202) 331-3101 (fax) 

Gerald A. Feffer, Esq. 
David M. Zinn, Esq. 

N.W. 

Williams & Connolly LLP 
725 Twelfth St., N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20005-5901 
(202) 434-5029 (fax) 

• ,,, "· Q111. Doss,� 
Samuel J. Buffone, Esq. 'tlf/eteoulff Ropes & Gray 
One Metro Center 
700 12th St., N.W. 
Suite 900 
Washington, D.C. 20005-3948 
(202) 508-4650 (fax) 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on Wednesday, March 16, 2005, at 9:45 

a.m. or as soon thereafter as counsel may be heard, I will appear 

before Judge Castillo in the courtroom usually occupied by him in 

the Everett McKinley Dirksen Building, 219 S. Dearborn Street, 

Chicago, Illinois, or before such other who may be sitting in his 

place and stead, and then and there present: 

GOVERNMENT'S AGREED MOTION FOR ENTRY OF ORDER REFLECTING 
DISMISSAL OF COUNTS AGAINST INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS 
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in the above-captioned case, at which time and place you may appear 

if you see fit. 

Respectfully submitted, 

PATRICK J. FITZGERALD 
United States Attorney 

By,� 
�: DIANMacArthur 

Assistant U.S. Attorney 
219 S. Dearborn St., 3rd Floor 
Chicago, Illinois 60604 
(312) 353-5352 
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DATE: 

REPLY TO 

ATTN OF: 

SUBJECT: 

TO: 

UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT 

March 22, 2005 

U. s. Probation Office 

Northern District of Illinois 

Transfer of Jurisdiction 

Clerk of Court 

ATTN: Criminal Docketing 

MEMORANDUM 

RE: LABS OF VIRGINIA, INC. 

OJ.. 
DOCKET NO.: .-Mer 312-1 

Enclosed is a copy of Probation Form 22, where the Court for the 

District of South Carolina - Charleston has accepted jurisdiction 

and pertinent case file material needs to be transferred to that 

district. 

Attachment 

cc: Kelly Hendrickson 
U. S. Probation Officer 

KLJ 
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PROB 22 
0� �

ET NUMBER (Tran. Coutt) 

(Rev. 2/88) R 312-1 
TRANSFER OF JURISDICTION 

DOC'ffl: ���rrec Court) 

r.1 ·f:'RJ{ f'[ - r·1 r� 1 1r.:iT 
. 

NAMc AND ADDRESS OF PROBATIONER/SUPERVISED DISTRICT DIVISION 
REiJ=ASEE; ZOOS MAR I 0 A 10:1.\9 

Illinois Northern Eastern Division 
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� 

PART 1 - ORDER TRANSFERRING JURISDICTION 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE "Northern District of Illinois" 
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IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 3605 the jurisdiction of the probationer or 
supervised releasee named above be transferred with the records of the Court to the United States District 
Court for the District of South Carolina upon that Court's order of acceptance of jurisdiction. This Court 
hereby expressly consents that the period of probation or supervised release may be changed by the District 
Court to which this transfer is made without further inquiry of this Court.• 

/ /2-t:. /4 s-
) ; A::i?at? -

Date United States District Judge 

"This sentence may be deleted in the discretion of the transferring Court 

PART 2 - ORDER ACCEPTING JURISDICTION I 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE District of South Carolina ./ 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that jurisdiction over the above-n m d pro
v

· oner/s ervised releasee 
be accepted and assumed by this Court from and after the entry o orde.1 
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Effective Date ) / United States District Judge 
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IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 3605 the jurisdict½,riclilf the probationer or 
supervised releasee named above be transferred with the records of the Court to tti�;,United States District 
Court for the District of South Carolina upon that Court's order of acceptance of jui'lsdiction. This Court 
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UNITED STATES LJISTRICT COURT FOR THE District of South Carolina 
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